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Dear Sir/Madam, 
 
Subject:  Notice of the 30th Annual General Meeting (‘AGM’) and Integrated 

Annual Report for FY 2023-24 of Intec Capital Limited (‘the Company’) 
 
Reference:   Regulation 30 and 34 of SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure 

Requirements) Regulations, 2015 read with circulars issued by Ministry 
of Corporate Affairs and Securities and Exchange Board of India 

 
This is in furtherance to our letter dated August 15, 2024 wherein the Company had informed 
about the 30th AGM of the Company scheduled to be held on Thursday, September 26, 2024 
at 12:00 p.m. (IST) through Video Conferencing/Other Audio Visual Means (‘VC/OAVM’), 
in accordance, with the relevant circulars issued by Ministry of Corporate Affairs and 
Securities and Exchange Board of India. In this regard, we wish to inform the following: 
 
1. Pursuant to the said circulars, AGM Notice and Integrated Annual Report for the financial 

year 2023-24 are being sent through electronic mode to all the Members whose email ids 
are registered with the Company/Registrar and Transfer Agent (‘RTA’)/Depository 
Participant (‘DP’). These documents can be accessed through the following web links and 
are also enclosed herewith:  

 
Notice of 30th AGM: https://www.inteccapital.com/wp-content/uploads/2024/08/Notice-
of-30th-Annual-General-Meeting.pdf  
 
Integrated Annual Report FY 2023-24: https://www.inteccapital.com/wp-
content/uploads/2024/08/2024-Intec-Annual-Report.pdf  

 
2. The Company has provided the facility to its Members to cast their vote electronically, 

through the remote e-Voting facility (prior to AGM) and e-Voting facility (during the 
AGM), on all the resolutions set forth in the AGM Notice to the Members, who are 
holding shares on the Cut-off date i.e. Thursday, September 19, 2024. 
 

3. The Remote e-Voting facility will be available during the following period: 
 

Commencement of remote e-Voting Monday, 23rd September 2024 (09:00 a.m. IST) 
End of remote e-Voting Wednesday, 25th September, 2024 (05:00 p.m. IST) 
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4. Detailed instructions for registering email id(s) and e-voting/ attendance at the AGM are 
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Dear Shareholders,
As we look back on the year that has passed, one can’t 
help but marvel at the resilience of our nation and its 
economy. While the world continued to grapple with the 
aftereffects of the pandemic and geopolitical tensions, 
India stood tall, showcasing its strength and adaptability. 
The year 2023 brought its own set of challenges – 
from global economic uncertainties to climate-related 
disruptions – yet, it also unveiled opportunities that 
reinforced our position as a bright spot in the global 
economy. The proverbial “Sone ki chidiya” (golden bird) 
indeed.
One of the defining features of this year has been the 
persistence of inflationary pressures across the globe. 
Central banks worldwide, including our Reserve Bank of 
India, have had to walk a tightrope – balancing the need 
to control inflation against the risk of stifling economic 
growth. It’s a delicate dance that has kept economists 
and policymakers on their toes. However, I’m proud 
to say that India has managed this balancing act with 
considerable finesse, maintaining healthy growth rates 
while keeping inflation largely in check.
In the financial world, where your company operates, 
we’ve witnessed a fascinating interplay of traditional 
banking and cutting-edge technology. The digital 

revolution in finance, which gained momentum during 
the pandemic, has now become an integral part of our 
financial landscape. From UPI transactions becoming 
ubiquitous in our daily lives to the rise of neobanks 
challenging traditional models, the sector is evolving at 
a breakneck pace. 
Economic Outlook
Despite global headwinds, the Indian economy has 
shown remarkable resilience. Our GDP growth for the 
fiscal year is estimated at around 7.6% (as per World 
Bank) - a commendable feat given the challenging 
global environment. This growth story is not just about 
numbers; it’s about the millions of Indians whose 
lives are being transformed as our economy marches 
forward.
Looking ahead, there are reasons for both caution and 
optimism. On one hand, global economic uncertainties 
persist, with talks of recession in some major 
economies. On the other, India’s prospects continue to 
shine bright. Our demographic dividend, coupled with 
government initiatives like ‘Make in India’ and the push 
for infrastructure development, positions us well for 
sustained growth.
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The financial sector, in particular, stands at an exciting 
juncture. With bank balance sheets largely cleaned 
up and credit growth picking up, we’re well-positioned 
to fuel the next phase of India’s economic expansion. 
Your company, with its strong foundation and forward-
looking approach, is ready to play a significant role in 
this growth story.
Intec Outlook
The Company’s effort to repay its lenders continues. We 
strive to do the best we can given the circumstances in 
which the Company finds itself.
In this journey, we remain committed to our core values 
of integrity and customer-centricity. The challenges of 
the past few years have only strengthened our resolve 
to create value – for you, our shareholders, for our 
customers, and for the nation at large.

In conclusion, while the path ahead may have its share 
of obstacles, I’m confident in our ability to navigate them 
successfully. As the saying goes, “Smooth seas do not 
make skillful sailors.” The challenges we’ve faced have 
only made us stronger, more adaptable, and better 
prepared for the future.
On behalf of the Board of Directors, I would like to extend 
my gratitude to our shareholders, customers, bankers 
and all other stakeholders who continue to support us. I 
would also like to thank our team members who remain 
laser focused on producing meaningful results.
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Directors’ Report
Dear Shareholders,

Your directors present the Thirtieth Annual Report along 
with the Audited Standalone and Consolidated Financial 
Statements for FY 2023-2024.

Background:

Intec Capital Limited (“Company” or “ICL”) was 
incorporated in India on February 15, 1994, and was 
registered with Reserve Bank of India (RBI) as a Non-
Banking Financial Company (NBFC) vide Certificate of 
Registration B-14.00731 dated May 4, 1998 in the name 
of Intec Securities Limited. Subsequently, due to change 
in name of the company, the company received a revised 
Certificate of Registration (‘COR’) in the name of Intec 
Capital Limited on November 4, 2009 under section 45-
1A of Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934.

Financial Results:
The performance of the Company for the Financial Year 
ended March 31, 2024 is summarized below:
		     (₹ in crore)

Particulars Standalone Consolidated
  FY 2024 FY 2023 FY 2024 FY 2023
Total Revenue 379.68 985.28 389.36 850.37
Less: Total expenses 2071.35 2785.45 1277.25 2802.34
Profit/ (Loss) before Taxation & Exceptional Items (1691.67) (1800.17) (887.89) (1951.97)
Gain on Extinguishment of borrowings under One Time 
Settlement - - - -

Profit/ (loss) before Taxation (1691.67) (1800.17) (887.89) (1951.97)
Tax expenses:

Deferred tax (322.57) 863.52 (322.57) 863.52
Earlier year tax - - - -

Profit/ (Loss) after Tax (1369.10) (2663.69) (565.32) (2815.49)
Note: The above figures are extracted from the Consolidated and Standalone Financial Statements prepared in 
accordance with Indian Accounting Standards (“Ind AS”) as notified under Sections 129 and 133 of the Companies 
Act, 2013 (“the Act”) read with the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014 and other relevant provisions of the Act and 
the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 
(“SEBI Listing Regulations”).

Transfer to Reserve Fund:
Under section 45-IC(1) of Reserve Bank of India (‘RBI’) 
Act, 1934, non-banking financial companies (‘NBFCs’) 
are required to transfer a sum not less than 20% of 
its net profit every year as disclosed in the profit and 
loss account to reserve fund before declaration of any 
dividend. As during the year there is no profit, there is no 
transfer to the said reserve.
Dividend Distribution Policy:
Pursuant to the provisions of regulation 43A of the 
Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing 
Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 

2015 (the ‘SEBI Listing Regulations’), the Company had 
formulated a dividend distribution policy, which sets out 
the parameters and circumstances to be considered by 
the Board in determining the distribution of dividend to its 
shareholders and/or retaining profit earned. The policy 
is annexed to this report and is also available on the 
website of the Company at https://www.inteccapital.com/
wp-content/uploads/2021/03/Intec-Dividend-Policy.pdf. 
Dividend:
The company continues to evaluate and manage its 
dividend policy to build long term shareholder value. Due 
to paucity of funds, your Directors does not recommend 
any dividend during this year.
Results of Operations and the State of Company’s 
Affairs:
Highlights of the Company’s consolidated 
performance for the financial year ended 31st March, 
2024 are as under:
Consolidated Revenue: Rs. 389.36 Lacs  
Consolidated Net Loss: Rs.  565.32 Lacs

In accordance with the provisions of the Act, Regulation 
33 of the SEBI Listing Regulations and applicable 
Accounting Standards, the Audited Consolidated 
Financial Statements of the Company for the financial 
year 2023-24, together with the Auditors’ Report form 
part of this Annual Report.

The Audited Financial Statements including the 
Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company 
as stated above and all other documents required to 
be attached thereto are available on the Company’s 
website at https://www.inteccapital.com/wp-content/
uploads/2024/06/Financial-Results-31.03.2024.pdf.
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The financial results of the Company and its Wholly – 
owned Subsidiary are elaborated in the Management 
Discussion and Analysis Report, which forms part of this 
Annual Report.
Listing of Equity Shares:
The Equity Shares of the Company are listed on the 
trading platform of BSE Limited, a recognized stock 
exchange having nationwide trading terminal. 
Disclosure of Accounting Treatment: 
Implementation of Indian Accounting Standards (IND 
AS) converged with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) 
As mandated by Companies (Indian Accounting 
Standards) Rules, 2015, Non-Banking Financial 
Company (NBFCs) whose equity or debt securities are 
listed on any stock exchange in India or outside India and 
having net worth less than rupees five hundred crore are 
required to comply with the Indian Accounting Standards 
(IND AS) for Financial Statements for accounting periods 
beginning from April 1, 2019 onwards, with comparatives 
for the period ending March 31, 2019. 
Accordingly, the annual financial statements are prepared 
as per Indian Accounting Standards.
Presentation of Financial Statements: 
The Audited Financial Statements of the Company for 
the financial year under review have been disclosed as 
per Division III of Schedule III to the Act.
Associates Companies, Joint Venture and Subsidiary 
Companies including highlights of performance of 
Subsidiaries and their contribution to the overall 
performance of the company during the period under 
report:
The Company has one wholly owned subsidiary, viz., Amulet 
Technologies Limited which was incorporated as private 
limited company on 30th April 2011. It was converted into a 
Public Limited Company on 27th March 2012.
The Primary objective of the subsidiary company is to offer 
consultancy, advisory & all related services in all areas 
of information technology including computer hardware 
& software, data communication, telecommunications, 
manufacturing & process control & automation, artificial 
intelligence, natural language processing.
The subsidiary company is managed by its Board, having 
the rights and obligations to manage the company in the 
best interest of respective stakeholders. 
During FY2023-2024, no new subsidiary was 
incorporated/acquired. The Company does not have any 
associate company, nor has it entered into a joint venture 
with any other company. 
The financial statements of the subsidiary companies 

are also available in a downloadable format under the 
‘Investor’ section on the Company’s website at https://
www.inteccapital.com/investors/subsidiary-financials/.   
The Company’s policy for determination of material 
subsidiary, as adopted by the Board of Directors, 
in conformity with regulation 16 of the SEBI Listing 
Regulations, can be accessed on the Company’s 
website at https://www.inteccapital.com/wp-content/
uploads/2021/03/Material-Subsidiary-Policy-Of-Intec-
Capital-Limited-1.pdf
In terms of the said policy and provisions of Regulation 
16 of the SEBI Listing Regulations, Amulet Technologies 
Limited is not a material subsidiary of the Company. 
Performance highlights of the subsidiary company during 
the FY2023-2024 have already been provided under the 
Financial Results tab of the Directors’ Report.
Pursuant to Section 129(3) of the Companies Act, 2013, 
a separate statement containing the salient features of 
the financial statements of the Wholly-owned Subsidiary 
Company in the prescribed form AOC-1 is presented in 
Annexure-A, forming part of the Annual Report.
Management Discussion and Analysis Report
Management Discussion and Analysis Report for the 
year under review, as stipulated under the Securities 
and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and 
Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 (“Listing 
Regulations”), is presented in Annexure-B, forming part 
of the Annual Report.
Risk Management:
The Company has in place a Risk Management Policy 
in line with the prevailing business requirements. The 
Risk Management Committee was constituted originally 
on 8th January 2013 and was reconstituted from time to 
time according to the needs of the company. 
Thereafter, the Asset Liability Committee was merged 
with Risk Management Committee and Asset Liability 
Cum Risk Management Committee (ALRMC) was 
formed on 9th February 2020. This Committee has been 
entrusted with the responsibility of Formulation of policies, 
procedures and practices to identify, evaluate, address 
and monitor risk and to ensure business growth plans 
are supported by an effective risk infrastructure. The 
Risk practices and conditions adopted are appropriate 
for the prevailing business environment and to assist 
the Board in discharge of its duties & responsibilities 
and in overseeing that all the risks that the organization 
faces such as strategic, financial credit, market, liquidity, 
security, property, IT, legal, regulatory, reputational and 
other risks have been identified and assessed and there 
is an adequate risk management infrastructure in place 
capable of addressing those risks.
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The detailed information on Risk Management Committee 
its constitution, its meeting held and attended during the 
year under review is separately mentioned in Corporate 
Governance Report Section.
The Company has introduced several improvements to 
existing internal policies / processes / framework / audit 
methodologies to mitigate / minimize the enterprise risk.
RBI Compliance:
The Company is registered with the RBI as a Non-
Systemically Important Non-Deposit taking - Non-Banking 
Financial Company. The Company has complied with 
and continues to comply with all applicable laws, rules, 
circulars and regulations.
The Company continues to comply with all the 
requirements prescribed by the Reserve Bank of India 
(RBI) from time to time. The Company has appointed an 
Internal Ombudsman and Principal Nodal Officer as per 
the relevant notifications of RBI to carry out the prescribed 
duties and discharge the prescribed functions.
The snapshot of the Capital Adequacy Ratio (CAR) of 
the company in comparison with the previous year on 
standalone basis and on consolidated basis is as follows:
CAPITAL ADEQUECY RATIO:

Particulars Standalone Consolidated 
As at 31 

March, 2024
As at 31 

March, 2023
As at 31 

March, 2024
As at 31 

March, 2023
Tier I Capital (2758.15) (1846.39) (1428.75) (594.88)
Tier II Capital -- -- -- --
Total Capital Funds (2758.15) (1846.39) (1428.75) (594.88)
Risk Weighted Assets 6788.15 8,517.49 6,672.15 7,590.48
CET1 capital ratio (40.63)% (21.68)% (21.68%) -7.84%
CET2 capital ratio -- -- -- -
Total capital ratio (40.63)% -21.55% (21.68%) -7.84%

Directors and Key Managerial Personnel (‘KMP’):
A.	 Change in Directorate

i.	 Appointment:
	 During the financial year under review, on 

the recommendation of the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee, the Board has 
approved the appointment of Mr. Kanwar 
Nitin Singh (DIN: 10204543) as an Additional 
Director (Non-Executive Independent) on the 
Board w.e.f. June 17, 2023 till ensuing Annual 
General Meeting. 

	 Considering Mr. Kanwar Nitin Singh, a 
person of integrity, expertise, and having 
relevant experience to serve the Company 
as an independent director for a period of 
five (5) years from date of appointment. 

The Company obtained the approval of 
shareholders to regularize Mr. Kanwar Nitin 
Singh (DIN: 10204543) as a Non-Executive 
and Independent Director of the Company in 
the 29th Annual General Meeting held on 15th 
September, 2023. 

	 After the closure of the Financial Year 2023-
24, on the recommendation of the Nomination 
and Remuneration Committee, the Board has 
approved the appointment of Mr. Arjunn Kumar 
Tyagi (DIN: 02967667) as an Additional Non-
Executive Independent Director and Mr. Vinod 
Kumar (DIN: 10725631) as an Additional 
Director (Executive) on the Board w.e.f. 
August 06, 2024 till ensuing Annual General 
Meeting and shall be regularized for a period 
of five (5) years from date of appointment. 

	 Mr. Vinod Kumar is also acting as a Chief 
Financial Officer of the Company.

	 Further as on date, Vinod Kumar (DIN: 
10725631) has tendered his resignation from 
the post of Additional Director (Executive) of 

the Company w.e.f. end of the working hours 
of 14th August, 2024 due to preoccupation in 
the role and responsibilities of Chief Financial 
Officer of the Company. He will be continuing 
to act as a Chief Financial Officer of the 
Company.

	 Further, on the recommendation of the 
Nomination and Remuneration Committee, 
the Board has approved the appointment 
of Mrs. Ursala Joshi (DIN: 08810331) as an 
Additional Director (Non-Executive and Non-
Independent) w.e.f. August 14, 2024 and also 
approved re-appointment of Mr. Sanjeev Goel 
(DIN: 00028702) as Managing Director of the 
company w.e.f. 1st April, 2024.

	 Considering Mr. Arjunn Kumar Tyagi, Mrs. 
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Ursala Joshi and Mr. Sanjeev Goel, a person 
of integrity, expertise, and having relevant 
experience to serve the Company as directors 
of the Company, The Company soughts the 
approval of shareholders to regularize Mr. 
Arjunn Kumar Tyagi (DIN: 02967667) as a 
Non-Executive Independent Director, Mrs. 
Ursala Joshi (DIN: 08810331) as a Non-
Executive Non-Independent Director and Mr. 
Sanjeev Goel (DIN: 00028702) as Managing 
Director of the company in the 30th Annual 
General Meeting scheduled to be held on 
26th September, 2024.

B.	 Directors liable to retire by rotation:
	 Mr. Sanjeev Goel (DIN: 0028702) Managing 

Director, retires by rotation at the ensuing AGM, 
being eligible, offers himself for re-appointment 
and his re-appointment shall not tantamount to a 
break in the tenure of appointment as Managing 
Director and all other terms and conditions of 
the re-appointment shall also remain unchanged 
pursuant to the provisions of Companies Act, 2013.

	 Brief details of Mr. Sanjeev Goel, who is seeking 
re–appointment, are given in the Notice of AGM.

C.	 KMPs
i.	 Mr. Rajesh Sharma has resigned from the 

position as Chief Financial Officer of the 
Company w.e.f. 15.11.2023;

ii.	 Mr. Vinod Kumar has been appointed by 
the Board in its meeting held on February 
13, 2024 as Chief Financial Officer of the 
Company w.e.f. 13.02.2024;

After closure of Financial Year 2023-24, Ms. Radhika 
Garg, company secretary and compliance officer of the 
company, has tendered her resignation on 5th August, 
2024 and she shall be relieved from responsibilities 
from end of business hours of 3rd September, 2024.
Apart from the changes specified above, there have 
been no changes in the KMPs of the Company.
During the year under review, the non-executive 
directors of the Company had no pecuniary relationship 
or transactions with the Company. 
As on March 31, 2024, the Board of Directors of your 
Company consists of 6 Directors. Their details are as 
follows:

Sr. No. Name of Director Designation
1. Mr. Sanjeev Goel Managing Director (KMP)

2. Mr. Surender 
Kumar Goel

Non-Executive 
Independent Director

3. Mr. Rakesh Kumar 
Joshi

Non-Executive 
Independent Director

4. Ms. Shilpy Chopra Non-Executive 
Independent Director

5. Ms. Shalini Rahul Non-Executive 
Independent Director

6. Mr. Kanwar Nitin 
Singh

Non-Executive 
Independent Director

As on March 31, 2024, the Company had following Key 
Managerial Personnel (KMP’s) in accordance with the provisions 
of Sections 2(51) and 203 of the Companies Act, 2013 read 
with Companies (Appointment and Remuneration of Managerial 
Personnel) Rules, 2014:

Sr. 
No.

Name of Director Designation

1. Mr. Sanjeev Goel Managing Director (KMP)
2. Mr. Vinod Kumar Chief Financial Officer 

(KMP)
3. Ms. Radhika Garg Company Secretary 

(KMP) and Compliance 
Officer

Declaration by Independent Directors:
The Independent directors have submitted a declaration 
of independence, stating that they meet the criteria of 
independence provided under section 149(6) of the Act 
read with regulation 16 of the SEBI Listing Regulations, 
as amended. The independent directors have also 
confirmed compliance with the provisions of rule 6 of 
Companies (Appointment and Qualifications of Directors) 
Rules, 2014, as amended, relating to inclusion of their 
name in the databank of independent directors. 
The Board took on record the declaration and confirmation 
submitted by the independent directors regarding them 
meeting the prescribed criteria of independence, after 
undertaking due assessment of the veracity of the same 
in terms of the requirements of regulation 25 of the SEBI 
Listing Regulations.
Policy on Directors’ Appointment and Remuneration:
The Nomination and Remuneration Committee as on 
March 31, 2024 comprises of the following Directors:

Name of the 
Director

Category No. of Meetings 
held during FY 
2022-2023 (4)

Entitled 
to attend

Attended

Mr. Surender 
Kumar Goel

Chairman, 
Non-Executive, 
Independent

4 3
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Mr. Rakesh 
Kumar Joshi

Non-Executive, 
Independent 4 3

Ms. Shalini 
Rahul

Non-Executive, 
Independent 4 3

Furthermore, all recommendations of Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee were accepted by the Board 
of Directors. The detailed Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee and its terms of reference and meetings 
held and attended by the members during the year are 
mentioned in the Corporate Governance Report Section.
On recommendation of the NRC, the Board has framed 
a Remuneration Policy. This policy, inter alia, provides: 
(a)	 The criteria for determining qualifications, positive 

attributes and independence of directors; and
(b)	 Policy on remuneration of directors, key managerial 

personnel and other employees. 
The policy is directed towards a compensation philosophy 
and structure that will reward and retain talent; and 
provides for a balance between fixed and incentive pay 
reflecting short and long-term performance objectives 
appropriate to the working of the Company and its goals. 
The Remuneration Policy is available on the Company’s 
website and can be accessed at https://www.inteccapital.
com/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/Nomination-And-
Remuneration-Policy-And-Selection-Criteria-Due-
Diligence-Of-Directors-Key-Managerial-Personnel-And-
Senior-Management-Of-Intec-Capital-Limited.pdf.
Disclosures pertaining to remuneration and other details 
as required under Section 197(12) of the Companies Act, 
2013 read with Rule 5 of the Companies (Appointment 
and Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 
2014 are provided in the prescribed format and annexed 
as Annexure-C forming an integral part of this Report.
As per the requirements of the RBI Master Directions 
and SEBI Listing Regulations, details of all pecuniary 
relationship or transactions of the executive/ non-
executive directors vis-à-vis the Company are disclosed 
in the Corporate Governance Report.
Compliance with Code of Conduct:
All Board members and senior management personnel 
have affirmed compliance with the Company’s Code of 
Conduct for FY 2023-2024. A declaration to this effect 
signed by the Managing Director is included in this 
Annual Report.
Annual Return:
Pursuant to Section 92(3) of the Companies Act 2013, 
read with Rule 12 of the Companies (Management and 
Administration) Rules, 2014, the Company has placed 
a copy of the draft annual return on its website and 
the same is available at https://www.inteccapital.com/

investors/annual-returns/. 
Number of Meetings of the Board:
Six (6) meetings of the Board were held during FY 2023-
2024 on the following dates: 
May 26, 2023, August 10, 2023, September 25, 2023, 
October 11, 2023, November 09, 2023, and February 13, 
2024. Details of the meetings and attendance thereat 
form part of the Corporate Governance Report.
Directors’ Responsibility Statement:
Based on the framework of internal financial controls 
and compliance systems established and maintained by 
the Company, work performed by the Internal, Statutory 
and Secretarial Auditors, including audit of internal 
financial controls over financial reporting by the Statutory 
Auditors and the reviews performed by the Management 
and the relevant Board Committees, including the 
Audit Committee, the Board is of the opinion that the 
Company’s internal financial controls were adequate and 
effective during FY 2023-24.
The Financial Statements have been prepared in 
accordance with Ind AS as notified under the Companies 
(Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 read with 
Section 133 of the Act.
In accordance with the provisions of section 134(3)(c) 
of the Act and based on the information provided by the 
Management, the directors state that:
a)	 in the preparation of the annual accounts, the 

applicable accounting standards and guidance 
provided by The Institute of Chartered Accountants 
of India have been followed and that there are no 
material departures thereof;

b)	 they had selected such accounting policies and 
applied them consistently and made judgments and 
estimates that are reasonable and prudent so as to 
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the 
Company at the end of the financial year and of the 
profit and cash flows of the Company for the year;

c)	 they had taken proper and sufficient care for the 
maintenance of adequate accounting records 
in accordance with the provisions of the Act for 
safeguarding the assets of the Company and 
for preventing and detecting fraud and other 
irregularities;

d)	 they had prepared the annual accounts on a going 
concern basis;

e)	 they had laid down internal financial controls to be 
followed by the Company and that such internal 
financial controls were adequate and operating 
effectively; 

f)	 they had devised proper systems to ensure 
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compliance with the provisions of all applicable laws 
and that such systems were adequate and operating 
effectively.

Audit Committee:
The present composition of the Committee is as follows: 
Ms. Shalini Rahul, Chairman 
Ms. Shilpy Chopra , Member  
Mrs. Ursala Joshi, Member
During FY 2023-2024, all recommendations of the Audit 
Committee were accepted by the Board. 
The brief terms of reference and attendance record of 
members are given in the Corporate Governance Report.
Particulars of Loans, Guarantees and Investments:
Pursuant to Section 134(3)(g) of the Companies Act, 
2013, Loans, guarantees and investments covered 
under Section 186 of the Companies Act, 2013, form part 
of the Notes to the financial statements provided in this 
Annual Report.
Share Capital:
As on 31st March 2024, the paid-up share capital of the 
Company stood at ₹18,36,62,500 (Rupees Eighteen 
Crores Thirty-Six Lakhs Sixty-Two Thousand Five 
Hundred Only) consisting of 1,83,66,250 equity shares of 
face value of ₹10 fully paid-up.
There was no public issue, rights issue, bonus issue or 
preferential issue etc. during the year. The Company has 
not issued shares with differential voting rights, sweat 
equity shares nor has it granted any stock options.
Material Changes and Commitments:
There were no material changes and commitments 
affecting the financial position of the Company which 
occurred between the end of the financial year and the 
date of this report.
Conservation of Energy:
1.	 Steps taken / impact on conservation of energy:
	 The operations of the Company, being Financial 

Services related, require normal consumption of 
electricity. The Company is taking every necessary 
step to reduce its consumption of energy.

2.	 Steps taken by the Company for utilizing alternate 
sources of energy:

	 The company during the financial year 2023-24 did 
not take any additional step for utilizing alternate 
sources of energy.

3.	 Capital investment on energy conservation 
equipment:

	 In view of the nature of activities carried on by the 

Company, there is no capital investment on energy 
conservation equipment.

Technology Absorption:
1.	 The efforts made towards technology absorption;
	 Your Company’s activities, being a Non-Banking 

Finance Company, do not require adoption of 
any specific technology. However, your Company 
has been at the forefront in implementing latest 
information technologies & tools towards enhancing 
our customer convenience and continues to 
adopt and use the latest technologies to improve 
the productivity and quality of its services. The 
Company’s operations do not require significant 
import of technology.

2.	 The benefits derived like product improvement, 
cost reduction, product development or import 
substitution;- N/A

3.	 In case of imported technology (imported during 
the last 3 years reckoned from the beginning of the 
financial year): - N/A
(a) The details of technology imported:- N/A
(b) The year of import:- N/A
(c) Whether the technology been fully absorbed:- N/A
(d) If not fully absorbed, areas where absorption has 

not taken place, and the reasons thereof:- N/A
4. The expenditure incurred on Research and 

Development:- N/A
Foreign Exchange Earnings and Outgo: 
During FY 2023-2024, the Company did not have any 
Foreign Exchange earnings and Foreign Exchange outgo. 
Annual Performance Evaluation of the Board:
Pursuant to applicable provisions of the Companies 
Act, 2013 and SEBI LODR, 2015 and other applicable 
regulations, circulars etc., the Board, in consultation 
with its Nomination & Remuneration Committee, has 
formulated a framework containing, inter-alia, the criteria 
for performance evaluation of the entire Board of the 
Company, its Committees and Individual Directors, 
including Independent Directors.
Pursuant to the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 
and in terms of requirement of other applicable provisions 
of SEBI LODR, 2015, the Board has carried out an 
Annual Performance Evaluation of its own performance, 
the Directors individually as well as the evaluation of the 
working of the Committees. On the basis of performance 
evaluation done by the Board, it shall be determined 
whether to extend or continue their term of appointment, 
whenever the respective term expires.
The Independent Directors had met separately without the 
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presence of Non-Independent Directors and the members 
of management on March 28, 2024 and discussed, inter-
alia, the performance of non-independent Directors and 
Board as a whole, assessed the quality, quantity and 
timeliness of flow of information between the Company’s 
Management and the Board that is necessary for the 
Board to effectively and reasonably perform their duties.
The Nomination and Remuneration Committee has also 
carried out evaluation of Director’s performance during 
Financial Year 2023-24.
Significant and Material Orders:
During FY 2023-2024, there were no significant or 
material orders passed by any regulator or court 
or tribunal impacting the going concern status and 
Company’s operations in future.
Internal Financial Controls:
The Internal Financial Controls laid down by the Company 
are a systematic set of controls and procedures to ensure 
orderly and efficient conduct of its business including 
adherence to the Company’s policies, safeguarding of 
its assets, prevention and detection of frauds and errors, 
accuracy and completeness of the accounting records 
and timely preparation of reliable financial information. 
Internal financial controls not only require the system to 
be designed effectively but also to be tested for operating 
effectiveness periodically. 
The Board is of the opinion that Internal Financial 
Controls with reference to the financial statements were 
tested and reported adequate and operating effectively. 
The internal financial controls are commensurate with 
the size, scale and complexity of operations.
Deposits:
During FY 2023-2024, the Company has not accepted 
any deposit within the meaning of the Companies 
(Acceptance of Deposits) Rules, 2014 or Chapter V of 
the Act and guidelines and directions of Non-Banking 
Financial Companies (Acceptance of Public Deposits) 
(Reserve Bank) Directions, 2016, as prescribed by 
Reserve Bank of India in this regard and as such no 
details are required to be furnished.
Credit Rating:
During the year, no Credit Ratings have been obtained 
by the Company.
Human Resources:
The Company recognizes the importance of Human 
Resource and the continuous need for development 
of the same. The Company stresses on the need to 
continuously upgrade the competencies of its employees 
and equip them with the latest developments. In order to 
achieve this, the Company organizes various programs 
including in-house training and professional skill 

development programs across all levels of employees. 
The company also focused on Regional Level Induction 
& training covering corporate presentations & function 
specific knowledge and skills.
Whistle Blower Policy/Vigil Mechanism:
The Company has adopted a whistle blower policy/ vigil 
mechanism for Directors, Employees and third parties to 
report their concerns about unethical behavior, actual or 
suspected fraud or violation of the Company’s Code of 
Conduct, leak of unpublished price sensitive information 
and related matters.
This mechanism also provides adequate safeguards 
against the victimization of whistle blowers who avail of the 
mechanism. The whistle blowers may also access their 
higher level/ supervisors and/ or the Audit Committee. 
The Whistle Blower Policy is available at https://www.
inteccapital.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/09/Vigil-
Mechanism-Whistle-Blower-Policy.pdf.  
More details are given in Corporate Governance 
Report.
Corporate Governance:
The Company is committed to upholding the highest 
standards of Corporate Governance and follows the 
Corporate Governance requirements set out by the 
Securities and Exchange Board of India (“SEBI”). 
In addition, the Company has included various best 
governance practices.
In terms of Regulation 34(3) read with Schedule V of the 
SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) 
Regulations, 2015, a separate section on Corporate 
Governance including a certificate from M/s Vivek 
Gupta and Associates, Practicing Company Secretaries 
confirming compliance is annexed as Annexure-D, 
forming an integral part of this Report.
Secretarial Standards of ICSI:
The Company has complied with the requirements 
prescribed under the Secretarial Standards on meetings 
of the Board of Directors (SS–1) and General Meetings 
(SS–2) read with the MCA circulars granting exemptions 
in view of the COVID-19 pandemic.
SEBI Complaints Redress System (SCORES):
The investor complaints are processed in a centralized 
web-based complaints redress system. The salient 
features of this system are: Centralized database of all 
complaints, online upload of Action Taken Reports (ATRs) 
by concerned companies and online viewing by investors 
of actions taken on the complaint and its current status.
Internal Audit:
The internal audit function provides an independent view 
to the Board of Directors, the Audit Committee and the 
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Senior Management on the quality and efficacy of the 
internal controls, governance systems and processes. 
In line with the RBI’s guidelines on Risk Based Internal 
Audit, the Company has adopted a Risk Based Internal 
audit policy
At the beginning of each financial year, an audit plan is 
rolled out after approval of the Audit Committee. Pursuant 
to Risk Based Internal Audit Framework, internal audit is 
aligned in such a manner that assurance is provided to 
the Audit Committee and Board of Directors on quality 
and effectiveness of the internal controls, and governance 
related systems and processes.
The Audit Committee regularly reviews the internal 
audit reports and the adequacy and effectiveness of 
internal financial controls. Significant audit observations, 
corrective and preventive actions thereon are presented 
to the Audit Committee on a quarterly basis.
Statutory Auditors:
Pursuant to the provisions of section 139(8) of the Act, 
members of the Company have approved appointment 
of M/s. S. P. Chopra & Co., Chartered Accountants, 
New Delhi as Statutory Auditors for their re-appointment 
for the second block of Five (5) years from conclusion 
of 28th Annual General Meeting till the conclusion of 
33rd Annual General Meeting scheduled to be held in 
Calendar Year 2027 for conducting the Annual Statutory 
Audit for the respective Financial Years viz. starting from 
Financial Year 2022-2023 till Financial Year 2026-2027.
The audit report given by M/s. S. P. Chopra & Co., 
Chartered Accountants, Statutory Auditors for FY 2023-
2024 is modified. 
EXPLANATION ON STATUTORY AUDITORS’ REPORT:
Qualification reported by Statutory Auditors
For Standalone Financial Statements:
The Company has availed term loans and working capital 
facilities from various banks, however, slowdown of its 
lending business and increased level of non-performing 
/ impaired loan portfolio, has impacted its cash flow 
/ liquidity, and the Company is un-able to service term 
loans and working capital facilities including interest 
thereon to certain banks. The interest of Rs. 5,018.76 
lakhs i.e. Rs. 387.09 lakhs and Rs. 1,459.32 lakhs for 
the current quarter and year ended 31 March, 2024 
respectively and Rs. 3,559.44 lakhs for the period upto 
31 March, 2023, though accrued on these loans has not 
been accounted / provided for by the Company in these 
standalone financial results.
For Consolidated Financial Results: 
The Parent Company has availed term loans and 
working capital facilities from various banks, however, 
slowdown of its lending business and increased level of 

non-performing / impaired loan portfolio, has impacted 
its cash flow / liquidity, and the Parent Company is un-
able to service term loans and working capital facilities 
including interest thereon to certain banks. The interest 
of Rs. 5,018.76 lakhs i.e. Rs. 387.09 lakhs and Rs. 
1,459.32 lakhs for the current quarter and year ended 
31 March, 2024 respectively and Rs. 3,559.44 lakhs 
for the period upto 31 March, 2023, though accrued on 
these loans has not been accounted / provided for by the 
Parent Company in these consolidated financial results.
Board’s reply:
The Company is in the talks / discussion with banks for 
restructuring / one time settlement. In the earlier year 
also, OTS’s proposal for settlement of its loans had been 
accepted / approved by banks. Hence, the Company has 
decided not to provide Interest amounting Rs. 5,018.76 
lakhs in their books of accounts considering ongoing 
discussions for settlement with other banks is also in the 
advance stage.
Secretarial Auditor: 
Pursuant to provisions of Section 204 of the Act read with 
Rule 9 of the Companies (Appointment and Remuneration 
of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014 and amendments 
thereto, the Board of Directors of the Company have 
appointed Mr. Mohsin Khan, proprietor of M/s MSK and 
Associates, Practicing Company Secretaries (M. No: 
39046 and COP: 14571) to conduct the Secretarial Audit 
for the financial year 2023-24. 
The Secretarial Audit Report (Form MR-3) for the financial 
year ended March 31, 2024, is annexed as Annexure-E 
forming an integral part of this Report.
The qualifications/ adverse remarks/ observations/ 
suggestions/ disclosure and other matters of emphasis 
made by M/s. MSK and Associates, in their Secretarial 
Compliance Report dated 12th August, 2024, on the 
Secretarial and other related records of the company, for 
the FY 2023-24 are mentioned below :-
1.	 The date of entry of the Minutes in the Minutes Book 

has been entered by hand as against the other 
context being type-written.

Board’s Reply: 
As per board, there is no provision in the Companies 
Act, 2013 or the Secretarial Standards or any other 
applicable law(s) that restricts the date of entry from 
being entered by hand. As per management there 
has been no non-compliance with respect to any 
provision of law.
2.	 As regards the Resolutions passed by the Company 

through Circulation in terms of Section 175 of the 
Companies Act, 2013, no brief background of the 
Resolutions therein has been given in the Minutes 
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while, the same is a mandatory requirement as per 
applicable ‘Secretarial Standards-1’

Board’s Reply: 
As per Secretarial Standards-1, apart from the 
Resolution or the decision, Minutes shall mention 
the brief background of all proposals and summarise 
the deliberations thereof. However, in the case of 
resolutions passed by circulation, such resolutions 
are merely taken note of by the Board and no proposal 
or deliberations had took place at the meetings. 
Moreover, as per secretarial standards only the text 
of the Resolution(s) passed by circulation since the 
last Meeting, including dissent or abstention, if any 
is required to be recorded in the minutes. Though, 
as a better corporate governance, the Company will 
give the brief background of the resolutions for the 
circular resolution also.  
3.	 In the Minutes of the Board Meeting dated 

26.05.2023 the heading of ‘Item No. 09’ categorically 
states for taking note of disclosures and declarations 
received from the Directors in form MBP-1 and 
DIR-8. However, on a perusal of the context of the 
Resolution passed therein, no mention of Form DIR-8 
to have been taken on record was found. On seeking 
a clarification from the Company as regards this 
ambiguity, the copies of the Certificates/ Declarations 
in Form DIR-8 under Section 164 were produced by 
the Company for inspection, and it was informed that 
the said disclosure was taken on record through the 
subsequent item No. 10. The mentioning of Form 
DIR-8 in the heading of Item No. 09 was erroneously 
mentioned, which in no manner jeopardizes with the 
context of the resolution so passed.

	 Board’s Reply: The comment is self-explanatory.
4.	 The ‘Certified True Copy’ of the Resolutions filed in 

Form MGT-14 as regards ‘Adoption of new set of MOA 
and AOA’ and for ‘Regularization of Mr. Kanwar Nitin 
Singh as an ‘Independent Director’ during the Annual 
General Meeting held on 15.09.2023 does not state 
the nature of the Resolutions, viz., Ordinary/ Special

	 Board’s Reply: 

	 The nature of resolution has been selected as 
Special Resolution in the Form MGT-14 filed 
for both resolutions as mentioned in above-
mentioned comment. The nature of resolution 
has also been mentioned in the Minutes. However, 
due to oversight, the extract may not contain the 
nature though it was already correctly selected it 
in the form. 

5.	 As Per Regulation 17(1) of SEBI (LODR) Regulation, 
2015, the Board of Directors have an optimum 
combination of Executive and Non-Executive 
Directors with at least one-Woman Director and not 
less than fifty per cent of the Board of Directors shall 
comprise of Non-Executive Directors. As regards the 
terminology used in the corresponding regulation, it 
has been enunciated that the Board shall comprise 
an optimum combination of Executive & Non-
Executive Directors. On the perusal made by me 
in this Audit, it has been noticed that there is only 
One Executive Director on the Board against four 
(4) Non-Executive Directors during the Audit period. 
Though the Company has a duly constituted Board 
in compliance with the provisions of the Companies 
Act, 2013 read with the SEBI (LODR), 2015, yet it 
is suggested to the Company for the sake of better 
Corporate Governance to have more than one 
Executive Directors on the Board.

	 Board’s Reply: 
	 In the Board’s view, the Company has duly 

complied the provisions with regard to the 
constitution of the Board of Directors of the 
Company as laid down under the provisions 
of the Companies Act, 2013 and SEBI (LODR) 
Regulations, 2015. Further, it takes note of the 
recommendation of the Auditor and ensures to 
review it in the near future.

6.	 As regards the Forms/ Returns to be filed by the 
Company with the Registrar of Companies under the 
Companies Act, 2013 and the rules framed thereunder 
in the period under review following forms have been 
filed with a delay as stated in the below table:

Sr. 
No. Form Purpose of filing the 

Form
SRN of the 
Form

Date of 
event

Due-date of 
filing the form

Actual-date 
of Filing

1 DIR-12 Appointment of Mr. 
Rajesh Sharma as CFO AA2889602 08/02/2023 10/03/2023 15/06/2023

2 DIR-12
Resignation of Ms. Neeti 
Kakkar from the post of 
CFO

AA2248959 14/01/2023 13/02/2023 05/05/2023

3 DIR-12
Resignation of Mr. 
Himanshu Purwar from 
the post of Director

AA2639888 20/03/2023 19/04/2023 31/05/2023
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Board’s Reply: 
The said delay has occurred on account of 
the technical issues prevailed with the MCA 
V3 version. The Company on its part had 
raised complaints citing the issue faced while 
preparation of the relevant form. Accordingly, the 
delay in form filing has occasioned on account 
of technical glitch faced by all the users at the V3 
portal. The Management will ensure form filing 
within due timelines in future.

7.	 The forms filed by the Company, being a Non-
Banking Financial Company, with the Reserve Bank 
of India Act, 1934 have been filed with a delay. It 
is suggested to the Company to file such Forms/ 
Returns within the due dates as prescribed under 
the provisions of the Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934 
and rules framed thereunder 

	 Board’s Reply: 
	 The delay in filing of mentioned returns have 

occasioned due to technical glitches experienced 
by the Management at the relevant portal. Further, 
additional delay has occurred on account of non-
availability of the concerned personnel vested 
with the responsibility of form filing. 

	 The Management will ensure the filing of returns 
well within stipulated time frame.

8.	 The Company has not been filing its Provident Fund 
(PF) Returns since, June, 2023, further, on account 
of the information received by the Company, no 
notice has been received in this matter so far.

	 Board’s Reply: 
	 Due to current business environment and business 

challenges, the company is unable to satisfy these 
statutory compliances.

9.	 Further, GSTR-1 for the month of March, 2024 and 
GSTR-3B for the month of February & March, 2024 
have not been filed for which various notice(s) under 
Section 46 of the Goods & Services Act, 2017 for 
non-filing of Return have been received.

	 Board’s Reply: 
	 Due to current business environment and business 

challenges, the company is unable to satisfy these 
statutory compliances.

10. It is pertinent to mention here that the Company has 
made a non-compliance of ‘Regulation 33’ of the 
SEBI LODR, 2015 wherein, there is a delay of 22 
days in the submission of financial results for the 
Financial Year 2023-24 for which an amount of Rs. 
1,29,800/- (inclusive of tax) has been imposed by 
the ‘Bombay Stock Exchange’ & the same has duly 
been paid by the Company. Though, the due date 

for the aforesaid non-compliance falls beyond the 
current Secretarial Audit Period, yet, the same has 
been reported herein, as the event for imposition/ 
payment of fine supra has occurred during the period 
beginning from the closure of Financial Year till the 
date of signing of this instant Report.

	 Board’s Reply: 
	 The Board Meeting for approval of the Audited 

Financial Results, Auditors Report, along with 
other agendas was duly scheduled on 29th 
May, 2024. However, on that day, the CFO of the 
Company had a medical emergency in his family, 
due to which he was not available for the Board 
Meeting, where his presence was required for 
discussion of the aforementioned agendas.

	 Therefore, the concerned agendas regarding 
approval of Financial Results, Statement of Assets & 
Liabilities and Statement of Cash Flow (Standalone 
and Consolidated) for the year ended on March 31, 
2024, Annual Accounts of subsidiary company viz. 
Amulet Technologies Ltd, and other related matters 
could not be taken up and were deferred to be 
discussed at the next meeting on account of Non-
availability of Chief Financial Officer of the Company, 
to discuss the Financial Results.

	 In view of the aforementioned submission(s), we 
wish to state that the delay in consideration and 
submission of financial statements for the financial 
year ended on 31st March, 2024 occasioned on 
account of unforeseen circumstances which was 
beyond the control of the Management of the 
Company.
Pursuant to regulation 24A(2) of SEBI Listing 
Regulations, a report on secretarial compliance for 
FY 2023-2024 has been issued by M/s Arpit Garg 
& Associates and the same was submitted with the 
stock exchanges within the given timeframe. The 
report is available on the website of the Company and 
can be assessed at https://www.inteccapital.com/
wp-content/uploads/2024/05/Annual-Secretarial-
Compliance-Report-2023-24.pdf. 
There are no observations, reservations or 
qualifications or adverse remark in report on 
secretarial compliance pursuant to Regulation 24A 
(2) of SEBI Listing Regulations.

Related Party Transactions:
All contracts/arrangement/transactions entered by the 
Company during FY 2023-24 with related parties were 
in compliance with the applicable provisions of the 
Companies Act and SEBI Listing Regulations. Prior 
omnibus approval of the Audit Committee is obtained for 
all related party transactions which are foreseen and of 
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repetitive nature. Pursuant to the said omnibus approval, 
details of transaction entered into are also reviewed by 
the Audit Committee and Board on a quarterly basis.
All related party transactions entered during FY 2023-
24 were on an arm’s length basis and were not material 
under the SEBI Listing Regulations except for the 
remuneration of Mr. Sanjeev Goel, Managing Director 
of the Company for which the Company has already 
obtained the approval of shareholders in the 27th Annual 
General Meeting held on 15th September, 2021 for three 
(3) Financial Years i.e. for Financial Year 2022–2023, 
2023–2024, 2024-25 and availing of credit facility from 
Modern Credit Private Limited for the financial year 
2024–2025, the approval of which was accorded by 
way of Postal Ballot on November 17, 2023, as per the 
provisions of the applicable provisions of the Companies 
Act, 2013 and SEBI Listing Regulations.
Particulars of the Contracts or Arrangements with related 
parties referred to in Section 188(1) in the format specified 
as Form AOC-2 forms part of this Report as Annexure-F. 
Further details of related party transactions are provided 

S. 
No.

Name of the 
Firm/ Company 

(“The Borrower”)

Name of the 
Company and 

interested 
Director (“The 

Lender”)

Nature of 
Transaction

Outstanding amount 
of loans/advances/
Investments at the 

year end

The maximum 
amount of loans/

advances/Investments 
outstanding during the 

year
1. Amulet 

Technologies 
Limited

Mr. Sanjeev 
Goel, Managing 
Director of Intec 
Capital Limited

Loan 
Transactions 

1,28,82,170.44 1,35,51,196.50

2. Pantec Devices 
Private Limited

Mr. Sanjeev 
Goel, Managing 
Director of Intec 
Capital Limited

Interest on Loan 
Transactions

52,46,707.30 52,46,707.30

3. Modern Credit 
Private Limited

Mr. Sanjeev 
Goel, Managing 
Director of Intec 
Capital Limited

Loan 
Transactions

1,98,38,841.65 1,98,38,841.65

in Notes to Financial Statements.
Further, as per Schedule V of SEBI Listing Regulations, 
The details of loans and advances by listed entity and 
its subsidiaries to loans to firms/ companies in which the 
Directors of Company are interested as follows:
The policy on materiality of related party transactions and 
on dealing with related party transactions was amended 
in line with SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure 
Requirements) (Sixth Amendment) Regulations, 2021. 
The policy is available on the website of the 
Company at https://www.inteccapital.com/wp-content/
uploads/2022/06/Related_Party_Transaction_Policy_
updated.pdf and also forms a part of the Corporate 
Governance Report.

Corporate Social Responsibility (‘CSR’):
In accordance with Section 135 of the Act, your Company 
has a Corporate Social Responsibility (“CSR”) Committee. 
The CSR Committee has formulated and recommended 
to the Board, a Corporate Social Responsibility Policy 
(“CSR Policy”) indicating the activities to be undertaken 
by the Company, in due compliance of the provisions of 
the Companies Act, 2013, which has been approved by 
the Board.
The CSR Committee comprises of three directors viz., 
Mr. Sanjeev Goel, Mr. Surender Kumar Goel and Ms. 
Shalini Rahul. 
Mr. Sanjeev Goel is a permanent Chairman of the 
Committee.
The Company did not fulfill the eligibility criteria provided 
under the provisions of Section 135(1) of the Companies 
Act, 2013 as on 31st March, 2023, and therefore, the 
Company was not required to incur any CSR expenditure 
during the Financial Year 2023-24. 
The CSR Policy is available on the Company’s 

website at https://www.inteccapital.com/wp-content/
uploads/2021/09/CSR-Policy-1.pdf.
The Annual Report on CSR activities as required under 
Section 135 of the Companies Act, 2013, read with Rule 
8(1) of the Companies (Corporate Social Responsibility 
Policy) Rules, 2014, is annexed as Annexure-G forming 
an integral part of this Report.
Further, details on the CSR Committee are provided in 
the Corporate Governance Report, which forms part of 
this Annual Report. 
COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD:
The Board has constituted Committees with specific 
terms of reference to focus effectively on specific issues 
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and ensure expedient resolution of diverse matters. 
These include the Audit Committee; Asset Liability Cum 
Risk Management Committee; Stakeholders/ Investors’ 
Grievances Cum Share Transfer Cum Stakeholder 
Relationship Committee; Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee; Corporate Social Responsibility Committee.
The Company Secretary is the Secretary of all the 
aforementioned Committees.
The Board of Directors and the Committees also take 
decisions by Resolutions passed through Circulation 
which are noted by the Board / respective Committees 
of the Board at their next meetings. The Minutes of 
meetings of all Committees of the Board are circulated to 
the Board of Directors for noting.
Familiarization Policy and Programme for Independent 
Directors:
The Company has in place a familiarization Programme 
for its Independent Directors which shall be given to 
new Independent Directors upon joining and to existing 
Independent Directors on “need basis”. The objective of 
the familiarization Programme is to provide training to new 
Independent Directors at the time of their joining so as to 
enable them to understand the Company - its operations, 
business, industry and environment in which it functions 
and the regulatory environment applicable to it.
The familiarization program and other disclosures as 
specified under the Listing Regulations is available on the 
Company’s website at https://www.inteccapital.com/wp-
content/uploads/2023/02/Familiarization-Programme-
For-Independent-Directors.pdf. 
Unclaimed Dividend Transfer to Investor Education 
& Protection Fund (IEPF)
Pursuant to section 124(6) of the Act and the Investor 
Education and Protection Fund Authority (Accounting, 
Audit, Transfer and Refund) Rules, 2016, as amended 
(the ‘IEPF Rules’), all shares in respect of which dividend 
has not been paid or claimed for seven consecutive 
years or more shall be transferred to Demat Account of 
the IEPF Authority by the Company within a period of 
thirty days of expiry of said seven years. 
The Company also publishes a notice in newspapers 
intimating the members regarding the said transfer. 
These details are also available on the Company’s 
website at https://www.inteccapital.com/wp-content/
uploads/2023/10/Newspaper-Intimation_IEPF.pdf. 
In addition, Company has taken various steps to 
reach out to shareholders whose shares are due to be 
transferred to IEPF on account of not claiming dividend 
for a consecutive period of seven years. 
During FY 2023-2024, the Company transferred 293190 
equity shares of face value of Rs. 10 in respect of 77 

shareholders to Demat Account of the IEPF Authority 
held with CDSL. Members can claim such shares and 
unclaimed dividends transferred to the Fund by following 
the procedure prescribed under the IEPF Rules.
Other Statutory Disclosures:
1.	 The financial statements of the Company and its 

subsidiary are placed on the Company’s website at 
https://inteccapital.com/.

2.	 Details required under the provisions of section 
197(12) of the Act read with rule 5(1) of the 
Companies (Appointment and Remuneration of 
Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014, as amended, 
containing, inter alia, the ratio of remuneration of 
directors to median remuneration of employees, 
percentage increase in the median remuneration, 
are annexed to this Report.

3.	 Details of top ten employees in terms of the 
remuneration and employees in receipt of 
remuneration as prescribed under rule 5(2) of the 
Companies (Appointment and Remuneration of 
Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014, as amended, 
containing details prescribed under rule 5(3) of the 
said rules, which form part of the Directors’ Report, 
will be made available to any member on request, as 
per provisions of section 136(1) of the Act.

4.	 The Company being an NBFC, the provisions relating 
to Chapter V of the Act, i.e., acceptance of deposit, 
are not applicable.

5.	 The auditors, i.e., statutory auditors and secretarial 
auditors have not reported any matter under section 
143(12) of the Act, and therefore, no details are 
required to be disclosed under section 134(3)(ca) of 
the Act.

6.	 The provision of section 148 of the Act relating to 
maintenance of cost records and cost audit are not 
applicable to the Company.

7.	 The Company has a policy on prevention of sexual 
harassment at the workplace. The Company 
has complied with the provisions relating to the 
constitution of Internal Complaints Committee 
under Sexual Harassment of Women at Workplace 
(Prevention, Prohibition and Redressal) Act, 2013. 
The number of complaints received, disposed off 
and pending during FY 2023-2024 is given in the 
Corporate Governance Report.

8.	 There is no change in the nature of business of the 
Company during FY 2023-2024.

9.	 The securities of the Company were not suspended 
from trading during the year on account of corporate 
actions or otherwise.

10.	The Managing Director, as per the terms of his 
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appointment, does not draw any commission or 
remuneration from the subsidiary company. Hence, 
no disclosure as required under section 197(14) of 
the Act has been made.

11.	 Neither any application was made, nor any 
proceeding is pending under the Insolvency and 
Bankruptcy Code, 2016 against the Company.

12.	THE DETAILS OF DIFFERENCE BETWEEN 
AMOUNT OF THE VALUATION DONE AT THE 
TIME OF ONE TIME SETTLEMENT AND THE 
VALUATION DONE WHILE TAKING LOAN FROM 
THE BANKS OR FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS 
ALONG WITH THE REASONS THEREOF:

	 The Company has not availed any loan during the 
financial year under review, hence, the disclosure is 
not applicable and not furnished herein.
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Annexure A
FORM AOC-I

(Pursuant to first proviso to sub-section (3) of section 129 read with rule
 5 of Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014)

Statement containing salient features of the financial statement o
f subsidiaries/associate companies/ joint ventures

Part “A”: Subsidiaries
(Information in respect of each subsidiary to be presented with amounts in Rs.)

S. No. Particulars Value (in Rs.)
1 Name of the subsidiary Amulet Technologies Limited
2 The date since when subsidiary was acquired 17.03.2012
3 Reporting period for the subsidiary concerned, if different from 

the holding company’s reporting period N.A.

4 Reporting currency and Exchange rate as on the last date of 
the relevant financial year in the case of foreign subsidiaries  N.A.

5 Share capital Rs. 25,00,000.00
6 Reserves & surplus Rs. (1,85,42,338.83)
7 Total assets Rs. 13,37,10,404.74
8 Total Liabilities Rs. 14,97,52,736.19
9 Investments Nil

10 Turnover/Income Rs. 9,67,557.00
11 Profit before taxation Rs. (7,23,838.83)
12 Provision for taxation Nil
13 Profit after taxation Rs. (7,23,838.83)
14 Proposed Dividend Nil
15 % of shareholding 100.00% (Wholly owned Subsidiary)

Notes: The following information shall be furnished at the end of the statement:

1.	 Names of subsidiaries which are yet to commence operations

2.	 Names of subsidiaries which have been liquidated or sold during the year.

There are no subsidiaries which are yet to commence operations. Further, no subsidiaries have been liquidated or 
sold during the financial year under review.
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Part “B”: Associates and Joint Ventures
Statement pursuant to Section 129 (3) of the Companies Act, 2013 related 

to Associate Companies and Joint Ventures

S. No. Name of Associates & Joint Ventures Name 1 
1 Latest audited BalanceSheetDate N.A.
2 Shares of associates /Joint Ventures held by the company on the year end N.A.

i)	 No. N.A.
ii)	 Amount of Investments in Associates/ Joint Ventures N.A.
iii)	 Extend of Holding N.A.

3 Description of how there is significant influence N.A.
4 Reason why the associates /Joint ventures is not consolidated N.A.
5 Net worth attributable to shareholding as per latest audited balance sheet N.A.
6 Profit/ Loss for the year N.A.

i)	 Considered in consolidation N.A.
ii)	 Not Considered in consolidation N.A.

Notes: The following information shall be furnished at the end of the statement:

1.	 Names of associates or joint ventures which are yet to commence operations
2.	 Names of associates or joint ventures which have been liquidated or sold during the year.

There are no associates or joint ventures which are yet to commence operations. Further, no associates or joint 
ventures have been liquidated or sold during the financial year under review.

(Sanjeev Goel)                                      							       (Shalini Rahul)   
Managing Director                               							             Director              
(DIN: 00028702)                                     							       (DIN: 09357650)                          
                 

(Vinod Kumar)                     		             						       (Radhika Garg)
Chief Financial Officer           		              						      Company Secretary
PAN: AOCPK5016J			              	  					        M. No. A36587

Place: New Delhi
Date: July 31, 2024
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INDIAN ECONOMIC REVIEW:
Following a  successful moon mission and hosting   the 
G20 Summit, India is positioned to emerge from 2023 with 
increased stability and optimism for its growth and future 
prospects. The country’s attractiveness as an investment 
destination remains robust, given the size and scale of 
operations it has to offer to global companies, abundant 
skilled talent pool, and prowess in  technology  and 
innovation.
India’s Nifty 50 index, hit a new high, up 16% this year. It 
surpassed Hong Kong’s Hang Seng index, which fell 18% 
stock market is now the seventh largest with a market 
capitalization of US$3.989 trillion. High performing 
sectors predicted for 2024 include banking, healthcare, 
and energy. India’s ease of doing business reforms 
centered on streamlining and digitising regulatory 
compliance processes throughout the entire business 
lifecycle, spanning from incorporation to the cessation 
of operations. Furthermore, the 2023 survey conducted 
by the United Nations Economic and Social Commission 
for Asia Pacific (UNESCAP) on digital and sustainable 
trade facilitation positioned India as a leader in global 
trade facilitation efforts, achieving an impressive score 
of 93.55% in 2023 compared to 90.32% in 2021. India’s 
combined exports of merchandise and services for April - 
October 2023 was estimated at US$437.54 billion
NBFC SEGMENT IN INDIA:
The Indian economy was among the fastest-growing in the 
world before the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic. In the 
years leading up to the global health crisis, the country’s 
economic indicators posted gradual improvements. The 
twin deficits, namely current account and fiscal deficits, 
narrowed, while the growthinflation mix showed a positive 
and sustainable trend. Despite the geopolitical tensions 
worldwide, India’s economy is expected to grow by 6.21 
per cent in FY24, driven by robust domestic demand and 
strong growth in the manufacturing and services sectors. 
As the country progresses, demand for credit is likely 
to remain strong, especially among Micro, Small and 
Medium Enterprises (MSMEs) and retail, and is projected 
to grow by 13.5– 14.0 per cent. 
NBFCs have emerged as the crucial source of finance 
for a large segment of the population, including SMEs 
and economically unserved and underserved people. 
They have managed to cater to the diverse needs of 
the borrowers in the fastest and most efficient manner, 
considering their vast geographical scope, understanding 
of the various financial requirements of the people and 
extremely fast turnaround times. Nonbank money lenders 

have played an important role in the financial inclusion 
process by supporting the growth of millions of MSMEs 
and independently employing people. 
The sector has grown significantly, with a number of 
players with heterogeneous business models starting 
operations. The last few years have seen a transformation 
in the Indian financial services landscape. The increasing 
penetration of neo-banking, digital authentication, rise of 
UPI and mobile phone usage as well as mobile internet 
has resulted in the modularisation of financial services, 
particularly credit.
OPPORTUNITIES AND THREAT:
Your Company is committed to addressing the changes 
boosted by its strengths in market position, agile 
execution capabilities, robust early warning systems and 
extensive use of analytics for risk mitigation and resource 
allocation. It will ensure to take advantage of the tailwinds 
that may emerge during the course of the year. 
The stringent RBI and other regulatory norms governing 
the functioning of NBFC and certain government 
restrictions acts as hindrance in smooth functioning of 
NBFC.
SEGMENT–WISE OR PRODUCT-WISE PERFORMANCE 
OF THE COMPANY:
The Company operates in single segment, i.e. providing 
loans and finance in India. The revenue from operations from 
the aforesaid sector during the year was Rs. 373.64 Lacs.
RISK MANAGEMENT:
The Company prioritises risk management to protect the 
interest of customers, colleagues, shareholders, and the 
Company while ensuring sustainable growth. Our risk 
management framework aligns with industry standards, 
and a strong control framework forms the foundation 
for effective risk management. The Risk Management 
Committee identifies major risk classes, including Credit, 
Market, legal and regulatory, operational, liquidity, interest 
rate, cyber security, information technology, strategic, 
and economic risks.
We address increasingly complex risks through our 
risk management system, which conducts risk analysis 
and implements preventive measures. Our risk-
focussed culture is supported by standards, guidelines, 
processes, procedures, and controls. Policies are 
reviewed and approved by the Board and its Committees 
encompassing independent identification, assessment, 
and management of risk across business verticals.
Our philosophy is to ensure a sustainable and ethical business 
environment, reflected in our risk management practices.

Annexure B

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS REPORT 
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Further, the company has always maintained strict credit 
norms and processes to ensure financial assistance is 
granted only to able borrowers.
INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEMS AND THEIR ADEQUACY:
The company has appropriate and adequate internal 
control system, which are sufficient for the level of 
activities carried by it. The internal audit is being carried 
out by an external firm of Chartered Accountant and 
their findings are reviewed at reasonable intervals. The 
Board is of the opinion that the internal control system 
is adequate to the size of the Company’s business. The 
company has fully computerised and integrated financial 
and accounting function.
DISCUSSION ON FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE:
Details of the Company’s financial performance on 
standalone basis for the last two years is as follows:

(Amount in Lacs)

Year Total 
Revenue

Profit/ Loss 
after Tax EPS

2022-23 985.28 (2,663.69) (14.50)
2023-24 379.68 (1,369.10) (7.45)

MATERIAL DEVELOPMENTS IN HUMAN RESOURCES / 
INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS FRONT, INCLUDING NUMBER 
OF PEOPLE EMPLOYED:
Human resources are a valuable asset for any 
organization. The Company is committed to create an 
environment of constant learning and development, drive 
an effective and transparent performance culture and build 
a culture of appreciation & transparent communication. 
The Company is giving emphasis to upgrade the skills 
of its human resources. This is in keeping with its policy 
of enhancing the individual’s growth potential within the 
framework of corporate goals. Total number of employees 
as on 31st March 2024 stood at 37.

DETAILS OF SIGNIFICANT CHANGES (I.E. CHANGE OF 25% OR MORE AS COMPARED TO THE IMMEDIATELY 
PREVIOUS FINANCIAL YEAR) IN KEY FINANCIAL RATIOS, ALONG WITH DETAILED EXPLANATIONS 
THEREFORE, INCLUDING:
Following are the details of significant changes in the key financial ratios as compared to the immediately previous 
financial year:

Particular
 F.Y. 
2023-
2024 

 F.Y. 
2022-
2023

 Difference 
between FY 

% in 
change 
from the 
last FY

Reason (if more than 
25% change)

(i) Debtor Turnover NA NA NA NA NA
(ii) Inventory Turnover NA NA NA NA NA

(iii) Interest Coverage Ratio (74.96) (117.82) 42.86 36.38 Due to reduction in loss

(iv) Current Ratio 1.21 0.47 0.74 157.45 Due to increase in 
current assets

(v) Debt Equity Ratio 1.55 1.08 0.47 43.52 Due to losses incurred 
during the year

(vi) Operating Profit Margin (%) NA NA NA NA NA

(vii) Net Profit/Loss Margin (%) -360% -270% -90% -33% Due to decrease in 
revenue from operation
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DETAILS OF ANY CHANGE IN RETURN ON NET WORTH

Particulars

For the 
Financial 
Year 

For the 
Financial 
Year 

For the 
Financial 
Year 

2023-24 2022-23 2021-22

Net worth:
Share Capital 1836.63 1836.63 1836.63
Statutory 
Reserve 1868.50 1868.50 1868.50

Securities 
Premium 8843.84 8843.84 8843.84

Surplus in P & L (11545.67) (7296.69) (7323.91)
Total Net worth 1003.30 5252.28 5225.06
PAT (1369.10) (2663.69) 359.10
Return on Net 
worth (136.46)% -50.71% 6.87%

CAUTIONARY STATEMENT
This report contains forward-looking statements extracted 
from reports of Government Authorities/ Bodies, Industry 
Associations etc. available on the public domain which 
may involve risks and uncertainties including, but not 
limited to, economic conditions, government policies, 
dependence on certain businesses and other factors. 
Actual results, performance or achievements could 
differ materially from those expressed or implied in such 
forward-looking statements. This report should be read in 
conjunction with the financial statements included herein 
and the notes thereto. The Company does not undertake 
to update these statements.
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Annexure C
Details under Section 197(12) of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Rule 5(1) of the 
Companies (Appointment and Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014 for 
the financial year ended 31st March, 2024
Pursuant to Section 197(12) of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Rule 5(1) of the Companies (Appointment and 
Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014 as amended the statistical analysis of the remuneration paid to 
Directors and Key Managerial Personnel (KMP) as against the other employees of the company and with respect to 
the performance of the company (PAT) is given below:-
1.	 The ratio of the remuneration of each director to the median remuneration of the employees of the company for 

the financial year 2023-24-

Name of Director Designation Ratio*
Mr. Sanjeev Goel Managing Director NA
Mr. Surender Kumar Goel# Non- Executive Independent Director 0.14:1
Mr. Rakesh Kumar Joshi# Non-Executive Independent Director 0.14:1
Ms. Shilpy Chopra # Non-Executive Independent Woman Director 0.14:1
Ms. Shalini Rahul # Non-Executive Independent Woman Director 0.17:1
Mr. Kanwar Nitin Singh#,## Non-Executive Independent Director 0.14:1

Note: 
* For calculating ratio, remuneration includes the sitting fees paid during the F.Y. 2023-24.

 # The remuneration consist of sitting fees paid during the F.Y. 2023-24.

##Mr. Kanwar Nitin Singh was appointed as Director of the Company w.e.f. 17.06.2023

2.	 The percentage increase in remuneration of each director, Chief Financial Officer, Chief Executive Officer, 
Company Secretary or Manager, if any, in the financial year 2023-24:-
•	 There is no increase in remuneration of the Managing Director;
•	 There is no increase in remuneration of the Chief Financial Officer;
(a)	 Mr. Vinod Kumar was appointed as the Chief Financial Officer of the Company w.e.f. February 13, 2024 

and there was no increase in the his remuneration during FY 2023-24;
•	 There is no increase in remuneration of the Company Secretary;
(a)	 Ms. Radhika Garg was appointed as the Company Secretary and Compliance Officer of the Company 

w.e.f. November 12, 2022 and there was no increase in her remuneration during FY 2023-24;
Since none of the other Independent Directors were paid remuneration in the financial year 2022-23 and 2023-
24, therefore there is no increase in remuneration, during the year.

3.	 The percentage increase in the median remuneration of employees in the financial year    2023-24:- Nil
4.	 The number of active permanent employees on the payroll of company at year end –38
5.	 Average percentile increase already made in the salaries of employees other than the managerial personnel 

in the last financial year and its comparison with the percentile increase in the managerial remuneration and 
justification thereof and point out if there are any exceptional circumstances for increase in the managerial 
remuneration:-

Average % increase in the salary of employees other than Managerial Personnel: - 
2023-24– Nil
Average % increase in the Salary of the Managerial Personnel:-
2023-24 – Nil
Affirmation: 
We hereby confirm that the remuneration paid to employees is as per the remuneration policy of the company.
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The statement containing names of top ten employees in terms of remuneration drawn and the particulars 
of employees as required under Section 197(12) of the Act read with Rule 5 (2) and (3) of the Companies 
(Appointment and Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014, as given below:-

Employee 
Name

Designation Nature of 
Duties/

Role

Qualifications 
& Age 

Experience Date of 
Joining

Last Employer Remuneration 
Received

The % of 
equity shares 

held by the 
employee in 
the company 

Whether any 
such employee 
is a relative of 
any director or 
manager of the 
company and 
if so, name of 

such director or 
manager

Arvind 
Kumar Jha

Associate 
Vice 
President

Head-
NCLT

LL.B
46 Years

19 Years 10.09.2021 Asset 
Reconstruction 
Company (I) 
Limited

29,56,248 Nil No

Pranav 
Goel

Chief 
Manager

Chief 
Manager-
IT Infra & 
Software

BBA
30 Years

9 Years 1.05.2020 Modern Credit 
Private Limited

22,08,000 0.18% Son of Mr. 
Sanjeev Goel 
(Managing 
Director)

Dhruv Goel Chief 
Manager

Chief 
Manager-
Finance & 
Legal

BA 
Economics
28 Years

7 Years 01.08.2020 Modern Credit 
Private Limited

17,96,244 0.18% Son of Mr. 
Sanjeev Goel 
(Managing 
Director)

Anju 
Srivastava

Chief 
Manager

Chief 
Manager- 
Finance & 
Accounts

B.Com
47 Years

25 Years 01.08.1998 Kanha 
Vanaspati 
Limited

16,02,888  Nil No

Dinesh 
Negi

Chief 
Manager

Chief 
Manager- 
Legal 
Collections

B.Com
49 Years

10 Years 24.11.2014 Nilhal Buildwell 
Pvt. Ltd.

14,36,160 Nil No

Shikha  
Kadyan

Manager Manager-
Legal

LL.B/ M.com/ 
CS
32 Years

8 Years 01.04.2022 Renaissance 
Capital 
Advisors Pvt 
Ltd

11,73,000 Nil No

Vijay 
Madan

Senior 
Manager  

Finance & 
Accounts

B.Com
49 Years

12 Years 01.08.2011 Intec Share 
and Stock 
Brokers 
Limited

8,54,244 Nil No

Vinod 
Kumar

Deputy 
Manager

Front End 
– DM

B. Com
56 Years

34 years 11.01.1996 ITP (PVT) LTD 7,75,812 Nil No

Vyas Mehul 
Mahend
rabhai

Deputy 
Manager

Collections 12th
46 Years

19 years 23.07.2018 JD Finance 
Limited

6,99,216 Nil No

Radha 
Krishna 
Parida

Manager Finance & 
Accounts

B. Com
50 years

21 years 01.02.2006 Atex Shopping 
Plaza Private 
Limited

6,63,540 Nil No
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Statement of particulars of employees pursuant to the provisions of Section 197(12) of the Companies Act, 
2013 read with Rule 5(2) & (3) of the Companies (Appointment and Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) 
Rules,2014 for the financial year ended 31st March, 2024.

A.  Employed throughout the financial year , was in receipt of remuneration for that year which, in 
the aggregate, was not less than one crore and two lakh rupees 

Rule Rule Description Details
5(2) Name of such employee Mr. Sanjeev Goel
5(3) (i) Designation of such employee Managing Director
5(3) (ii) remuneration received Nil
5(3) (iii) nature of employment, whether contractual or otherwise Executive Director
5(3) (iv) qualifications and experience of the employee CA, MBA (Finance)

31 years of experience
5(3) (v) date of commencement of employment 15/02/1994
5(3) (vi) the age of such employee 60 years 
5(3) (vii) the last employment held by such employee before 

joining the company
NIL

5(3) (viii) the percentage of equity shares held by the employee 
in the company within the meaning of clause (iii) of 
sub-rule (2) above

3.51%

5(3) (ix) whether any such employee is a relative of any director 
or manager of the company and if so, name of such 
director or manager

Mr. Pranav Goel, (Manger- IT & Infra) & 
Mr. Dhruv Goel, (Manager – Finance & 
legal) are relatives (Son) of Mr. Sanjeev 
Goel.

B.  Employed for a part of the financial year, was in receipt of remuneration for any part of that year, at a rate 
which, in the aggregate, was not less than eight lakh and fifty thousand rupees per month;

Rule Rule Description Details
5(2) Name of such employee -
5(3) (i) Designation of such employee -
5(3) (ii) remuneration received -
5(3) (iii) nature of employment, whether contractual or otherwise -
5(3) (iv) qualifications and experience of the employee -
5(3) (v) date of commencement of employment -
5(3) (vi) the age of such employee -
5(3) (vii) the last employment held by such employee before 

joining the company
-

5(3) (viii) the percentage of equity shares held by the employee in 
the company within the meaning of clause (iii) of sub-rule 
(2) above

-

5(3) (ix) whether any such employee is a relative of any director or 
manager of the company and if so, name of such director 
or manager

-
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C. Employed throughout the financial year or part thereof, was in receipt of remuneration in that year which, 
in the aggregate, or as the case may be, at a rate which, in the aggregate, is in excess of that drawn by the 
managing director or whole-time director or manager and holds by himself or along with his spouse and 
dependent children, not less than two percent of the equity shares of the company.
Rule Rule Description Details
5(2) Name of such employee -
5(3) (i) Designation of such employee -
5(3) (ii) remuneration received -
5(3) (iii) nature of employment, whether contractual or otherwise -
5(3) (iv) qualifications and experience of the employee -
5(3) (v) date of commencement of employment -
5(3) (vi) the age of such employee -
5(3) (vii) the last employment held by such employee before 

joining the company
-

5(3) (viii) the percentage of equity shares held by the employee in 
the company within the meaning of clause (iii) of sub-rule 
(2) above

-

5(3) (ix) whether any such employee is a relative of any director or 
manager of the company and if so, name of such director 
or manager

-
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Corporate governance is about promoting fairness, 
transparency, accountability, commitment to values, 
ethical business conduct and about considering all 
stakeholders’ interest while conducting business.
In accordance with the provisions of the SEBI (Listing 
Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 
2015 and amendments thereto, (the ‘SEBI Listing 
Regulations’), given below are the corporate governance 
policies and practices of Intec Capital Limited (the 
‘Company’) for FY 2023-2024. 
This report outlines compliance with requirements of the 
Companies Act, 2013, as amended (the ‘Act’) and the 
SEBI Listing Regulations, as applicable to the Company. 
As will be seen, the Company’s corporate governance 
practices and disclosures are well beyond complying 
with the minimum statutory and regulatory requirements 
stipulated in the applicable laws.
OUR CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PHILOSOPHY
Our corporate governance is a reflection of our value 
system, encompassing our culture, policies, and 
relationships with our stakeholders. Integrity and 
transparency are key to our corporate governance 
practices and performance, and ensure that we gain 
and retain the trust of our stakeholders at all times. 
Corporate governance is an ethically-driven business 
process that is committed to values aimed at enhancing 
an organization’s capacity to create wealth. This is 
ensured by taking ethical business decisions and 
conducting business with a firm commitment to values, 
while meeting stakeholders’ expectations. At Intec 
Capital, it is imperative that our Company affairs are 
managed in a fair and transparent manner. This is vital 
to gain and retain the trust of our stakeholders.
BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Board of Directors (‘Board’) and its Committees play 
significant role in upholding and furthering the principles 
of good governance which translates into ethical 
business practices, transparency and accountability in 
creating long-term stakeholder value.
Keeping with the commitment to the principle of 
integrity and transparency in business operations for 
good corporate governance, the Company’s policy is 
to have an appropriate blend of independent and non-
independent directors to maintain the independence 
of the Board and to separate the Board functions of 
governance and management. 

The responsibilities of the Board, inter alia, include 
formulation of overall strategy for the Company, 
reviewing major plan of actions, setting performance 
objectives, laying down the Code of Conduct for all 
members of the Board and Senior Management, 
formulating policies, performance review, monitoring 
due compliance with applicable laws, reviewing and 
approving the financial results, enhancing corporate 
governance practices and ensuring the best interest of 
the shareholders, the community, environment and its 
various stakeholders.
Composition 
Your Company has an optimum mix of Executive, Non-
Executive and Independent Directors which is essential 
to effectuate the two main functions of the Board viz. 
Governance and Management. During the year under 
review, the Company has complied with the provisions 
relating to corporate governance as provided under the 
Listing Regulations (hereinafter, “SEBI LODR”), the 
Companies Act, 2013 and also in terms of Guidelines 
as issued by Reserve Bank of India (“RBI”) with respect 
to Composition of Board.
As on March 31, 2024, the Board of the Company 
consisted of 6 (Six) directors, of whom 1 (one) was 
Executive (Managing Director), 5 (Five) were Non-
Executive Independent (including two-woman directors). 
All the Independent Directors have confirmed that they 
meet the ‘independence’ criteria as mentioned under 
regulation 16(1)(b) of the SEBI LODR and section 149 
of the Companies Act, 2013. None of the Directors 
is related to each other and there are no inter-se 
relationships between the Directors. 
The Board of Directors of your Company consists of 
professionals from varied disciplines and possesses 
adequate knowledge and skills. 
Detailed profile of the Directors is available on the 
Company’s website at https://www.inteccapital.com/
about-us/board-of-directors/profile-of-directors/
Resignation of Independent Director 
No resignation was tendered by any of the independent 
directors during FY 2023-2024.
As Table 1 shows, the Company is in compliance with 
the SEBI Listing Regulations.

Annexure D

REPORT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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Table 1: Composition and category of Board of Directors as on 31st March, 2024

S. No. Name Designation Category DIN Date of 
joining Board

1. Mr. Sanjeev Goel Managing Director Executive Director 00028702 15/02/1994
2. Mr. Surender Kumar 

Goel 
Non-Executive Independent 
Director

Non-Executive 
Independent Director

00963735 13/02/1998

3. Mr. Rakesh Kumar 
Joshi 

Non-Executive Independent 
Director

Non-Executive 
Independent Director

02410620 27/02/2002

4. Ms. Shilpy Chopra Non-Executive Independent 
Woman Director

Non-Executive 
Independent Director

07161915 12/05/2021

5. Ms. Shalini Rahul Non-Executive Independent 
Woman Director

Non-Executive 
Independent Director

09357650 13/10/2021

6. Mr. Kanwar Nitin 
Singh

Non-Executive Independent 
Director

Non-Executive 
Independent Director

10204543 17/06/2023

As per the requirement under SEBI (LODR) Regulations, 
2015, none of the Directors on the Board is a Member of 
more than 10 Committees and Chairperson of more than 
5 Committees (Committees being Audit Committee and 
Stakeholders Relationship Committee as per Regulation 
26(1) of the Listing Regulations), across all public 
companies in which he/she is a Director. The required 
disclosures regarding their position in the committees 
have been duly attained by the Company. 
Furthermore, as per the requirement laid under section 
165(1) of Companies Act, 2013 none of the Directors 

hold office in more than 20 companies and in more than 
10 public companies. 
Also, in terms of Regulation 17A of SEBI (LODR) 
Regulations, 2015, no Director holds Directorships in 
more than 7 listed companies and none of the Director 
serves as Independent Director in more than 7 listed 
companies.
Other Directorship and Attendance of Directors
The number of Directorship and Committees 
Chairmanship/Membership held by the Directors as on 
March 31, 2024 are given hereunder:

Name Date of 
Appointment

Category of 
Director

No. of 
Directorships 

in other 
Companies* 

No. of other Committee 
Memberships/ 

Chairmanships**

Directorship held in 
Other Listed Companies 

and Category of 
DirectorshipChairperson M Member

Mr. Sanjeev 
Goel

15/02/1994 Managing 
Director

2 Nil Nil Nil

Mr. Surender 
Kumar Goel

13/02/1998 Independent 
Director

1 Nil Nil Nil

Mr. Rakesh 
Kumar Joshi

27/02/2002 Independent 
Director

- Nil Nil Nil

Ms. Shilpy 
Chopra

12/05/2021 Independent 
Director

- Nil 2 1. Auto Pins (India) 
Limited, Independent 

Director
Ms. Shalini 
Rahul

13/10/2021 Independent 
Director

- Nil 1 2. Cranex Limited, 
Independent Director

1. Cranex Limited, 
Independent Director

2. Magnum Ventures 
Limited, Independent 

Director
* Excludes Directorships/Chairpersonships in Associations, Private Limited Companies, Foreign Companies, Government 

Bodies, Companies registered under Section 8 of the Act and Alternate Directorships. 
**Represents Chairpersonships/Memberships of Audit and Stakeholders Relationship Committees in all companies as 

required under Regulation 26(1)(b) of the Listing Regulations.
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The Twenty Ninth (29th) Annual General Meeting (‘AGM’) 
of the Company for the Financial Year (‘FY’) 2022-23 was 
held on Friday, September 15, 2023. All the Directors of 
the Company were present at the 29th AGM. The Board 
met Six times on the dates presented below, during the 
FY 2023-24 and the gap between two meetings at any 
time did not exceed 120 days. The quorum required was 
present for all the Board Meetings

Name and 
Category

Attendance at the Board Meetings held on No. of meetings 
held during FY 
2023-24 (Five)

Whether 
attended 
the AGM

Attendance
(%)

No. of 
shares 

held 
in the 

company

May
28, 

2023

June 
03, 

2023

August 
05, 2023

November 
12, 2023

February 
08, 2024

Entitled 
to 

attend

Attended

Managing Director
Mr. Sanjeev 
Goel

     6 6  100.00 6,44,464

Non-Executive Independent Director
Mr. Surender 
Kumar Goel

  AB   6 5  83.33 -

Mr. Rakesh 
Kumar Joshi

AB    AB 6 5  83.33 -

Ms. Shilpy 
Chopra

AB AB NA NA NA 6 5 NA 83.33 -

Ms. Shalini 
Rahul

   AB  6 6  100.00 -

Mr. Kanwar 
Nitin Singh

     5 5  100.00 -

Core skills/expertise/competencies:
A brief profile of the Directors is available on the website 
of the Company at https://www.inteccapital.com/about-
us/board-of-directors/profile-of-directors/.
As stipulated under schedule V to the SEBI Listing 
Regulations, core skills/expertise/competencies as 

The details of names and categories of Directors on 
the Board, during the Financial Year 2023-24, their 
attendance at Board Meetings held during the Financial 
Year 2023-24 and at the last Annual General Meeting are 
given hereunder:

required in the context of the business and sector for it 
to function effectively and those actually available with 
the Board have been identified by the Board of Directors.
The Chart/matrix of such core skills/expertise/
competencies, along with the names of Directors who 
possess such skills is given below:

Name of the 
Director

Core skills/expertise/competencies
Financial 
Services

Leadership Technology Risk, Assurance 
and Internal 

Controls 

Understanding of 
accounting and 

financial statements

Business 
Transformation 

& Strategy
Mr. Sanjeev 
Goel

Yes Yes No Yes Yes Yes

Mr. Surender 
Kumar Goel

Yes Yes No Yes Yes Yes

Mr. Rakesh 
Kumar Joshi

Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes

Ms. Shilpy 
Chopra

Yes Yes Yes No Yes Yes

Ms. Shalini 
Rahul

Yes Yes Yes No Yes Yes

Mr. Kanwar 
Nitin Singh

Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes No
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Non-Executive Directors’ Compensation: 
During FY 2023-2024, sitting fees of ₹ 10,000 per meeting 
was paid to Non-executive Independent Directors for 
every meeting of the Board attended by them.
Inter-se Relation among Directors:
There is No Inter-se Relationship among the directors of 
the Company.
Shareholding of Non-Executive Directors as on 
March 31, 2024:
None of the Non-Executive Director holds any Shares 
in the Company. The Company has not issued any 
convertible instruments.
Conduct of Board Proceedings:
The development of Company’s vision, strategic direction 
and evaluates the management policies and their 
effectiveness is made under the guidance of the Board. 
The meetings of the Board are conducted at regular 
intervals in order to discuss and decide on business 
strategies/policies and review the financial performance 
of the Company from time to time.
The dates of the Board Meetings are fixed well in 
advance and intimated to the Board members to enable 
the Directors to plan their schedules accordingly. The 
agenda papers are circulated to the Directors in advance 
before the meeting. However, certain exigent proposals 
are tabled at the Board Meeting under “Any other items” 
of the Board Agenda with the approval of the Chairman 
and consent of all the Directors present.
The Company Secretary attends all the meetings of the 
Board and its Committees and is, inter alia, responsible 
for recording the minutes of such meetings. The agenda 
and related information is circulated through electronic 
mode. This has reduced paper consumption, thereby 
enhancing the sustainability efforts of the Company. Video 
conferencing facility is provided to facilitate Directors who 
are unable to attend the Meeting in person.
Managing Director (MD) and Chief Financial Officer 
(CFO) Certification:
As required under Regulation 17 read with Part B of 
Schedule II of the Listing Regulations, the MD and CFO 
certification on the Financial Statements, the Cash Flow 
Statement, and the Internal Control Systems for financial 
reporting has been obtained from Mr. Sanjeev Goel, 
Managing Director and Mr. Vinod Kumar, Chief Financial 
Officer. The said certificate is annexed as Annexure 1 to 
this report.
Code of Conduct:
The Code of Conduct aims at ensuring consistent 
standards of conduct and ethical business practices 
across the Company. The Company has laid down the 
Code of Conduct which is applicable to all its Directors 
whether executive or non-executive which can be 
accessed on the website of the Company at https://

www.inteccapital.com/. The Board has also laid down a 
Code of Conduct for the Non-executive Directors of the 
Company, which incorporates the duties of Independent 
Directors as laid down in Schedule IV to the Act which 
can be accessed on the website of the Company at 
h0ttps://www.inteccapital.com/.
All the Board Members and the Senior Management 
Personnel as on March 31, 2024, have affirmed 
compliance with the Code of Conduct. A certificate to that 
effect is annexed as Annexure 2.
Certificate from Practicing Company Secretary: 
The Company has received a certificate from M/s. Arpit 
Garg & Associates, Practicing Company Secretary, to 
the effect that none of the directors on the Board of the 
Company has been debarred or disqualified from being 
appointed or continuing as director of the Company by 
SEBI/Ministry of Corporate Affairs (‘MCA’) or such other 
statutory authority. The said certificate is annexed as 
Annexure 3 to this report.
Review of Legal Compliance Reports: 
The Board periodically reviews compliance reports with 
respect to the various laws applicable to the Company, 
as prepared and placed before it by the Management.
Maximum Tenure of Independent Directors:
In terms of the Companies Act, Independent Directors 
shall hold office for a term of up to five consecutive years 
on the board of a company but shall be eligible for re-
appointment on passing of a special resolution by the 
Company and disclosure of such appointment in the 
board’s report. The tenure of the independent Directors 
is in accordance with the provisions of the Act.
Independent Directors and Confirmation of 
Independence:
The Board of the Company comprises of four Non- 
Executive Independent Directors which formulates 80% 
of the total strength of the Board. 
The Non-Executive Independent Directors fulfill the 
conditions of independence specified in Section 149(6) 
of the Companies Act, 2013 and Listing Regulations. 
The terms and conditions stating the appointment 
of Independent Directors are in accordance with the 
Companies Act, 2013 and the Listing Regulations. 
The Independent Directors have submitted declarations 
that they meet the criteria of independence as provided in 
Regulation 16(1)(b) of the SEBI Listing Regulations and 
that they are not aware of any circumstance or situation, 
which exist or may be reasonably anticipated, that could 
impair or impact their ability to discharge their duties with 
an objective independent judgement and without any 
external influence.
Meetings of Independent Directors: 
A meeting of the Independent Directors of the Company 
was held on March 28, 2024 without the presence of 
non-independent Directors and the members of the 
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management, and the meetings was held in compliance 
with Schedule IV to the Act and Regulation 25(3) of SEBI 
Listing Regulations.
Familiarization Program for Independent Directors:
Regulation 25(7) of the SEBI (LODR) Regulations 
mandates the Company to familiarize the Independent 
Directors with the Company, their roles, rights, 
responsibilities in the Company, nature of the industry 
in which the Company operates, business model of 
the Company, etc. through detailed presentations. The 
Independent Directors of the Company are familiarized 
through familiarization of major developments and 
updates on the Company and group, etc., throughout 
the year on an ongoing and continuous basis. Such 
programs/presentations also provide an opportunity 
to the Independent Directors to interact with the senior 
leadership team of the Company and help them to 
understand the Company’s strategy in a better manner. 
Details of familiarization programmmes are placed on 
the Company’s website and can be accessed at https://
www.inteccapital.com/wp-content/uploads/2023/02/
Familiarization-Programme-For-Independent-Directors.pdf.
Whistle Blower Policy/Vigil Mechanism:
The Company has a Whistle Blower Policy encompassing 
Vigil Mechanism pursuant to the requirements of the 
section 177(9) of the Act and regulation 22 of the SEBI 
Listing Regulations and meeting the requirements under 
applicable RBI regulations.
The Whistle Blower Policy/Vigil Mechanism enables 
directors and employees to report confidentially to 
the Management, without fear of victimization, any 
unacceptable and/or unethical behavior, suspected or 
actual fraud, violation of the Company’s Code of Conduct 
or ethics policy and instances of leak or suspected leak 
of unpublished price sensitive information which are 
detrimental to the organization’s interest. It provides 
safeguards against victimization of directors/employees 
who avail of the mechanism and allows direct access 
to the Chairman of the Audit Committee in exceptional 
cases. It also allows them to share their inputs or 
raise their concerns anonymously at the dedicated link 
provided for it.
The policy has been appropriately communicated to 
the employees within the organization and has also 
been hosted on the Company’s website which can be 
accessed at https://www.inteccapital.com/wp-content/
uploads/2021/09/Vigil-Mechanism-Whistle-Blower-
Policy.pdf.
During FY 2023-2024, no employee was denied access 
to the Chairman of Audit Committee under this policy. 
Subsidiary Company:
The Company has only one wholly-owned Subsidiary 
Company viz. Amulet Technologies Limited and it’s a 
non-material Subsidiary Company within the meaning of 
the SEBI Listing Regulations. 

The Subsidiary Company is managed by their respective 
Board of Directors in the best interest of their stakeholders.
Provision of regulation 24 of the SEBI Listing Regulations 
relating to subsidiary companies, to the extent applicable, 
have been duly complied with. 
Utilization of funds raised through preferential 
allotment/qualified institutions placement:
The Company has not raised funds by issue of equity 
shares either on preferential basis or through qualified 
institutions placement during FY 2023-2024. Therefore, 
there are no details are required to be disclosed as per 
regulation 32(7A) of SEBI Listing Regulations.
Related Party Transactions:
All related party transactions entered during FY 2023-2024 
were on an arm’s length basis and were not material under 
the SEBI Listing Regulations except to the remuneration 
of Mr. Sanjeev Goel, Managing Director of the Company 
for which the Company has already obtained the approval 
of shareholders in the 27th Annual General Meeting held 
on 15th September, 2021 for three (3) Financial Years 
i.e. for Financial 2022–2023, 2023–2024 and 2024–2025 
and availing of credit facility from Modern Credit Private 
Limited for the financial year 2024–2025, the approval 
of shareholders was accorded by way of postal ballot on 
November 17, 2023.
Particulars of the Contracts or Arrangements with 
related parties referred to in Section 188(1) in the 
format specified as Form AOC-2 forms part of this 
Report. Further, details of related party transactions are 
provided in Notes to Financial Statements.
Approval of the Audit Committee was obtained for all 
related party transactions entered during FY 2023-2024. 
Details of such transactions were placed before the Audit 
Committee for its noting/review on a quarterly basis.   
In pursuance of the applicable regulations of SEBI 
Listing Regulations, Disclosures relating to related party 
transactions are filed with the stock exchanges on a 
half-yearly basis.
During FY 2023-2024, there were no materially 
significant related party transactions entered into by 
the Company that may have potential conflict with the 
interests of the Company at large, further the Company 
has a policy on dealing with Related Party Transaction 
and has also been hosted on the Company’s website 
which can be accessed at https://www.inteccapital.
com/wp-content/uploads/2022/06/Related_Party_
Transaction_Policy_updated.pdf.
COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD
The constitution of Committees by the Board focus on 
The constitution of Committees by the Board focus on 
specific areas and make informed decisions within the 
framework of delegated authority and make specific 
recommendations to the Board on matters within their 
areas or purview. The decisions and recommendations 
of the Committees are placed before the Board for 
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information or for approval, as required. The Committees 
operate as empowered agents of the Board as per their 
Charter/Terms of Reference. The minutes of the meetings 
of all Committees of the Board are placed before the 
Board for discussions/noting. The composition and 
functioning of these Committees are in compliance with 
the applicable provisions of the Companies Act, 2013, 
SEBI LODR and also in consonance with the Corporate 
Governance Master Directions issued by the Reserve 
Bank of India for Non-Deposit taking Non- systematically 
important NBFC’s. 
As on March 31, 2024, the following committees were in 
operation:
Audit Committee:
Pursuant to the Act, SEBI Listing Regulations and NBFC 
Regulations, the Company has an Audit Committee, 
meeting the composition prescribed thereunder with 
a minimum of two-third of its members (including 
Chairman) being independent directors. All members 
are non–executive directors, are financially literate 
and have accounting or related financial management 
expertise. 
The Board reviews the working of the Committee from 
time to time to bring about greater effectiveness and 
to ensure compliance with the various requirements 
under the Act, SEBI Listing Regulations and NBFC 
Regulations. 
The terms of reference of the Committee are in 
accordance with the Act, SEBI Listing Regulations and 
NBFC Regulations. These broadly include oversight of 
the Company’s financial reporting process and manner 
for effective evaluation of performance of Board, its 
Committees, Chairperson and Individual Directors, 
recommendation of Remuneration Policy for directors, 
Key Managerial Personnel and other employees, 
formulation of criteria for evaluation of performance of 

The terms of reference of the Committee, inter 
alia, includes formulation of criteria for determining 
qualifications, positive attributes and independence of a 
director, recommendation of persons to be appointed to 
the Board and senior management and specifying the
Independent Directors and the Board, devising a policy 
on Board diversity and such other matters as may be 
prescribed by Companies Act, Listing Regulations and 
NBFC Regulations. 
The detailed terms of reference of the Committee can 
be accessed at https://www.inteccapital.com/wp-content/
uploads/2022/08/Word_-_Committees-of-Board-along-
with-Charter-converted.pdf. 
disclosure of its financial information, review of financial 
statements, review of compliances and review of 
systems and controls, approval or any subsequent 
modification of transactions with related parties, review 
compliance with SEBI (Prohibition of Insider Trading) 
Regulations, 2015, as amended. The detailed terms of 
reference of the Committee can be accessed at https://
www.inteccapital.com/wp-content/uploads/2022/08/
Word_-_Committees-of-Board-along-with-Charter-
converted.pdf.
Meetings and attendance
During FY 2023-2024, the Committee met 3 (Three) 
times viz., on 26 May, 2023, 10 August, 2023 and 13 
February, 2024. The meetings were scheduled well in 
advance and not more than one hundred and twenty 
days elapsed between any two consecutive meetings. 

The Company Secretary acted as the secretary to the 
NRC Committee.

The permanent Chairman of the Committee, Mr. 
Surender Kumar Goel was present at the AGM which 
was held through video conferencing (‘VC’) on 15th 
September, 2023 to answer members’ queries.

Composition of the Audit Committee and attendance record of the members for FY 2023-24

Name of the Director Category No. of Meetings held during FY2023-24 (5)

Entitled to attend Attended
Mr. Surender Kumar Goel Chairman, Non-Executive, 

Independent
3 2

Mr. Rakesh Kumar Joshi Non-Executive, Independent 3 3
Ms. Shalini Rahul Non-Executive, Independent 3 3

During FY 2023-2024, the Board had accepted all 
recommendations of the Committee.
Nomination and Remuneration Committee:
Pursuant to the Act, SEBI Listing Regulations and NBFC 
Regulations, the Company has constituted a Nomination 
and Remuneration Committee (‘NRC’), meeting the 
composition prescribed thereunder with a minimum of 
two-third of its members (including Chairman) being 
Independent Directors. All members of the Committee 
are Non–Executive Directors. 

During FY 2023-2024, the Board had accepted all 
recommendations of the Committee.
Asset Liability Cum Risk Management Committee:
Pursuant to the NBFC Regulations and SEBI Listing 
Regulations, the Company has constituted the Asset 
Liability cum Risk Management Committee (‘ALRMC’).
The terms of reference of the Committee are as follows:
1.	 Oversee the implementation of Risk Management 

Systems and Framework;
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2.	 Review the Company’s Financial and Risk 
Management Policies;

3.	 Assess risk and procedures to minimize the same;
4.	 Framing, implementing and monitoring the risk 

management plan for the Company;
5.	 To identify, quantify, integrate, monitor, manage and 

control the different type of risks associated with 
NBFC.

6.	 To assist the Board of Directors in Balance Sheet 
planning, putting in place a progressive risk 
management system, developing a risk return 
perspective including the strategic management of 
interest and liquidity risk.

Asset Liability Cum Risk Management Committee 
(ALRMC) was constituted by board of directors in its 
meeting held on 9th February, 2019 by merging the two 
existing Committees of the Board viz. Asset Liability 
Management Committee (ALCO) and Risk Management 
Committee (RMC).
Meetings and attendance
During FY 2023-2024, the Committee met 1 (One) time 
viz., on 26 May, 2023
The Company Secretary acted as the secretary to the 
NRC Committee.

Composition of the Asset Liability cum Risk Management Committee and attendance record of the members 
for FY 2023-24

Name of the Director Category No. of Meetings held during FY2023-
24 (4)

Entitled to attend Attended
Mr. Sanjeev Goel Chairman, Managing Director 1 1
Mr. Surender Kumar Goel Non-Executive, Independent 1 1
Mr. Rakesh Kumar Joshi Non-Executive, Independent 1 1
Ms. Shilpy Chopra Non-Executive, Independent 1 1

During FY 2023-2024, the Board had accepted all 
recommendations of the Committee.
Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) Committee: 
Pursuant to the Act and SEBI Listing Regulations, 
the Company has constituted a Corporate Social 
Responsibility (CSR) Committee.
The terms of reference of the Committee can be 
accessed at https://www.inteccapital.com/wp-content/
uploads/2022/08/Word_-_Committees-of-Board-along-
with-Charter-converted.pdf.
Management Committee (ALCO) and Risk Management 
Committee (RMC).
Meetings and attendance
During FY 2023-2024, the Committee met once on 26 
May, 2023. 
The Company Secretary acted as the secretary to the 
ALRMC Committee.
Composition of the Corporate Social Responsibility 
(CSR) Committee and attendance record of the 
members for FY 2023-24

Name of the 
Director

Category No. of Meetings held 
during FY2023-24 (1)
Entitled to 

attend
Attended

Mr. Sanjeev 
Goel

Chairman, 
Managing 
Director

1 1

Mr. Surender 
Kumar Goel

Non-Executive, 
Independent

1 1

Ms. Shalini 
Rahul

Non-Executive, 
Independent

1 1

Shareholders Investors Grievance Committee (SHIC) 
cum Stakeholders Share Transfer Committee (STC) 
cum Stakeholders Relationship Committee: 
Pursuant to the Act and SEBI Listing Regulations, the 
Company has constituted a Stakeholders Relationship 
Committee.
The terms of reference of the Committee, inter alia, 
includes review of measures taken for effective exercise 
of voting rights by shareholders and review of adherence 
to the service standards in respect of various services 
rendered by the share transfer agent. The terms of 
reference of the Committee can be accessed at https://
www.inteccapital.com/wp-content/uploads/2022/08/
Word_-_Committees-of-Board-along-with-Charter-
converted.pdf.
More details on this subject and on shareholders’ related 
matters including unclaimed suspense account have 
been furnished in General Shareholder Information.
Meeting and attendance 
During FY 2023-2024, the Committee met once on 28 
March, 2024 to review the status of investors’ services 
rendered. 
The Company Secretary acted as the secretary to the 
Committee.
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The Committee was apprised of the major developments 
on matters relating to investors. In addition, the Committee 
also considered matters that can facilitate better investor 
services and relations. 

The permanent Chairman of the Committee, Mr. Surender 
Kumar Goel was present at the AGM which was held 
through video conferencing (‘VC’) on 15th September, 
2023 to answer members’ queries.

Composition of the Shareholders Investors Grievance Committee (SHIC) cum Stakeholders Share Transfer 
Committee (STC) cum Stakeholders Relationship Committee and attendance record of the members for FY 
2023-24

Name of the Director Category No. of Meetings held during  
FY 2023-24 (1)

Entitled to 
attend

Attended

Mr. Surender Kumar Goel Chairman, Non-Executive, Independent 1 1
Mr. Sanjeev Goel Executive, Managing Director 1 1
Ms. Shalini Rahul Non-Executive, Independent 1 0

Details of the investor complaints received during FY 2023-24

No. of complaints 
outstanding at the 

beginning of the year

No. of complaints 
received

No. of complaints 
not solved to the 

satisfaction of the 
shareholders

No. of complaints 
solved

No. of pending 
complaints at the 
end of the year

0 0 0 0 0

Online Dispute Resolution (ODR) Mechanism

SEBI vide Circular No. SEBI/HO/OIAE/OIAE_IAD-3/P/ CIR/2023/195 dated July 31, 2023 (further updated as on 
December 20, 2023) have issued a Circular for online resolution of disputes in the Indian securities market. With the 
said Circular, the existing dispute resolution mechanism is being streamlined under the aegis of Stock Exchanges 
and Depositories by expanding their scope and by establishing a common Online Dispute Resolution Portal (“ODR 
Portal”) which harnesses online conciliation and online arbitration for resolution of disputes arising in the Indian 
securities market. As per the said SEBI Circulars, in case of any grievances, the shareholders are advised to first 
approach the Company or its RTA. If the response is not received/not satisfactory, they can initiate dispute resolution 
through the ODR Portal at https:// smartodr.in/login. 

In compliance with SEBI Circular, the Company has sent email communication to the shareholders intimating them 
the mechanism to facilitate online resolution of all kinds of disputes arising in the Indian securities market.

Remuneration of Directors: 

S. No. Name of the Director Sitting Fees for 
attending Board/

Committee Meetings 

Salary and 
Perquisites 

Incentive/
Bonus 

Total 

1. Mr. Sanjeev Goel 0 0 -- 0
2. Mr. Surender Kumar Goel 50,000 -- -- 50,000
3. Mr. Rakesh Kumar Joshi 50,000 -- -- 50,000
4. Ms. Shilpy Chopra 50,000 -- -- 50,000
5. Ms. Shalini Rahul 60,000 -- -- 60,000
6. Mr. Kanwar Nitin Singh* 50,000 -- -- 50,000

* Mr. Kanwar Nitin Singh, (DIN: 08203477), Non-Executive Independent Director of the Company, was appointed by 
the Board with effect from 17 June, 2023.



CAPITAL LIMITED
intec

Sapne Aapke, Bharosa Apno Ka

ANNUAL REPORT 2023-24 35

Pecuniary relationship/transaction with Non-
Executive Directors
During FY 2023-24, there were no pecuniary relationship/
transactions of any non–executive directors with the 
Company, apart from sitting fees paid for attending the 
meeting of Board or its committee as the case maybe. 
During FY 2023-24, the Company did not advance any 
loans to any of its directors.
Criteria of making payments to Non-Executive Directors
Non-executive directors of the Company play a crucial 
role in the independent functioning of the Board. They 
bring in an external perspective to decision-making 
and provide leadership and strategic guidance while 
maintaining objective judgment. They also oversee the 
corporate governance framework of the Company. 
The criteria of making payments to non–executive 
directors are placed on the Company’s website and can 
be accessed at https://www.inteccapital.com/wp-content/
uploads/2018/03/CRITERIA-FOR-MAKING-PAYMENT-
TO-NON-EXECUTIVE-DIRECTORS.pdf.

Managing Director 

The tenure of Mr. Sanjeev Goel, Managing Director 
of the Company is of five (5) years up to 31st March 
2025. There is no separate provision for payment of 
severance fees and performance linked incentives. The 
remuneration excluding sitting fees as mentioned above 
comprises only of fixed components. Further complete 
details of remuneration, of Directors and Key Managerial 
Personnel have been provided in annual return which 
will be hosted at the website of the Company in terms of 
provisions of Section 92(3) of the Companies Act, 2013. 

Management 

Management discussion and analysis

This is given as a separate section in the Annual Report. 

Disclosure of Material Transactions 

Under regulation 26(5) of the SEBI Listing Regulations, 
senior management is required to make disclosures to 
the Board relating to all material, financial and commercial 
transactions, where they had or were deemed to have 
had personal interest that might have been in potential 
conflict with the interest of the Company at large. As per 
the disclosure submitted by senior management, there 
were no such transactions during FY 2023-24.

Code of Conduct for Prevention of Insider Trading 

Your Company has adopted a “Code of Internal procedure 
and conduct for regulating, monitoring and reporting 
of trading in securities by Insiders” as required under 
Securities and Exchange Board of India (Prohibition 

of Insider Trading) Regulations, 2015. The Company 
formulated a Code of Conduct to Regulate, Monitor, and 
Report trading by Insiders to deter the Insider trading in 
the securities of the Company based on the unpublished 
price sensitive information (UPSI). 

The Code duly envisages procedures to be followed and 
disclosures to be made while dealing in the securities of 
the Company. During the year under review there has 
been due compliance with Securities and Exchange Board 
of India (Prohibition of Insider Trading) Regulations, 2015. 
The Code is also available at the website of the Company.

Means of communication 

The Board recognizes the importance of two-way 
communication with shareholders and giving a balanced 
report of results and progress and responding to 
questions and issues raised in a timely and consistent 
manner. The Company has its website (https://www.
inteccapital.com) that contains required information for 
the shareholders.

•	 Quarterly results and other relevant information: 

The quarterly/half-yearly/yearly results are intimated 
to the Stock Exchanges immediately after the Board 
Meeting at which they are approved. The results of the 
Company are also published in at least one national 
newspaper (usually Financial Express) and one regional 
newspaper (usually Hari Bhoomi) having wide circulation. 

•	 Website: 

The Company’s website, https://www.inteccapital.com, 
under the section of ‘investors’, contains all important 
public domain information including various policies 
and codes framed/approved by the Board, matters 
concerning the shareholders, details of the contact 
persons, etc.

•	 Green initiatives by MCA: 

Sections 20 and 136 of the Act, read with relevant rules, 
permit companies to service delivery of documents 
electronically to the registered email addresses of the 
members.

In compliance with the said provisions and as a continuing 
endeavour towards the ‘Go Green’ initiative, the Company 
proposes to send all correspondence/ communications 
through email to those members who have registered 
their email addresses with their depository participant’s/ 
Company’s share transfer agent. 

During FY 2023-24, the Company has sent documents, 
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such as notice calling the annual general meeting, postal 
ballot notice, audited financial statements, Directors’ 
Report, Auditors’ Report, half yearly communications, etc. 
in electronic form to the email addresses provided by the 
members and made available by them to the Company 

through the depositories. 

All financial and other vital official documents under the 
SEBI Listing Regulations are also communicated to the 
concerned stock exchanges, besides being placed on 
the Company’s website.

Information on General Body Meetings and details of Special Resolution(s) passed
Details of the AGMs held during last three years:

Details of AGM Date and Time of AGM Venue Details of special resolution(s) passed at the AGM
FY 2020-21
27th AGM

Wednesday, 
15th September, 2021
at 12:00 p.m. 

Through VC 
Deemed 
Venue: 
Registered 
office

-	 Approving the payment of Remuneration to Mr. 
Sanjeev Goel (DIN: 00028702), Managing Director 
for three (3) Financial Years i.e. for Financial 
2022–2023, 2023–2024 and 2024–2025.

FY 2021-22
28th AGM

Monday
05th September, 2022
at 12:00 p.m.

Through VC 
Deemed 
Venue: 
Registered 
office

-	 Appointment of Mrs. Shalini Rahul (DIN: 
09357650), as Non-Executive Independent 
Women Director of the Company who is appointed 
by Board of Directors for a consecutive period of 
five (5) years.

FY 2022-23
29th AGM

Friday
15th September, 2023
at 12:00 p.m.

Through VC 
Deemed 
Venue: 
Registered 
office

-	 To adopt new set of Memorandum of Association 
(MOA) of the Company as per Companies Act, 
2013.

-	 To adopt new set of Articles of Association (AOA) 
of the Company as per Companies Act, 2013.

-	 To appoint Mr. Kanwar Nitin Singh (DIN: 10204543) 
as an Independent Director of the Company

Extraordinary General Meetings:
During FY 2023-24, no Extraordinary General Meeting 
was conducted by the Company.
Postal Ballot:
During FY 2023-24, the Company had sought approval 
of the members through postal ballot, the details of the 
same are given below:
To approve availing of credit facility from Modern Credit 
Private Limited as a Material Related Party Transaction.  
(Special resolution)

Date of Postal Ballot 
Notice

October 11, 2023  

Voting Period October 18, 2023 to 
November 16, 2023

Date of passing the 
resolutions (last date of 
for voting)

November 16, 2023

Date of Scrutinizer’s 
Report

November 17, 2023 

Name of Scrutinizer CS Priyank Kukreja 
(ACS No: 40585, CP No: 
19465)

The details of voting pattern as detailed in the scrutinizer’s 
report for the above postal ballot has been placed on the 
Company’s website and can be accessed at https://www.
inteccapital.com/wp-content/uploads/2023/11/Voting-
Results-and-Scrutinizers-Report_Postal-Ballot.pdf.
Procedure for Postal Ballot
Pursuant to the provisions of the Act, postal ballot notice 
is dispatched only through electronics means at the 
registered email addresses of the members. The Company 
also provides a facility to those members who have not 
registered their mail addresses. 
In compliance with the provisions the Company provides 
facility to the members to exercise votes only through 
electronic voting system (‘remote e-voting’). 
The Company also publishes notice in the newspapers for the 
information of the members. Voting rights are reckoned on the 
equity shares held by the members as on the cut-off date. 
Pursuant to the provisions of the Act, the Company appoints 
a scrutiniser for conducting the postal ballot process in a 
fair and transparent manner. The scrutiniser submits his 
consolidated report to the Chairman & Managing Director 
and the voting results are announced by the Chairman 
& Managing Director by placing the same along with the 
scrutiniser’s report on the Company’s website, besides 
being communicated to the stock exchanges. 
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The resolution, if passed by requisite majority, is deemed 
to have been passed on the last date specified by the 
Company for receipt of duly completed postal ballot forms 
or remote e-voting
Details of Capital Market Non-Compliance, if any
Details of penalty imposed on the Company by stock 
exchange, SEBI or any other statutory authority, nor any 
instance of non-compliance with any legal requirements, 
or any matter related to capital market, during the last 
three years are as follows:

Financial 
Year

Non-Compliance 
of Regulation

Authority Penalty 
Amount 
exclusive of 
GST (in Rs.)

2023-24 -- -- --
2022-23 -- -- --
2021-22 -- -- --

Report on Corporate Governance 
This chapter read together with the information given 
in the Directors’ Report, the section on Management 
Discussion and Analysis and General Shareholder 
Information, constitutes the compliance report on 
Corporate Governance during FY 2023-24. The Company 
has been regularly submitting the quarterly corporate 
governance compliance report to the stock exchanges 
as required under regulation 27(2) of the SEBI Listing 
Regulations.
During FY 2023-24, the Company has complied with all the 
requirements of corporate governance report of sub-paras 
(2) to (10) of part C of Schedule V of SEBI (LODR), 2015.
A certificate affirming the compliances from M/s Vivek 
Gupta and Associates, a Practicing Company Secretaries 
has been duly attained by the Company and the same is 
forming part of this Report.
Disclosure under the Sexual Harassment of Women 
at Workplace (Prevention, Prohibition and Redressal) 
Act, 2013
During FY 2023-2024, the Company has not received 
any complaint under this Act. 
a)	 number of complaints filed during the financial year: 

NIL

b)	 number of complaints disposed of during the financial 
year: NIL

c)	 number of complaints pending as on the end of the 
financial year: NIL

TThe Company has re-constituted Internal Complaint 
Committee at the Board meeting held on 08 February, 
2023 by inducting Ms. Shikha Kadyan as member of 
Committee in place of Ms. Neeti who has resigned from 
the services of the Company.
Fees paid to Statutory Auditors
M/s S.P. Chopra & Co. was appointed as the Statutory 
Auditors of the Company till the Financial Year 2026-2027.
Fees paid to S.P. Chopra & Co., for the financial year 
2023-24 are as follows:

S. 
No.

Particulars Amount (in ₹)

1. Statutory Audit 5.50
2. Tax Audit 1.00
3. Limited Review 3.00
4. Other services 0.47
5. Out-of-pocket Expenses 0.66

Compliance of Mandatory and Discretionary 
Requirements
Mandatory
The Board of Directors periodically reviews the 
compliance of all applicable laws. The Company has 
complied with all the mandatory requirements of the 
SEBI Listing Regulations including but not limited to the 
provisions of regulations 17 to 27 and 46(2)(b) to (i) of the 
said Regulations.
Discretionary
•	 Shareholders’ Rights:  
As the Quarterly and Half Yearly Financial Results are 
published in the newspapers and are also posted on 
the Company’s website, the same are not being sent 
separately to the shareholders.
•	 Reporting of Internal Auditor: 
In pursuance with Section 138 of the Companies Act, 
2013, an Internal Auditor has been duly appointed by the 
Company who reports to the Audit Committee. Internal 
audit reports are submitted to the Audit Committee which 
reviews the audit reports and suggests necessary action.

List of Key policies of Intec Capital Limited

Sr. 
No.

Name of the Policy Web Link

1. Dividend Distribution Policy https://www.inteccapital.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/Intec-
Dividend-Policy.pdf

2. Policy for determining material 
subsidiaries

https://www.inteccapital.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/Material-
Subsidiary-Policy-Of-Intec-Capital-Limited-1.pdf
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3. Archival Policy https://www.inteccapital.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/Latest_
Preservation-of-documents-Policy.pdf

4. Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) 
Policy

https://www.inteccapital.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/09/CSR-
Policy-1.pdf

5. Common terms and conditions of 
Appointment of Independent Directors

https://www.inteccapital.com/wp-content/uploads/2023/02/Terms-
and-conditions-of-Independent-Directots.pdf

6. Policy on Determination of Materiality 
for Disclosure of Events

https://www.inteccapital.com/wp-content/uploads/2023/02/Policy-for-
Determination-of-Materiality-of-Events.pdf

7. Whistle Blower Policy https://www.inteccapital.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/09/Vigil-
Mechanism-Whistle-Blower-Policy.pdf

8. Remuneration Policy https://www.inteccapital.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/
Nomination-And-Remuneration-Policy-And-Selection-Criteria-Due-
Diligence-Of-Directors-Key-Managerial-Personnel-And-Senior-
Management-Of-Intec-Capital-Limited.pdf

9. Policy on Materiality of and dealing 
with Related Party Transactions

https://www.inteccapital.com/investors/policies-codes/related-party-
transaction-policy/

10. Familiarization Programme for 
Independent Directors

https://www.inteccapital.com/wp-content/uploads/2023/02/
Familiarization-Programme-For-Independent-Directors.pdf

11. Code of Conduct for Directors/KMP https://www.inteccapital.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/Revised-
Code-of-Conduct-for-Directors-KMP.pdf

12. Code of Practices and Procedures for 
Fair Disclosure of Unpublished Price 
Sensitive Information (UPSI)

https://www.inteccapital.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/Code-Of-
Practices-And-Procedures-COPP-Of-Intec-Capital-Limited-For-Fair-
Disclosure-Of-Unpublished-Price-Sensitive-Information-UPSI.pdf

GENERAL SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION
30TH Annual General Meeting (AGM)
Day and Date	 :	 Thursday, 26th September, 2024
Time	 :	 12:00 p.m.
Venue/Mode	 :	 Virtual, Registered Office of the Company at 708, Manjusha Building, 57, Nehru 

Place, New Delhi – 110019 (Deemed venue)
Financial Year	 :	 1 April 2023 to 31 March 2024
Tentative meeting schedule for considering financial related matters for FY 2024- 2025

Type of Meeting Particulars Indicative month

Audit Committee 
and Board

To review and approve the unaudited financial results for the quarter 
ending 30 June 2024, subject to limited review
To review and approve the unaudited financial results for the quarter 
and half-year ending 30 September 2024, subject to limited review
To review and approve the unaudited financial results for the quarter 
and nine months ending 31 December 2024, subject to limited review
To review and approve audited annual results for the year ending 31 
March 2025, subject to audit

August 2024

November 2024

Early February 2025

May 2025
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Registrar and Share transfer agent (‘RTA’)
In terms of regulation 7 of SEBI (Listing Obligations and 
Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 (the ‘SEBI 
Listing Regulations’), M/s. Beetal Financial & Computer 
Services Private Limited continues to be the Registrar 
and Share Transfer Agent and handle all relevant 
corporate registry services.
Share Transfer System
All transmission, transposition, issue of duplicate 
share certificate(s)/Letter of Confirmation, etc., as well 
as requests for dematerialisation/ rematerialisation 
are processed at Beetal. The work related to 
dematerialisation / rematerialisation is handled by Beetal 
through connectivity with National Securities Depository 
Limited (‘NSDL’) and Central Depository Services (India) 
Limited (‘CDSL’).
The Securities and Exchange Board of India (‘SEBI’) vide 
its circular dated 25 January 2022, has mandated listed 
entities to issue shares in dematerialised form only while 
processing any service requests. 
Therefore, members who are still holding share in physical 
form are requested to dematerialise their shareholding.
Dematerialisation/Rematerialisation of Shares and 
Liquidity:
Shares held in physical and electronic mode as on March 
31, 2024 are given below:

Particulars No. of shares % of total 
shareholding

Physical 45,515 0.25

NSDL 1,78,75,074 97.32
CDSL 4,45,661 2.43

Sub Total 18320735 99.75
Total 1,83,66,250 100.00

The equity shares of the Company are listed on BSE Ltd. 
(‘BSE’) and are frequently traded. The equity shares of 
the Company were not suspended from trading during 
the year on account of corporate actions or otherwise.
Listing information:
The Company’s equity shares are listed on the following 
Stock Exchange:

Name of Stock 
Exchange

Address Stock Code

BSE Ltd. (BSE) 25th Floor, P J Towers, 
Dalal Street Mumbai- 
400 001

526871

Annual listing fees, as prescribed, have been paid to the 
said stock exchanges up to 31st March 2025.
The ISIN Number of the Company for listed fully paid 
Equity Shares is INE017E01018.

Market Price Data:
Monthly highs and lows of equity shares of Intec Capital 
limited during FY 2023 - 24 

Month High Low Volume of 
shares traded

April -2023 18.47 14.68 4,316
May-2023 23.95 15.16 16,026
June-2023 20.70 18.00 2,723
July-2023 20.20 16.20 5,800
August-2023 18.40 15.63 20,068
September-2023 18.84 15.39 40,026
October-2023 18.96 15.17 51,536
November-2023 17.50 15.07 38,084
December-2023 20.40 15.55 1,31,169
January-2024 21.30 16.83 1,67,309
February-2024 21.00 16.10 1,09,342
March-2024 18.95 15.15 26,195

Chart: Performance in comparison to BSE Sensex
Intec Capital Limited stock performance Vs BSE 
Sensex during the FY 2023-24

Distribution of shareholding
Table I gives details about the pattern of shareholding 
across various categories as on 31 March 2024, while 
Table II gives the data according to size classes.
Table I: Distribution of Shareholding across 
categories

Categories No. of 
Shares

% to total 
Capital

INDIAN PROMOTER - INDIVIDUAL 710264 3.8672
CORPORATE BODIES -PROMOTER 
GROUP

7070302 38.4962

TRUST - PROMOTER GROUP 2206208 12.0123
FOREIGN BODIES CORPORATE 
-PROMOTER

3520062 19.1659

INVESTOR EDUCATION AND 
PROTECTION FUND (IEPF)

178483 0.9718

RESIDENT INDIVIDUALS     525176 2.86
NON RESIDENT INDIANS (NRIS)-  
NON - REPATARIABLE

500 0.0027

NON RESIDENT INDIANS (NRIS)-  
REPATARIABLE

2850 0.0155

BODIES CORPORATE 4130722 22.4908
OTHER - HUF 21683 0.1181
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Table II: Distribution of shareholding according to 
size class as on 31 March, 2024

Category 
(Shares)

Number of 
Members

% to total 
Members

Number of 
shares held

%to total 
capital

1-5000 1464 88.513 123339 0.6716
5001-10000 86 5.200 66778 0.3636
10001-20000 45 2.721 66544 0.3623
20001-30000 15 0.907 37835 0.2060
30001-40000 7 0.423 23973 0.1305
40001-50000 6 0.363 26853 0.1462
50001-100000 7 0.423 46674 0.2541
100001& 200000 5 0.302 71750 0.3907
200001 & Above 19 1.149 17902504 97.4750

Total 1654 100.00 18366250 100.00

Credit Rating: 
During the year no Credit Ratings has been obtained by 
the Company.
Shareholders’ and Investors’ Grievances
The Board of Directors of the Company has constituted 
a Stakeholders Relationship Committee to specifically 
look into and resolve grievances of security-holders. 
The Composition of the Committee and details on 
investor complaints received during the year are given in 
Corporate Governance Report.
Disclosure with respect to demat suspense account 
/unclaimed suspense account:
Nil

Outstanding convertible instruments/ADRs/GDRs/
Warrants:
The Company does not have any outstanding convertible 
instruments/ADRs/GDRs/Warrants as on date.
Commodity Price Risk or Foreign Exchange Risk and 
Hedging Activities: 
Considering the Business of the Company, no such risks 
are associated with the Company.
Plant Locations:
The Company being NBFC is engaged in the business of 
Financing, Hence there is no such Plant Location.
Address for Correspondence
Share Transfer Agent	
Beetal Financial & Computer Services Pvt Ltd.             	
Beetal House, 3rd Floor,	
Beetal Financial & Computer Services Pvt Ltd.             
Ph. 011-29961281-283 , 26051061, 26051064              
Fax 011-29961284

Company
708, Manjusha, 57 Nehru Place, New Delhi-110019
Phone No. : 011-46522200/300
E-mail Id: complianceofficer@inteccapital.com
Website: www.inteccapital.com 
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Annexure 1
To										           
The Board of Directors 
Intec Capital Limited
708, Manjusha Building
57, Nehru Place 
New Delhi: 110019

Subject: 	Certificate under Regulation 17(8) and Schedule II of the SEBI (Listing Obligations 
and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015

We, the undersigned, certify to the Board that:

a)	 We have reviewed financial statements and the cash flow statement of Intec Capital Limited (“the Company”) for 
the year ended March 31, 2024 and to the best of our knowledge and belief:

(i)	 These statements do not contain any materially untrue statement or omit any material fact or contain 
statements that might be misleading;

(ii)	 These statements together present a true and fair view of the Company’s affairs and are in compliance with 
existing accounting standards, applicable laws and regulations.

b)	 There are, to the best of our knowledge and belief, no transactions entered into by the Company during the year 
which are fraudulent, illegal or violative of the Company’s code of conduct.

c)	 We accept responsibility for establishing and maintaining internal controls for financial reporting and that we have 
evaluated the effectiveness of the internal control systems of the Company pertaining to financial reporting. We 
have not come across any reportable deficiencies in the design or operation of such internal controls.

d)	 We have indicated to the Auditors and the Audit Committee that:

(i)	 there are no significant changes in internal control over financial reporting during the year;

(ii)	 there are no significant changes in accounting policies during the year; and

(iii)	 there are no instances  of significant  fraud  of which  they  have  become  aware.

(Sanjeev Goel)                                                                                                  		           (Vinod Kumar)    
Managing Director                                                                                        		            Chief Financial Officer 
DIN: 00028702                                                                                                  			    PAN: AOCPK5016J
  

Date: 21st June, 2024
Place: New Delhi                                                  
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Annexure 2

Declaration by the Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer 
[Regulation 34(3) read with schedule V (Part D) of the SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) 
Regulations, 2015]

In accordance with the Listing Regulations, I hereby confirm that all the Directors and the Senior Management 
Personnel of the Company have affirmed compliance with the Code of Conduct as applicable to them, for the financial 
year ended March 31, 2024.

By order of the Board
For Intec Capital Limited

(Sanjeev Goel)
Managing Director
DIN: 00028702
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Annexure 3
CERTIFICATE OF NON-DISQUALIFICATION OF DIRECTORS

(Pursuant to Regulation 34 (3) and Schedule V Para C clause (10) (i) of the SEBI
(Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015)

For the Financial Year ended 31st March, 2024

To
The Members 
Intec Capital Limited

I have examined the relevant registers, records, forms, returns and disclosures received from the Directors of 
INTEC CAPITAL LIMITED having CIN: L74899DL1994PLC057410 and having registered office at 708, Manjusha 
Building, 57 Nehru Place, Delhi 110019 (hereinafter referred to as ‘the Company’), produced before me by the 
Company for the purpose of issuing this Certificate, in accordance with Regulation 34(3) read with Schedule 
V Para-C Sub clause 10(i) of the Securities Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure 
Requirements) Regulations, 2015.
In my opinion and to the best of my information and according to the verifications (including Directors Identification 
Number (DIN) status at the portal www.mca.gov.in) as considered necessary and explanations furnished to me by the 
Company & its officers, I hereby certify that none of the Directors on the Board of the Company as stated below for 
the Financial Year ending on 31st March, 2024 have been debarred or disqualified from being appointed or continuing 
as Directors of companies by the Securities and Exchange Board of India, Ministry of Corporate Affairs, or any such 
other Statutory Authority.

SI. No. Name of Director Designation DIN Date of appointment in 
Company

1 Sanjeev Goel Managing Director 00028702 15/02/1994
2 Surender Kumar Goel Director 00963735 13/02/1998
3 Rakesh Kumar Joshi Director 02410620 27/02/2002
4 Shilpy Chopra Director 07161915 12/05/2021
5 Shalini Rahul Director 09357650 13/10/2021
6 Kanwar Nitin Singh Director 10204543 17/06/2023

Ensuring the eligibility of for the appointment / continuity of every Director on the Board is the responsibility of the 
management of the Company. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these based on our verification. This 
certificate is specifically being issued in accordance with Regulation 34(3) read with Schedule V Para-C Sub clause 
10(i) of the Securities Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 
and is neither an assurance as to the future viability of the Company nor of the efficiency or effectiveness with which 
the management has conducted the affairs of the Company.

For Arpit Garg & Associates
(Company Secretaries)

CS Arpit Garg
Proprietor
M. No.: A60674		
C. P. No.: 22703
Peer Review No. 3983/2023
Place: New Delhi
Date: 09th July, 2024
UDIN: A060674F000696034
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CERTIFICATE
Certificate on Compliance with the conditions of Corporate Governance as stipulated under Chapter IV of Securities 
and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015, (as amended)

To 
The Members of
Intec Capital Limited 
CIN: L74899DL1994PLC057410
708, Manjusha Building, 57 Nehru Place, New Delhi-110019
This certificate is being issued to Intec Capital Limited (“the Company”), on compliance with the conditions of Corporate 
Governance as stipulated in Regulations 17 to 27 and clauses (b) to (i) and (t) of Regulation 46 (2) and other 
applicable regulations of Chapter IV pertaining to Corporate Governance and paragraphs C, D and E of Schedule V of 
the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015, as 
amended (collectively referred to as ‘SEBI Listing Regulations, 2015’) (‘applicable criteria’) with respect to Corporate 
Governance for the year ended March 31, 2024. This report is required by the Company for annual submission to the 
Stock exchange and to be sent to the Shareholders of the Company.
Management Responsibility:
Compliance with the conditions of Corporate Governance as stipulated under Chapter IV of Securities and Exchange 
Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015, (as amended) is the responsibility 
of the Management along with the Board of Directors of the Company.
Our Responsibility:
Our examination was limited to procedures and implementation thereof, adopted by the Company for ensuring 
compliance with the conditions of the Corporate Governance. It is neither an audit nor an expression of opinion on 
the financial statements of the Company. 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Listing Regulations, it is our responsibility to provide a reasonable assurance 
whether the Company has complied with the conditions of Corporate Governance as stipulated in Listing Regulations 
for the year ended March 31, 2024.
Opinion:
In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, and the representations 
made by the Management along with the Board of Directors of the Company, we are of the opinion that the Company 
has complied with the conditions of Corporate Governance as stipulated in the SEBI Listing Regulations, as applicable 
on the Company for the year ended March 31, 2024.
Other Matters and Restrictions on use:
This report is neither an assurance as to the future viability of the Company nor the efficiency or effectiveness with 
which the management has conducted the affairs of the Company. 
This report is addressed to and provided to the members of the Company solely for the purpose of enabling it to 
comply with its obligations under the SEBI Listing Regulations and should not be used by any other person or for any 
other purpose. Accordingly, we do not accept or assume any liability or any duty of care or for any other purpose or 
to any other party to whom it is shown or into whose hands it may come without our prior consent in writing. We have 
no responsibility to update this report for events and circumstances occurring after the date of this report.
For 
Vivek Gupta & Associates
Practising Company Secretaries

Name: - Vivek Gupta
ACS No: 29543 
CP No: 10656
Peer Reviewed Certificate No.: 5852/2024
UDIN: A029543F000719100

Place: New Delhi 
Date: 11/07/2024
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Annexure E
FORM MR-3

SECRETARIAL AUDIT REPORT

To, 
The Members,
Intec Capital Limited
CIN: L74899DL1994PLC057410
708, Manjusha Building 57,
Nehru Place, New Delhi-110019

I have conducted the Secretarial Audit of the compliance 
of applicable statutory provisions 
and the adherence to good corporate practices by ‘Intec 
Capital Limited’ (hereinafter called ‘the Company’). The 
Secretarial Audit was conducted in a manner that provided 
me a reasonable basis for evaluating the corporate 
conducts/ statutory compliances and expressing my 
opinion thereon. 
Based on my verification of the Company’s books, 
papers, minute books, forms and returns filed and 
other records maintained by the Company and also the 
information provided by the Company, its officers, agents 
and authorized representatives during the conduct of 
Secretarial Audit, I hereby report that in my opinion, 
the Company has, during the Audit Period covering 
the Financial Year ended on 31st March, 2024, mostly 
complied with the statutory provisions listed hereunder 
(except for the few specifically mentioned in this Report). 
Further, in my opinion, the Company has proper Board-
processes and compliance-mechanism in place to the 
extent, in the manner and subject to the reporting made 
hereinafter.
I have examined the books, papers, minute books, forms 
and returns filed and other records 
maintained by the Company for the Financial Year ended 
on 31st March, 2024 according to the provisions of:
(i)	 The Companies Act, 2013 (the Act) and the rules 

made there under;
(ii)	 The Securities Contracts (Regulation) Act, 1956 

(‘SCRA’) and the rules made there under;
(iii)	 The Depositories Act, 1996 and the Regulations 

and Bye-laws framed there under;
(iv)	 Foreign Exchange Management Act, 1999 and the 

rules and regulations made there under to extent 
of Foreign Direct Investment, Overseas Direct 
Investment and External Commercial borrowings.

(v)	 The following Regulations and Guidelines 

prescribed under the Securities and Exchange 
Board of India Act, 1992 (‘SEBI Act’):
(a)	 The Securities and Exchange Board of 

India (Substantial Acquisition of Shares and 
Takeovers) Regulations, 2011;

(b)	 The Securities and Exchange Board of India 
(Prohibition of Insider Trading) Regulations, 
2015 and (Prohibition of Insider Trading) 
Amendment Regulation 2018 notified on 
dated 21.01.2019; 

(c)	 The Securities and Exchange Board of 
India (Employees Stock Option Scheme 
and Employees Stock Purchase Scheme) 
Guidelines 1999;

(d)	 The Securities and Exchange Board of India 
(Issue of capital and disclosure requirements) 
Regulations, 2009;

(e)	 The Securities and Exchange Board of India 
(Delisting of Equity Shares) Regulation, 
2009;

(f)	 The Securities and Exchange Board of India 
(Buyback of Securities) Regulations, 1998;

(g)	 The Securities and Exchange Board of 
India (Issue and Listing of Non-Convertible 
Securities) Regulations, 2021;

(h)	 The Securities and Exchange Board of India 
(Registrars to an Issue and Share Transfer 
Agents) Regulations, 1993 regarding the 
Companies Act and dealing with client;

(i)	 The Securities and Exchange Board of India 
(Share Based Employee Benefits & Sweat 
Equity) Regulations, 2021;

As regards Clause (a), (d), (e), (f), (g), (h) & (i) of Para 
(v) above, it is informed that the said Regulations are not 
applicable to the Company during the Audit Period.
(vi)	 Other Applicable Acts: 

(a)	 Employees’ State Insurance Act, 1948, and 
rules made there under,

(b)	 The Employees’ Provident Fund and 
Miscellaneous Provisions Act, 1952 and 
rules made there under, 

(c)	 Payment of Gratuity Act, 1972, and rules 

For the Financial Year ended on 31st March, 2024
[Pursuant to Section 204(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 and Rule No 9 of the Companies Appointment and 

Remuneration Personnel) Rules, 2014]
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made there under,
(d)	 The Maternity Benefit Act, 1961 and rules 

made there under,
(e)	 The Employees’ Compensation Act, 1923 

and rules made there under, 
(f)	 Equal Remuneration Act, 1976 and rules 

made there under;
(g)	 Prevention of Sexual Harassment of Women 

at Workplace Act, 2013;
(h)	 The Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934 along 

with the master circular, notifications and 
directions issued by Reserve Bank of India 
(‘RBI’) for the Non-Banking Financial (Non- 
Deposit Accepting or Holding) Companies 
from time to time.

I have also examined compliance with the applicable 
clauses of the following: 

(i)	 ‘Secretarial Standards’ of the ‘Institute of 
Company of Secretaries of India’.

(ii)	 The Listing Agreements entered into by the 
Company with the ‘Bombay Stock Exchange’ 
(Listing Obligations and Disclosure 
Requirements), 2015 for Equity Shares 
(ISIN-INE017E01018)

During the period under review the Company has complied 
with the provisions of the Act, Rules, Regulations, 
Guidelines, Standards, etc. mentioned above except for 
the following:
-	 The date of entry of the Minutes in the Minutes Book 

has been entered by hand as against the other 
context being type-written;

-	 As regards the Resolutions passed by the Company 
through Circulation in terms of Section 175 of the 
Companies Act, 2013, no brief background of the 
Resolutions therein has been given in the Minutes 
while, the same is a mandatory requirement as per 
applicable ‘Secretarial Standards-1’;

-	 In the Minutes of the Board Meeting dated 
26.05.2023 the heading of ‘Item No. 9’ categorically 
states for taking note of disclosures and declarations 
received from the Directors in form MBP-1 and 

DIR-8. However, on a perusal of the context of the 
Resolution passed therein, no mention of Form 
DIR-8 to have been taken on record was found. 
On seeking a clarification from the Company as 
regards this ambiguity, copies of the Certificates/ 
Declarations in Form DIR-8 under Section 164 were 
produced for inspection, and it was informed that 
the said disclosure was taken on record through the 
subsequent item No. 10. The mentioning of Form 
DIR-8 in the heading of Item No. 9 was erroneously 
mentioned, which in no manner jeopardizes with the 
context of the resolution so passed;

-	 The ‘Certified True Copy’ of the Resolutions filed 
in ‘Form MGT-14’ for the ‘Adoption of new set of 
MoA and AoA’ and the ‘Certified True Copy’ of the 
Resolution filed in Form DIR-12 for ‘Regularization 
of Mr. Kanwar Nitin Singh as an ‘Independent 
Director’ during the Annual General Meeting held 
on 15.09.2023 nowhere states the nature of the 
Resolutions being ‘Ordinary’ or ‘Special’;

-	 As per Regulation 17(1) of SEBI (LODR) Regulation, 
2015, the Board of Directors have an optimum 
combination of Executive and Non-Executive 
Directors with at least one-Woman Director and not 
less than fifty per cent of the Board of Directors shall 
comprise of Non-Executive Directors. As regards the 
terminology used in the corresponding regulation, it 
has been enunciated that the Board shall comprise 
an optimum combination of Executive & Non-
Executive Directors. On the perusal made by me 
in this Audit, it has been noticed that there is only 
One Executive Director on the Board against four 
(4) Non-Executive Directors during the Audit period. 
Though, the Company has a duly constituted Board 
in compliance with the provisions of the Companies 
Act, 2013 read with the SEBI (LODR), 2015, yet it 
is suggested to the Company for the sake of better 
Corporate Governance to have more than one 
Executive Directors on the Board;

-	 As regards the Forms/ Returns to be filed by the 
Company with the Registrar of Companies under 
the Companies Act, 2013 and the rules framed 
thereunder in the period under review following 
forms have been filed with a delay as stated in the 
below table:-

Sr. 
No. Form Purpose of filing the Form SRN of the 

Form
Date of 
event

Due-date of 
filing the form

Actual-date 
of Filing

1 DIR-12 Appointment of Mr. Rajesh 
Sharma as CFO AA2889602 08/02/2023 10/03/2023 15/06/2023

2 DIR-12
Resignation of Ms. Neeti 
Kakkar from the post of 
CFO

AA2248959 14/01/2023 13/02/2023 05/05/2023

3 DIR-12
Resignation of Mr. 
Himanshu Purwar from 
the post of Director

AA2639888 20/03/2023 19/04/2023 31/05/2023
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- 	 The forms filed by the Company, being a ‘Non-
Banking Financial Company’, with the ‘Reserve 
Bank of India’ have been filed with a delay.

-	 The Company has not been filing its Provident Fund 
(PF) Returns since, June, 2023, further, on account 
of the information received by the Company, no 
notice has been received in this matter so far.

-	 Further, GSTR-1 for the month of March, 2024 
and GSTR-3B for the month of February & March, 
2024 have not been filed for which various notice(s) 
under Section 46 of the Goods & Services Act, 2017 
for non-filing of Return have been received.

-	 It is pertinent to mention here that the Company has 
made a non-compliance of ‘Regulation 33’ of the 
SEBI LoDR, 2015 wherein, there is a delay of 22 
days in the submission of financial results for the 
Financial Year 2023-24 for which an amount of Rs. 
1,29,800/- (inclusive of tax) has been imposed by 
the ‘Bombay Stock Exchange’ & the same has duly 
been paid by the Company. Though, the due date 
for the aforesaid non-compliance falls beyond the 
current Secretarial Audit Period, yet, the same has 
been reported herein, as the event for imposition/ 
payment of fine supra has occurred during the 
period beginning from the closure of Financial Year 
till the date of signing of this instant Report.

I further report that:
Adequate notices are given to all the Directors to 
schedule the Board Meetings, agenda and detailed 
notes on agenda were sent at least seven days in 
advance and a system exists for seeking and obtaining 
further information and clarifications on the agenda items 
before the meeting and for meaningful participation at the 
meeting. 

Further, as already reported above, the Company is in 
receipt of various Notices/ Complaints from different 
Departments/ Authorities/ Regulators, and as per the 
information given by the Company, in some of the said 
proceedings, the adjudication is under process. Since, 
the aforesaid matters are sub-judice before the said 
authorities, no comments have been made in this instant 
Report so as to ensure that the adjudication process is 
not influenced in any manner whatsoever.

I further report that during the audit period, there were 
no instances of: 
(i)	 Public/ Right/ Preferential issue of shares/ 

debentures/ sweat equity, etc.;
(ii)	 Redemption/ buy-back of securities; 
(iii)	 Merger/ amalgamation/ reconstruction, etc.;
(iv)	 Foreign technical collaborations.

Mohsin Khan
(Company Secretary in Practice)
M.No-39046
CP.No-14571
UDIN-A039046F000958602

Date: 12.08.2024
Place: New Delhi 

Note: These Secretarial Audit findings are based upon the information & documents made available to me 
along with the statutory records as shown to me at the Registered Office of the Company.
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Annexure F

Form No. AOC-2
(Pursuant to clause (h) of sub-section (3) of section 134 of the Act and

Rule 8(2) of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014)

Form for disclosure of particulars of contracts / arrangements entered into by the company with related parties 
referred to in sub-section (1) of section 188 of the Companies Act, 2013 including certain arm’s length transactions 
under third proviso thereto:
Details of the contracts entered into with related parties during the financial year 2023-24 (April 01, 2023 to 
March 31, 2024):
1. Details of contracts or arrangements or transactions not at arm’s length basis
There were no contracts or arrangements, or transactions entered into during the financial year ended March 31, 
2024, which were not at arm’s length basis.
2. Details of material contracts or arrangement or transactions at arm’s length basis
There were no contracts or arrangements, or transactions entered into during the financial year ended March 31, 
2024, which were material in nature and at an arm’s length basis. However, the Company has entered into following 
related party transactions:

Name(s) of the related party and nature of 
relationship

Mr. Pranav Goel (Immediate 
relative of Managing Director)

Mr. Dhruv Goel (Immediate 
relative of Managing Director)

Nature of contracts / arrangements / 
transactions

Relative of Managing Director holding office or place of profit

Duration in month Financial Year 2023-24 (12 months)
Salient terms of the contracts or 
arrangements or transactions including the 
value, if any

Remuneration paid during the FY 
2023-24 – Rs. 17,95,267/-

Remuneration paid during the 
FY 2023-24 – Rs. 15,11,980/-

Date(s) of approval by the Board, if any 26th May, 2023 26th May, 2023
Amount paid as advances NIL NIL

For and on behalf of Board of Directors
Intec Capital Limited

(Sanjeev Goel)                                       (Shalini Rahul)                                                                                                              
Managing Director  Director
DIN: 00028702  DIN: 09357650

Place: New Delhi
Date: July 31, 2024
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Annexure G
ANNUAL REPORT ON CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY (CSR) ACTIVITIES FOR 

THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31ST MARCH 2024
1.	 Brief  Outline on CSR Policy of the Company:
	 Intec Capital (‘Company’) has developed this Policy titled ‘Intec’s CSR Policy’ (Policy) encompassing the 

Company’s philosophy for being a responsible corporate citizen and lays down the principles and mechanisms 
for undertaking various programs in accordance with section 135 of the Companies Act, 2013 (‘the Act’) for 
the community at large , the Company has also formulated a Corporate Social Responsibility Policy which 
is available on the website of the Company at https://www.inteccapital.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/09/CSR-
Policy-1.pdf 

2.	 Composition of CSR Committee as on 31st March 2024:

S. 
No.

Name of Director Designation / Nature of 
Directorship

Number  of  meetings  
of CSR   Committee   
held during the year

Number  of  meetings  
of  CSR Committee  
attended  during the 
year

1 Mr. Sanjeev Goel Chairman
Managing Director

1 1

2 Mr. Surender Kumar 
Goel

Member 
Non-Executive Independent 
Director

1 1

3 Ms. Shalini Rahul Member
Non-Executive Independent 
Director 

1 1

3.	 Provide web link where Composition of CSR Committee, CSR Policy and CSR projects approved by the 
board are disclosed on the website of the Company:

	 The Company has framed a CSR Policy in compliance with the provisions of section 135 of the Companies 
Act, 2013 and the same is placed on the website of the Company and the web link for the same is https://
www.inteccapital.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/09/CSR-Policy-1.pdf. Composition of CSR Committee is also 
placed on the website of the Company and the web link for the same is https://www.inteccapital.com/wp-content/
uploads/2022/08/Word_-_Committees-of-Board-along-with-Charter-converted.pdf. 

4.	 Provide the executive summary along with web-link(s) of impact assessment of CSR Projects out in 
pursuance of sub-rule (3) of rule 8 of the companies (Corporate Social responsibility Policy) Rules, 2014 
if applicable–  

	 Not applicable for the financial year 2023-24.
5.	 (a)	 Average net profit of the Company as per section 135(5):
		  Average Net Loss of Rs. 1224.79 Lakhs of preceding three Financial Year.
	 (b)	 Two percent of average net profit of the Company as per section 135(5): 
		  Not Applicable, on account of average Net Loss of Rs. 1224.79 Lacs of preceding three FY.
	 (c)	 Surplus arising out of the CSR Projects or Programs or Activities of the previous financial years:
		  Not Applicable
	 (d)	 Amount required to be set-off for the financial year, if any: 
		  Not Applicable
	 (e)	 Total CSR Obligation for the Financial Year:
		  Not Applicable
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6.	 (a) 	 CSR amount spent or unspent for the  financial year (both Ongoing Project and other than Ongoing 
Project): 

		  Not Applicable 
	 (b)	 Amount Spent in Administrative Overhead: 
		  Not Applicable
	 (c)	 Amount spent on Impact assessment, if applicable: 
		  Not Applicable
	 (d)	 Total amount spent for the financial year: 
		  Not Applicable
	 (e)	 CSR amount spent or unspent for the Financial Year: 
		  Not Applicable

Total Amount 
Spent for 
the Financial 
Year. (in Rs.) 

Amount Unspent (in Rs.) 
Total Amount transferred 
to Unspent CSR Account 

as per section 135(6). 

Amount transferred to any fund specified under 
Schedule VII as per second proviso to section 135(5). 

Name of the 
Amount Date of transfer Fund Amount. Date of transfer. 

- - - - - -
(f)	 Excess amount for set off, if any:

S. No. Particular Amount (in Rs.)
(1) (2) (3)
(i) Two percent of average net profit of the company as per section 135(5) -
(ii) Total amount spent for the Financial Year -
(iii) Excess amount spent for the financial year [(ii)-(i)] -
(iv) Surplus arising out of the CSR projects or  programmes or activities of the previous 

financial years, if any
-

(v) Amount available for set off in succeeding financial years [(iii)-(iv)] -

7.	 Details of Unspent CSR Amount for the preceding three financial years: 
	 Not applicable.

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8
Sl.
No.

Preceding 
Financial 

Year.

Amount 
transferred  
to Unspent 

CSR 
Account 

under 
section 135 
(6) (in Rs.)

Balance
Amount in 

Unspent CSR 
Account under 
subsection (6) 
of section 135 

(in Rs.)

Amount 
spent
in the 

Financial 
Year (in 

Rs.)

Amount transferred to 
a fund specified under 

Schedule VII as per second 
proviso to  subsection (5) of 

section 135, if any

Amount 
remaining to 
be spent in 
succeeding 

financial 
years. (in Rs.)

Deficiency,  
if any

Amount
(in Rs.)

Date of 
transfer

- - - - - - - - -

8.	 Whether any capital assets have been created or acquired through Corporate Social Responsibility 
amount spent in the Financial Year: 

	 No
9.	 Specify the reason(s), if the company has failed to spend two percent of the net profit as per section 

135(5):
	 Not Applicable
(Sanjeev Goel)                                                                        				             (Shalini Rahul)
Managing Director/Chairman of Audit Committee              					           Director                    
DIN: 00028702                                                                         				             DIN: 09357650

Place: New Delhi
Date: July 31, 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  
TO THE MEMBERS OF ‘INTEC CAPITAL LIMITED’ ON STANDALONE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Qualified Opinion
We have audited the accompanying standalone financial 
statements of Intec Capital Limited (the “Company”), 
which comprise the Standalone Balance Sheet as at 31 
March, 2024, and the Standalone Statement of Profit 
and Loss (including Other Comprehensive Income), the 
Standalone Statement of Changes in Equity and the 
Standalone Statement of Cash Flows for the year then 
ended, and notes to the standalone financial statements 
including a summary of the material accounting policies 
and other explanatory information. 
In our opinion and to the best of our information and 
according to the explanations given to us, except 
for the effects of the matter described in the Basis for 
Qualified Opinion section of our report, the aforesaid 
financial statements give the information required by the 
Companies Act, 2013 (the ‘Act’) and the directions and 
guidelines issued by Reserve Bank of India as applicable 
to Non-Systemically Important Non-Deposit taking Non 
Banking Financial Company (‘NBFC Regulations’), in 
the manner so required and give a true and fair view 
in conformity with the accounting principles generally 
accepted in India, of the state of affairs of the Company 
as at 31 March, 2024 and its Loss (including Other 
Comprehensive Income), its changes in equity and its 
cash flows for the year ended on that date.
Basis for Qualified Opinion
The Company has availed term loans and working capital 
facilities from various banks, however, slow down of its 
lending business and increased level of non-performing 
/ impaired loan portfolio, has impacted its cash flow 
/ liquidity, and the Company is un-able to service term 
loans and working capital facilities including interest 
thereon to certain banks. The interest of Rs. 5,018.76 
lakhs accrued on these loans has not been accounted 
/ provided for by the Company, due to the reasons as 
described by the Company in note no. 17.4 to these 
standalone financial statements. The same has resulted 
in the non-compliance of the Ind AS and inconsistency in 
the application of the accounting policies of the Company, 
and if the said interest would have been accounted / 
provided for, the Company’s total comprehensive loss 
for the year, and borrowings and other equity as at the 
Balance Sheet date would have been Rs. 6,385.76 lakhs 
and Rs. 10,507.41 lakhs and Rs. 3,305.16 lakhs (debit 
balance) as against the reported figures of Rs. 1,367.00 
lakhs of total comprehensive loss and Rs. 5,488.65 lakhs 
and Rs. 1,713.60 lakhs respectively.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards 
on Auditing (SAs) specified under section 143(10) of 
the Act. Our responsibilities under those Standards 
are further described in the ‘Auditor’s Responsibilities 
for the Audit of the Financial Statements’ section of 
our report. We are independent of the Company in 
accordance with the Code of Ethics issued by the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants of India together with 
the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of 
the standalone financial statements under the provisions 
of the Act and the Rules thereunder, and we have fulfilled 
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements and the Code of Ethics. We believe that 
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified opinion.
Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern
There are various events or conditions which indicate 
existence of material uncertainty about the Company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern viz. huge 
accumulated losses since earlier year/s and also in 
current year which have resulted in substantial erosion 
of net worth of the Company, non-carrying of any lending 
/ operational activities, and also there are no immediate 
measures / resources with the Company to make 
payments towards the borrowings which are already in 
default and other liabilities including towards employees 
/ statutory dues etc. These events or conditions indicate 
the existence of material uncertainty that may cast 
significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as 
a going concern. However, management has prepared 
these standalone financial statements of the Company 
on a Going Concern due to the reasons as described in 
Note 32.9 to the standalone financial statements.
Our qualified opinion on the standalone financial 
statements is not further qualified in respect of the above 
matter.
Key Audit Matter
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our 
professional judgment, were of most significance in our 
audit of the standalone financial statements of the current 
year. These matters were addressed in the context of our 
audit of the standalone financial statements as a whole, 
and in forming our qualified opinion thereon, and we do 
not provide a separate opinion on these matters. We 
have determined the matter described below to be the 
key audit matter to be communicated in our report.
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Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in the audit
Impairment of Financial Assets including Loans to the 
Customers (Expected Credit Lossess) 

Our Audit Procedure: 

Ind AS 109 requires the Company to recognise impairment 
loss allowance towards its financial assets including loans to 
customers (designated at amortised cost) using the expected 
credit loss (ECL) approach. Such ECL allowance is required 
to be measured considering the guiding principles of Ind AS 
109 including unbiased, probability weighted outcome under 
various scenarios, time value of money, impact arising from 
forward looking macro-economic factors and availability of 
reasonable and supportable information without undue costs. 
Applying these principles involves significant estimation in 
various aspects, such as grouping of borrowers based on 
homogeneity by using appropriate statistical techniques, 
staging of loans and estimation of behavioral life, determining 
macro-economic factors impacting credit quality of 
receivables, estimation of losses for loan products with no 
/ minimal historical defaults. Considering the significance of 
such allowance to the overall financial statements (and the 
degree of estimation involved in computation of expected 
credit losses), this area is considered as a key audit matter.

     We obtained and evaluated the management’s estimations 
and specifically performed the work as under: 

-	 Read and assessed the Company’s accounting policies 
for impairment of financial assets and their compliance 
with Ind AS 109.

-	 Evaluated the reasonableness of the Management 
estimates by understanding the process of ECL 
estimation and tested the controls around data 
extraction and validation.

-	 Tested the ECL model, including assumptions and 
underlying computation. 

-	 Assessed the floor/minimum rates of provisioning 
applied by the Company for loan products with 
inadequate historical defaults. 

      Our Results: 
   The results of our testing were satisfactory and we 

considered the fair value of the financial assets including 
loans to customers recognised to be acceptable.

Information Other than the Financial Statements and Auditor’s 
Report thereon
The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the 
other information. The other information comprises the 
Corporate Governance Report and Directors’ Report, 
including annexures, if any, thereon, (but does not include 
the standalone financial statements and our auditor’s report 
thereon), which is expected to be made available to us after 
the date of this Auditor’s report.
Our qualified opinion on the financial statements does not 
cover the other information and we will not express any form 
of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, 
our responsibility is to read the other information identified 
above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider 
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with 
the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the 
audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
When we read the Corporate Governance Report and 
Directors’ Report, including annexures, if any, thereon, if we 
conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we 
are required to communicate the matter to those charged 
with governance.     
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged 
with Governance for the Standalone Financial 
Statements 
The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the 
matters stated in Section 134(5) of the Act with respect to 
the preparation of these standalone financial statements 
that give a true and fair view of the financial position, 

financial performance including other comprehensive 
income, changes in equity and cash flows of the Company 
in accordance with the accounting principles generally 
accepted in India, including the Indian Accounting 
Standards (“Ind AS”) notified under Section 133 of the Act 
read with the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) 
Rules, 2015, and the NBFC Regulations, as amended 
from time to time.
This responsibility also includes maintenance of adequate 
accounting records in accordance with the provisions of 
the Act for safeguarding the assets of the Company and for 
preventing and detecting frauds and other irregularities; 
selection and application of appropriate accounting 
policies; making judgments and estimates that are 
reasonable and prudent; and design, implementation and 
maintenance of adequate internal financial controls, that 
were operating effectively for ensuring the accuracy and 
completeness of the accounting records, relevant to the 
preparation and presentation of the standalone financial 
statements that give a true and fair view and are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the standalone financial statements, the 
Board of Directors is responsible for assessing the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, 
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless the Board of Directors either intends to liquidate 
the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so. 
Those Board of Directors are also responsible for 
overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process. 
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the audit of the 
Standalone Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the standalone financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes 
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted 
in accordance with SAs will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from 
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these standalone financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:
-	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement 

of the standalone financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures 
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or 
the override of internal control.

-	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to 
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances. Under section 143(3)
(i) of the Companies Act, 2013, we are also responsible 
for expressing our opinion on whether the company 
has adequate internal financial controls system in 
place and the operating effectiveness of such controls. 

-	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by management.

-	 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use 
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that 
may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability 
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that 
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures 
in the standalone financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained 
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Company to cease 
to continue as a going concern.

-	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content 
of the standalone financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the standalone financial 

statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Materiality is the magnitude of misstatements in the 
consolidated financial statements that, individually or in 
aggregate, makes it probable that the economic decisions 
of a reasonably knowledgeable user of the consolidated 
financial statements may be influenced. We consider 
quantitative materiality and qualitative factors in (i) planning 
the scope of our audit work and in evaluating the results 
of our work; and (ii) to evaluate the effect of any identified 
misstatements in the consolidated financial statements. 
We communicate with those charged with governance 
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including 
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit. 
We also provide those charged with governance 
with a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and 
to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
From the matters communicated with those charged with 
governance, we determine those matters that were of 
most significance in the audit of the standalone financial 
statements of the current period and are therefore the key 
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s 
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure 
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, 
we determine that a matter should not be communicated 
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing 
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public 
interest benefits of such communication.
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 
1.	 As required by ‘the Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 

2020’ (“the Order”), issued by the Central Government 
of India in terms of sub-section (11) of Section 143 of 
the Act, we give in the Annexure-‘A’, a statement on the 
matters specified in paragraph 3 and 4 of the Order. 

2.	 As required by Section 143(3) of the Act, we report that:
a.	 we have sought and obtained all the information and 

explanations which to the best of our knowledge and 
belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit.

b.	 in our opinion, proper books of account as required 
by law have been kept by the Company so far as 
appears from our examination of those books. 

c.	 the Standalone Balance Sheet, the Standalone 
Statement of Profit and Loss, the Standalone 
Statement of Changes in Equity and the Standalone 
Statement of Cash Flows dealt with by this Report 
are in agreement with the books of account.

d.	 in our opinion, the aforesaid standalone financial 
statements comply with the Accounting Standards 
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specified under Section 133 of the Act read with 
rule 7 of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014, 
as amended and the Companies (Accounting 
Standards) Amendement Rules, 2016, as amended, 
to the extent they are not inconsistent with the 
accounting principles prescribed in the NBFC 
Regulation.

e.	 on the basis of the written representations received 
from the directors and taken on record by the Board 
of Directors, none of the directors is disqualified as on 
31 March, 2024 from being appointed as a director in 
terms of Section 164 (2) of the Act.

f.	 with respect to the adequacy of the internal financial 
controls with reference to financial statements of the 
Company and the operating effectiveness of such 
controls, refer to our separate report in Annexure-‘B’; 

g.	 As no remuneration has been paid by the Company 
to its Directors, the provisions of Section 197 of the 
Companies Act, 2013 are not applicable; and

h.	 with respect to the other matters to be included in 
the Auditor’s Report in accordance with Rule 11 of 
the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, 
as amended, in our opinion and to the best of our 
information and according to the explanations given 
to us:
i.	 The Company has disclosed the impact of 

pending litigations on its financial position in its 
financial statements – Refer Note 32.1 to the 
standalone financial statements;

ii.	 The Company has not entered into any long-term 
contracts including derivative contracts.

iii.	 There has been no amount, required to be 
transferred, to the Investor Education and 
Protection Fund by the Company.

iv.	 (a) The Management has represented that, 
to the best of its knowledge and belief, no 
funds (which are material either individually 
or in the aggregate) have been advanced 
or loaned or invested (either from borrowed 
funds or share premium or any other sources 
or kind of funds) by the Company to or in any 
other person or entity, including foreign entity 
(“Intermediaries”), with the understanding, 
whether recorded in writing or otherwise, 
that the Intermediary shall, whether, directly 
or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or 
entities identified in any manner whatsoever 
by or on behalf of the Company (“Ultimate 
Beneficiaries”) or provide any guarantee, 
security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate 
Beneficiaries; 

	 (b) The Management has represented, that, 
to the best of its knowledge and belief, no 
funds (which are material either individually 

or in the aggregate) have been received 
by the Company from any person or entity, 
including foreign entity (“Funding Parties”), 
with the understanding, whether recorded in 
writing or otherwise, that the Company shall, 
whether, directly or indirectly, lend or invest 
in other persons or entities identified in any 
manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the 
Funding Party (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or 
provide any guarantee, security or the like 
on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries; 

	 (c) 	Based on the audit procedures that have been 
considered reasonable and appropriate in 
the circumstances, nothing has come to our 
notice that has caused us to believe that the 
representations under sub-clause (i) and (ii) 
of Rule 11(e), as provided under (a) and (b) 
above, contain any material misstatement.

v.	 No dividend was declared or paid during the year; 
hence, the said clause is not applicable. 

vi.	 Based on our examination, which included test 
checks, the Company has used accounting 
software for maintaining its books of account for 
the financial year ended 31 March, 2024 which 
has a feature of recording audit trail (edit log) 
facility and the same has operated throughout 
the year for all relevant transactions recorded in 
the software except in certain components where 
the audit trail were not recorded / operating due 
to system limitations, as described in note 32.20 
to the standalone financial statements. Further, 
during the course of our audit we did not come 
across any instance of the audit trail feature 
being tampered with. 

 As proviso to Rule 3(1) of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 
2014 is applicable from 01 April, 2023, reporting under Rule 
11(g) of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014 on 
preservation of audit trail as per the statutory requirements 
for record retention is not applicable for the financial year 
ended 31 March, 2024.

	
For S. P. Chopra & Co.
Chartered Accountants

Firm Regn. No. 000346N

(Gautam Bhutani)
Partner

M. No. 524485
    UDIN: 

Place :  New Delhi
Dated:  21 June, 2024	
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(i)	 In respect of its property, plant and equipment, intangible 
assets and right to use assets;

a.	(A)	 The Company has maintained proper records 
showing full particulars, including quantitative 
details and situation of Property, plant and 
equipment and relevant details of Right-to-use 
assets.

b.	(B)	 The Company has maintained proper records 
showing full particulars of the Intangible assets.

c.	 As explained to us, the property, plant and equipments 
are physically verified by the management once 
in a period of three years, which in our opinion is 
reasonable, having regard to the size of the Company 
and nature of its property, plant and equipments. No 
material discrepancies were noticed on such physical 
verification.

d.	 According to the information and explanations given 
to us and on the basis of our examination of the 
records of the Company, the title deeds in respect of 
the immovable properties included in the standalone 
financial statements under Property, plant and 
equipments and assets held for sale (other than 
premises where the Company is the lessee and the 
lease agreement is duly executed in its favour) are 
held in the name of the Company except for one 
immoveable propery i.e. land (having carrying value 
of Rs. 4.82 lakhs) as disclosed in note no. 32.18 to 
the standalone financial statements.

e.	 The Company has not revalued any of its Property, 
plant and equipment (including Right to use assets) 
during the year.

f.	 According to the information and explanations given 
to us and based on our examination of the records 
of the Company, no proceedings have been initiated 
during the year or are pending against the Company 
as at 31 March, 2024 for holding any benami property 
under the Benami Transactions (Prohibition) Act, 
1988 (45 of 1988) and rules made thereunder, as 
amended.

(ii)	 (a) The Company’s business does not involve inventories, 
hence reporting under   clause 3(ii)(a) of the Order is 
not applicable. 

(b)	The Company has not been sanctioned any working 
capital limit, at any point of time during the year, from 
banks or financial institutions on the basis of security 
of current assets. However, Company is having 
outstanding working capital facilities from various 
banks since earlier years, wherein as informed no 
returns/statements are required to be submitted 
as these facilities are under process of one time 
settlement (OTS) with these Banks.

ANNEXURE-‘A’ 
TO THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
(Referred to in paragraph 1 under `Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements’ section of the 
independent auditors’ report of even date on the standalone financial statements of Intec Capital Limited for 
the year ended 31 March, 2024)

(iii)	 The Company is a NBFC registered under Section 45-
IA of the Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934, and as a 
part of its business activities was engaged in lending/
granting of the loans.

(a) As the Company is a NBFC, the reporting under 
caluse 3(iii)(a) of the Order regarding loans, and 
advances in the nature of loans are not applicable.  

(b) According to the information and explanations given 
to us and based on our examination of the records of 
the Company, the investment made by the Company 
are not prejudicial to its interest. Further, the Company 
during the year has not given any guarantee, security 
or loans, and advances in the nature of loans.   

(c) and (d) In respect of the loans, and advances in the 
nature of loans, given by the Company though the 
schedule of repayment of principal and payment of 
interest has been stipulated, however, in few cases 
loans including interest of Rs. ____ lakhs (net of 
impairment loss allowance of Rs. ____ lakhs) are 
overdue since more than 180 days, for which the 
necessary steps were found to be taken by the 
Company during our examination of the relevant 
records. Further, during the year loans including 
interest of Rs. 1,053.61 lakhs (net of impairment 
loss allowance of Rs. 4,026.86 lakhs) which were 
overdue since earlier years, have been written 
off and impairment loss thereon has been written 
back, as in view of the management there are very 
low probability of recovery of these loans, as fully 
described in Note 32.21 to the standalone financial 
statements, however, the litigation process will be 
continued for recovery of the claims filed. 

(d) As the Company is a NBFC, the reporting under 
caluse 3(iii)(e) of the Order regarding loans, and 
advances in the nature of loans are not applicable.

(e)	During the year, the Company has not given any 
loans, and advances in the nature of loans, hence 
the reporting under caluse 3(iii)(f) of the Order is not 
applicable.   

(iv)	 According to the information and explanations given to 
us, and on the basis of our examination of the records, 
the Company has complied with the provisions of 
Section 185 and 186 of the Act in respect of the loans 
granted, investment made and guarantees and security 
provided, as applicable.  

(v)	 The Company has not accepted any deposit or amounts 
which are deemed to be deposits. Hence reporting 
under clause 3(v) of the Order is not applicable.

(vi)	 The maintenance of cost records has not been specified 
by the Central Government of India under sub-section 
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(1) of Section 148 of the Act for any of the business 
activities carried out by the Company. Hence reporting 
under clause 3(vi) of the Order is not applicable. 

(vii)		In respect of statutory dues:

a.	 According to the information and explanations given 
to us and the records of the Company examined by 
us, in our opinion the Company is generally regular 
in depositing undisputed statutory dues including 
Goods and Service Tax, provident fund, employees’ 
state insurance, income tax, sales-tax, service tax, 
duty of customs, duty of excise, value added tax, 
cess and other statutory dues as applicable with the 
appropriate authorities. According to the information 
and explanations given to us, no undisputed 
amounts payable in respect of the aforesaid dues 
were outstanding as at 31 March, 2024 for a period 
of more than six months from the date they became 
payable except as given below:  .

b.	 According to the information and explanations given 
to us and the records of the Company examined by 
us, there are no statutory dues referred to in sub-
clause (a) above, which have not been deposited 
on account of any dispute.

(viii)	There were no transactions relating to previously 
unrecorded income that have been surrendered 
or disclosed as income during the year in the tax 
assessments under the Income Tax Act, 1961 (43 of 
1961).

(ix)	 (a) 	 Based on the audit procedures and according to 
the information and explanations given to us, the 
Company has defaulted in repayment of loans and 
borrowings to the banks. The detail of the defaults 
has been given in the notes 17.3 and 17.4 to the 
standalone financial statements. 

	 (b) 	 Based on the audit procedures and according to 
the information and explanations given to us, the 
Company has not been declared wilful defaulter by 
any bank or financial institution or other lender.

	 (c)	 During the year, unsecured credit facilities on long 
term basis were obtained from a related party and 
the same was utilized for the purpose for which it 
was obtained.

	 (d)	 During the year, no funds raised on short term 
basis, hence reporting under this clause is not 
applicable.

	 (e) 	 Based on the audit procedures and according to 
the information and explanations given to us, the 
Company has not taken any funds from any entity 
or person on account of or to meet the obligations 
of its subsidiary. Further, the Company is not 
having any joint venture or associate.

	 (f) 	 Based on the audit procedures and according to 
the information and explanations given to us, the 
Company has not raised any loans during the 
year on pledge of securities held in its subsidiary. 
Further, the Company is not having any joint 
venture or associate.

(x)	(a) 	 According to the information and explanations given 
to us, the Company has neither raised funds by way 
of initial public offer nor further public offer (including 
debt instruments) during the year, hence reporting 
under this clause is not applicable.

	 (b) 	 According to the information and explanations given 
to us and based on our examination of the records 
of the Company, the Company has not made any 
preferential allotment or private placement of shares 
or convertible debentures (fully, partially or optionally 
convertible) during the year, hence reporting under 
this clause is not applicable.

(xi)	(a) Based on the audit procedures and according to the 
information and explanations given to us, no fraud by 
the Company or no material fraud on the Company 
has been noticed or reported during the year.

	 (b) 	 No report under sub-section (12) of Section 143 of 
the Act has been filed in Form ADT-4 as prescribed 
under rule 13 of Companies (Audit and Auditors) 
Rules, 2014, as amended, with the Central 
Government, during the year and upto the date of 
this report.

	 (c) 	 According to the information and explanations given 
to us and based on our examination of the records 
of the Company, no whistle blower complaint 
was received by the Company during the year. 
Further, as informed Company has a process of 
thoroughly addressing any complaints, received 
from the shareholders, borrowers or any other party/
stakeholder. Also, refer para E.C under Annexure I to 
note 32.10 in the standalone financial statements for 
status of complaints received from the customers.

(xii)	The Company is not a Nidhi Company, hence reporting 
under clauses 3(xii)(a) to 3(xii)(c) is not applicable.

(xiii)	According to the information and explanations given to 
us and based on our examination of the records of the 
Company, transactions with the related parties are in 
compliance with Section 177 and 188 of the Act, where 
applicable. The details of such transcations have been 
disclosed in the financial statements, as required by Ind 
AS 24 – Related Party Disclosures.

(xiv)	(a) In our opinion and based on our examination, the 
Company has an adequate internal audit system 
commensurate with the size and the nature of its 
business, as per the provisions of the Act.

	 (b) We have considered, the internal audit reports for 
the year under audit, issued to the Company during 
the year, in determining the nature, timing and 
extent of our audit procedures.

(xv)	In our opinion and according to the information and 
explanations given to us, the Company has not entered 
into any non-cash transactions with Directors or persons 
connected with them.

(xvi)	(a) The Company is required to and has been registered 
under section 45-IA of the Reserve Bank of India 
Act, 1934 as a Non-systematically Important Non-
Deposit taking Non-Banking Financial Company.
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	 (b) The Company is conducting its activites as Non-
Systematically Important Non-Deposit Taking Non-
Banking Financial Company vide Certificate No. 
B-14.00731 dated November 04, 2009 issued by 
the Reserve Bank of India. 

	 (c) The Company is a Non-Banking Financial Company 
(NBFC) as defined in the regulations made by RBI, 
and it has continued to fulfil the criteria of a NBFC as 
stipultated by RBI. 

	 (d) In our opinion, there is no core investment company 
within the Group (as defined in the Core Investment 
Companies (Reserve Bank) Directions, 2016) and 
accordingly reporting under clause 3(xvi)(d) of the 
Order is not applicable.

(xvii)	 The Company has not incurred cash losses during the 
financial year covered by our audit and the immediately 
preceding financial year.

(xviii)	There has been no resignation of the statutory auditors 
of the Company during the year.

(xix)	 On the basis of the financial ratios, ageing and 
expected dates of realisation of financial assets and 
payment of financial liabilities, other information 
accompanying the financial statements and our 
knowledge of the Board of Directors and Management 
plans and based on our examination of the evidence 
supporting the assumptions, we have reported in 
our Auditor’ Report that there are various events 
or conditions which indicate existence of material 
uncertainty about the Company’s ability to continue 
as a going concern viz. huge accumulated losses 
since earlier year/s and also in current year which 
have resulted in substantial erosion of net worth of the 
Company, non-carrying of any lending / operational 
activities, and also there are no immediate measures 
/ resources with the Company to make payments 
towards the borrowings which are already in default 
and other liabilities including towards employees 
/ statutory dues etc. These events or conditions 
indicate the existence of material uncertainty that 

may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. However, management 
has prepared these standalone financial statements of 
the Company on a Going Concern due to the reasons 
as described in Note 32.9 to the standalone financial 
statements. Also, Company’s Net Owned Fund and 
Leverage Ratio are not in compliance of the Master 
Direction – Reserve Bank of India (Non-Banking 
Financial Company – Scale Based Regulation) 
Directions, 2023 as amended from time to time issued 
vide notification no. RBI/DoR/2023-24/106 DoR.
FIN.REC.No.45/03.10.119/2023-24 dated October 
19, 2023, as updated / amended from time to time 
(“RBI Master Directions”) and we will be issuing an 
Exceptional Report to the RBI on the same. Therefore, 
we couldn’t state or assue regarding the future viability 
of the Company. We further state that our reporting is 
based on the facts up to the date of the audit report 
and we neither give any guarantee nor any assurance 
that all liabilities falling due within a period of one year 
from the balance sheet date, will get discharged by the 
Company as and when they fall due. 

(xx)	(a) & (b) During the year, no amount was required to 
be spent towards the Corporate Social Responsibility 
as Company has not made average net profits during 
the three immediately preceding financial years. Hence 
reporting under clause 3(xx) is not applicable.

For S. P. Chopra & Co.
Chartered Accountants

Firm Regn. No. 000346N

(Gautam Bhutani)
Partner

M. No. 524485
    UDIN: 

Place :  New Delhi
Dated:  21 June, 2024	
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Report on the Internal Financial Controls under 
Clause (i) of Sub-section 3 of Section 143 of the 
Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”)
We have audited the internal financial controls over 
financial reporting of Intec Capital Limited (“the 
Company”) as of 31 March, 2024 in conjunction with 
our audit of the standalone financial statements of the 
Company for the year ended on that date.
Management’s Responsibility for Internal Financial 
Controls
The Board of Directors of the Company is responsible 
for establishing and maintaining internal financial 
controls based on the internal control over financial 
reporting criteria established by the Company 
considering the essential components of internal 
control stated in the “Guidance Note on Audit of Internal 
Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting” (the 
“Guidance Note”) issued by the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of India (“ICAI”). These responsibilities 
include the design, implementation and maintenance 
of adequate internal financial controls that were 
operating effectively for ensuring the orderly and 
efficient conduct of its business, including adherence 
to company’s policies, the safeguarding of its assets, 
the prevention and detection of frauds and errors, 
the accuracy and completeness of the accounting 
records, and the timely preparation of reliable financial 
information, as required under the Act.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
Company’s internal financial controls over financial 
reporting based on our audit. We conducted our audit 
in accordance with the Guidance Note on Audit of 
Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting 
(the ‘Guidance Note’) and the Standards on Auditing, 
issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of 
India and deemed to be prescribed under section 
143(10) of the Act to the extent applicable to an 
audit of internal financial controls, both applicable 
to an audit of Internal Financial Controls and, both 
issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants 
of India. Those Standards and the Guidance Note 
require that we comply with ethical requirements 
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether adequate internal financial 
controls over financial reporting was established and 
maintained and if such controls operated effectively in 
all material respects.
Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain 
audit evidence about the adequacy of the internal 

financial controls system over financial reporting and 
their operating effectiveness. Our audit of internal 
financial controls over financial reporting included 
obtaining an understanding of internal financial controls 
over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a 
material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating 
the design and operating effectiveness of internal 
control based on the assessed risk. The procedures 
selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including 
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of 
the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion on the Company’s internal financial 
controls system over financial reporting.
Meaning of Internal Financial Controls Over 
Financial Reporting
A company’s internal financial control over financial 
reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable 
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting 
and the preparation of financial statements for external 
purposes in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles. A company’s internal financial 
control over financial reporting includes those policies 
and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of 
records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly 
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets 
of the Company; (2) provide reasonable assurance 
that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit 
preparation of financial statements in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting principles, and 
that receipts and expenditures of the Company are 
being made only in accordance with authorisations of 
management and Directors of the Company; and (3) 
provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention 
or timely detection of unauthorised acquisition, use, or 
disposition of the Company’s assets that could have a 
material effect on the financial statements.
Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls 
Over Financial Reporting
Because of the inherent limitations of internal 
financial controls over financial reporting, including 
the possibility of collusion or improper management 
override of controls, material misstatements due to 
error or fraud may occur and not be detected. Also, 
projections of any evaluation of the internal financial 
controls over financial reporting to future periods are 
subject to the risk that the internal financial control 
over financial reporting may become inadequate 
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree 

ANNEXURE-‘B’ 
TO THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
 (Referred to in paragraph 2(f) under `Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements’ section of the 
independent auditors’ report of even date on the standalone financial statements of Intec Capital Limited for 
the year ended 31 March, 2024)
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of compliance with the policies or procedures may 
deteriorate.
Opinion
In our opinion, to the best of our information and 
according to the explanations given to us, the 
Company has, in all material respects, adequate 
internal financial controls with reference to financial 
statements and such internal financial controls with 
reference to  financial statements were operating 
effectively as at 31 March, 2024, based on the internal 
control over financial reporting criteria established by 
the Company considering the essential components of 

internal control stated in the Guidance Note on Audit 
of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting 
issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of 
India.

For S. P. Chopra & Co.
Chartered Accountants

Firm Regn. No. 000346N

(Gautam Bhutani)
Partner

M. No. 524485
    UDIN: 

Place :  New Delhi
Dated:  21 June, 2024	
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STANDALONE BALANCE SHEET AS AT 31 MARCH, 2024
(Amount in INR lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

Particulars Note 
No.

As at 
31 March, 2024

As at 
31 March, 2023

ASSETS
Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 5  524.61  119.79 
Bank Balance other than cash and cash equivalents 6  -  0.48 
Loans 7 6,148.94  6,938.58 
Investments 8 6.84  777.21 
Other financial assets 9  469.75  619.74 

   
Non-financial assets  

Current tax assets (net) 10 3.66  3.66 
Deferred tax assets (net) 11 2,244.84  1,922.98 
Property, plant and equipment 12.a 31.70  42.97 
Intangible assets 13 11.93  16.15 
Right-of-use assets 14 56.34  57.31 
Other non-financial assets 15 7.99  16.04 

 
Non-current assets held for sale 16  122.93  122.93 

 
TOTAL ASSETS 9,629.53  10,637.84 

 
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY  

 
LIABILITIES  
Financial liabilities  
  Borrowings 17 5,488.65  5,328.81 
  Lease liabilities 32.6 70.77  71.95 
  Other financial liabilities 18  
   - Total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises. 18.90  3.11 
   - Total outstanding dues of other than micro enterprises and small enterprises.  444.48  295.40 

 
Non-financial liabilities  

Provisions 19 17.39  3.33 
Other non-financial liabilities 20 39.11  18.01 

 
EQUITY  

Equity share capital 21 1,836.63  1,836.63 
Other equity 22 1,713.60  3,080.60 

   
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 9,629.53  10,637.84 
   
Company information, Material accounting policies and other notes 1 to 4 

& 32
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the standalone financial statements.

This is the Standalone Balance Sheet referred to in  
our report of even date

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of

For S. P. Chopra & Co. Intec Capital Limited.
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration No. 000346N

(Gautam Bhutani) (Sanjeev Goel) (S. K. Goel)
Partner Managing Director Director
Membership No: 524485 DIN: 00028702 DIN: 00963735

Place: New Delhi (Vinod Kumar) (Radhika Garg) 
Date: 21 June, 2024 Chief Financial Officer Company Secretary

M. No. ACS 36587
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STANDALONE STATEMENT OF PROFIT & LOSS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH, 2024
(Amount in INR lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

Particulars Note No. Year ended  
31 March, 2024

Year ended  
31 March, 2023

 INCOME 
Revenue from operations
  Interest income 23 266.30 462.87 
  Fees and commission income 24 0.18 1.81 
  Recoveries of financial assets written off 25 107.16 359.84 
Total revenue from operations 373.64 824.52 
  Other income 26 6.04 160.76 
Total Income 379.68 985.28 
 
EXPENSES
  Finance costs 27 22.27 15.15 
  Impairment on financial instruments 28 1,262.15 1,639.33 
  Employee benefits expenses 29 371.56  517.82 
  Depreciation and amortization 30 36.77 43.52 
  Other expenses 31 378.60  569.63 
Total Expenses 2,071.35 2,785.45 
Loss before tax 1,691.67 1,800.17 
Tax expense

Deferred tax (credit) / debit 11.iii (322.57) 863.52 
Total tax (credit) / expense (322.57) 863.52 
Loss for the year 1,369.10 2,663.69 

 
Other comprehensive (income) / loss  
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss  
  Re-measurement (gain) on defined benefit plan (2.81) (2.92)
  Income tax effect 11.iv 0.71 0.73 
Other comprehensive (income) (2.10) (2.19)

 
Total comprehensive loss for the year 1,367.00 2,661.50 
Earnings per share: (Nominal value per share Rs. 10/-) 32.7  

Basic/Diluted earnings per share (in Rs.) (7.45) (14.50)
 

Company information, Material accounting policies and other notes 1to4 & 32  
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the standalone financial statements.

This is the Standalone Statement of Profit and Loss referred to in 
our report of even date

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of

For S. P. Chopra & Co. Intec Capital Limited.
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration No. 000346N

(Gautam Bhutani) (Sanjeev Goel) (S. K. Goel)
Partner Managing Director Director
Membership No: 524485 DIN: 00028702 DIN: 00963735

Place: New Delhi (Vinod Kumar) (Radhika Garg) 
Date: 21 June, 2024 Chief Financial Officer Company Secretary

M. No. ACS 36587
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STANDALONE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAR, 2024
(All amounts in INR lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

Particulars  Year ended  
31 March, 2024

 Year ended  
31 March, 2023

A. Cash flow from operating activities
(Loss) before tax (1,691.67) (1,800.17)
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation 36.77 43.52 
Impairment on financial instruments 1,262.15 1,639.33 
Liabilities no longer required written back (1.62) (158.48)
Gain on cessation of lease liability (2.31)
(Profit) / Loss on disposal of property, plant & equipment (net) (0.25) (0.12)
Finance costs 22.27 15.15 
Operating (loss) before working capital changes (374.66) (260.77)
Movement in working capital:
(Increase) / Decrease in loans 351.12 (624.38)
(Increase) / Decrease in other financial assets 97.19 906.17 
(Increase) / Decrease in other non-financial assets 8.05 1.30 
Increase / (Decrease) in other financial liabilities 164.93 136.53 
Increase /(Decrease) in provisions 16.87 3.41 
Increase /(Decrease) in other non-financial liabilities 20.47 (12.34)
Cash flow from operations 283.97 149.92 
Taxes refund / adjustment (net) - (0.60)
Net cash flow from operating activities (A) 283.97 149.32 
Cash flow from investing activities
Sale / (Purchase) of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (net) 3.08 (16.55)
Net cash generated from / (used in) investing activities (B) 3.08 (16.55)
Cash flow from financing activities
Proceeds from / (Repayments) of secured loans 154.16 (381.51)
Payment of principal portion of lease liabilities (22.01) (26.39)
Payment of interest portion of lease liabilities (11.18) (10.75)
Finance costs (3.20) (5.61)
Net cash generated from / (used in) financing activities (C) 117.77 (424.26)
Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (A+B+C) 404.82 (291.49)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 119.79 411.28 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 524.61 119.79 
Notes: 
1.	 The above Standalone Statement of Cash Flows has been prepared under the “Indirect Method” as set out in Indian 

Accounting Standard (Ind - AS) - 7 ‘Statement of Cash Flows’
2.	 Cash and cash equivalents in the standalone balance sheet comprises of Cash in hand, Balances with Banks and 

Drafts on hand.
  -   Cash on hand  44.45  5.98 
  -   Balances with banks - in current accounts  400.03 113.81 
  -   Drafts on hand  80.13 - 

524.61 119.79 
Company information, Material accounting policies and other notes (1 to 4 & 32)
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the standalone financial statements.

This is the Standalone Statement of Cash Flows referred to in our 
report of even date

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of

For S. P. Chopra & Co. Intec Capital Limited.
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration No. 000346N

(Gautam Bhutani) (Sanjeev Goel) (S. K. Goel)
Partner Managing Director Director
Membership No: 524485 DIN: 00028702 DIN: 00963735

Place: New Delhi (Vinod Kumar) (Radhika Garg) 
Date: 21 June, 2024 Chief Financial Officer Company Secretary

M. No. ACS 36587
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STANDALONE STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 
31 MARCH, 2024

(Amount in INR lakhs, unless otherwise stated)
(A) Equity Share Capital

For the year ended 31 March, 2024
Balance as at  
01 April, 2023

Changes in equity share  
capital during the year

Balance as at  
31 March, 2024

1,836.63 -  1,836.63 

For the year ended 31 March, 2023
Balance as at  
01 April, 2022

Changes in equity share  
capital during the year

Balance as at  
31 March, 2023

1,836.63 -  1,836.63 

(B) Other Equity
Particulars Reserves & Surplus Other Items 

of Other 
Comprehensive 

Income - Re-
measurement 

gains on defined 
benefit plan

Total

Statutory 
Reserve as 
per Section 
45- IC of RBI 

Act, 1934

Securities 
Premium

Retained 
Earnings

Impairment 
Reserve 

(Refer note 
32.17)

Balance as at 1 April, 2023 1,868.50 8,843.84 (10,178.90) 2,546.93 0.23 3,080.60 
Loss for the year - - (1,369.10) -  - (1,369.10)
Other Comprehensive income - - - - 2.10 2.10 
Total Comprehensive Loss for the year - - (1,369.10) - 2.10  (1,367.00)
Appropriation during the year - - - -  -  - 
Balance as at 31 March, 2024  1,868.50  8,843.84 (11,548.00)  2,546.93 2.33  1,713.60 

Particulars Reserves & Surplus Other Items 
of Other 

Comprehensive 
Income - Re-
measurement 

gains on defined 
benefit plan

Total
Statutory 

Reserve as 
per Section 
45- IC of RBI 

Act, 1934

Securities 
Premium

Retained 
Earnings

Impairment 
Reserve 

(Refer note 
32.17)

Balance as at 1 April, 2022  1,868.50  8,843.84 (7,294.72)  2,326.44 (1.96)  5,742.10 
Loss for the year - -  (2,663.69) -  - -2,663.69
Other Comprehensive Income - - - - 2.19  2.19 
Total Comprehensive Loss for the year - - (2,663.69) -  2.19  (2,661.50)
Appropriation during the year - - (220.49)  220.49  - - 
Balance as at 31 March, 2023  1,868.50  8,843.84 (10,178.90)  2,546.93  0.23  3,080.60 

Company information, Material accounting policies and other notes (1 to 4 & 32)
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the standalone financial statements.

This is the Standalone Statement of Changes in Equity referred to 
in our report of even date

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of

For S. P. Chopra & Co. Intec Capital Limited.
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration No. 000346N

(Gautam Bhutani) (Sanjeev Goel) (S. K. Goel)
Partner Managing Director Director
Membership No: 524485 DIN: 00028702 DIN: 00963735

Place: New Delhi (Vinod Kumar) (Radhika Garg) 
Date: 21 June, 2024 Chief Financial Officer Company Secretary

M. No. ACS 36587
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Notes to standalone financial statements for the year ended 31 March, 2024
(All amounts in Indian Rupees (Rs.) in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

1.	 COMPANY INFORMATION 
	 Intec Capital Limited (the ‘Company’) incorporated 

in India on 15 February, 1994, was registered with 
the Reserve Bank of India (‘RBI’) as a Non-Banking 
Financial Company (‘NBFC’) vide Certificate No. 
B-14.00731 dated 4 May, 1998 in the name of Intec 
Securities Limited. Subsequently, due to change 
in name of the Company, the Company received 
a revised Certificate of Registration (‘CoR’) in the 
name of Intec Capital Limited on 04 November, 2009 
under Section 45-1A of the Reserve Bank of India 
Act, 1934. Equity shares of the Company are listed 
on the Bombay Stock Exchange Limited (BSE).

	 The standalone financial statements for the year 
ended 31 March, 2024, were approved by the Board 
of Directors and authorized for issue on 21st June, 
2024, and recommended for consideration and 
adoption by the shareholders in their ensuing Annual 
General Meeting.

2.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION
2.1	 Compliance with Indian Accounting 

Standards (Ind–AS):
	 The standalone financial statements have 

been prepared in accordance with the Indian 
Accounting Standards (‘Ind AS’) notified under 
the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) 
Rules, 2015, and the other relevant provisions 
of the Companies Act, 2013 (the ‘Act’), and 
the Master Direction – Non-Banking Financial 
Company – Non-Systemically Important 
Non-Deposit taking Non-Banking Financial 
Company (the ‘NBFC Regulations’) issued by 
RBI, as amended from time to time. The notified 
Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) are 
followed by the Company in so far as they are 
not inconsistent with the NBFC Regulations.

	 The standalone financial statements have 
been prepared on accrual and going concern 
basis. The accounting policies are applied 
consistently to all the periods presented in the 
financial statements.

2.2	 Presentation of standalone financial 
statements:

	 The Company presents its Balance Sheet 
in order of liquidity. The Company generally 
reports financial assets and financial liabilities 
on a gross basis in the Balance Sheet. They 
are offset and reported net only when Ind 
AS specifically permits the same or it has 
an unconditional legally enforceable right to 
offset the recognised amounts without being 

contingent on a future event. Similarly, the 
Company offsets incomes and expenses and 
reports the same on a net basis when permitted 
by Ind AS specifically unless they are material 
in nature.

2.3	 Historical Cost Convention  
	 The standalone financial statements have 

been prepared on a historical cost basis, 
except, certain financial assets and liabilities, 
measured at fair value.

2.4	 Functional and present currency
	 The standalone financial statements are 

prepared in Indian Rupees (‘Rs.’), which is 
the Company’s functional and presentation 
currency. All financial information presented 
in Indian Rupees has been rounded to the 
nearest lakhs with two decimal places, unless 
stated otherwise.

3.	 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 
JUDGEMENTS 

	 The preparation of standalone financial statements 
in conformity with Ind AS requires the management 
to make use of estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities 
and disclosure of contingent liabilities at the date of 
standalone financial statements, and the reported 
amount of revenues and expenses during the 
reporting period. In view of the inherent uncertainties 
and a level of subjectivity involved in measurement 
of items, it is possible that the outcomes in the 
subsequent financial years could differ from those 
on which the Management’s estimates are based.

	 The estimates and assumptions that have a 
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to 
the carrying values of assets and liabilities within the 
next financial year are given below.
•	 Fair value of financial instruments
	 Fair value of financial instruments is required 

to be estimated for financial reporting 
purposes. The Company applies appropriate 
valuation techniques and inputs for fair value 
measurements. In estimating the fair value 
of an asset or a liability, the Company uses 
quoted prices and market-observable data to 
the extent it is available. When the fair value 
of financial assets and financial liabilities 
recorded in the balance sheet cannot be 
measured based on quoted prices in active 
markets, their fair value is measured using 
valuation techniques, based on the inputs to 
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these models taken from observable markets 
where possible, but where this is not feasible, a 
degree of judgement is required in establishing 
fair values. Judgements include considerations 
of inputs such as liquidity risk, credit risk and 
volatility. Changes in assumptions about these 
factors could affect the reported fair value of 
financial instruments.

•	 Impairment of financial assets – Expected 
Credit Loss

	 The measurement of impairment loss allowance 
for financial asset measured at amortized cost 
requires use of statistical models, significant 
assumptions about future economic conditions 
and credit behavior (e.g. likelihood of borrowers 
defaulting and resulting losses). In estimating 
the cash flows expected to be recovered from 
credit impaired loans, the Company makes 
judgements about the borrower’s financial 
situation, current status of the project, net 
realizable value of securities / collateral etc. 
As these estimates are based on various 
assumptions, actual results may vary leading 
to changes to the impairment loss allowance. 
Further, judgement is also made in identifying 
the default and significant increase in credit 
risk (SICR) on financial assets as well as for 
homogeneous grouping of similar financial 
assets. Impairment assessment also takes 
into account the data from the loan portfolio, 
levels of arrears and an analysis of historical 
defaults.

•	 Non recognition of income on Credit Impaired 
Loans 

	 As a matter of prudence, income on credit 
impaired loans is recognized as and when 
received and / or on accrual basis when 
expected realization is higher than the gross 
loan amount outstanding.

•	 Taxes
	 Uncertainties exist with respect to the 

interpretation of complex tax regulations, 
changes in tax laws, and the amount and timing 
of future taxable income. Given the wide range 
of business relationships and the long-term 
nature and complexity of existing contractual 
agreements, differences arising between the 
actual results and the assumptions made, or 
future changes to such assumptions, could 
necessitate future adjustments to tax income 
and expense already recorded. The Company 

establishes provisions, based on reasonable 
estimates. The amount of such provisions is 
based on various factors, such as experience of 
previous tax audits and differing interpretations 
of tax regulations by the taxable entity and the 
responsible tax authority. Such differences of 
interpretation may arise on a wide variety of 
issues depending on the conditions prevailing 
in the respective domicile of the companies.

•	 Useful life of property, plant and equipment
	 The Property, Plant and Equipment are 

depreciated on straight line method over their 
respective useful lives. Management estimates 
the useful lives of these assets as detailed in 
Note 4.5 below.  Changes in the expected level 
of usage, technological developments, level 
of wear and tear could impact the economic 
useful lives and the residual values of these 
assets, therefore, future depreciation charges 
could be revised and could have an impact on 
the financial position in future years.

4.	 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
	 This note provides a list of the Material accounting 

policies adopted in the preparation of these 
standalone financial statements. These policies have 
been consistently applied to all the years presented, 
unless otherwise stated.
4.1	 Revenue Recognition

(i)	 Interest Income
	 The Company recognises interest income 

using Effective Interest Rate (EIR) on all 
financial assets subsequently measured 
at amortised cost or fair value through 
other comprehensive income (FVOCI). 
EIR is calculated by considering all costs 
and incomes attributable to acquisition of a 
financial asset or assumption of a financial 
liability and it represents a rate that exactly 
discounts estimated future cash payments 
/ receipts through the expected life of the 
financial asset / financial liability to the 
gross carrying amount of a financial asset 
or to the amortised cost of a financial 
liability.

	 The Company recognises interest income 
by applying the EIR to the gross carrying 
amount of financial assets other than 
credit-impaired assets after setting-off 
of collateral amounts. In case of credit-
impaired financial assets regarded as 
‘stage 3’, the Company recognises 
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interest income on the amortised cost net 
of impairment loss of the financial asset 
at EIR, to the extent of probability of its 
recovery. If the financial asset is no longer 
credit-impaired, the Company reverts to 
calculating interest income on a gross 
basis.

	 Interest on financial assets subsequently 
measured at fair value through profit 
and loss, is recognized on accrual basis 
in accordance with the terms of the 
respective contract.

(ii)	 Dividend Income
	 Dividend Income on investments is 

recognized when the company’s right to 
receive the payment is established, which 
is generally when shareholders approve 
the dividend.

(iii)	 Fees and Commission
	 Processing fees and other servicing 

fees is recognized on accrual basis. 
The Company recognizes service and 
administration charges towards rendering 
of additional services to its loan customers 
on satisfactory completion of service 
delivery. Fees on value added services 
and products are recognized on rendering 
of services and products to the customer.

(iv)	 Interest on Borrowings 
	 Interest expense on borrowings 

subsequently measured at amortized cost 
is recognized using Effective Interest Rate 
(EIR) method.

(v)	 Recoveries of Financial Assets written 
off

	 The Company recognises income on 
recoveries of financial assets written off 
on realisation or when the right to receive 
the same without any uncertainties of 
recovery is established.

(vi)	 Sale of Loan Assets
	 Profit / loss on sale of loan assets through 

direct assignment / securitization are 
recognized over the residual life of loan 
/ pass through certificates in terms of 
RBI guidelines. Loss arising on account 
of direct assignment / securitization is 
recognized upfront.

(vii)	  Other Income / Revenue
	 Other income / revenue is recognized 

to the extent that it is probable that the 
economic benefit will flow to the Company 
and it can be reliably measured.

4.2	 Cash and Cash Equivalents
	 Cash and cash equivalents include cash on 

hand, other short term, highly liquid investments 
with original maturities of three months or less 
that are readily convertible to known amounts 
of cash and which are subject to an insignificant 
risk of changes in value.

4.3	 Financial Instruments
	 A financial instrument is defined as any contract 

that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity 
and a financial liability or equity instrument of 
another entity. Trade receivables and payables, 
loan receivables, investments in subsidiaries 
and associates, borrowings, cash and cash 
equivalents, other bank balances etc. are some 
examples of financial instruments.

	 All the financial instruments are recognised on 
the date when the Company becomes party 
to the contractual provisions of the financial 
instruments. 
(i)	 Financial assets
	 Financial assets include cash, or an 

equity instrument of another entity, or 
a contractual right to receive cash or 
another financial asset from another 
entity. Few examples of financial assets 
are loan receivables, investment in equity 
instruments, trade receivables and cash 
and cash equivalents etc.

	 Initial measurement
	 All financial assets are recognised initially 

at fair value including transaction costs 
that are attributable to the acquisition 
of financial assets except in the case of 
financial assets recorded at FVTPL where 
the transaction costs are charged to profit 
or loss. However, trade receivables that 
do not contain a significant financing 
component are measured at transaction 
price.

	 Subsequent measurement
(i)	 Classification and Measurement of 

Financial assets (other than Equity 
instruments)

	 For the purpose of subsequent 



CAPITAL LIMITED
intec

Sapne Aapke, Bharosa Apno Ka

ANNUAL REPORT 2023-24 67

Notes to standalone financial statements for the year ended 31 March, 2024
(All amounts in Indian Rupees (Rs.) in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

measurement, financial assets (other 
than equity instruments) are classified into 
three categories:

(a)	 Financial Assets at amortised cost
(b)	 Financial Assets at FVOCI
(c)	 Financial Assets at FVTPL
(a)	 Financial Assets at amortised cost
	 The Company measures its financial 

assets at amortised cost if both the 
following conditions are met:

•	 The asset is held within a business model 
of collecting contractual cash flows; and 

•	 Contractual terms of the asset give rise on 
specified dates to cash flows that are Sole 
Payments of Principal and Interest (SPPI) 
on the principal amount outstanding. 

	 To make the SPPI assessment, the 
Company applies judgment and considers 
relevant factors such as the nature of 
portfolio and the period for which the 
interest rate is set. 

	 The Company determines its business 
model at the level that best reflects how 
it manages groups of financial assets 
to achieve its business objective. The 
Company’s business model is not 
assessed on an instrument by instrument 
basis, but at a higher level of aggregated 
portfolios. If cash flows after initial 
recognition are realised in a way that is 
different from the Company’s original 
expectations, the Company does not 
change the classification of the remaining 
financial assets held in that business 
model, but incorporates such information 
when assessing newly originated financial 
assets going forward.

	 The business model of the Company 
for assets subsequently measured at 
amortised cost category is to hold and 
collect contractual cash flows. However, 
considering the economic viability of 
carrying the delinquent portfolios in 
the books of the Company, it may sell 
these portfolios to banks and/or asset 
reconstruction companies.

	 After initial measurement, such financial 
assets are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost on effective interest rate 
(EIR) as given in para 4.1.(i) above. 

(b)	 Financial Assets at FVOCI
	 The Company subsequently classifies its 

financial assets as FVOCI, only if both of 
the following criteria are met:

•	 The objective of the business model is 
achieved both by collecting contractual 
cash flows and selling the financial assets; 
and

•	 Contractual terms of the asset give rise on 
specified dates to cash flows that are Solely 
Payments of Principal and Interest (SPPI) 
on the principal amount outstanding.

	 Financial Assets included within the FVOCI 
category are measured at each reporting 
date at fair value with such changes 
being recognised in other comprehensive 
income (OCI). The interest income on 
these assets is recognised in profit or 
loss. 

	 On de-recognition of the asset, 
cumulative gain or loss previously 
recognised in OCI is reclassified to profit 
or loss.

(c)	 Financial Assets at FVTPL
	 The Company classifies financial assets 

which are held for trading under FVTPL 
category. Held for trading assets are 
recorded and measured in the Balance 
Sheet at fair value. Interest and dividend 
incomes are recorded in interest income 
and dividend income, respectively 
according to the terms of the contract, or 
when the right to receive the same has 
been established. Gain and losses on 
changes in fair value of financial assets 
are recognised on net basis through profit 
or loss.

	 Term / fixed deposits held by the Company 
have been classified under this category

(ii)	 Classification and Measurement of 
Equity instruments

	 All equity investments other than in 
subsidiaries are measured at fair value. 
Equity instruments which are held for 
trading are classified as at FVTPL. For all 
other equity instruments, the Company at 
initial recognition makes an irrevocable 
election to classify it as either FVTOCI 
or FVTPL. The Company makes such 
election on an instrument by instrument 
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basis. An equity investment classified as 
FVTOCI is initially measured at fair value 
plus transaction costs. Subsequently, 
it is measured at fair value and, all fair 
value changes are recognised in Other 
Comprehensive Income (OCI) and 
accumulated in Reserve. There is no 
recycling of the amounts from OCI to 
Statement of Profit and Loss, even on sale 
of investment. However, the Company 
transfers the same within equity. 

(iii)	 De-recognition of Financial Assets
	 The Company derecognises a financial 

asset (or, where applicable, a part of a 
financial asset) when:

•	 The right to receive cash flows from the 
asset have expired; or

•	 The Company has transferred its right to 
receive cash flows from the asset or has 
assumed an obligation to pay the received 
cash flows in full without material delay 
to a third party under an assignment 
arrangement and the Company has 
transferred substantially all the risks and 
rewards of the asset. Once the asset is 
derecognised, the Company does not 
have any continuing involvement in the 
same.

	 The Company transfers its financial assets 
through the partial assignment route and 
accordingly derecognises the transferred 
portion as it neither has any continuing 
involvement in the same nor does it retain 
any control. If the Company retains the 
right to service the financial asset for a fee, 
it recognises either a servicing asset or a 
servicing liability for that servicing contract. 
A service liability in respect of a service is 
recognised at fair value if the fee to be 
received is not expected to compensate 
the Company adequately for performing 
the service. If the fees to be received 
is expected to be more than adequate 
compensation for the servicing, a service 
asset is recognised for the servicing right 
at an amount determined on the basis of 
an allocation of the carrying amount of the 
larger financial asset.

	 On de-recognition of a financial asset in its 
entirety, the difference between:

•	 the carrying amount (measured at the date 
of de-recognition) and

•	 the consideration received (including any 
new asset obtained less any new liability 
assumed) is recognised in profit or loss.

(iv)	 Impairment of financial assets
	 Expected Credit Loss (ECL) are 

recognised for financial assets held under 
amortised cost, measured at FVOCI, and 
certain loan commitments.

	 Financial assets where no significant 
increase in credit risk has been observed 
are considered to be in ‘stage 1’ and for 
which a 12-month ECL is recognised. 
Financial assets that are considered to 
have significant increase in credit risk are 
considered to be in ‘stage 2’ and those 
which are in default or for which there is 
an objective evidence of impairment are 
considered to be in ‘stage 3’. Lifetime 
ECL is recognised for stage 2 and stage 3 
financial assets.

	 At initial recognition, allowance (or 
provision in the case of loan commitments) 
is required for ECL towards default events 
that are possible in the next 12 months, or 
less, where the remaining life is less than 
12 months.

	 In the event of a significant increase in 
credit risk, allowance (or provision) is 
required for ECL towards all possible 
default events over the expected life of the 
financial instrument (‘lifetime ECL’).

	 Financial assets (and the related 
impairment loss allowances) are written off 
in full, when there is no realistic prospect 
of recovery.

	 Treatment of the different stages of 
financial assets and the methodology 
of determination of ECL

(a)	 Credit impaired (stage 3)
	 The Company recognises a financial asset 

to be credit impaired and in stage 3 by 
considering relevant objective evidence, 
primarily whether:

•	 Contractual payments of either principal 
or interest are past due for more than 180 
days;
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•	 The loan is otherwise considered to be in 
default.

	 Restructured loans, where repayment 
terms are renegotiated as compared 
to the original contracted terms due to 
significant credit distress of the borrower, 
are classified as credit impaired. Such 
loans continue to be in stage 3 until they 
exhibit regular payment of renegotiated 
principal and interest over a minimum 
observation period, typically 12 months – 
post renegotiation, and there are no other 
indicators of impairment. Having satisfied 
the conditions of timely payment over the 
observation period these loans could be 
transferred to stage 1 or 2 and a fresh 
assessment of the risk of default be done 
for such loans. 

	 Interest income is recognised by applying 
the EIR to the net amortised cost amount 
i.e. gross carrying amount less ECL 
allowance.

(b) 	 Significant increase in credit risk (stage 2)
	 An assessment of whether credit risk 

has increased significantly since initial 
recognition is performed at each reporting 
period by considering the change in 
the risk of default of the loan exposure. 
However, unless identified at an earlier 
stage, 90 days past due is considered as 
an indication of financial assets to have 
suffered a significant increase in credit 
risk. 

	 The measurement of risk of defaults under 
stage 2 is computed on homogenous 
portfolios, generally by nature of loans, 
tenors, underlying collateral, geographies 
and borrower profiles. The default risk is 
assessed using PD (probability of default) 
derived from past behavioural trends of 
default across the identified homogenous 
portfolios. These past trends factor in the 
past customer behavioural trends, credit 
transition probabilities and macroeconomic 
conditions. The assessed PDs are then 
aligned considering future economic 
conditions that are determined to have a 
bearing on ECL.

(c)	 Without significant increase in credit risk 
since initial recognition (stage 1)

	 ECL resulting from default events that 

are possible in the next 12 months are 
recognised for financial instruments in 
stage 1. The Company has ascertained 
default possibilities on past behavioural 
trends witnessed for each homogenous 
portfolio using application/behavioural 
score cards and other performance 
indicators, determined statistically.

(d)	 Measurement of ECL
	 The assessment of credit risk and 

estimation of ECL are unbiased and 
probability weighted. It incorporates all 
information that is relevant including 
information about past events, current 
conditions and reasonable forecasts of 
future events and economic conditions 
at the reporting date. In addition, the 
estimation of ECL takes into account the 
time value of money. Forward looking 
economic scenarios determined with 
reference to external forecasts of economic 
parameters that have demonstrated a 
linkage to the performance of our portfolios 
over a period of time have been applied 
to determine impact of macro-economic 
factors.

	 The Company has calculated ECL using 
three main components: a probability of 
default (PD), a loss given default (LGD) 
and the exposure at default (EAD). ECL 
is calculated by multiplying the PD, LGD 
and EAD and adjusted for time value of 
money using a rate which is a reasonable 
approximation of EIR.

•	 Determination of PD is covered above for 
each stage of ECL.

•	 EAD represents the expected balance at 
default, taking into account the repayment 
of principal and interest from the Balance 
Sheet date to the date of default together 
with any expected drawdowns of 
committed facilities.

•	 LGD represents expected losses on the 
EAD given the event of default, taking 
into account, among other attributes, the 
mitigating effect of collateral value at the 
time it is expected to be realised and the 
time value of money.

	 A more detailed description of the 
methodology used for ECL is covered in 
the ‘credit risk’ section of note no. 32.17.
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(ii)	 Financial liabilities
	 Financial liabilities include liabilities that 

represent a contractual obligation to 
deliver cash or another financial assets 
to another entity, or a contract that may 
or will be settled in the entities own equity 
instruments. Few examples of financial 
liabilities are trade payables, borrowings 
etc.

	 Initial measurement
	 All financial liabilities are recognised initially 

at fair value and, in the case of borrowings 
and payables, net of directly attributable 
transaction costs. The Company’s 
financial liabilities include trade payables, 
borrowings and other payables. 

	 Subsequent measurement
	 After initial recognition, all financial 

liabilities are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the EIR [Refer note 
no. 4.1(i)]. Any gains or losses arising on 
derecognition of liabilities are recognised 
in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

	 Derecognition
	 The Company derecognises a financial 

liability when the obligation under the 
liability is discharged, cancelled or 
expired.

(iii)	 Offsetting of financial instruments
	 Financial assets and financial liabilities 

are offset and the net amount is reported 
in the Balance Sheet only if there is 
an enforceable legal right to offset the 
recognised amounts with an intention to 
settle on a net basis or to realise the assets 
and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

4.4	 Investment in subsidiary and associates
	 Investment in subsidiary is recognised at cost 

and is not adjusted to fair value at the end of 
each reporting period. Cost of investment 
represents amount paid for acquisition of the 
said investment.

	 The Company assesses at the end of each 
reporting period, if there are any indications 
that the said investment may be impaired. If 
so, the Company estimates the recoverable 
value / amount of the investment and provides 
for impairment, if any i.e. the deficit in the 
recoverable value over cost.

4.5	 Property plant and equipment 
(i)	 Property, plant and equipment are stated 

at cost, net of accumulated depreciation 
and accumulated impairment losses, if 
any, consistent with the criteria specified in 
Ind AS 16 ‘Property, Plant and Equipment’. 
The cost comprises purchase price, 
borrowing costs if capitalization criteria 
are met and directly attributable cost of 
bringing the asset to its working condition 
for the intended use. Any trade discounts 
and rebates are deducted in arriving at the 
purchase price.

(ii)	 Subsequent expenditure related to an 
item of property, plant and equipment 
is added to its book value only if it 
increases the future benefits from the 
existing asset beyond its previously 
assessed standard of performance. All 
other expenses on existing property, 
plant and equipment, including day-to-
day repair and maintenance expenditure 
and cost of replacing parts, are charged 
to the Statement of Profit and Loss for the 
period during which such expenses are 
incurred.

(iii)	 An item of PPE and any significantly part 
initially recognized is derecognized upon 
disposal or when no future economic 
benefits are expected from its use or 
disposal. Any Gains or losses arising 
from de-recognition of fixed assets are 
measured as the difference between the 
net disposal proceeds and the carrying 
amount of the asset and are recognized in 
the statement of profit and loss when the 
asset is derecognized.

(iv)	 Depreciation on property, plant and 
equipment is provided on straight-line 
method over the useful life of the assets 
estimated by the management, in the 
manner prescribed in Schedule II of 
the Companies Act, 2013. Immovable 
assets at the leased premises including 
civil works, fixtures and electrical 
items etc. are capitalized as leasehold 
improvements and are amortized over 
the primary period of lease subject to 
maximum of two years. The useful lives 
in the following case are different from 
those prescribed in Schedule II of the 
Companies Act, 2013.  
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Asset Useful life as per Schedule II of the 
Companies Act, 2013 (No. of Years)

Useful life as assessed / estimated by 
the Company (No. of Years)

Electrical installations 10 8

	 Based on usage pattern and internal 
assessment, the management believes that the 
useful lives as given above best represent the 
period over which the management expects to 
use these assets. Hence the useful lives of these 
assets is different from the lives as prescribed in 
Schedule II of the Companies Act, 2013
(v)	 Depreciation on addition or on sale / 

discard of an asset is calculated pro-rata 
from / up to the date of such addition or 
sale/discard.

(vi)	 The residual values, useful lives and 
methods of depreciation of Plant, 
property and equipment are reviewed 
at each financial year end and adjusted 
prospectively, if appropriate.

4.6	 Intangible Assets and amortization 
thereof

(i)	 Intangible assets are recognized only if it is 
probable that the future economic benefits 
that are attributable to assets will flow to the 
Company and the costs of the assets can 
be measured reliably. Intangible assets 
comprising computer software are carried 
at cost less amortization and accumulated 
impairment, if any. Computer software 
including improvements are amortized 
over the management’s estimate of the 
useful life of such intangibles. Management 
estimates for useful life of intangibles is 6 
years.

(ii)	 An intangible asset is derecognized on 
disposal, or when no future economic 
benefits are expected from use or 
disposal. Gains or losses arising from 
de-recognition of an intangible asset, 
measured as the difference between the 
net disposal proceeds and the carrying 
amount of the asset are recognized in the 
Statement of Profit and Loss when the 
asset is derecognized.

4.7	 Employee Benefits:
(i)	 Short term employee benefits:
	 All employee benefits payable / available 

within twelve months of rendering the 
service are classified as short-term 
employee benefits. Benefits such as 

salaries, wages and bonus etc., are 
recognized in the same period in which 
the employee renders the related service.

(ii)	 Defined contribution plan:
	 Contributions towards Employees’ 

Provident Fund and State Insurance 
Scheme are considered as defined 
contribution plans and the contributions 
are charged to the Statement of Profit and 
Loss for the year when the expense is 
actually incurred.

(iii)	 Other long-term employee benefits:
	 Entitlements to annual leave are recognized 

when they accrue to employees. Leave 
entitlements can be availed while in service 
of employment subject to restriction on the 
maximum number of accumulations. The 
Company determines the liability for such 
accumulated leave entitlements on the 
basis of actuarial valuation carried out by 
an independent actuary at the year end.

(iv)	 Defined benefit plan:
	 The Company’s gratuity scheme is a 

defined benefit plan. The plan provides for 
a lump sum payment to vested employees 
on retirement, death while in employment 
or on termination of employment. 
Vesting occurs upon completion of five 
years of service. The present value 
of the obligation under such defined 
benefit plans is determined based on 
the actuarial valuation on projected unit 
credit method as at the balance sheet 
date. Re-measurement, comprising of 
actuarial gains and losses, are recognized 
immediately in the balance sheet with a 
corresponding debit or credit to retained 
earnings through OCI in the period in 
which they occur. Re-measurements are 
not reclassified to Statement of Profit 
and Loss in subsequent periods. Liability 
towards Gratuity is funded / managed by 
Life Insurance Corporation of India (‘LIC’). 
The short / excess of the Gratuity liability 
as compared to the net fund held by LIC is 
accounted for as liability/ assets as at the 
year end
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4.8	 Taxation
	 Tax expense for the year comprises of Current 

Tax and Deferred Tax.
a.	 Current Tax
	 Current income tax, assets and liabilities 

are measured at the amount expected to 
be paid to or recovered from the taxation 
authorities in accordance with the tax 
regime inserted by the Taxation Laws 
(Amendment) Act, 2019 in the Income Tax 
Act, 1961 and the Income Computation 
and Disclosure Standards (ICDS) enacted 
in India by using tax rates and the tax laws 
that are enacted at the reporting date.  

	 Current tax relating to items recognized 
outside profit or loss is recognized in 
correlation to the underlying transactions 
either in OCI or directly in other equity. 
Management periodically evaluates 
positions taken in the tax returns with 
respect to situations in which the 
applicable tax regulations are subject to 
interpretation and establishes provisions 
where applicable. 

b.	 Deferred Tax
	 Deferred tax is provided using the liability 

method on temporary differences between 
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and 
their carrying amounts for financial reporting 
purposes at the reporting date. Deferred 
tax assets and liabilities are recognized 
for all deductible temporary differences, 
the carry forward of unused tax credits 
and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax 
assets are recognized to the extent that 
it is probable that taxable profit will be 
available against which the deductible 
temporary differences, and the carry 
forward of unused tax credits and unused 
tax losses can be utilized. The carrying 
amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed 
at each reporting date and reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that 
sufficient taxable profit will be available to 
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset 
to be utilized. Unrecognized deferred tax 
assets are re-assessed at each reporting 
date and are recognized to the extent that 
it has become probable that future taxable 
profits will allow the deferred tax asset to 
be recovered. Deferred tax assets and 
liabilities are measured at the tax rates 

that are expected to apply in the year 
when the asset is realized or the liability is 
settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) 
that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted at the reporting date.

4.9	 Provision, contingent liabilities and 
contingent assets
a)	 Provisions
	 Provisions are recognized when the 

Company has a present obligation (legal 
or constructive) as a result of a past 
event, and it is probable that an outflow of 
resources embodying economic benefits 
will be required to settle the obligation 
and a reliable estimate can be made of 
the amount of obligation. Provisions are 
measured at the best estimate of the 
expenditure required to settle the present 
obligation, at the balances sheet date.  

	 If the effect of the time value of money 
is material, provisions are discounted to 
reflect its present value using a current 
pre-tax rate that reflects the current market 
assessments of the time value of money 
and the risks specific to the obligation. 
When discounting is used, the increase in 
the provision due to the passage of time 
is recognized as a finance cost.

b)	 Contingent Liabilities
	 A disclosure for a contingent liability is 

made when there is a possible obligation 
arising from past events, the existence 
of which will be confirmed only by the 
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or 
more uncertain future events not wholly 
within the control of the Company or a 
present obligation arising as a result of 
past event that probably will not require 
an outflow of resources or where a 
reliable estimate of the obligation cannot 
be made.

c)	 Contingent Assets
	 Contingent assets are not recognized 

in the financial statements. However, 
contingent assets are assessed 
continually and if it is virtually certain 
that an inflow of economic benefits will 
arise, the asset and related income are 
recognized in the period in which the 
change occurs.
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4.10	 Earnings per share
	 Basic earnings per equity share is computed 

by dividing net profit/ loss attributable to the 
equity shareholders of the company by the 
weighted average number of equity shares 
outstanding during the financial year.

	 For the purpose of calculating diluted 
earnings per share, the net profit or loss for 
the year attributable to equity shareholders 
and the weighted average number of shares 
outstanding during the year are adjusted 
for the effects of all dilutive potential equity 
shares.

4.11	 Leases
	 The determination of whether an arrangement 

is, or contains, a lease is based on the 
substance of the arrangement at the inception 
of the lease. The arrangement is, or contains, 
a lease if fulfilment of the arrangement is 
dependent on the use of a specific asset or 
assets and the arrangement conveys a right to 
use the asset or assets, even if that right is not 
explicitly specified in an arrangement.

	 The Company has taken certain assets 
on Operating Lease. Operating Lease is a 
contract, which conveys the right to Lessee, 
to control the use of an identified asset for a 
period of time, the lease term, in exchange 
for consideration. The Company assesses 
whether a contract is, or contains, a lease on 
inception.

	 The lease term is either the non-cancellable 
period of the lease and any additional periods 
when there is an enforceable option to extend 
the lease and it is reasonably certain that the 
Company will extend the term, or a lease 
period in which it is reasonably certain that the 
Company will not exercise a right to terminate. 
The lease term is reassessed if there is a 
significant change in circumstances.

	 At commencement, or on the modification, of 
a contract that contains a lease component, 
the Company allocates the consideration in 
the contract to each lease component on the 
basis of its relative stand-alone prices.

	 The Company recognizes a right-of-use 
asset and a lease liability at the lease 
commencement date. The right-of-use asset 
is initially measured at cost, which comprises 
the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted 
for any lease payments made at or before the 

commencement date, plus any initial direct 
costs incurred and an estimate of costs to 
dismantle and remove the underlying asset or 
to restore the underlying asset or the site on 
which it is located, less any lease incentives 
received.

	 The right-of-use asset is amortized / 
depreciated using straight-line method from the 
commencement date to the end of the lease 
term. If the lessor transfers ownership of the 
underlying asset to the Company by the end 
of the lease term or if the Company expects 
to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use 
asset will be depreciated over the useful life 
of the underlying asset, which is determined 
on the same basis as the Company’s other 
property, plant and equipment. Right-of-use 
assets are reduced by impairment losses, if 
any, and adjusted for certain re-measurements 
of the lease liability.

	 The lease liability is initially measured at the 
present value of the total lease payments 
due on the commencement date, discounted 
using either the interest rate implicit in the 
lease, if readily determinable, or more usually, 
an estimate of the Company’s incremental 
borrowing rate on the inception date for a loan 
with similar terms to the lease. The incremental 
borrowing rate is estimated by obtaining 
interest rates from various external financing 
sources.

	 The lease liability is measured at amortized 
cost using the effective interest method. It is 
re-measured when there is a change in future 
lease payments arising from a change in 
an index or rate, if there is a change in the 
Company’s estimate of the amount expected to 
be payable under a residual value guarantee, 
if the Company changes its assessment of 
whether it will exercise a purchase, extension 
or termination option or if there is a revised 
in-substance fixed lease payment. When 
the lease liability is re-measured in this way, 
a corresponding adjustment is made to the 
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is 
recorded in the statement of profit or loss if the 
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has 
been reduced to zero.

	 In accordance with Ind AS 116, the Company 
does not recognize right-of-use assets and 
lease liabilities for leases of low-value assets 
and short-term leases i.e. leases with a lease 
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term of 12 months or less and containing no 
purchase options. Payments associated with 
these leases are recognized as an expense on 
a straight-line basis over the lease term.

4.12	Statement of Cash flows:
	 For the purpose of Standalone Statement 

of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents 
comprise cash on hand, cash at banks, 
short-term deposits with an original maturity 
of three months or less and other short term 
investments, that are readily convertible to 
known amounts of cash and which are subject 
to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

4.13	Impairment of Non-Financial Assets
	 The Company assesses, at each reporting 

date, using external and internal sources, 
whether there is an indication that a non-
financial asset may be impaired and also 
whether there is an indication of reversal of 
impairment loss recognized in the previous 
period/s. If any indication exists, or when annual 
impairment testing for an asset is required, 
the Company determines the recoverable 
amount and impairment loss is recognized 
when the carrying value of an asset exceeds 
its recoverable amount. 

	 The recoverable amount is determined:
-	 in the case of an individual asset, at the higher 

of the asset’s fair value less cost of sell and 
value in use; and

-	 in the case of cash generating unit (a group of 
assets that generates identified, independent 
cash flows) at the higher of the cash generating 
unit’s fair value less cost to sell and value in 
use.

	 In assessing value in use, estimated future 
cash flows are discounted to their present 
value using a pre-tax discount rate that effects 
current market assessments of the time 
value of money and the risks specific to that 
asset. In determining fair value less costs of 
disposal, recent market transactions are taken 
into account. If no such transactions can be 
identified, an appropriate valuation model is 
used. These calculations are corroborated by 
valuation multiples, quoted share prices for 
publicly traded companies or other available 
fair value indicators.

	 An impairment loss for an asset is reversed, 
if and only if, the reversal can be related 

objectively to an event occurring after the 
impairment loss was recognized, the carrying 
amount of an asset is increased to its revised 
recoverable amount, provided that this 
amount does not exceed the carrying amount 
that would have been determined (net of any 
accumulated amortization or depreciation) 
had no impairment loss being recognized for 
the asset in prior year/s. 

4.14	 Fair value measurement 
	 The Company measures its qualifying financial 

instruments at fair value on each Balance 
Sheet date.

	 Fair value is the price that would be received 
against sale of an asset or paid to transfer 
a liability in an orderly transaction between 
market participants at the measurement 
date. The fair value measurement is based 
on the presumption that the transaction to 
sell the asset or transfer the liability takes 
place in the accessible principal market or 
the most advantageous accessible market as 
applicable.

	 The Company uses valuation techniques that 
are appropriate in the circumstances and for 
which sufficient data is available to measure 
fair value, maximizing the use of relevant 
observable inputs and minimizing the use of 
unobservable inputs.

	 All assets and liabilities for which fair value 
is measured or disclosed in the financial 
statements are categorized within the fair 
value hierarchy into Level I, Level II and 
Level III based on the lowest level input that 
is significant to the fair value measurement as 
a whole. For detailed information on the fair 
value hierarchy, refer note no. 32.14.

	 For assets and liabilities that are fair valued in 
the financial statements on a recurring basis, 
the Company determines whether transfers 
have occurred between levels in the hierarchy 
by re-assessing categorization (based on the 
lowest level input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement as a whole) at the end of 
each reporting period.

	 For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the 
Company has determined classes of assets 
and liabilities on the basis of the nature, 
characteristics and risks of the asset or liability 
and the level of the fair value hierarchy.
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5 Cash and cash equivalents As at  
31 March, 2024

As at  
31 March, 2023

Cash on hand 44.45 5.98 
Balances with banks - in current accounts (Refer note 5.1) 400.03 113.81 
Drafts on Hand 80.13  - 

Total  524.61  119.79 

5.1 Includes Rs. 75.30 lakhs (Previous year: Rs. 75.30 lakhs) lien marked by a Bank. (Refer note 17.6).

6 Bank balances other than Cash and cash equivalents As at  
31 March, 2024

As at  
31 March, 2023

Balances with banks - in unpaid dividend account  - 0.48 
Total  -  0.48 

7 Loans As at  
31 March, 2024

As at  
31 March, 2023

At amortised cost
a. Secured term loans 12,138.70  12,298.95 
b. Unsecured term loans 1,299.72  1,483.35 
c. Unsecured term loan to a subsidiary 1,489.82  1,497.06 

Total - Gross 14,928.24 15,279.36 
Less: Impairment loss allowance 8,779.30  8,340.78 
Total - Net 6,148.94  6,938.58 

7.1 Break-up of Secured/Unsecured loans
a. Secured by Tangible assets 12,138.70  12,298.95 

Less: Impairment loss allowance 7,496.58  7,193.47 
Secured - net 4,642.12  5,105.48 

b. Unsecured 2,789.54  2,980.41 
Less: Impairment loss allowance 1,282.72  1,147.31 
Unsecured - net 1,506.82  1,833.10 

Total (a+b) 6,148.94  6,938.58 

7.2 Break-up of Loans In India/Outside India
a. Loans in India

i. Public Sector - - 
ii. Others 14,928.24  15,279.36 

Less: Impairment loss allowance 8,779.30  8,340.78 
6,148.94  6,938.58 

b. Loans outside India - - 

Total (a+b) 6,148.94  6,938.58 
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8 Investments As at  
31 March, 2024

As at  
31 March, 2023

i. Investment in Subsidiary
(At Cost)

- Amulet Technologies Limited 770.37  770.37 
  Less: Impairment loss allowance (Refer note 28 & 32.21)  (770.37) - 

Total - i  - 770.37 

ii. Investment in Equity Instruments
(At amortised cost)

- Pantec Devices Private Limited 1.16 1.16 
- Pantec Consultants Private Limited 1.01 1.01 
- Intec Worldwide Private Limited 0.86 0.86 
- Spherical Collection Agency (P) Ltd. 1.11 1.11 
- Intec Share & Stock Brokers Limited 2.26 2.26 
- Spectacle Advisory Solutions Pvt. Ltd. 0.44 0.44 
Total - ii  6.84 6.84 
Total Investments - i + ii  6.84 777.21 
Out of above

In India 6.84  777.21 
Outside India  - - 

8.1 Information about Subsidiary is given below:
Name of the Company and Country of 

Incorporation
 Principal  
Activities 

Proportion (%) of Shareholding* 
As at  

31 March, 2024
As at  

31 March, 2023
Amulet Technologies Limited, India Consultancy, Advisory and 

related service in Information 
Technology

100% 100%

* including 6 shares held by nominee shareholders.

9 Other financial assets As at  
31 March, 2024

As at  
31 March, 2023

Security deposits 9.63 18.75 
Interest accured and due on loans 316.57 442.80 
Less: Impairment loss allowance  (53.27)  - 
Interest accured but not due on loans  - 0.09 
Advances to employees 24.20 2.11 
Balance with government authorities 172.62 154.98 
Other advances  - 1.01 

Total  469.75  619.74 

10 Current tax assets (net) As at  
31 March, 2024

As at  
31 March, 2023

Tax deducted at source 3.66 3.66 

Total  3.66  3.66 
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11 Deferred tax assets (net) As at  
31 March, 2024

As at  
31 March, 2023

i. Reconciliation of tax expenses and profit/loss before tax 
multiplied by corporate tax rate  
Loss before tax  1,691.67  1,800.17 
At corporate tax rate of 25.168%  -  - 
Tax (credit) / impact on timinig differences (322.57) 863.52 
Tax (credit) / expense (322.57)  863.52 

ii. Deferred tax assets recorded in Balance Sheet As at  
31 March, 2024

As at  
31 March, 2023

Deferred tax assets:
- Impairment on financial instruments  2,416.87  2,099.21 
- Lease liabilities 17.81 18.11 
- Depreciation and amortisation 7.56 8.52 
- Provision for employee benefits 4.38  - 
Gross deferred tax assets 2,446.62 2,125.84 

Deferred tax liabilities:
- Right-of-use assets 14.18 14.42 
- Financial instruments measured at EIR 187.60 187.68 
- Provision for employee benefits  - 0.76 
Gross deferred tax liabilities  201.78  202.86 
Deferred tax assets (net) 2,244.84 1,922.98 

iii. Changes in deferred tax assets recorded in statement of 
profit or loss (Refer note 32.21 & 32.22)

As at  
31 March, 2024

As at  
31 March, 2023

Deferred tax relates to the following:
- Impairment on financial instruments  (317.66) 866.06 
- Financial instruments measured at EIR (0.08) (2.48)
- Depreciation and amortisation 0.96 0.83 
- Right-of-use assets (0.24) (9.56)
- Lease liabilities 0.30 9.85 
- Provision for employee benefits (5.85) (1.18)

(322.57)  863.52 

iv. Changes in deferred tax assets recorded in other 
comprehensive income

As at  
31 March, 2024

As at  
31 March, 2023

Deferred tax relates to the following:
- Re-measurement gain on defined benefit plan (net of Tax) 0.71 0.73 

 0.71  0.73 
Total (321.86)  864.25 
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12 Property, Plant and Equipment (As at 31 March, 2024) 
Gross block Accumulated depreciation  Net Block 

 Particulars  As at  
01 April, 

2023 

Additions Deductions / 
adjustments

 As at  
31 March, 

2024 

 As at  
01 

April, 
2023 

Depreciation/  Deductions 
/ 

adjustments

 As at  
31 March, 

2024 

 As at  
31 March, 

2024 

 As at  
31 March, 

2023  amortisation 

a. Property, 
Plant and 
Equipment 
Vehicles  46.94  - 3.21  43.73 38.63 1.47  -  40.10  3.63 8.31 
Office 
equipment 

 10.64  - 0.02  10.62 8.51 0.87  -  9.38  1.24 2.13 

Data 
processing 
equipments 

 39.51 0.40 3.19  36.72 23.64 4.82 3.19  25.27  11.45 15.87 

Furniture and 
fixtures 

 10.52  - -  10.52 0.85 0.96  -  1.81  8.71 9.67 

Leasehold 
improvements 

 1.09  - - 1.09 1.09 -  -  1.09 -  - 

Electric 
installations 

 0.65  - - 0.65 0.24 0.08  -  0.32  0.33 0.41 

Air 
conditioners 

 4.65  - - 4.65 2.89 0.24  -  3.13  1.52 1.76 

Land  4.82 4.82  - -  - -  4.82 4.82 
Total - 
Current Year 

118.82  0.40 6.42 112.80  75.85 8.44  3.19 81.10 31.70  42.97 

12 Property, Plant and Equipment and Capital work-in-progress (As at 31 March, 2023) 
 Particulars Gross block Accumulated depreciation  Net Block 

 As at  
01 April, 

2022 

 
Additions 

 Deductions / 
adjustments

 As at  
31 March, 

2023 

 As at  
01 

April, 
2022 

Depreciation/  Deductions 
/ 

adjustments

 As at  
31 March, 

2023 

 As at  
31 March, 

2023 

 As at  
31 March, 

2022  amortisation 

 a. Property, 
Plant and 
Equipment 
Vehicles  46.94  - -  46.94 36.39 2.24  -  38.63  8.31 10.55 
Office 
equipment 

 9.65 0.99 -  10.64 7.30 1.21  -  8.51  2.13 2.35 

Data 
processing 
equipments 

 32.58 8.12 1.19  39.51 16.06 8.72 1.14  23.64  15.87 16.52 

Furniture and 
fixtures 

 2.45 8.07 -  10.52 0.46 0.39  -  0.85  9.67 1.99 

Leasehold 
improvements 

 1.09  - - 1.09 0.98 0.11  -  1.09 - 0.11 

Electric 
installations 

 0.77  - 0.12 0.65 0.17 0.07  -  0.24  0.41 0.60 

Air 
conditioners 

 4.65  - - 4.65 2.54 0.35  -  2.89  1.76 2.11 

Land  4.82 4.82  - -  - -  4.82 4.82 
Total - (A)  102.95  17.18 1.31 118.82  63.90 13.09  1.14 75.85 42.97  39.05 
b. Capital 
Work in 
Progress  

 0.35  - 0.35 -  - -  - - - 0.35 

Grand Total - 
Previous Year 

103.30  17.18 1.66 118.82  63.90 13.09  1.14 75.85 42.97  39.40 



CAPITAL LIMITED
intec

Sapne Aapke, Bharosa Apno Ka

ANNUAL REPORT 2023-24 81

Notes forming part of the Standalone Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March, 2024
(All amounts in Indian Rupees (Rs.) in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

Note 12.1 : Refer para 4.5 of Material Accounting Policies for depreciation on property, plant and equipment. 

13. Intangible Assets (As at 31 March, 2024) 

Particulars Gross block Accumulated amortization Net Block 
As at Additions Deductions / 

adjustments
As at As at Amortisation Deductions / 

adjustments
As at As at As at

01 April, 
2023 

31 
March, 
2024 

01 April, 
2023 

31 
March, 
2024 

31 
March, 
2024 

31 
March, 
2023 

Computer 
software 

 71.86  -  - 71.86  55.71 4.22  -  59.93  11.93  16.15 

Total  71.86  -  -  71.86 55.71  4.22  - 59.93 11.93 16.15 

Intangible Assets (As at 31 March, 2023) 
Particulars Gross block Accumulated amortization  Net Block 

 As at  Additions  Deductions 
/ 

adjustments

 As at  As at  Amortisation  Deductions 
/ 

adjustments

 As at  As at  As at
 01 April, 

2022 
31 

March, 
2023 

 01 April, 
2022 

31 
March, 
2023 

31 
March, 
2023 

31 
March, 
2022 

Computer 
software 

 71.86  -  -  71.86  50.51 5.20  -  55.71  16.15  21.35 

Total  71.86  -  -  71.86 50.51  5.20  - 55.71 16.15 21.35 

13.1 : Refer para 4.6 of Material  Accounting Policies for amortisation on intangible assets. 

14. Right-of-use Assets (As at 31 March, 2024) 
Particulars Gross block Accumulated amortization  Net Block 

 As at  Additions  Deductions 
/ 

adjustments

 As at As at  Amortisation  Deductions 
/ 

adjustments

 As at  As at  As at
 01 April, 

2023 
31 

March, 
2024 

 1 April, 
2023 

31 
March, 
2024 

31 
March, 
2024 

 31 
March, 
2023 

Premises  140.04  32.77  58.34  114.47  82.73  24.11  48.71  58.13  56.34  57.31 
Total 140.04  32.77 58.34  114.47 82.73 24.11 48.71 58.13 56.34 57.31 

Right-of-use Assets (As at 31 March, 2023) 
Particulars Gross block Accumulated amortization  Net Block 

 As at  Additions  Deductions 
/ 

adjustments

 As at  As at  Amortisation  Deductions 
/ 

adjustments

 As at  As at  As at
 01 April, 

2022 
31 

March, 
2023 

 01 April, 
2022 

31 
March, 
2023 

31 
March, 
2023 

31 
March, 
2022 

Premises  153.21  -  13.17  140.04  57.92  25.23 0.42  82.73  57.31  95.29 
Total 153.21  - 13.17  140.04 57.92 25.23  0.42 82.73 57.31 95.29 

14.1 : Refer para 4.5 of Material Accounting Policies for amortization of Right-of-use-Assets. 

15 Other non-financial assets Note As at  
31 March, 2024

As at  
31 March, 2023

Prepaid expenses  7.99  9.67 
Plan Assets of employee benefits (Net of provision) - Gratuity 32.3  6.37 

Total  7.99  16.04 
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16 Non-current assets held for sale As at  
31 March, 2024

As at  
31 March, 2023

Assets held for sale  122.93  122.93 

Total  122.93  122.93 

16.1 Company has acquired certain properties on settlement of loan dues from its borrowers which has been classified as 
held for sale and is being measured at the lower of carrying value or fair value less cost to sell. Fair market value of 
these properties is estimated at Rs. 269.42 lakhs based on valuation conducted by a registered valuer. 

17 Borrowings 
(At amortised cost)

Note As at  
31 March, 2024

As at  
31 March, 2023

Secured
i. Term Loans from Banks 17.1 & 

17.3
 837.04  851.27 

ii. Working Capital Loans from Banks 17.2 & 
17.3

 4,453.22  4,477.54 

Unsecured
i. Inter-corporate Deposits from a related party 17.5  198.39  -   
Total  5,488.65  5,328.81 

Borrowings in India  5,488.65  5,328.81 
Borrowings outside India  -    -   
Total  5,488.65  5,328.81 

17.1 Terms of security and repayment are given below:
As at 31 March, 2024

Particulars Maturity pattern
0-1 years 1-2 years 2-3 years Total

Term Loans

 Refer note 17.3 below 

(i) Secured by hypothecation of loan receivables  
(also refer note- 17.1.1)"
- for loans taken from banks 
(Interest rates range between 10.50%- 15.00% per annum)"
Total 

	 As at 31 March, 2023
Particulars Maturity pattern

0-1 years 1-2 years 2-3 years Total
Term Loans

 Refer note 17.3 below 
(i) Secured by hypothecation of loan receivables  
(also refer note- 17.1.1)
- for loans taken from banks 
   (Interest rates range between 10.50%- 15.00% per annum)

17.1.1 Loans also guaranteed by Managing Director
- loans of Rs. 837.04 lakhs (31.03.2023: Rs. 851.27 lakhs) also secured by personal guarantee of Managing Director.	

				  
17.2 Terms of Security and Interest Rates for Working Capital Loans:
(i) Working Capital loans from banks are secured by :

(a)  Primary Security- first pari passu charge on present and future receivables of the Company.
(b) Collateral Security - Immovable properties belonging to promoter & others.
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(c) Personal guarantees of Managing Director and relative of Managing Director.
(d) Corporate guarantee of Bubble Infosolution Private Limited (Company in which Managing Director of the Company 

is a director) and Amulet Technologies Limited, Subsidary of the Company)				  
(ii) Interest rates on above loans range between 11.65 % - 15.00 % per annum (31.03.2023: 11.65% - 15.00%).		

		
17.3 Details of Default in repayment of Borrowings as at 31 March, 2024 is given below:
(i) Term loans:

Name of Bank NPA Date Total 
Outstanding 

as at 31 
March, 2024

Amount of  
Interest 

accrued and 
debited by 
the banks

Amount of  
Interest 

accrued but 
not debited 

by the banks

Total Default 
(Installments 

& interest)

Punjab National Bank (Ex- United Bank 
of India)

31.03.2022 559.15 304.75 49.95 913.85

Bank of India 30.09.2020 277.89 32.73 187.95 498.57
Total 837.04 337.48 237.90 1412.42

(ii) Cash Credit Loans from Banks:

Name of Bank NPA Date  Total 
Outstanding 

as at 31 
March, 2024 

 Amount of  
Interest 

accrued and 
debited by 
the banks 

 Amount of  
Interest 

accrued but 
not debited 

by the banks 

 Total Default 
(Installments 

& interest) 

Punjab National Bank 16.06.2019 1069.45 1437.28  -   2506.73
Punjab National Bank (Ex- Oriental Bank 
of Commerce)

02.08.2019 485.06 308.66  -   793.72

Indian Overseas Bank 30.09.2019 1534.85 208.88 1141.24 2884.97
Central Bank of India 30.11.2019 907.19  -   737.64 1644.83
Bank of India 30.06.2019 606.37  -   609.68 1216.05
Total 4602.92 1954.82 2488.56 9046.30
Less: Held with Banks under no lien 
account (Refer note 17.6)

149.70  -    -   149.70

Total Cash Credit Loans 4453.24 1954.82 2488.56 8896.60

17.4 The Company has availed term loans and working capital facilities from various banks, however, slow down of 
its lending business and increased level of non-performing / impaired loan portfolio, has impacted its cash flow / 
liquidity, and the Company is un-able to service term loans and working capital facilities including interest thereon 
to certain banks as detailed in para 17.3 above. As the proposals for restructuring / settlement submitted by the 
Company was not accepted by the banks, and as in view of the Company the same was not justifiable considering 
the present financial and business compulsions of the Company, it is in talks with the banks for reconsideration of 
their decision and has also approached the Hon’ble Delhi High Court for necessary relief in the regard. The matter is 
sub-judice. As the Company is reasonably hopeful that its proposals for restructuring / settlement which include the 
waiver / reduction of interest will be finally approved / accepted, interest of Rs. 5,018.76 lakhs i.e. Rs. 1,459.32 lakhs 
for the current year and Rs. 3,559.44 lakhs for the period upto 31 March, 2023, though accrued on these loans, has 
not been provided in these financial statements.
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17.5 Unsecured credit facilities (including interest accrued but not due of Rs. 5.68 lakhs, TDS of Rs. 0.63 is deducted) 
obtained from a related party and carries interest rate of 15.00% per annum for a tenor of maximum 36 months with 
maturity due in September, 2026, balance of loan as on 31st March 2024 is Rs. 198.39 lakhs. These facilities have 
been obtained for utilizing for day-to-day business operational payments as Bank accounts of the Company are 
freezed by the Borrower Banks since July, 2023. 					   

17.6  Amount of Rs. 225.00 lakhs held under lien with Banks i.e. Rs. 149.70 lakhs held under no lien account and Rs. 
75.30 lakhs has been lien marked by a Bank (Refer note 5.1). 					   

18 Other financial liabilities Note As at  
31 March, 2024

As at  
31 March, 2023

Interest accrued on outstanding dues of micro enterprises and 
small enterprises 

18.1  1.58  -   

Unclaimed dividends  -    0.48 
Payable to customers (borrowers)  24.75  27.83 
Payable to employees  238.71  130.91 
Accrued expenses and payables 18.1  198.34  139.29 
Total  463.38  298.51 

18.1 Disclosure for dues for micro enterprises and small enterprises refer para 32.2.
19 Provisions Note As at  

31 March, 2024
As at  

31 March, 2023
For employee benefits: 32.3
  - Leave encashment  2.72  3.33 
  - Gratuity (net of plan assets)  14.67  -   

Total  17.39  3.33 

20 Other non-financial liabilities As at  
31 March, 2024

As at  
31 March, 2023

Statutory dues payable  39.11  18.01 

Total  39.11  18.01 

21 Equity Share Capital
Particulars As at  

31 March, 2024
As at  

31 March, 2023
Authorised share capital
Equity Shares:
3,50,00,000 equity shares of Rs. 10 each  3,500.00  3,500.00 
Preference Shares:
15,00,000 preference shares of Rs. 100 each  1,500.00  1,500.00 

 5,000.00  5,000.00 
Issued, subscribed and fully paid-up
Equity Shares:
1,83,66,250 equity shares of Rs. 10 each fully paid up  1,836.63  1,836.63 
Total  1,836.63  1,836.63 
Notes:
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21.1 Reconciliation of number of shares outstanding at the beginning and at the end of the year
Particulars As at As at

31 March, 2024 31 March, 2023
No. of Shares Amount No. of Shares Amount

Equity shares
Balance at the beginning of the year  1,83,66,250  1,836.63  1,83,66,250  1,836.63 
Balance as at end of the year  1,83,66,250  1,836.63  1,83,66,250  1,836.63 

21.2 Rights, preferences and restrictions attached to each class of shares
The Company has only one class of Equity Share having par value of Rs. 10 per share. Each shareholder is eligble 
for one vote per share held. All Equity Shareholders are entitled to receive dividend as declared from time to time. 
The voting rights cannot be exercised in respect of shares on which any call or other sums presently payable have 
not been paid. In the event of liquidation, the equity shareholders are eligible to receive the remaining assets of the 
Company in proportion of their shareholding.				 

21.3 Detail of shareholders holding more than 5% of the aggregate shares in the Company:
Particulars As at As at

31 March, 2024 31 March, 2023
Shareholders No. of Shares % age of  

share holding 
No. of Shares % age of  

share holding 
Equity Shares

Pantec Devices Private Limited  44,97,264 24.49%  44,97,264 24.49%

India Business Excellence Fund-IIA  35,20,062 19.17%  36,35,958 19.80%

India Business Excellence Fund-II  22,06,208 12.01%  22,77,972 12.40%

Pantec Consultant Private Limited  14,53,771 7.92%  14,53,771 7.92%

Sanjeev Goel (Including shares held in IBEF - 
II Escrow account)

 12,44,464 6.77%  12,44,464 6.77%

21.4 Details of Shareholding of Promoter/s:

Shares held by promoter/s at the end of the year % age change during 
S.No. Promoter name No. of Shares % age of  

total shares
31 March, 2024 31 March, 2023

1.   Pantec Devices Private Limited  44,97,264 24.49% No change No change

2.   India Business Excellence Fund-IIA  35,20,062 19.17% (-) 3.19% (-) 0.05%

3.   India Business Excellence Fund-II  22,06,208 12.01% (-) 3.15% (-) 0.04%

4.   Pantec Consultant Private Limited  14,53,771 7.92% No change No change

5.   Intec Worldwide Private Limited  5,19,267 2.82% No change No change

6.   Sanjeev Goel (Including held in IBEF - II 
Escrow account)

 12,44,464 6.77% No change No change

7.   Pranav Goel  32,900 0.18% No change No change

8.   Dhruv Goel  32,900 0.18% No change No change
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22 Other Equity
Particulars As at  

31 March, 2024
As at  

31 March, 2023
Securities premium
As per last account 8,843.84 8,843.84 
Statutory Reserve as per Section 45-IC of 
RBI Act.
As per last account 1,868.50 1,868.50 
Impairment Reserve
As per last account  2,546.93  2,326.44 
(Reduction) / Addition during the year (Refer 
Note 32.17)

 -    220.49 

Closing Balance  2,546.93  2,546.93 
Retained earnings
As per last account (10,178.90) (7,294.72)
(Loss) for the year (1,369.10) (2,663.69)
(Appropriation) to Impairment Reserve  -    (220.49)
Closing Balance (11,548.00) (10,178.90)
Other Comprehensive Income / (loss) - Re-measurement gains on defined 
benefit plan
As per last account 0.23 (1.96)
Addition during the year (net of tax) 2.10 2.19 
Closing Balance 2.33 0.23 
Total  1,713.60  3,080.60 

22.1 Nature and purpose of other equity:
i Security Premium

Securities premium is used to record the premium on issue of shares. It can be utilised only for limited purposes in 
accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013				  

ii Statutory Reserve as per Section 45-IC(1) of RBI Act, 1934
Reserve fund is created as per the terms of section 45-IC(1) of the Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934 as a statutory 
reserve.

iii Impairment Reserve
Reserve Bank of India (RBI) issued Notification No. DOR (NBFC).CC.PD.No.109/22.10.106/2019-20 dated 13 
March, 2020 in respect of ‘Implementation of Indian Accounting Standards’ by NBFCs. In terms of the said circular, 
in case where the impairment allowance under Ind AS 109 is lower than the provisioning required under Income 
Recognition, Asset Classification and Provisioning (IRACP) Norms (including standard asset provisioning) issued by 
RBI, the Company is required to appropriate the difference from their net profit after tax to “Impairment Reserve”. No 
withdrawals are permitted from this reserve without prior permission from the Department of Supervision, RBI. Refer 
Note. 32.17 in respect of the disclosure in respect of comparison between impairment allowance and provisioning 
under IRACP Norms.  				  

iv Retained Earnings
The profit / loss earned till date, less any transfers/appropriations to any other reserve, dividends or other distribution 
paid to shareholders. 				  

v Other Comprehensive Income / (Loss)
The other comprehensive income / (loss) till date, which is available for set off or adjustable only against such 
income/loss in future.

23 Interest income For the year ended  
31 March, 2024

For the year ended  
31 March, 2023

Interest income on:
- loans  265.28  316.32 
- financial instruments  1.02  146.55 

Total  266.30  462.87 
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24 Fees and commission income For the year ended  
31 March, 2024

For the year ended  
31 March, 2023

Income on preclosure of loans  -    1.10 
Other service fees  0.18  0.71 

Total  0.18  1.81 

25 Recoveries of financial assets written off For the year ended  
31 March, 2024

For the year ended  
31 March, 2023

Recoveries of financial assets written off  107.16  359.84 

Total  107.16  359.84 

26 Other income For the year ended  
31 March, 2024

For the year ended  
31 March, 2023

Liabilities no longer required written back  1.62  158.48 
Gain on cessation of lease liability  2.31  -   
Profit on disposal of property, plant & equipment (net)  0.25  0.12 
Miscellaneous Income  1.86  2.16 
Total  6.04  160.76 

27 Finance costs Note For the year ended  
31 March, 2024

For the year ended  
31 March, 2023

On financial liabilities measured at amortised cost:
- on borrowings - inter-corporate deposits 17.5  6.31  -   
- on borrowings - CC from banks 17.4  -    3.58 
- on borrowings - car loan from bank  -    0.02 
- on outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small 
enterprises 

32.2  1.58  -   

- on lease liabilities 32.6  11.18  10.75 
Other borrowing costs  3.20  0.80 
Total  22.27  15.15 

28 Impairment on financial instruments For the year ended  
31 March, 2024

For the year ended  
31 March, 2023

(Measured at amortised cost)
Loans written off (including interest) 32.21  -    5,080.47 
Less: Impairment loss allowance  -    

(4,026.86)
Impairment loss allowance on:
- loans (including interest accrued)  451.14  585.72 
- investment in and loan to a Subsidiary 32.21  811.01  -   

Total  1,262.15  1,639.33 
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29 Employee benefits expenses For the year ended  
31 March, 2024

For the year ended  
31 March, 2023

Salaries and wages  350.65  493.27 
Contribution to provident and other funds  8.70  10.39 
Staff welfare expenses  12.21  14.16 

Total  371.56  517.82 

30 Depreciation and amortization Note For the year ended  
31 March, 2024

For the year ended  
31 March, 2023

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 12  8.44  13.09 
Amortization of intangible assets 13  4.22  5.20 
Amortization of right-of-use assets 14  24.11  25.23 

Total  36.77  43.52 

31 Other expenses For the year ended  
31 March, 2024

For the year ended  
31 March, 2023

Rent  9.98  4.19 

Insurance  10.68  9.19 

Legal & professional  226.07  339.79 

Payment to Auditors:

- Statutory Audit  5.50  5.50 

- Tax Audit  1.00  1.00 

- Limited Reviews  3.00  3.00 

- Other services  0.47  0.46 

- Reimbursement of expenses  0.66  0.17 

Rates & taxes  0.89  -   

Electricity & water  15.95  15.99 

Directors' sitting fees  2.75  2.38 

Repairs & maintenance  12.57  32.44 

Communication and internet  11.41  11.54 

Travelling & conveyance  33.37  58.91 

Business promotion  13.97  47.90 

Capital Work in Progress written off  -    0.35 

Other expenditure  30.33  36.82 

Total  378.60  569.63 
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32	 OTHER NOTES FORMING PART OF THE STANDALONE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR 
ENDED 31 MARCH, 2024

32.1	 Contingent Liabilities and Commitments:

Sr.
No.

Particulars As at
31 March, 2024

As at
31 March, 2023

A. Contingent Liabilities
i. Claims against the Company not acknowledged as debts. Few customers / borrowers of the Company have filed 

legal cases for various claims against the Company. The 
Company has reviewed these pending litigations and 
proceedings and does not expect any material out flow / 
reimbursement in respect of the same.

B. Commitments
i. Loan approved but pending disbursements. Nil Nil

32.2	 Disclosure required under Section 22 of Micro, Small and Medium Enterprise Development Act, 2006:
As at

31 March, 2024
As at 

31 March, 2023
i.	 Principal amount and interest due thereon remaining unpaid to any 

supplier covered under MSMED Act.

-	 Principal 18.90 3.11
-	 Interest 1.58 -

ii.   Amount of interest paid by the Company in terms of Section 16 of the 
MSMED Act, 2006, along with the amount of the payment made to the 
supplier beyond the appointed day during each accounting year.

- -

iii. The amount of interest due and payable for the period of delay in making 
payment (which have been paid but beyond the appointed day during 
the year) but without adding the interest specified under MSMED Act.

- -

iv.	 The amount of interest accrued and remaining unpaid. - -
v. The amount of further interest remaining due and payable even in the 

succeeding years, until such date when the interest dues as above are 
actually paid to the small enterprise for the purpose of disallowance as a 
deductible expenditure under Section 23 of MSMED Act, 2006

- -

Total 20.48 3.11

	 The above information regarding dues to Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises has been determined to the extent 
such parties have been identified on the basis of information collected with the Company.

32.3	 Employee Benefits (Ind AS-19)
(a)	 Defined Benefit plans:

	 Gratuity  : Payable on separation as per the Payment of Gratuity Act, 1972, as amended @ 15 days pay, for 
each completed year of service to eligible employees who render continuous service of 5 years or more. The 
Company’s liability towards Gratuity is funded / managed by Life Insurance Corporation of India (LIC).

(b)	 Other Long-Term Benefit:

	 Compensated Absences : Employees of the Company are entitled to accumulate their earned/privilege leave 
up to a maximum of 30 days which can be availed / utilized in coming year/s, while in service. During the 
current year the amount of Rs. 0.61 lakhs has been credited (previous year: Rs. 0.49 lakhs has been debited) 
in the Statement of Profit and Loss towards reversal of the excess provision based on actuarial valuation.
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(c)	 Defined Contribution plans:

	 Company’s employees are covered by Provident Fund and Employees State Insurance Scheme, to which the 
Company makes a defined contribution measured as a fixed percentage of salary. During the year, amount of 
Rs. 8.39 lakhs (Previous Year: Rs. 10.03 lakhs) has been charged to the Statement of Profit and Loss towards 
employer’s contribution to these schemes/funds as under:

Particulars Year ended 31 
March, 2024

Year ended 31 
March, 2023

Employer’s contribution towards Provident Fund (PF) 7.53 8.93
Employer’s contribution towards Employees State Insurance (ESI) 0.86 1.10

(d)	 Other disclosures of Defined Benefit plan (Gratuity) are as under:
i)	 Reconciliation of Defined Benefit Obligations:

Particulars Year ended 31 
March, 2024

Year ended 31 
March, 2023

Present Value of Defined Benefit Obligation at the beginning of year 28.29 27.26
Interest cost 2.09            1.86
Current Service Cost 4.49 4.90
Benefit Paid (2.43)
Actuarial (Gain)/Loss arising from Change in Financial Assumptions 0.59 (1.24)
Actuarial (Gain) arising from Change in Demographic Assumptions -
Actuarial (Gain)/Loss arising from Changes in Experience 
Adjustments (4.97) (2.06)

Present value of the Defined Benefit Obligation at the end of year 30.49 28.29

ii)	 Net Defined Benefit recognized in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

Particulars Year ended
31 March, 2024

Year ended
31 March, 2023

Current Service Cost 4.49 4.90
Interest cost (net of return)    (0.68)    (0.70)
Net Defined Benefit recognized in Statement of Profit and Loss 3.81 4.20

iii)	 Recognized in Other Comprehensive Income/(loss)

Particulars Year ended
31 March, 2024

Year ended
31 March, 2023

Actuarial Gain/(Loss) on arising from Change in Financial Assumption (0.59) 1.24
Actuarial Gain/(Loss) on arising from Change in Demographic 
Assumption

- -

Actuarial Gain/(Loss) on arising from Changes in Experience 
Adjustments

4.97 2.06

Actuarial Gain/(Loss) on Plan Assets (1.57) (0.38)
Net actuarial (Loss)/Gain 2.81 2.92

iv)	 Reconciliation of the opening and closing balances of fair value of Plan Assets

Particulars Year ended
31 March, 2024

Year ended
31 March, 2023

Fair value of Plan Assets at the beginning of year 34.66 34.91
Expected return on plan Assets 2.76 2.56
Employer’s Contribution - -
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Return on Plan Assets excluding interest income  (1.57)  (0.38)
Benefits paid - (2.43)
Transfer in/(out) plan assets (20.03) -
Fair value of Plan Assets at the end of year 15.82 34.66

v)	 Net Defined Benefit Assets / (Liability) recognized in the Balance Sheet
Particulars Year ended

31 March, 2024
Year ended

31 March, 2023
Present value of the Defined Benefit Obligation at the end of year (30.49) (28.29)
Fair value of Plan Assets at the end of year 15.82 34.66
Net Defined Benefit Assets/(Liability) recognized in the Balance 
Sheet

(14.67) 6.37

vi)	 Broad categories of Plan Assets as percentage of total assets

Particulars Year ended
31 March, 2024

Year ended
31 March, 2023

Insurer Managed Funds 100% 100%

vii)	 Sensitivity Analysis*
a)	 Impact of the change in the discount rate

Particulars Year ended
31 March, 2024

Year ended
31 March, 2023

Present value of the Defined Benefit Obligation at the end of year 30.49 28.29
a) Impact due to increase of 0.50% (Previous year: 0.50%) (1.16) (1.17)
b) Impact due to decrease of 0.50% (Previous Year: 0.50%) 1.22 1.24

b)	 Impact of the change in the salary increase

Particulars Year ended
31 March, 2024

Year ended
31 March, 2023

Present value of the Defined Benefit Obligation at the end of year 30.49 28.29
a) Impact due to increase of 0.50% (Previous year: 0.50%) 0.92 0.95
b) Impact due to decrease of 0.50% (Previous year: 0.50%) (0.89) (0.89)

*	 Sensitivities due to mortality & withdrawals are not material & hence impact of change not calculated.
* 	 Sensitivities as to rate of inflation, rate of increase of pension in payment, rate of increase of pensions 

before retirement & life expectancy are not applicable being a lump sum benefit on retirement.
viii.	 Maturity Profile.

Year Year ended
31 March, 2024

Year ended
31 March, 2023

0 to 1 year 1.3% 1.4%
1 to 2 Year 2.3% 1.4%
2 to 3 Year 6.0% 2.0%
3 to 4 Year 2.5% 5.7%
4 to 5 Year 10.9% 2.4%

5 Year onwards 22.1% 25.1%

ix.	 Expected contribution for the next Annual reporting period
Particulars Year ended

31 March, 2024
Year ended

31 March, 2023
Expected contribution for the next Annual reporting period 3.82 5.56
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x.	 Actuarial Assumptions:
	 The principal assumptions are the discount rate and salary increase. The discount rate is based upon the 

market yields available on Government bonds at the accounting date with a term that matches that of the 
Liabilities and the salary increase takes account of inflation, seniority, promotion and other relevant factors on 
long term basis. Principal assumptions used for actuarial valuation are:

Particulars Gratuity  Compensated Absences
Year ended

31 March, 2024
Year ended

31 March, 2023
Year ended

31 March, 2024
Year ended

31 March, 2023
Method used Projected unit credit method
Discount rate 7.20% 7.45% 7.20% 7.45%
Salary Escalation 6.00% 6.00% 6.00% 6.00%
Mortality Rate IALM (2012-14)
Rate of return on plan Assets 7.20% 7.45% NA NA

	 Withdrawal Rates Per Annum
Age Band Year ended

31 March, 2024
Year ended

31 March, 2023
25 & below 1.00% 1.00%
25 to 35 24.00% 24.00%
35 to 45 8.00% 8.00%
45 to 55 2.00% 2.00%
55 & above 1.00% 1.00%

32.4	 Operating Segments (Ind AS – 108): 
	 The Company is primarily engaged only in the business of providing loans to Small and Medium Enterprises (‘SME’) 

customers and has no overseas operations/units and as such, no segment reporting is required under Ind AS- 108 
dealing with the Segment Reporting.

32.5	 Related Party Disclosures (Ind AS-24):
A.	 List of Related Parties and relationships, having transactions during the year: 
a)	 Subsidiary Company
	 Amulet Technologies Limited
b)	 Key Management Personnel’s
	 Mr. Sanjeev Goel, Managing Director
	 Vinod Kumar, Chief Finance Officer (w.e.f. 13th February, 2024)
	 Rajesh Sharma, Chief Finance Officer (w.e.f. 08 February, 2023 and upto 15 November, 2023)
	 Neeti Kakkar, Chief Finance Officer (w.e.f. 5 August, 2022 and upto 13 January, 2023)
	 Radhika Rautela, Chief Finance Officer (upto 26 May, 2022)
	 Radhika Garg, Company Secretary (w.e.f. 12 November, 2022)
	 Vandana Das, Company Secretary (upto 22 September, 2022)
c)	 Relatives of Key Management Personnel
	 Pranav Goel, Son of Managing Director
	 Dhruv Goel, Son of Managing Director
d)	 Enterprise over which Key Management Personnel exercises significant influence
	 Bubble Info Solutions Private Limited
	 Modern Credit Private Limited
e)	 Investing party in respect of which the Company is an associate
	 Pantec Devices Private Limited
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A.	 Transactions with Related Parties
Nature of Transaction Subsidiary Company Investing party in respect 

of which the Company is 
an associate

Key Management 
Personnel and 

Relatives
Year ended 31 March

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
Remuneration paid
a)	 Key Management Personnel’s
b)	 Relatives of Key Management 

Personnel

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

13.25
39.32

145.42
26.32

Loans and Advances (received 
back)/ given (net)
Amulet Technologies Limited (7.24) (26.74) - - - -
Inter-Corporate deposit received 
(net)
Modern Credit Private Limited 
(including interest and net of TDS)

-  - 198.39 - - -

Sitting Fees paid
Sanjeev Goel (excluding GST) - - - - - 0.50
Interest Income on loans
Pantec Devices Private Limited - - 2.25 2.25 - -
Finance Cost
Modern Credit Private Limited - - 6.31 - - -

B.	 Year end balances with related parties:
As at

31 March, 2024
As at

31 March, 2023
Loans and Advances given
Amulet Technologies Limited (Subsidiary Company) (Gross)
Pantec Devices Private Limited, (Investing party in respect of 
which the Company is an associate)

1489.82
                            52.47

1497.06
50.22

Inter-Corporate deposit received (net)
Modern Credit Private Limited (including interest and net of TDS) 198.39 -

Guarantee given on behalf of Company (Refer note 17.1.1 & 
17.2)
The Managing Director, Bubble Infosolution Private Limited 
(Company in which Managing Director of the Company is a 
Director), and Amulet Technologies Limited, Subsidiary of the 
Company)

Term Loans: 837.04
 WCDL: 4,453.22

Term Loans: 851.27
WCDL: 4,477.54

Notes:
•	 Transaction values are excluding taxes and duties.
•	 Related parties as defined under Ind AS 24 ‘Related Party Disclosures’ have been identified based on 

representations made by key managerial personnel and information available with the Company. All above 
transactions are in the ordinary course of business and on arm’s length basis

•	 Provisions for gratuity, compensated absences and other long-term service benefits are made for the Company 
as a whole and the amounts pertaining to the Key Managerial Personnel are not specifically identified and 
hence are not included above.

32.6	 Leases.
	 Company’s significant leasing arrangements are in respect of the premises (commercial premises, offices etc.) which 

contain extension option after the initial contract period, the amounts recognized on account of leases are as under:
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(i)	 Amount recognized in Statement of Profit and Loss.

Particulars For the year ended
31 March, 2024

For the year ended
31 March, 2023

Interest Expense on Lease Liabilities 11.18 10.75
Amortization of Right-of-Use Assets 24.11 25.23

(ii)	 Amount recognized in Balance Sheet.
Particulars As at

31 March, 2023
Addition / (Deduction) 

during the year
As at

31 March, 2024
Lease liabilities 71.95 (1.18) 70.77
Right-of-use assets (Gross) (Refer 
Note 14)

140.04 (25.57) 114.47

(iii)	 Maturity Profile
Particulars Amount
Maturity analysis – contractual undiscounted cash flows
Within 1 year 20.33
Within 2 years 17.32
Within 3 years 18.21
Within 4 years 19.18
5 years or more 16.25
Total undiscounted lease liabilities 91.29
Impact of discounting and other adjustments 20.52
Lease liabilities included in the Balance Sheet 70.77

32.7	 Earnings Per Share (EPS)
	 The following reflects the income and share data used in the basic and diluted EPS computations:

Particulars Year ended
31 March, 2024

Year ended
31 March, 2023

Loss for the year (Rs. in lakhs) 1,369.10 2,663.69
Basic/Diluted weighted average number of equity shares outstanding 
during the year

1,83,66,250 1,83,66,250

Nominal value of Equity Share (Rs.) 10.00 10.00
Basic/Diluted Earnings per Share (Rs.) (7.45) (14.50)

32.8	 Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR):
	 The Company has constituted a CSR committee as required under Section 135 of the Companies Act, 2013, together 

with relevant rules as prescribed in Companies (Corporate Social Responsibility Policy) Rules, 2014 (‘CSR rules’). 
The CSR Committee had approved the CSR Policy and also identified the broad areas of CSR activities which it 
propose to carry out viz. Child Education and Women Empowerment. The Company has made serious deliberations 
and chosen the CSR programs which would be undertaken on a long term and continuous basis. Such programs will 
benefit communities where the Company operates or likely to operate and create goodwill for the Company. As the 
Company has incurred average net losses during the last three years, no amount is required to be spent on account 
of CSR during the year ended 31st March, 2024 / 31st March, 2023.

32.9	 Going Concern:
	 Accumulated losses of the earlier years and the substantial losses during the current year which are mainly due to non 

carrying out the lending activities and substantial reduction in the recoveries from the borrowers / customers, have 
resulted in erosion of substantial net worth and significant financial crunch being faced by the Company, and there are 
defaults in the repayments of its borrowings, delays in payments of other liabilities/commitments including employees 
and statutory dues etc. Also, Company’s Net Owned Fund and Leverage Ratio are not in compliance of the Master 
Direction – Reserve Bank of India (Non-Banking Financial Company – Scale Based Regulation) Directions, 2023 
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as amended from time to time issued vide notification no. RBI/DoR/2023-24/106 DoR.FIN.REC.No.45/03.10.119 / 
2023-24 dated October 19, 2023, as updated / amended from time to time (“RBI Master Directions”). These events 
/ conditions indicate the existence of uncertainty on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. However, 
the financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis on the strength of continued support from 
the promoters and considering the ongoing discussions / efforts for One Time Settlements (OTS) of borrowings and 
Company’s ability to generate adequate resources for the foreseeable future.

32.10	Disclosures as required under Master Direction-Reserve Bank of India (Non-Banking Financial Company - Scale 
Based Regulation) Directions, 2023 as amended from time to time and other applicable directions/circulars are 
enclosed vide Annexure – I.

32.11	 Capital
	 The Company maintains an actively managed capital base to cover risks inherent in the business which includes 

issued equity capital and other reserves attributable to equity holders of the Company. As an NBFC, the RBI requires 
the Company to maintain a minimum capital to risk weighted assets ratio (“CRAR”) consisting of Tier 1 and Tier 2 
capital of 15% of the aggregate risk weighted assets. Further, the total of the Tier 2 capital cannot exceed 100% of 
the Tier 1 capital at any point of time. The capital management process of the Company ensures to maintain a healthy 
CRAR at all the times.

	 Capital Management
	 The primary objectives of the Company’s capital management policy is to maintain appropriate levels of capital 

to support its business strategy taking into account the regulatory, economic and commercial environment. The 
Company aims to maintain a strong capital base to support the risks inherent to its business and growth strategies. 
The Company endeavors to maintain a higher capital base than the mandated regulatory capital at all times.

	 Planning
	 The Company’s assessment of capital requirement is aligned to its planned growth which forms part of an annual 

operating plan which is approved by the ALCO and also a long-range strategy. These growth plans are aligned to 
assessment of risks– which include credit, liquidity and interest rate.

	 The Company monitors its capital to risk-weighted assets ratio (CRAR) on a yearly basis through its Assets Liability 
Management Committee (ALCO).

	 The Company endeavors to maintain its CRAR higher than the mandated regulatory norm. Accordingly, increase in 
capital is planned well in advance to ensure adequate funding for its growth.

	 The Company is also the provider of equity capital to its wholly owned subsidiary and associates and also provides 
them with non-equity capital where necessary. These investments are funded by the Company through its equity 
share capital and other equity which inter alia includes securities premium and retained earnings.

	 Regulatory capital

Particulars As at
31 March, 2024

As at
31 March, 2023

Tier I Capital (2758.15) (1846.39)
Tier II Capital 0.00 0.00
Total Capital Funds (2758.15) (1846.39)
Risk Weighted Assets 6788.15 8517.49
CET1 capital ratio (40.63%) (21.68%)
CET2 capital ratio 0.00% 0.00%
Total capital ratio (40.63%) (21.68%)

	 Regulatory capital consists of Tier 1 capital, which comprises share capital, securities premium and retained earnings. 
Certain adjustments are made to Ind AS based results and reserves, as prescribed by the Reserve Bank of India. The 
other component of regulatory capital is Tier 2 Capital, which includes subordinated debt. The Company is trying to 
meet the capital adequacy requirements of Reserve Bank of India (RBI).

32.12	Events after Reporting Date
	 There have been no events after the reporting date that require disclosure in these financial statements.
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32.13	Fair Values
	 Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction in 

the principal (or most advantageous) market at the measurement date under current market conditions (i.e., an exit 
price), regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using a valuation technique.

	 In order to show how fair values have been derived, financial instruments are classified based on a hierarchy of 
valuation techniques.

	 This note describes the fair value measurement of both financial and non-financial instruments.
	 Valuation framework
	 The Company has an internal fair value assessment team which assesses the fair values for assets qualifying for fair 

valuation.
	 The Company’s valuation framework includes:

•	 Benchmarking prices against observable market prices or other independent sources;
•	 Development and validation of fair valuation models using model logic, inputs, outputs and adjustments.

	 These valuation models are subject to a process of due diligence and validation before they become operational and 
are continuously calibrated. These models are subject to approvals by various functions of the Company. Finance 
function is responsible for establishing procedures, governing valuation and ensuring fair values are in compliance 
with Indian accounting standards.

	 Valuation methodologies adopted
	 The fair value of the financial assets and liabilities is included at the amount at which the instrument could be 

exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The following 
methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair values:
a.	 Fair values of strategic investments in equity instruments designated under FVOCI have been measured 

under level 3.
b.	 Fair value of loans held under a business model that is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and 

partially selling the loans through partial assignment to willing buyers and which contain contractual terms that 
give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest are measured at 
FVOCI. The fair value of these loans has been determined under level 3.

c.	 The Company has disclosed financial instruments such as cash and cash equivalents, other bank balances, 
other financial assets and liabilities at carrying value because their carrying amounts are a reasonable 
approximation of the fair values due to their short-term nature.

32.14	Fair Values Hierarchy
	 The Company uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments by 

valuation technique:
	 Level 1: Valuation based on quoted market price: financial instruments with quoted prices for identical instruments in 

active markets that the Company can access at the measurement date.
	 Level 2: Valuation based on using observable inputs: financial instruments with quoted prices for similar instruments 

in active markets or quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in inactive markets and financial instruments 
valued using models where all significant inputs are observable.

	 Level 3: Valuation technique with significant unobservable inputs: – financial instruments valued using valuation 
techniques where one or more significant inputs are unobservable. 

	 Disclosures of fair value measurement hierarchy for financial instruments are given below:

Particulars Carrying amount/Fair value
As at

31 March, 2024
As at

31 March, 2023
Financial assets L-1 L-2 L-3 L-1 L-2 L-3
Carrying amounts/fair value:
a) Measured at fair value though profit and loss
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Particulars Carrying amount/Fair value
As at

31 March, 2024
As at

31 March, 2023
Financial Guarantee Contracts -- -- -- -- -- --

b)  Measured at fair value though other 
comprehensive income

-- -- -- -- -- --

c)	 Measured at amortised cost
-	Cash and cash equivalents
-	Bank Balance other than cash and cash 

equivalents
-	Loans
-	 Investments
-	 Other financial assets

--
--
--
--
--

--
--
--
--
--

524.61
--

6,148.94
6.84

469.75

--
--
--
--
--

--
--
--
--
--

119.79
0.48

6,938.58
777.21
619.74

Total -- -- 7,150.14 -- -- 8,455.80
Financial liabilities L-1 L-2 L-3 L-1 L-2 L-3
Carrying amounts/fair value:
a)	 Measured at fair value though profit and loss

Financial Guarantee Contracts -- -- -- -- -- --
b)  Measured at fair value though other 

comprehensive income
-- -- -- -- -- --

c)	 Measured at amortised cost
-	Borrowings
-	Lease liabilities
-	Other financial liabilities

--
--
--

--
--
--

5,488.65
70.77

463.38

--
--
--

--
--
--

5,328.81
71.95

298.51
Total -- -- 6,022.80 -- -- 5,699.27

32.15	Disclosure required under Section 186 (4) of the Companies Act, 2013.
	 Particulars of transaction made during the year and outstanding balance as at the end of the year:

Name of the 
Investee

Nature of 
Transaction

Purpose for 
which it is 

utilized

2023-24 2022-23
During the Year Outstanding 

Balance
During the Year Outstanding 

Balance
Amulet 
Technologies 
Limited

Investment To fund the 
Subsidiary to 
carry out its 
activities i.e., 
consultancy, 
advisory and 
IT etc.

770.37
(impaired loss 

allowance made 
during the year)

-- -- 770.37

Loan (7.24)
(Including loan 

received back (net) 
(40.64)

(impaired loss 
allowance made 
during the year)

1,449.18 118.72
(Including loan 
received back 

(net) and interest 
Accrual thereon 
as per Ind AS)

1,497.06

32.16	Risk management objectives and policies
	 Risk Management Framework
	 A summary of the major risks faced by the Company, its measurement monitoring and management are described 

as under:
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Nature of 
risk

Arising from Executive 
governance 
structure

Measurement, monitoring and management of risk

Liquidity 
and funding 
risk

Liquidity risk arises 
from mismatches in the 
timing of cash flows.
Funding risk arises:
•	 when long term 

assets cannot 
be funded at the 
expected term 
resulting in cash flow 
mismatches;

•	 amidst volatile 
market conditions 
impacting sourcing 
of funds from banks 
and money markets

Board 
appointed 
Asset Liability 
Committee 
(ALCO)

Liquidity and funding risk is:
•	 measured by identifying gaps in the structural and 

dynamic liquidity statements.
•	 monitored by

–	 assessment of the gap between visibility of funds and 
the near term liabilities given current liquidity conditions 
and evolving regulatory directions for NBFCs.

–	 a constant calibration of sources of funds in line with 
emerging market conditions in banking and money 
markets.

–	 periodic reviews by ALCO relating to the liquidity position 
and stress tests assuming varied ‘what if’ scenarios 
and comparing probable gaps with the liquidity buffers 
maintained by the Company.

•	 managed by the Company’s treasury team under the 
guidance of ALCO.

Interest 
rate risk

Interest rate risk stems 
from movements in 
market factors, such 
as interest rates, 
credit spreads which 
impacts investments, 
income and the value 
of portfolios.

Board 
appointed 
Asset Liability 
Committee

Interest rate risk is:
•	 measured using Valuation at Risk (‘VaR’), and modified 

duration analysis and other measures, including the 
sensitivity of net interest income.

•	 monitored by assessment of probable impacts of interest 
rate sensitivities under simulated stress test scenarios 
given range of probable interest rate movement so on both 
fixed and floating assets and liabilities.

•	 managed by the Company’s treasury team under the 
guidance of ALCO.

Credit risk Credit risk is the risk 
of financial loss arising 
out of a customer or 
counter party failing to 
meet their repayment 
obligations to the 
Company

Board 
appointed 
Risk 
Management 
Committee

Credit risk is:
•	 measured as the amount at risk due to repayment default 

to a customer or counter party to the Company. Various 
matrices such as EMI default rate, overdue position, 
collection efficiency, customers non-performing loans etc. 
are used as leading indicators to assess credit risk.

•	 monitored by Risk Management Committee using level 
of credit exposures, portfolio monitoring, repurchase 
rate, bureau data of portfolio performance and industry, 
geographic, customer and portfolio concentration risks.

•	 managed by a robust control framework by the risk 
department which continuously align credit policies, 
obtaining external data from credit bureaus and reviews 
of portfolios and delinquencies by senior and middle 
Management team comprising of risk, analytics, collection 
and fraud containment along with business. The same 
is periodically reviewed by the Board appointed Risk 
Management Committee.

	 Liquidity and funding risk
	 The Company monitors asset liability mismatches to ensure that there are no imbalances or excessive concentrations 

on either side of the Balance Sheet.
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	 The Company continuously monitors liquidity in the market; and as a part of its strategy, the Company maintains a 
liquidity buffer managed by an active investment desk to reduce this risk.

	 The Company is managing its fund requirements mainly from banks and financial institutions. The Company emphasis 
on long term borrowings, however, presently its short term borrowing are more than the long term borrowing, which 
has helped the Company to manage and meet its fund requirements, considering that presently the Company is not 
disbursing new / further loans to its customers and its focus is on recovery and to improve its assets quality. The table 
below summaries the maturity profile of the undiscounted cashflow of the Company’s financial liabilities:

Particulars
As at 31 March, 2024 As at 31 March, 2023

Within 12 
months

After 12 
months

Total Within 12 
months

After12 
months

Total

Borrowings 5,290.26 198.39 5,488.65 5,328.81 -- 5,328.81
Lease liabilities 12.52 58.25 70.77 22.04 49.91 71.95
Other financial liabilities 463.38 -- 463.38 298.51 -- 298.51

5,766.16 256.64 6,022.80 5,649.36 49.91 5,699.27

Particulars As at 31 March, 2024 Total As at 31 March, 2023
Within 12 
months

After 12 
months

Within 12 
months

After 12 
months

Total

ASSETS
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 524.61 -- 524.61 119.79 -- 119.79
Bank balances other than cash 
and cash equivalents

-- -- -- 0.48 -- 0.48

Loans 6,148.94 -- 6,148.94 6,938.58 -- 6,938.58
Investments -- 6.84 6.84 -- 777.21 777.21
Other financial assets 287.50 182.25 469.75 600.99 18.75 619.74
Non-financial assets
Current tax assets (net) 3.66 -- 3.66 3.66 -- 3.66
Deferred tax assets (net) -- 2,244.84 2,244.84 -- 1,922.98 1,922.98
Property, plant and equipment -- 31.70 31.70 -- 42.97 42.97
Capital work-in-progress -- - - -- -- --
Intangible assets -- 11.93 11.93 -- 16.15 16.15
Right-of-use assets -- 56.34 56.34 -- 57.31 57.31
Other non-financial assets 7.99 -- 7.99 16.04 -- 16.04
Non-current assets held for sale 122.93 -- 122.93 122.93 -- 122.93
Total 9,629.53 10,637.84
LIABILITIES
Financial liabilities
Borrowings  5,290.26 198.39 5,488.65 5,328.81 -- 5,328.81
Lease liabilities 12.52 58.25 70.77 22.04 49.91 71.95
Other financial liabilities 463.38 -- 463.38 298.51 -- 298.51
Non-financial liabilities
Provisions 4.27 13.12 17.39 0.53 2.80 3.33
Other non-financial liabilities 39.11 -- 39.11 18.01 -- 18.01

6,079.30   5,720.61
	 Market risk
	 Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flow of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in 

the market variables such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates and equity prices. The Company do not have any 
exposure to foreign exchange rate and equity price risk.
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	 Credit risk
	 Credit risk is the risk of financial loss arising out of a customer or counterparty failing to meet their repayment 

obligations to the Company. It has a diversified lending model and focuses on broad categories viz: business, 
mortgages, and commercial lending. The Company assesses the credit quality of all financial instruments that are 
subject to credit risk.

	 Classification of financial assets under various stages

	 The Company classifies its financial assets in three stages having the following characteristics:

	 Stage1: unimpaired and without significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition on which a 12-month 
allowance for ECL is recognised;

	 Stage 2: a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition on which a lifetime ECL is recognised;

	 Stage 3: objective evidence of impairment, and are therefore considered to be in default or otherwise credit impaired 
on which a lifetime ECL is recognised.

	 Unless identified at an earlier stage, all financial assets are deemed to have suffered a significant increase in credit 
risk when they are 90 days past due (DPD) and are accordingly transferred from stage 1 to stage 2. For stage 1 an 
ECL allowance is calculated based on a 12-month Point in Time (PIT) probability weighted probability of default (PD). 
For stage 2 and 3 assets a life time ECL is calculated based on a lifetime PD.

	 The Company has calculated ECL using three main components: a probability of default (PD), a loss given default 
(LGD) and the exposure at default (EAD) along with an adjustment considering forward macro-economic conditions 
[for a detailed note for methodology of computation of ECL please refer to significant accounting policies note no 
4.3(i) to the financial statements].

	 Financial instruments other than loans were subjected to simplified ECL approach under Ind AS 109 ‘Financial 
Instruments’ and accordingly were not subject to sensitivity of future economic conditions.

	 The table below summarises the approach adopted by the Company for various components of ECL viz. PD, EAD 
and LGD across product lines using empirical data where relevant

Lending
Category

Nature of
Businesses

Probability of Default (PD) Exposure at
Default (EAD)

Loss Given
Default (LGD)Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

Business 
Loan

Unsecured loans to
SMEs, corporate 
and others etc.

Use of past trend and 
data and statistical 
analysis thereof, external 
/ internal ratings and 
internal evaluation with a 
management overlay.

100% EAD is computed 
based on 
assessment of time 
to default considering 
customers profile 
and time for 
liquidation of 
securities

Based on past 
trend of recoveries, 
associated risk of 
underlying security 
and estimated cash 
flows.

Mortgage 
Loan

Loans against 
collateral security of 
plant & machinery

Commercial 
Loan

Loans against 
property

	 The table below summaries the gross carrying values and the associated allowances for expected credit loss (ECL) 
stage wise for loan portfolio:

	 As at 31 March, 2024
Particulars Secured Unsecured

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
Gross Carrying Value - - 12,138.70 52.47 1489.82 1,247.25
Allowance for ECL - -   7,496.58         -   40.64      1,242.08
ECL Coverage ratio  0.00% 0.00%       61.76%        0.00%   2.73% 99.59%
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	 As at 31 March, 2023

Particulars Secured Unsecured
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

Gross Carrying Value 7.86 - 12,291.09 1,547.28 167.96 1,265.17
Allowance for ECL - -   7,193.47         -              -      1,147.31
ECL Coverage ratio 0.00% 0.00%       58.53%        0.00%   0.00% 90.68%

	 Collateral Valuation
	 The nature of products across these broad categories are either unsecured or secured by collateral. Although 

collateral is an important risk mitigant of credit risk, the Company’s practice is to lend on the basis of assessment of 
the customer’s ability to repay rather than placing primary reliance on collateral. Based on the nature of product and 
the Company’s assessment of the customer’s credit risk, a loan may be offered with suitable collateral. Depending on 
its form, collateral can have a significant financial effect in mitigating the Company’s credit risk.

	 The main types of collateral across various products obtained are as follows:

Product group Nature of securities
Mortgage Loan Hypothecation of underlying plant & machinery
Commercial Loan Equitable mortgage of residential and commercial properties.

	 The Company periodically monitors the market value of collateral and evaluates its exposure and loan to value 
matrix for high risk customers. The Company exercises its right of repossession across all secured products, and 
also resorts to judicial remedies available against its mortgages and commercial lending business. The repossessed 
assets are either sold or released to delinquent customers in case they come forward to settle their dues, but are not 
recorded in the accounts. The assets possessed / received in settlement of the loan are recorded as non–current 
assets held for sale (refer note 16).

	 Analysis of Concentration Risk
	 Credit concentration risk is the risk associated with any single exposure or group of exposures with the potential to 

produce large enough losses to threaten Company’s core operation. The Company’s exposure to various borrowers 
is constantly monitored to mitigate the credit concentration risk. The detail of advances to the top 20 largest borrowers 
and its percentage to the total advances is as under:

Particulars As at
31 March, 2024

As at
31 March, 2023

Total Loans to twenty largest borrowers       6,127.76 6,970.74
Percentage of Advances to twenty largest borrowers to Total Loans of the 
Company        41.05%        44.21%

	 The Company’s loans exposure are within the geographic area of National Capital Region, New Delhi.
	 Measurement uncertainty and sensitivity analysis of ECL estimates
	 Expected credit loss impairment loss allowances recognised in the financial statements reflect the effect of a range 

of possible economic outcomes, calculated on a probability-weighted basis, based on the economic scenarios. Key 
assumptions used in measurement of ECL.
-	 The Company considers the date of initial recognition as the base date from which significant increase in credit 

risk is determined.
-	 Since the Company has a right to cancel any sanctioned but undrawn limits to any of its borrowers, EAD is 

assumed to be outstanding balance as on the reporting date.



CAPITAL LIMITED
intec

Sapne Aapke, Bharosa Apno Ka

FINANCIAL SECTION

ANNUAL REPORT 2023-24102

Notes forming part of the Standalone Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March, 2024
(All amounts in Indian Rupees (Rs.) in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

32.17	Disclosures pursuant to RBI Notification-RBI/2019-20/170 DOR (NBFC).CC.PD.NO.109/22.10.106/2019-
20 Dated 13 March 2020- A comparison between provisions required under Income recognition, asset 
classification and provisioning (IRACP) and impairment allowances as per Ind AS 109 ‘Financial 
instruments’

Asset classification as 
per RBI Norms (1)

Asset 
classification 

as per 
Ind AS 109

Gross 
carrying 

amount as 
per Ind AS

Loss 
allowance 

(Provisions) 
as required 

under Ind AS 
109 

Net 
Carrying 
amount 

Provision 
required as 
per IRACP 

norms 

Difference 
between 

Ind AS 109 
provision 

and IRACP 
norms 

(2) (3) (4) (5)=(3)-(4) (6) (7)=(4)-(6)
(a)	 Performing Assets
Standard Stage 1 52.47 -- 52.47 0.13 (0.13)
Subtotal (a) 52.47 -- 52.47 0.13 (0.13)
(b)	Non-Performing 

Assets (NPA)
(i)	 Substandard Stage 2 1489.82 40.64 1,449.18 148.98 (108.34)
(ii)	 Doubtful up to
	 1 year Stage 3 168.32 164.83 3.49 168.32 (3.49)
	 1 to 3 years Stage 3 1256.49 479.80 776.69 712.89 (233.09)
	 More than 3 years Stage 3 11,961.14 8,094.03 3,867.11 10,028.81 (1,934.78)
Subtotal (ii) 13,385.95 8,738.66 4,647.29 10,910.02 (2,171.36)
(iii)	Loss Stage 3 - - - - -
Subtotal (b) 14,875.77 8,779.30 6,096.47 11,059.00 (2,279.70)

Stage 1 52.47 -- 52.47 0.13        (0.13)
Total (a+b) Stage 2 1,489.82 40.64 1,449.18 148.98 (108.34)

Stage 3 13,385.95 8,738.66 4,647.29 10,910.02 (2,171.36)
Total 14,928.24 8,779.30 6,148.94 11,059.13 (2,279.83)

32.18	Title deeds of Immovable Properties not held in name of the Company

Relevant 
line item in 
the Balance 
Sheet

Description 
of item 

property

Gross 
Carrying 

Value

Title Deeds 
held in the 

name of

Whether title 
deed holder is 

promoter, director 
or relative of 

promoter/director 
or employee of 

promoter/director

Property 
held since 

which 
date

Reason for not 
being held in 

the name of the 
company

Property, plant 
& equipment

Land 4.82 Unitel Credit 
Private Limited 
(merged with 
Intec Capital 
Limited)

No 02/08/2006 Land was 
transferred to the 
Company after 
merger of Unitel 
Credit Private 
Limited into 
the Company. 
Company is taking 
necessary steps to 
transfer the same 
in the name of the 
Company. 
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32.19	Details of Loan & Advances in the nature of loan granted to Promoters, Directors, Key Management Personnel 
& the related parties.

Type of Borrower As at 31 March 2024 As at 31 March 2023
Amount outstanding % of Total Amount outstanding % of Total

Promoters -- -- -- --
Director -- -- -- --
KMPs -- -- -- --
Related Parties 
1)	 Amulet Technologies 1,489.82 9.98% 1,497.06 9.80%
2)	 Pantec devices Pvt. Ltd 52.47                                                  0.35% 50.22                                                  0.33%

32.20	The Ministry of Corporate Affairs (MCA) has issued a notification Companies (Accounts) Amendment Rules, 2021, 
which is effective from 1st April, 2023, states that every Company which uses accounting software for maintaining 
its books of account shall use only the accounting software where there is a feature of recording audit trail of each 
and every transaction, and further creating an edit log of each change made to books of account along with the 
date when such changes were made and ensuring that the audit trail cannot be disabled. The Company has used 
accounting software for maintaining its books of account which has feature of recording audit trail (edit log) facility 
and the same has operated throughout the year for all relevant transactions recorded in the software, except in 
certain components where the audit trail were not recorded / operating due to system limitations. Further, it was not 
tempered at any time during the year.

32.21	During the previous year ended 31 March, 2023, Company had written off loans having gross amount (including 
interest accrued thereon) of Rs. 5,080.47 lakhs and also reversed impairment loss allowance of Rs. 4,026.86 lakhs 
held on these loans, as in view of the management, there was very low probability of recovery of these loans, however, 
the litigation / recovery process are continued in the normal course. The reversal of impairment loss allowance on 
these loans after their write off had also resulted in reversal of deferred tax assets of Rs. 1,013.48 lakhs during the 
previous year. Further, during the year, an impairment loss allowance of Rs. 811.01 lakhs had been booked on the 
investment and loan given to the Subsidiary Company, based on the latest assessment of its recoverability.

32.22	In absence of virtual uncertainty regarding availability of the sufficient taxable income in future, the deferred tax 
assets has not been recognised on accumulated brought forwarded and current tax losses, however, has created 
Deferred tax assets (net) of Rs. 322.57 lakhs during the current year mainly on impairment on loan and investment 
in Subsidiary (as detailed in note 32.21 above) and had reversed the Deferred tax assets (net) of Rs. 863.52 lakhs 
during the previous year, i.e. net of reversal of deferred tax assets of Rs. 1,013.48 lakhs on impairment loss on the 
loans (as detailed in note 32.21 above) and creation of deferred tax liabilities of Rs. 149.96 lakhs on other temporary 
differences.

32.23	Wilful Defaulter:
	 The Company has not been declared wilful defaulter by any bank or financial institution or other lender company, as 

such the declaration as wilful defaulter is not applicable.
32.24	  Relationship with Struck off Companies
	 The Company has the transactions with the company struck off under Section 248 of Companies Act, 2013 or Section 

560 of Companies Act, 1956, as under:

Name of Struck off Company Nature of transactions 
with struck-off Company

Balance outstanding 
as at 31 March, 2024

Relationship with the 
struck off company, if any, 
to be disclosed

Runit Fabrics Private Limited Loan outstanding 9.65 No relation
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32.25	Ratio Analysis

Particulars Numerator Denominator 31 March, 
2024

31 March, 
2023

% Variance Reason for 
variance

Capital to risk-
weighted assets 
ratio (CRAR)

Total Capital 
Funds

Risk Weighted 
Assets

(40.63) (21.68) -87.41%
Due to continuing 
losses in the 
companyTier I CRAR Net Owned 

Funds
Risk Weighted 
Assets

(40.63) (21.68) -87.41%

Tier II CRAR Tier II Capital Risk Weighted 
Assets

0.00 0.00 0.00% -

Liquidity Coverage 
Ratio

Cash & cash 
equivalents

Net Cash Out 
Flow

1.30 (0.41) 417.01% Due to Increase 
in cash and cash 
equivalents

32.26	The company did not have any transaction which had not been recorded in the books of accounts, which had been 
surrendered or disclosed as income during the year in the tax assessments under the Income TaxAct, 1961.

32.27	The Company has not traded or invested in crupto currency or virtual currency during the year.

32.28	The company has not advanced or loaned or invested any funds (either from borrowed funds or share premium or 
any other sources or kind of funds) to or in any other person or entity, including foreign entity (“Intermediaries”), with 
the understanding, whether recorded in writing or otherwise, that the intermediary shall, whether, directly or indirectly 
lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the company 
(“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or provided any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries.

32.29	The Company has not received any funds from any person or entity, including foreign entity (“Funding Parties”), with 
the understanding, whether recorded in writing or otherwise, that the Company shall, directly or indirectly, lend or 
invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the Funding Party (“Ultimate 
Beneficiaries”) or provided any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries. 

32.30	Previous year’s figures have been reclassified / regrouped wherever necessary to conform to current year 
classification.

As per our report of even date
For S. P. Chopra & Co.	 For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of 
Chartered Accountants			  Intec Capital Limited
Firm Registration No. 000346N

(Gautam Bhutani)
Partner

(Sanjeev Goel)
Managing Director

(S. K. Goel)
Director

Membership No.: 524485 DIN: 00028702 DIN: 00963735

Place: New Delhi (Vinod Kumar) (Radhika Garg)
Date: 21 June, 2024 Chief Financial Officer Company Secretary

M. No. ACS – 36587



CAPITAL LIMITED
intec

Sapne Aapke, Bharosa Apno Ka

ANNUAL REPORT 2023-24 105

Notes to standalone financial statements for the year ended 31 March, 2024
(All amounts in Indian Rupees (Rs.) in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

Annexure – I, as referred in Note 32.10
A.	 Schedule to the Balance Sheet.

Particulars As at As at
Liabilities side: 31 March, 2024 31 March, 2023

1 Loans and advances availed by the NBFC inclusive of 
interest accrued thereon but not paid:

Amount Amount Amount Amount
Outstanding Overdue Outstanding Overdue

(a) Debentures: - -
Secured - - - -
Unsecured - -
(Other than falling within the meaning of public 
deposits)

- -

(b) Deferred credits - - - -
(c) Term loan 837.04 837.04 851.27 851.27
(d) Inter corporate loans and borrowings 198.39 - - -
(e)

(f)

Commercial paper (net of un-amortized discount on 
issue)
Public Deposits

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

(g) Other loans:
Working capital demand loans from banks - - - -
Cash credit/overdraft from banks 4,453.22 4,453.22 4,477.54 4,477.54

Total 5,488.65 5,290.26 5,328.81 5,328.81

2 Break-up of (1)(f) above (Outstanding public deposits 
inclusive of interest accrued thereon but not paid):

Amount outstanding Amount outstanding
As at 31 March, 2024 As at 31 March, 2023

a) In the form of Unsecured Debentures - -
b)

c)

In the form of partly secured debentures i.e. 
debentures where there is a shortfall in the value 
of security
Other Public deposits

-
-

-
-

Total - -

Assets side: Amount outstanding Amount outstanding
3 Break-up of loans and advances including bills 

receivables {other than those included in (4) below}:
As at 31 March, 2024 As at 31 March, 2023

(a) Secured # 4,642.12 5,105.48
(b) Unsecured # 1,506.82 1,833.10

Total 6,148.94 6,938.58
# Comprises of loans which are disclosed net of provision for non-performing assets.

4 Break up of Leased Assets and stock on hire and other 
assets counting towards AFC activities

As at 31 March, 2024 As at 31 March, 2023

(i) Lease assets including lease rentals under sundry debtors:
(a) Financial lease - -
(b) Operating lease - -

(ii) Stock on hire including hire charges, under sundry debtors:
(a) Assets on hire - -
(b) Repossessed stock - -

(iii) Other Loans counting towards AFC activities:
(a) Loans where assets have been repossessed - -
(b) Loans other than (a) above - -

Total - -
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5 Break-up of investments Amount outstanding 
as at 31 March, 2024

Amount outstanding 
as at 31 March, 2023

Current investments:
1 Quoted:

(i) Shares:
(a) Equity - -
(b) Preference - -

(ii) Debentures and bonds - -
(iii) Units of mutual funds - -
(iv) Government securities - -
(v) Others - -

2 Unquoted:
(i) Shares:

(a) Equity - -
(b) Preference - -

(ii) Debentures and bonds - -
(iii) Units of mutual funds - -
(iv) Government securities - -
(v) Others - -
Long term investments:

1 Quoted:
(i) Shares:

(a) Equity - -
(b) Preference - -

(ii) Debentures and bonds - -
(iii) Units of mutual funds - -
(iv) Government securities - -
(v) Others - -

2 Unquoted:
(i) Shares:

(a) Equity 6.84 777.21
(b) Preference - -

(ii) Debentures and bonds - -
(iii) Units of mutual funds - -
(iv) Government securities - -
(v) Others - -

Total 6.84 777.21

6 Borrower group wise classification of all assets financed as in (2) and (3) above:
Category Amount net of provisions Amount net of provisions

As at 31 March, 2024 As at 31 March, 2023
Secured Unsecured Total Secured Unsecured Total

1. Related Parties:
(a)	 Subsidiaries - 1,449.18 1,449.18 - 1,497.06 1,497.06
(b)	 Companies in the same group - - - - -
(c)	 Other related Parties - 52.47 52.47 - 50.22 50.22

2 Other than related Parties 4,642.12 5.17 4647.28 5,105.48 285.82 5,391.3
Total 4,642.12 1,506.82 6148.94 5,105.48 1,833.10 6,938.58
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7 Investor group wise classification of all investments (current and long term) in shares and securities 
(both quoted and unquoted):

Category As at 31 March, 2024 As at 31 March, 2023
Market value/ 

Break-up or Fair 
value or NAV #

Book value  
(net of 

Provisions)

Market Value/ 
Break-up or Fair 
Value or NAV #

Book value 
(net of 

Provisions)
1 Related Parties:

(a) Subsidiaries - - 770.37 770.37
(b) Companies in the same 

group
- - - -

(c) Other related parties 3.03 3.03 3.03 3.03
2 Other than related parties 3.81 3.81 3.81 3.81

Total 6.84 6.84 777.21 777.21

8 Other information As at  
31 March, 2024

As at  
31 March, 2023

(i) Gross Non-Performing Assets#
(a) Related parties - -
(b) Other than related parties 13,385.95 13,556.26 

(ii) Net Non-Performing Assets #
(a) Related parties - -
(b) Other than related parties      4,647.29 5,215.48

(iii) Assets acquired in satisfaction of debts (net of provisions)  - -

	 # These are unquoted shares and the fair value/NAV thereof is not less than their book value.
B.	 Details of assignment transactions undertaken

Particulars As at 
31 March, 2024

As at 
31 March, 2023

(i) No. of accounts - -
(ii)  Aggregate value of accounts sold, gross exposure - -
(iii) Aggregate consideration for assigned portion - -
(iv) Additional consideration realised in respect of accounts transferred in 

earlier years
- -

(v) Aggregate gain/(loss) over net book value - -

C.	 Disclosure of restructured accounts as required by the NBFC Master Directions issued by RBI
Type of restructuring – Others Asset Classification

Standard Sub-
standard

Doubtful Loss Total

i) Restructured accounts as on 1 April, 2023
No. of borrowers 1 - - - 1
Amount outstanding     167.96 - - - 167.96
Provision thereon 16.80 - - - 16.80
ii) Fresh restructuring during the year-
No. of borrowers - - - - -
Amount outstanding - - - - -
Provision thereon - - - - -
iii) �Upgradations to restructured standard 

category during the FY-
No. of borrowers - - - - -
Amount outstanding - - - - -
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Provision thereon - - - - -
iv)  �Restructured standard advances which cease 

to attract higher provisioning and/or additional 
risk weight at the end of the FY and hence 
need not be shown as restructured standard 
advances at the beginning of the next FY-

- -

-

- -

No. of borrowers - - - - -
Amount outstanding - - - - -
Provision thereon - - - - -
V)  �Down gradations of restructured accounts 

during the FY-
No. of borrowers (1) - 1 - -
Amount outstanding (167.96) - 167.96 - -
Provision thereon (16.80) - 16.80 - -
vi)  �Write-offs/Settlements/Recoveries of 

restructured accounts during the year
- - - - -

No. of borrowers - - - - -
Amount outstanding - - - - -
Provision thereon - - 151.16 - 151.16
vii) Restructured accounts as on 31 March, 2024
No. of borrowers - - 1 - 1
Amount outstanding - - 167.96 - 167.96
Provision thereon - - 167.96 - 167.96

D.	 Disclosure pursuant to Liquidity Risk Management Framework for Non-Banking Financial Companies:
(I)	 Funding Concentration based on significant counterparty (borrowings)

Particulars As at 
31 March, 2024

As at 
31 March, 2023

Number of significant counter parties* - -
Amount - -
Percentage of funding concentration to total liabilities - -

(II)	 Top 10 borrowings
Particulars As at 31 March 2024 As at 31 March, 2023

Amount % of Total 
Borrowings

Amount % of Total 
Borrowings

Top 10 Borrower* 5,290.26 100 % 5,328.81 100 %
	 *  Based on size of bond issuance/term loans from bank
(III)	 Funding Concentration based on significant instrument/product

Significant instrument /
product

As at 31 March, 2024 As at 31 March, 2023
Amount % of Total 

Liabilities
Amount % of Total 

Liabilities
Borrowings 5,290.26 100 % 5,328.81 100 %
Total 5,290.26 100 % 5,328.81 100 %

Type of restructuring – Others Asset Classification
Standard Sub-

standard
Doubtful Loss Total
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(IV)	Stock Ratios 

Particulars % to total public funds % to total liabilities % to total assets
As at 31.03.2024
Other short-term liabilities - 8.54 % 5.39 %
As at 31.03.2023
Other short-term liabilities - 5.93 % 3.19 %

E.	 Additional disclosures in financial statements :
A)	 Exposure
1)	 Exposure to real estate sector-Nil
2)	 Exposure to capital market-Nil
3)	 Sectoral Exposure

Sectors Current Year Previous Year
Total Exposure 

(includes on 
balance sheet 

and off-balance
sheet exposure)

Gross 
NPAs

Percentage 
of Gross 

NPAs to total 
exposure in 
that sector

Total Exposure 
(includes on 

balance sheet 
and off-balance 
sheet exposure)

Gross 
NPAs

Percentage 
of Gross 

NPAs to total 
exposure in 
that sector

1.	 Agriculture and 
Allied Activities

- - - - - -

2.	 Industry
2.1	Micro and Small 6,392.05 4,849.76 75.87% 6,555.56 4,840.31 76.37%
2.2	Medium 1,368.04 1,368.04 100% 1,402.52 1,402.52 100%
2.3	Large 141.45 141.45 100% 141.45 141.45 100%
Total of Industry (1+2) 7,901.54 6,359.25 80.48% 8,099.53 6,384.28 80.87%
3.	 Services
3.1	Transport 

Operators
165.00 165.00 100% 165.00 165.00 100%

3.2	Computer Software 282.51 282.51 100% 282.51 282.51 100%
3.3	Tourism, Hotel and 

Restaurants
36.34 36.34 100% 40.40 40.40 100%

3.4	Professional 
Services

1,518.05 1,518.05 100% 1,519.55 1,519.55 100%

3.5	Trade
3.5.1 Wholesale Trade 

(other than Food 
Procurement)

595.75 595.75 100% 642.19 638.63 99.45%

3.5.2 Retail Trade 1,979.92 1,979.92 100% 2,043.16 2,043.16 100%
3.6	Others 2,449.13 2,449.13 100% 2,487.02 2,482.73 99.83%
Total of Services (3.1 
to 3.6)

7,026.70 7,026.70 100% 7,179.83 7,171.98 99.89%

Total 14,928.24 13,385.95 89.67% 15,279.36 13,556.26 89.81%
4)	 Intra-group exposures

Particulars For the year ended 31 
March 2024

For the year ended 31 
March, 2023

(i)	 Total amount of intra-group exposures 1,542.29 1,547.28
(ii)	 Total amount of top 20 intra-group exposures 1,542.29 1,547.28
(iii)	 Percentage of intra-group exposures to total exposure of 

the NBFC on borrowers/customers
10.33% 10.13%
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B)	 Related Party Disclosure
Items/Related 

Party
Subsidiaries Key Management

Personnel
Relatives of Key 

Management 
Personnel@

Other related 
party

Total

Current 
year

Previous 
year

Current 
year

Previous 
year

Current 
year

Previous 
year

Current 
year

Previous 
year

Current 
year

Previous 
year

Advances 
outstanding 
as at year end

1,489.82 1,497.06 - - - - 52.47 50.22 1,542.29 1,547.28

Borrowings 
outstanding at 
year end

- - - - - - 198.39 - 198.39 -

Remuneration 
paid

- - 13.25 145.42 39.32 26.32 - - 52.57 171.74

Sitting Fees 
Paid

- - - 0.50 - - - - - 0.50

Finance Cost - - - - - - 6.31 - 6.31 -
Interest 
income on 
loans 
(net of Ind AS 
impact)

- - - - - - 2.25 2.25 2.25 2.25

Investments 
held

770.37 770.37 - - - - 3.03 3.03 774.56 774.56

Guarantees 
given on 
behalf of the 
Company

(1) (2) (1) (2) - - (1) (2) 5,290.26
(1)

5,328.81
(2)

C)	 Disclosure of complaints
1)	 Summary information on complaints received by the NBFCs from customers and from the Offices of 

Ombudsman
Particulars As at  

March 31, 2024
As at 

March 31, 2023
i) No. of complaints pending at the beginning of the year 1 6
ii) No. of complaints received during the year 129 139
iii) No. of complaints redressed during the year 130 144
iv) No. of complaints pending at the end of the year - 1

2)	 Top five grounds of complaints received by the NBFCs from customers

Grounds of 
Complaints, 
(i.e.complaints
relating to)

Number of 
complaints 

pending at the 
beginning of the 

year

Number of 
complaints 

received 
during the 

year

% increase/ 
decrease in 
the number 

of complaints 
received over the 

previous year

Number of 
complaints 

pending at the 
end of the year

Of 5, number 
of complaints 

pending 
beyond 30 days

Current Year
CIBIL - 28 (47) % - -
Refund - - (100) % - -
CHG-4 - 18 (42) % - -
Settlement 1 53 179 % - -
Withdraw Legal - 1 (97) % - -
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Grounds of 
Complaints, 
(i.e.complaints
relating to)

Number of 
complaints 

pending at the 
beginning of the 

year

Number of 
complaints 

received 
during the 

year

% increase/ 
decrease in 
the number 

of complaints 
received over the 

previous year

Number of 
complaints 

pending at the 
end of the year

Of 5, number 
of complaints 

pending 
beyond 30 days

Others - 29 100% - -
Total 1 129 - - -

Previous Year
CIBIL 1 53 61% - -
Refund 5 4 84% - -
CHG-4 - 31 82% - -
Settlement - 19 6% - -
Withdraw - 9 80% - -
Legal - 23 15% 1 1
Total 6 139 - 1 1

Note:
	 The complaints, if any from the shareholders, borrowers or any other party/stakeholder are thoroughly addressed/

investigated/enquired as and when received and necessary action and impact thereof, if any is taken accordingly as 
considered appropriate by the Management. As at the yearend, no such impact is required in the financial statements 
and the same if any required will be taken in the period such complaints are suitably/appropriately addressed.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF ‘INTEC CAPITAL LIMITED’ ON CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Qualifed Opinion
We have audited the accompanying consolidated 
financial statements of Intec Capital Limited 
(hereinafter referred to as the “Holding Company”) and 
its Subsidiary (Holding Company and its subsidiary 
together referred to as “the Group”), which comprise the 
Consolidated Balance Sheet as at 31 March, 2024, the 
Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss (including 
Other Comprehensive Income), the Consolidated 
Statement of Changes in Equity and the Consolidated 
Statement of Cash Flows for the year then ended, and 
notes to the consolidated financial statements including 
a summary of the significant accounting policies and 
other explanatory information (hereinafter referred to as 
“the consolidated financial statements”). 
In our opinion and to the best of our information and 
according to the explanations given to us, except 
for the effects of the matter described in the Basis for 
Qualified Opinion section of our report, the aforesaid 
financial statements give the information required by the 
Companies Act, 2013 (the ‘Act’) and the directions and 
guidelines issued by Reserve Bank of India as applicable 
to Non-Systemically Important Non-Deposit taking Non 
Banking Financial Company (‘NBFC Regulations’), in 
the manner so required and give a true and fair view 
in conformity with the accounting principles generally 
accepted in India, of the state of affairs of the Company 
as at 31 March, 2024 and its Loss (including Other 
Comprehensive Income), its changes in equity and its 
cash flows for the year ended on that date
Basis for Qualified Opinion
The Holding Company has availed term loans and working 
capital facilities from various banks, however, slow down of 
its lending business and increased level of non-performing 
/ impaired loan portfolio, has impacted its cash flow / 
liquidity, and the Holding Company is un-able to service 
term loans and working capital facilities including interest 
thereon to certain banks. The interest of Rs. 5,018.76 lakhs 
accrued on these loans has not been accounted / provided 
for by the Company, due to the reasons as described 
by the Holding Company in note no. 17.4 to these 
consolidated financial statements. The same has resulted 
in the non-compliance of the Ind AS and inconsistency in 
the application of the accounting policies of the Group, and 
if the said interest would have been accounted / provided 
for, the Group’s total consolidated comprehensive loss for 
the year, and consolidated borrowings and consolidated 
other equity as at the Balance Sheet date would have 
been Rs. 5,581.98 lakhs and Rs. 10,511.06 lakhs and Rs. 
3,424.94 lakhs (debit balance) as against the reported 
figures of Rs. 563.22 lakhs and Rs. 5,492.30 lakhs and 
Rs. 1,593.82 lakhs respectively.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards 

on Auditing (SAs) specified under section 143(10) of 
the Act. Our responsibilities under those Standards 
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities 
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in 
accordance with the Code of Ethics issued by the Institute 
of Chartered Accountants of India together with the 
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements under the provisions of 
the Act and the Rules thereunder, and we have fulfilled 
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements and the Code of Ethics. We believe that 
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified opinion.
Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern 
There are various events or conditions which indicate 
existence of material uncertainty about the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern viz. huge accumulated 
losses since earlier year/s and also in current year 
which have resulted in substantial erosion of net worth 
of the Group, non-carrying of any lending / operational 
activities, and also there are no immediate measures / 
resources with the Group to make payments towards 
the borrowings which are already in default and other 
liabilities including towards employees / statutory dues 
etc. These events or conditions indicate the existence of 
material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. However, 
management has prepared these consolidated financial 
statements of the Group on a Going Concern due to the 
reasons as described in Note 32.9 to the consolidated 
financial statements. 
The auditor of Amulet Technologies Limited, Subsidiary 
Company have also commented on Going Concern 
and have given ‘Material Uncertainty related to Going 
Concern” in their auditor’s report for the year ended 31 
March, 2024.
Our qualified opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements is not further qualified in respect of the above 
matter.

Key Audit Matter 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our 
professional judgment, were of most significance in 
our audit of the consolidated financial statements of 
the current year. These matters were addressed in 
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole, and in forming our qualified 
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate 
opinion on these matters. We have determined the 
matter described below to be the key audit matter to be 
communicated in our report.
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Key Audit Matters How the matter was addressed in the audit
Impairment of Financial Assets including Loans 
to the Customers (Expected Credit Lossess) 
Ind AS 109 requires the Holding Company to recognise 
impairment loss allowance towards its financial 
assets including loans to customers (designated at 
amortised cost) using the expected credit loss (ECL) 
approach. Such ECL allowance is required to be 
measured considering the guiding principles of Ind 
AS 109 including unbiased, probability weighted 
outcome under various scenarios, time value of 
money, impact arising from forward looking macro-
economic factors and availability of reasonable and 
supportable information without undue costs. 
Applying these principles involves significant 
estimation in various aspects, such as grouping 
of borrowers based on homogeneity by using 
appropriate statistical techniques, staging of loans 
and estimation of behavioral life, determining 
macro-economic factors impacting credit quality of 
receivables, estimation of losses for loan products 
with no / minimal historical defaults. Considering the 
significance of such allowance to the overall financial 
statements (and the degree of estimation involved in 
computation of expected credit losses), this area is 
considered as a key audit matter.

Our Audit Procedure: 
We obtained and evaluated the management’s estimations 
and specifically performed the work as under: 
-	 Read and assessed the Holding Company’s 

accounting policies for impairment of financial 
assets and their compliance with Ind AS 109.

-	 Evaluated the reasonableness of the Management 
estimates by understanding the process of ECL 
estimation and tested the controls around data 
extraction and validation.

-	 Tested the ECL model, including assumptions 
and underlying computation. 

-	 Assessed the floor/minimum rates of provisioning 
applied by the Holding Company for loan 
products with inadequate historical defaults. 

Our Results: 
The results of our testing were satisfactory and we 
considered the fair value of the financial assets including 
loans to customers recognised to be acceptable.

Information Other than the Consolidiated Financial 
Statements and Auditor’s Report thereon
The Holding Company’s Board of Directors is responsible 
for the other information. The other information comprises 
the Corporate Governance Report and Directors’ Report, 
including annexures, if any, thereon, (but does not include 
the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s 
report thereon), which is expected to be made available 
to us after the date of this Auditor’s report.
Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements 
does not cover the other information and we will not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information identified above when it becomes available 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information 
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
When we read the Corporate Governance Report and 
Directors’ Report, including annexures, if any, thereon, 
if we conclude that there is a material misstatement 
therein, we are required to communicate the matter to 
those charged with governance.     
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged 
with Governance for the Consolidated Financial 
Statements 
The Holding Company’s Board of Directors is 
responsible for the preparation and presentation of 

these consolidated financial statements in term of the 
requirements of the Act that give a true and fair view 
of the consolidated financial position, consolidated 
financial performance including other comprehensive 
income, consolidated changes in equity and 
consolidated cash flows of the Group in accordance 
with the accounting principles generally accepted in 
India, including the Indian Accounting Standards (“Ind 
AS”) notified under Section 133 of the Act read with 
the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 
2015, and the NBFC Regulations, as amended from 
time to time.
The respective Board of Directors of the Companies 
included in the Group are responsible for maintenance 
of adequate accounting records in accordance with 
the provisions of the Act for safeguarding the assets 
of the Group and for preventing and detecting frauds 
and other irregularities; selection and application of 
appropriate accounting policies; making judgments and 
estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and design, 
implementation and maintenance of adequate internal 
financial controls, that were operating effectively 
for ensuring the accuracy and completeness of the 
accounting records, relevant to the preparation and 
presentation of the consolidated financial statements 
that give a true and fair view and are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, which 
have been used for the purpose of preparation of the 
consolidated financial statements by the Directors of 
the Holding Company, as aforesaid.
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In preparing the consoldiated financial statements, 
the respective Board of Directors of the Companies 
included in the Group are responsible for assessing 
the ability of the Group to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to 
going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless the Board of Directors either intends 
to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has 
no realistic alternative but to do so. 
The respective Board of Directors of the Companies 
included in the Group are responsible for overseeing 
the financial reporting process of the Group. 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the audit of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the consoldiated financial statements as 
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high 
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with SAs will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can 
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions of 
users taken on the basis of these consolildated financial 
statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we along with 
auditor of Subsidiary Company exercise professional 
judgment and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:
-	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement 

of the consolidated financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit 
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain 
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control.

-	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant 
to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances. Under 
section 143(3)(i) of the Companies Act, 2013, we 
are also responsible for expressing our opinion on 
whether the holding company has adequate internal 
financial controls system in place and the operating 
effectiveness of such controls. 

-	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by management.

-	 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s 
use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether 
a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to 
the related disclosures in the consoldiated financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on 
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going 
concern.

-	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and 
content of the conosolidated financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the 
consolidated financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation.

-	 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence 
regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Group to express an 
opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and 
performance of the audit of the financial statements 
of such entities included in the consolidated financial 
statements of which we are the independent auditors. 
For the other entities included in the consolidated 
financial statements, which have been audited by 
other auditor, such other auditor remains responsible 
for the direction, supervision and performance of 
the audits carried out by him. We remain solely 
responsible for our audit opinion.

Materiality is the magnitude of misstatements in the 
consolidated financial statements that, individually or 
in aggregate, makes it probable that the economic 
decisions of a reasonably knowledgeable user of the 
consolidated financial statements may be influenced. We 
consider quantitative materiality and qualitative factors in 
(i) planning the scope of our audit work and in evaluating 
the results of our work; and (ii) to evaluate the effect of 
any identified misstatements in the consolidated financial 
statements. 
We communicate with those charged with governance 
of the Holding Company and such other entity included 
in the consolidated financial statements of which we are 
independent auditors regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant 
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit. 
We also provide those charged with governance with 
a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and 
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to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
From the matters communicated with those charged with 
governance, we determine those matters that were of 
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial 
statements of the current period and are therefore the 
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our 
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public 
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare 
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not 
be communicated in our report because the adverse 
consequences of doing so would reasonably be 
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 
communication.
Other Matter
We did not audit the financial statements of the Subsidiary 
Company, namely Amulet Technologies Limited, whose 
financial statements reflect total assets of Rs. 1,337.10 
lakhs as at 31 March, 2024, and total revenues of Rs. 
9.68 lakhs, total net loss after tax of Rs. 7.24 lakhs and 
total comprehensive loss of Rs. 7.24 lakhs and net cash 
outflow of Rs. 1.15 lakhs for the year ended on that date, 
as considered in the consolidated financial statements. 
These financial statements have been audited by other 
auditor, whose report has been furnished to us by the 
Holding Company’s Management and our qualified 
opinion and comments under ‘Material Uncertainty 

related to Going Concern’ on the consolidated financial 
statements, in so far as it relates to the amounts and 
disclosures included in respect of the said Subsidiary, is 
based solely on the audit report of the said auditor and 
after consideration of the further facts and information 
provided to us by the Holding Company’s management, 
at the time of consolidation of these financial statements, 
and the procedures performed by us as stated in Basis 
for Qualified Opinion paragraph above. 
Our qualified opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements, and our Report on Other Legal and 
Regulatory Requirements below, is not modified in 
respect of the above matter. 
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 
1.	 With respect to the matters specified in paragraphs 

3(xxi) and 4 of the Companies (Auditor’s Report) 
Order, 2020 (the “Order”/ “CARO”) issued by the 
Central Government in terms of Section 143(11) 
of the Act, to be included in the Auditor’s report, 
according to the information and explanations given 
to us, and based on the CARO report issued by us for 
the Holding Company, and report for its Subsidiary 
issued by other auditor as stated in ‘Other matter’ 
above which is included in the consolidated financial 
statements of the Group, to which reporting under 
CARO is applicable, we report that there are no 
qualifications or adverse remarks in these CARO 
reports, except to the extent stated herein below:

Sr. 
No.

Name of the Company CIN Holding Company/ 
Subsidiary

Clause number of the CARO report 
which is qualified or adverse

1. Intec Capital Limited L74899DL1994PLC057410 Holding Company Clauses 3(i)(c), 3(vii)(a), 3(ix)(a) and 
3(xix)

2. Amulet Technologies 
Limited

U74140DL2011PLC217880 Subsidiary Clauses 3(iii)(c), 3(iii)(f) and 3(xvii)

2.	 As required by Section 143(3) of the Act, we report, 
to the extent applicable, that:
a.	 We have sought and obtained all the information 

and explanations which to the best of our 
knowledge and belief were necessary for the 
purposes of our audit of the aforesaid consolidated 
financial statements.

b.	 In our opinion, proper books of account as required 
by law relating to preparation of the aforesaid 
consolidated financial statements have been kept 
so far as appears from our examination of those 
books and reports of the other auditor.

c.	 The Consolidated Balance Sheet, the 
Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss 
(including Other Comprehensive Income), the 
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 
and the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
dealt with by this Report are in agreement with 
the relevant books of account maintained for 

the purpose of preparation of the consolidated 
financial statements.

d.	 In our opinion, the aforesaid consolidated financial 
statements comply with the Indian Accounting 
Standards (“Ind AS”) notified under Section 
133 of the Act read with the Companies (Indian 
Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended 
from time to time.

e.	 on the basis of the written representations received 
from the directors of the Holding Company 
audited by us, and taken on record by the Board 
of Directors, and the report of the statutory auditor 
of the Subsidiary company not audited by us, 
none of the directors of the Holding Company and 
its Subsidiary company is disqualified as on 31 
March, 2024 from being appointed as a director in 
terms of Section 164 (2) of the Act.

f.	 With respect to the adequacy of the internal 
financial controls with reference to financial 
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statements and operating effectiveness of such 
controls of the Holding Company audited by us, 
and of the Subsidiary company, not audited by us 
(as reported by its auditor), refer to our separate 
report in Annexure-‘A’; and

g.	 As neither any remuneration has been paid 
nor payable by the Holding Company and by 
the Subsidiary Company, not audited by us (as 
reported by its auditor), to its Directors during / for 
the year under audit, the provisions of Section 197 
of the Companies Act, 2013 are not applicable; and 

h.	 With respect to the other matters to be included in 
the Auditor’s Report in accordance with Rule 11 of 
the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, 
as amended, in our opinion and to the best of our 
information and according to the explanations 
given to us:
i.	 The Consolidated financial statements 

disclose the impact of pending litigations 
on the Consolidated financial position of the 
Group – Refer Note 32.1 to the consolidated 
financial statements;

ii.	 The Group has not entered into any long-term 
contracts including derivative contracts.

iii.	There has been no amount, required to be 
transferred, to the Investor Education and 
Protection Fund by the Group.

iv.	(a)	The Managements of the companies 
considered in the consolidated financial 
statements  have represented that, to the 
best of their knowledge and belief, no funds 
(which are material either individually or 
in the aggregate) have been advanced or 
loaned or invested (either from borrowed 
funds or share premium or any other 
sources or kind of funds) by the Group to 
or in any other person or entity, including 
foreign entity (“Intermediaries”), with 
the understanding, whether recorded in 
writing or otherwise, that the Intermediary 
shall, whether, directly or indirectly lend or 
invest in other persons or entities identified 
in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf 
of the Group (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or 
provide any guarantee, security or the like 
on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries; 

	 (b)	The Managements of the companies 
considered in the consolidated financial 
statements  have represented, that, to 
the best of their knowledge and belief, 
no funds (which are material either 
individually or in the aggregate) have been 
received by the Group from any person or 
entity, including foreign entity (“Funding 

Parties”), with the understanding, whether 
recorded in writing or otherwise, that the 
Group shall, whether, directly or indirectly, 
lend or invest in other persons or entities 
identified in any manner whatsoever by or 
on behalf of the Funding Party (“Ultimate 
Beneficiaries”) or provide any guarantee, 
security or the like on behalf of the 
Ultimate Beneficiaries; 

	 (c)	Based on the audit procedures that 
have been considered reasonable and 
appropriate in the circumstances, nothing 
has come to our notice that has caused us 
to believe that the representations under 
sub-clause (i) and (ii) of Rule 11(e), as 
provided under (a) and (b) above, contain 
any material misstatement.

v.	 No dividend was declared or paid during the 
year; hence, the said clause is not applicable. 

vi.	Based on our examination, which included 
test checks, the Group has used accounting 
software for maintaining its books of account 
for the financial year ended 31 March, 2024 
which has a feature of recording audit trail 
(edit log) facility and the same has operated 
throughout the year for all relevant transactions 
recorded in the software except in case of 
Holding Company, certain components where 
the audit trail were not recorded / operating 
due to system limitations, as described in 
note 32.20 to the consolidated financial 
statements. Further, during the course of our 
audit we did not come across any instance of 
the audit trail feature being tampered with. 

	 As proviso to Rule 3(1) of the Companies 
(Accounts) Rules, 2014 is applicable from 
01 April, 2023, reporting under Rule 11(g) of 
the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 
2014 on preservation of audit trail as per the 
statutory requirements for record retention is 
not applicable for the financial year ended 31 
March, 2024.

For S. P. CHOPRA & CO.
Chartered Accountants

Firm Regn. No. 000346N

(Gautam Bhutani)
Partner

M. No. 524485
    UDIN: 

Place  : New Delhi
Dated : 21 June, 2024



CAPITAL LIMITED
intec

Sapne Aapke, Bharosa Apno Ka

ANNUAL REPORT 2023-24 117

ANNEXURE-‘A’ 
TO THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
(Referred to in paragraph 2.f under ‘Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements’ section of the 
independent auditors report of even date on the consolidated financial statements of Intec Caiptal Limited 
for the year ended 31 March, 2024)

Report on the Internal Financial Controls under 
Clause (i) of Sub-section 3 of Section 143 of the 
Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”)
We have audited the internal financial controls over 
financial reporting of Intec Capital Limited (“the Holding 
Company”) and its Subsidiary (the Holding Company and 
its Subsidiary together referred as “the Group”) for the 
year ended 31 March, 2024, in conjunction with our audit 
of the consolidated financial statements of the Group for 
the year ended on that date.
Management’s Responsibility for Internal Financial 
Controls
The respective Board of Directors of the Holding 
Company and its Subsidiary company are responsible 
for establishing and maintaining internal financial controls 
based on the internal control over financial reporting 
criteria established by the Company considering the 
essential components of internal control stated in the 
“Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls 
Over Financial Reporting” (the “Guidance Note”) issued 
by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (“ICAI”). 
These responsibilities include the design, implementation 
and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls 
that were operating effectively for ensuring the orderly 
and efficient conduct of its business, including adherence 
to company’s policies, the safeguarding of its assets, 
the prevention and detection of frauds and errors, the 
accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, 
and the timely preparation of reliable financial information, 
as required under the Act.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Group’s 
internal financial controls over financial reporting based 
on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance 
with the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial 
Controls Over Financial Reporting (the ‘Guidance Note’) 
and the Standards on Auditing, issued by the Institute 
of Chartered Accountants of India and deemed to be 
prescribed under section 143(10) of the Act, to the extent 
applicable to an audit of internal financial controls, both 
applicable to an audit of Internal Financial Controls and, 
both issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of 
India. Those Standards and the Guidance Note require 
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan 
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether adequate internal financial controls over 
financial reporting was established and maintained 
and if such controls operated effectively in all material 
respects.

Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit 
evidence about the adequacy of the internal financial 
controls system over financial reporting and their 
operating effectiveness. Our audit of internal financial 
controls over financial reporting included obtaining 
an understanding of internal financial controls over 
financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material 
weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design 
and operating effectiveness of internal control based 
on the assessed risk. The procedures selected depend 
on the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment 
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion on the company’s internal financial controls 
system over financial reporting.
Meaning of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial 
Reporting
A Company’s internal financial control over financial 
reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable 
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting 
and the preparation of financial statements for external 
purposes in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles. A Company’s internal financial 
control over financial reporting includes those policies 
and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of 
records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly 
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets 
of the Company; (2) provide reasonable assurance 
that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit 
preparation of financial statements in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting principles, and 
that receipts and expenditures of the Company are 
being made only in accordance with  authorizations of 
management and Directors of the Company; and (3) 
provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or 
timely detection of  unauthorized acquisition, use, or 
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a 
material effect on the financial statements.
Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls 
Over Financial Reporting
Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial 
controls over financial reporting, including the possibility 
of collusion or improper management override of controls, 
material misstatements due to error or fraud may occur 
and not be detected. Also, projections of any evaluation 
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of the internal financial controls over financial reporting 
to future periods are subject to the risk that the internal 
financial control over financial reporting may become 
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that 
the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures 
may deteriorate.
Opinion
In our opinion, to the best of our information and 
according to the explanations given to us, the Group 
has, in all material respects, adequate internal financial 
controls with reference to the financial statements and 
such internal financial controls with reference to the 
financial statements  were operating effectively as at 31 
March, 2024, based on the internal control over financial 
reporting criteria established by the Group considering 
the essential components of internal control stated in the 
Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls 
Over Financial Reporting issued by the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants of India.

Other Matter
Our aforesaid report under Section 143(3)(i) of the Act 
on the adequacy and operating effectiveness of the 
internal financial controls with reference to the financial 
statements in so far as it relates to Subsidiary Company, 
namely Amulet Technologies Limited is based on the 
corresponding report of the auditor of the said Company.    
Our opinion is not modified in respect of the above matter.

For S. P. CHOPRA & CO.
Chartered Accountants

Firm Regn. No. 000346N

(Gautam Bhutani)
Partner

M. No. 524485
    UDIN: 

Place  : New Delhi
Dated : 21 June, 2024
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET AS AT 31 MARCH, 2024
(Amount in INR lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

Particulars Note 
No.

As at 
31 March, 2024

As at 
31 March, 2023

ASSETS
Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 5  527.58  123.90 
Bank Balance other than cash and cash equivalents 6  -    0.83 
Loans 7  4,844.86  5,579.92 
Investments 8  6.84  6.84 
Other financial assets 9  470.58  620.75 

Non-financial assets
Current tax assets (net) 10  4.61  3.66 
Deferred tax assets (net) 11  2,244.84  1,922.98 
Property, plant and equipment 12.a  1,218.95  1,242.55 
Intangible assets 13  11.93  16.15 
Right-of-use assets 14  56.34  57.31 
Other non-financial assets 15  7.99  17.50 

Non-current assets held for sale 16  122.93  122.93 
TOTAL ASSETS  9,517.46  9,715.32 
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
LIABILITIES
Financial liabilities
  Borrowings 17  5,492.30  5,328.81 
  Lease liabilities 32.6  70.77  71.95 
  Other financial liabilities 18
   - Total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and  
      small enterprises.

19.49  3.11 

   - Total outstanding dues of other than micro enterprises    
      and small enterprises.

447.90  296.44 

Non-financial liabilities
Provisions 19  17.39  3.33 
Other non-financial liabilities 20  39.15  18.01 

EQUITY
Equity share capital 21  1,836.63  1,836.63 
Other equity 22  1,593.82  2,157.04 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY  9,517.45  9,715.32 

Company information, Material accounting policies and other notes	 1 to 4 & 32
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Cosolidated financial statements. 	
This is the Cosolidated Balance Sheet referred
to in our report of even date

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of

For S. P. Chopra & Co. Intec Capital Limited
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration No. 000346N

(Gautam Bhutani) (Sanjeev Goel) (S. K. Goel)
Partner Managing Director Director
Membership No: 524485 DIN: 00028702 DIN: 00963735

 (Vinod Kumar) (Radhika Garg) 
Place: New Delhi Chief Financial Officer Company Secretary
Date: 21 June, 2024 M. No. ACS 36587
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT & LOSS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH, 2024
(Amount in INR lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

Particulars Note No. Year ended  
31 March, 2024

Year ended  
31 March, 2023

INCOME 
Revenue from operations
  Interest income 23 266.30 327.69 
  Fees and commission income 24 0.18 1.81 
  Recoveries of financial assets written off 25 107.16 359.84 
Total revenue from operations 373.64 689.34 
  Other income 26 15.72 161.03 
Total Income 389.36 850.37 
EXPENSES
  Finance costs 27 22.50  15.15 
  Impairment on financial instruments 28 451.14 1,639.33 
  Employee benefits expenses 29  371.56  517.82 
  Depreciation and amortization 30  49.11  55.86 
  Other expenses 31  382.94  574.18 
Total Expenses 1,277.25 2,802.34 
Loss before tax 889.90 1,951.97 
Tax expense
Deferred tax (credit) / debit 11.iii (322.57) 863.52 
Total tax (credit) / expense (322.57) 863.52 
Loss for the year 565.332 2,815.49 

Other comprehensive (income) / loss
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss 
  Re-measurement (gain) on defined benefit plan (2.81) (2.92)
  Income tax effect 11.iv 0.71 0.73 
Other comprehensive (income) (2.10) (2.19)
Total comprehensive loss for the year 563.22 2,813.30
Earnings per share: (Nominal value per share Rs. 10/-) 32.7
Basic/Diluted earnings per share (in Rs.) (3.08) (15.33)

Company information, Material accounting policies and other notes	 1 to 4 & 32
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Cosolidated financial statements. 	
This is the Cosolidated Profit and loss referred
to in our report of even date

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of

For S. P. Chopra & Co. Intec Capital Limited
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration No. 000346N

(Gautam Bhutani) (Sanjeev Goel) (S. K. Goel)
Partner Managing Director Director
Membership No: 524485 DIN: 00028702 DIN: 00963735

 (Vinod Kumar) (Radhika Garg) 
Place: New Delhi Chief Financial Officer Company Secretary
Date: 21 June, 2024 M. No. ACS 36587
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH, 2024
(Amount in INR Lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

Particulars  Year ended  
31 March, 2024

 Year ended  
31 March, 2023

A. Cash flow from operating activities
(Loss) / Profit before tax (887.89) (1,951.97)
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation 49.11 55.86 
Impairment on financial instruments 451.14 1,639.33 
Liabilities no longer required written back (1.62) (158.48)
Gain on cessation of lease liability (2.31)
(Profit) / Loss on disposal of property, plant & equipment (net) (0.25) (0.12)
Interest on deposit and others (9.68) (10.28)
Finance costs 22.50 15.15 
Operating (loss) before working capital changes (379.00) (410.51)
Movement in working capital:
(Increase) / Decrease in loans 337.19 (514.30)
(Increase) / Decrease in other financial assets 98.20 949.21
(Increase) / Decrease in other non-financial assets 8.05 1.30 
Increase / (Decrease) in other financial liabilities 167.94 137.15
Increase /(Decrease) in provisions 16.87 3.41 
Increase /(Decrease) in other non-financial liabilities 20.47 (12.34)
Cash flow from operations 269.72 153.92
Taxes refund / adjustment (net) - (0.60)
Net cash flow from operating activities (A) 269.72 153.32
Cash flow from investing activities
Sale / (Purchase) of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (net) 3.08 (28.89)
Interest Income 9.68 10.28
Net cash generated from / (used in) investing activities (B) 12.76 (18.61)
Cash flow from financing activities
Proceeds from / (Repayments) of secured loans 157.81 (381.51)
Payment of principal portion of lease liabilities (22.01) (26.39)
Payment of interest portion of lease liabilities (11.18) (10.75)
Finance costs (3.42) (5.61)
Net cash generated from / (used in) financing activities (C) 121.20 (424.26)
Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (A+B+C) 403.68 (289.55)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 123.90 413.45
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 527.58 123.90
 
Notes:
1.	 The above Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows has been prepared under the “Indirect Method” as set out in Indian 

Accounting Standard (Ind - AS) - 7 ‘Statement of Cash Flows’
2.	 Cash and cash equivalents in the Consolidated balance sheet comprises of Cash in hand, Balances with Banks and 

Drafts on hand.
Cash on hand  46.78  8.61 
Balances with banks - in current accounts  400.25  115.29 
Drafts on hand  80.13  -   

 527.16  123.90 

Company information, Material accounting policies and other notes	 1 to 4 & 32
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Cosolidated financial statements. 
This is the Cosolidated Statement of Cash flows referred
to in our report of even date

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of

For S. P. Chopra & Co. Intec Capital Limited
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration No. 000346N

(Gautam Bhutani) (Sanjeev Goel) (S. K. Goel)
Partner Managing Director Director
Membership No: 524485 DIN: 00028702 DIN: 00963735

 (Vinod Kumar) (Radhika Garg) 
Place: New Delhi Chief Financial Officer Company Secretary
Date: 21 June, 2024 M. No. ACS 36587



CAPITAL LIMITED
intec

Sapne Aapke, Bharosa Apno Ka

FINANCIAL SECTION

ANNUAL REPORT 2023-24122

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 
31 MARCH, 2024

(Amount in INR lakhs, unless otherwise stated)
(A) Equity Share Capital

For the year ended 31 March, 2024
Balance as at  
01 April, 2023

Changes in equity share  
capital during the year

Balance as at  
31 March, 2024

 1,836.63  -    1,836.63 

For the year ended 31 March, 2023
Balance as at  
01 April, 2022

Changes in equity share  
capital during the year

Balance as at  
31 March, 2023

 1,836.63  -    1,836.63 

(B) Other Equity
Particulars Reserves & Surplus Other Items of Other 

Comprehensive 
Income - Re-

measurement gains/
(losses) on defined 

benefit plan

Total
Statutory 

Reserve as per 
Section 45- IC 

of RBI Act, 1934

Securities 
Premium

Retained 
Earnings

Impairment 
Reserve 

(Refer note 
32.16)

Balance as at 1 April, 2023 1,868.50 8,843.84 (11,102.46) 2,546.93 0.23 2,157.04 
Loss for the year  -    -   (565.32)  -    -   (565.32)
Other Comprehensive income  -    -    -    -   2.10 2.10 
Total Comprehensive Loss 
for the year

 -    -   (565.32)  -   2.10  (563.22)

Appropriation during the year  -    -    -    -    -    -   
Balance as at 31 March, 2024  1,868.50  8,843.84  (11,667.78)  2,546.93 2.33  1,593.82 

Particulars Reserves & Surplus Other Items of Other 
Comprehensive 

Income - Re-
measurement gains/
(losses) on defined 

benefit plan

Total
Statutory 

Reserve as per 
Section 45- IC 

of RBI Act, 1934

Securities 
Premium

Retained 
Earnings

Impairment 
Reserve

Balance as at 1 April, 2022  1,868.50  8,843.84  (8,066.48)  2,326.44  (1.96)  4,970.34 
Loss for the year  -    -    (2,815.49)  -    -   -2,815.49
Other Comprehensive Income  -    -    -    -    2.19  2.19 
Total Comprehensive Loss 
for the year

 -    -    (2,815.49)  -    2.19  (2,813.30)

Appropriation during the year  -    -    (220.49)  220.49  -    -   
Balance as at 31 March, 2023  1,868.50  8,843.84  (11,102.46)  2,546.93  0.23  2,157.04 

Company information, Material accounting policies and other notes	 1 to 4 & 32
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Cosolidated financial statements. 
This is the Cosolidated Statement of Change in Equity referred
to in our report of even date

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of

For S. P. Chopra & Co. Intec Capital Limited
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration No. 000346N

(Gautam Bhutani) (Sanjeev Goel) (S. K. Goel)
Partner Managing Director Director
Membership No: 524485 DIN: 00028702 DIN: 00963735

 (Vinod Kumar) (Radhika Garg) 
Place: New Delhi Chief Financial Officer Company Secretary
Date: 21 June, 2024 M. No. ACS 36587
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Notes to consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March, 2024
(All amounts in Indian Rupees (Rs.) in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

1.	  COMPANY INFORMATION 
Intec Capital Limited (the ‘Holding Company’) 
incorporated in India on 15 February, 1994, was 
registered with the Reserve Bank of India (‘RBI’) as 
a Non-Banking Financial Company (‘NBFC’) vide 
Certificate No. B-14.00731 dated 04 May, 1998 in the 
name of Intec Securities Limited. Subsequently, due 
to change in name of the Company, the Company 
received a revised Certificate of Registration (‘CoR’) 
in the name of Intec Capital Limited on 04 November, 
2009 under Section 45-1A of the Reserve Bank of 
India Act, 1934. Equity shares of the Company are 
listed on the Bombay Stock Exchange Limited (BSE).
The Holding Company, has one Subsidiary 
company namely Amulet Technologies Limited (the 
‘Subsidiary’), incorporated in India, which has the 
objectives of providing consultancy, advisory and the 
related services in the area of Information technology, 
however, it is yet to commence business. 
The accompanying Consolidated Financial 
Statements relate to Intec Capital Limited (the 
‘Holding Company’) and its Subsidiary company 
(the Holding Company and its Subsidiary together 
referred as the ‘Group’) 
The consolidated financial statements for the year 
ended 31 March, 2024, were approved by the Board 
of Directors and authorized for issue on 21 June, 
2024, and recommended for consideration and 
adoption by the shareholders in their ensuing Annual 
General Meeting.

2.	  BASIS OF PREPARATION
2.1	Compliance with Indian Accounting 

Standards (Ind – AS):
	 The consolidated financial statements have 

been prepared in accordance with the Indian 
Accounting Standards (‘Ind AS’) notified under 
the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) 
Rules, 2015, and the other relevant provisions 
of the Companies Act, 2013 (the ‘Act’), and 
the Master Direction – Non-Banking Financial 
Company – Non-Systemically Important Non-
Deposit taking Non-Banking Financial Company 
(the ‘NBFC Regulations’) issued by RBI, as 
amended from time to time. The notified Indian 
Accounting Standards (Ind AS) are followed by 
the Group in so far as they are not inconsistent 
with the NBFC Regulations.

	 The consolidated financial statements have been 
prepared on accrual and going concern basis. 
The accounting policies are applied consistently 
to all the periods presented in the financial 
statements.

2.2	Presentation of Consolidated financial 
statements:

		 The Group presents its Balance Sheet in order 
of liquidity. The Group generally reports financial 
assets and financial liabilities on a gross basis 
in the Balance Sheet. They are offset and 
reported net only when Ind AS specifically 
permits the same or it has an unconditional 
legally enforceable right to offset the recognised 
amounts without being contingent on a future 
event. Similarly, the Group offsets incomes and 
expenses and reports the same on a net basis 
when permitted by Ind AS specifically unless 
they are material in nature.

2.3 Historical Cost Convention  
	 The consolidated financial statements have 

been prepared on a historical cost basis, except, 
certain financial assets and liabilities, measured 
at fair value.

2.4  Functional and present currency
	 The consolidated financial statements are 

prepared in Indian Rupees (‘Rs.’), which is the 
Group’s functional and presentation currency. All 
financial information presented in Indian Rupees 
has been rounded to the nearest lakhs with two 
decimal places, unless stated otherwise.

2.5	Critical Accounting Estimates and 
Judgements 

	 The preparation of consolidated financial 
statements in conformity with Ind AS requires 
the management to make use of estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amount of 
assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent 
liabilities at the date of consolidated financial 
statements, and the reported amount of revenues 
and expenses during the reporting period. In 
view of the inherent uncertainties and a level of 
subjectivity involved in measurement of items, it 
is possible that the outcomes in the subsequent 
financial years could differ from those on which 
the Management’s estimates are based.

	 The estimates and assumptions that have a 
significant risk of causing a material adjustment 
to the carrying values of assets and liabilities 
within the next financial year are given below.
•	 Fair value of financial instruments
	 Fair value of financial instruments is required 

to be estimated for financial reporting 
purposes. The Group applies appropriate 
valuation techniques and inputs for fair value 
measurements. In estimating the fair value 
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Notes to consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March, 2024
(All amounts in Indian Rupees (Rs.) in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

of an asset or a liability, the Group uses 
quoted prices and market-observable data to 
the extent it is available. When the fair value 
of financial assets and financial liabilities 
recorded in the balance sheet cannot be 
measured based on quoted prices in active 
markets, their fair value is measured using 
valuation techniques, based on the inputs 
to these models taken from observable 
markets where possible, but where this is not 
feasible, a degree of judgement is required in 
establishing fair values. Judgements include 
considerations of inputs such as liquidity 
risk, credit risk and volatility. Changes in 
assumptions about these factors could 
affect the reported fair value of financial 
instruments.

•	 Impairment of financial assets – Expected 
Credit Loss

	 The measurement of impairment loss 
allowance for financial asset measured at 
amortised cost requires use of statistical 
models, significant assumptions about future 
economic conditions and credit behavior 
(e.g. likelihood of borrowers defaulting 
and resulting losses). In estimating the 
cash flows expected to be recovered from 
credit impaired loans, the Group makes 
judgements about the borrower’s financial 
situation, current status of the project, net 
realisable value of securities/ collateral etc. 
As these estimates are based on various 
assumptions, actual results may vary leading 
to changes to the impairment loss allowance. 
Further, judgement is also made in identifying 
the default and significant increase in credit 
risk (SICR) on financial assets as well as for 
homogeneous grouping of similar financial 
assets. Impairment assessment also takes 
into account the data from the loan portfolio, 
levels of arrears and an analysis of historical 
defaults.

•	 Non recognition of income on Credit Impaired 
Loans 

	 As a matter of prudence, income on credit 
impaired loans is recognised as and when 
received and / or on accrual basis when 
expected realization is higher than the gross 
loan amount outstanding.

•	 Taxes
	 Uncertainties exist with respect to the 

interpretation of complex tax regulations, 
changes in tax laws, and the amount and 

timing of future taxable income. Given the 
wide range of business relationships and 
the long-term nature and complexity of 
existing contractual agreements, differences 
arising between the actual results and the 
assumptions made, or future changes to 
such assumptions, could necessitate future 
adjustments to tax income and expense 
already recorded. The Group establishes 
provisions, based on reasonable estimates. 
The amount of such provisions is based 
on various factors, such as experience 
of previous tax audits and differing 
interpretations of tax regulations by the 
taxable entity and the responsible tax 
authority. Such differences of interpretation 
may arise on a wide variety of issues 
depending on the conditions prevailing in the 
respective domicile of the companies.

•	 Useful life of property, plant and equipment

	 The Property, Plant and Equipment are 
depreciated on straight line method over 
their respective useful lives. Management 
estimates the useful lives of these assets 
as detailed in Note 4.4 below.  Changes in 
the expected level of usage, technological 
developments, level of wear and tear could 
impact the economic useful lives and the 
residual values of these assets, therefore, 
future depreciation charges could be revised 
and could have an impact on the financial 
position in future years.

3	 BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION
3.1	Basis of Accounting:

i.	 The financial statements of the Subsidiary 
Company are drawn up to the same reporting 
date as of the Holding Company. 

ii.	 The Consolidated Financial Statements of 
the Group have been prepared in accordance 
with Indian Accounting Standard - 110 on 
“Consolidated Financial Statements”. 

3.2	  Principles of Consolidation: 
i.	 The financial statements of the Holding 

Company and its Subsidiary have been 
combined on a line-by-line basis by adding 
together the book values of like items of 
assets, liabilities, income and expenses after 
fully eliminating the intra-group balances 
and intra-group transactions and unrealized 
profits or losses in accordance with Indian 
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Accounting Standard - 110 on “Consolidated 
Financial Statements”.

ii.	 The consolidated financial statements have 
been prepared using uniform accounting 
policies for like transactions and other events 
in similar circumstances and are presented 
to the extent possible, in the same manner 
as the Holding Company’s separate financial 
statements except as otherwise stated in the 
Significant Accounting Policies.

iii.	 The difference between the cost of investment 
in the Subsidiary over the net assets at the 
time of acquisition of shares in the Subsidiary 
is recognized in the Consolidated Financial 
Statements as Goodwill or Capital Reserve 
as the case may be. 

	 The Consolidated Financial Statements 
includes the results of following entities:

Name of Company
Country 

of 
Incorpo
ration

Proportion 
(%) of 

Shareholding 
as on 

31 March, 
2024

Proportion 
(%) of 

Shareholding 
as on 

31 March, 
2023

Holding
Company
Intec Capital
Limited India N.A. N.A.

Subsidiary
Company
Amulet Technologies
Limited India 99.998% 99.998%

4	 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES

	 This note provides a list of the Material accounting 
policies adopted in the preparation of these 
consolidated financial statements. These policies 
have been consistently applied to all the years 
presented, unless otherwise stated.
4.1	Revenue Recognition

(i)	 Interest Income
	 The Holding Company recognises interest 

income using Effective Interest Rate (EIR) on 
all financial assets subsequently measured 
at amortised cost or fair value through 
other comprehensive income (FVOCI). 
EIR is calculated by considering all costs 
and incomes attributable to acquisition of a 
financial asset or assumption of a financial 
liability and it represents a rate that exactly 
discounts estimated future cash payments 
/ receipts through the expected life of the 
financial asset / financial liability to the gross 
carrying amount of a financial asset or to the 
amortised cost of a financial liability.

	 The Holding Company recognises interest 
income by applying the EIR to the gross 
carrying amount of financial assets other 
than credit-impaired assets after setting-
off of collateral amounts. In case of credit-
impaired financial assets regarded as 
‘stage 3’, the Holding Company recognises 
interest income on the amortised cost net of 
impairment loss of the financial asset at EIR, 
to the extent of probability of its recovery. 
If the financial asset is no longer credit-
impaired, the Holding Company reverts to 
calculating interest income on a gross basis.

	 Interest on financial assets subsequently 
measured at fair value through profit and 
loss, is recognized on accrual basis in 
accordance with the terms of the respective 
contract.

(ii)	 Dividend Income
 	 Dividend Income on investments is 

recognized when the Group’s right to 
receive the payment is established, which 
is generally when shareholders approve the 
dividend.

(iii)	Fees and Commission
	 Processing fees and other servicing fees 

is recognized on accrual basis. The Group 
recognises service and administration 
charges towards rendering of additional 
services to its loan customers on satisfactory 
completion of service delivery. Fees on value 
added services and products are recognised 
on rendering of services and products to the 
customer.

(iv)	Interest on Borrowings 
	 Interest expense on borrowings subsequently 

measured at amortized cost is recognized 
using Effective Interest Rate (EIR) method.

(v)	 Recoveries of Financial Assets written off
	 The Holding Company recognises income 

on recoveries of financial assets written off 
on realisation or when the right to receive the 
same without any uncertainties of recovery 
is established.

(vi)	 Sale of Loan Assets
Profit / loss on sale of loan assets through 
direct assignment / securitization are 
recognized over the residual life of loan / pass 
through certificates in terms of RBI guidelines. 
Loss arising on account of direct assignment / 
securitization is recognized upfront.
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(vii)	 Other Income / Revenue
	 Other income / revenue is recognized to the 

extent that it is probable that the economic 
benefit will flow to the Company and it can 
be reliably measured.

4.2	Cash and Cash Equivalents
	 Cash and cash equivalents include cash on 

hand, other short term, highly liquid investments 
with original maturities of three months or less 
that are readily convertible to known amounts 
of cash and which are subject to an insignificant 
risk of changes in value.

4.3	Financial Instruments
	 A financial instrument is defined as any contract 

that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity 
and a financial liability or equity instrument of 
another entity. Trade receivables and payables, 
loan receivables, investments in subsidiaries 
and associates, borrowings, cash and cash 
equivalents, other bank balances etc. are some 
examples of financial instruments.

	 All the financial instruments are recognised on 
the date when the Company becomes party 
to the contractual provisions of the financial 
instruments. 
(i) 	 Financial assets
	 Financial assets include cash, or an equity 

instrument of another entity, or a contractual 
right to receive cash or another financial asset 
from another entity. Few examples of financial 
assets are loan receivables, investment in 
equity instruments, trade receivables and 
cash and cash equivalents etc.

	 Initial measurement
	 All financial assets are recognised initially 

at fair value including transaction costs 
that are attributable to the acquisition 
of financial assets except in the case of 
financial assets recorded at FVTPL where 
the transaction costs are charged to profit or 
loss. However, trade receivables that do not 
contain a significant financing component 
are measured at transaction price.

	 Subsequent measurement
(i)	 Classification and Measurement of Financial 

assets (other than Equity instruments)

	 For the purpose of subsequent 
measurement, financial assets (other than 
equity instruments) are classified into three 
categories:

(a) 	Financial Assets at amortised cost
(b) 	Financial Assets at FVOCI
(c) 	Financial Assets at FVTPL
(a) 	Financial Assets at amortised cost
	 The Group measures its financial assets at 

amortised cost if both the following conditions 
are met:
•	 The asset is held within a business 

model of collecting contractual cash 
flows; and 

•	 Contractual terms of the asset give rise 
on specified dates to cash flows that 
are Sole Payments of Principal and 
Interest (SPPI) on the principal amount 
outstanding. 

	 To make the SPPI assessment, the Company 
applies judgment and considers relevant 
factors such as the nature of portfolio and 
the period for which the interest rate is set. 

	 The Group determines its business model at 
the level that best reflects how it manages 
groups of financial assets to achieve 
its business objective. The Company’s 
business model is not assessed on an 
instrument by instrument basis, but at a 
higher level of aggregated portfolios. If cash 
flows after initial recognition are realised in 
a way that is different from the Company’s 
original expectations, the Group does not 
change the classification of the remaining 
financial assets held in that business model, 
but incorporates such information when 
assessing newly originated financial assets 
going forward.

	 The business model of the Group for assets 
subsequently measured at amortised cost 
category is to hold and collect contractual 
cash flows. However, considering the 
economic viability of carrying the delinquent 
portfolios in the books of the Group, it may 
sell these portfolios to banks and/or asset 
reconstruction companies.

	 After initial measurement, such financial 
assets are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost on effective interest rate 
(EIR) as given in para 4.1.(i) above. 
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(b) Financial Assets at FVOCI
	 The Group subsequently classifies its 

financial assets as FVOCI, only if both of the 
following criteria are met:
•	 The objective of the business model is 

achieved both by collecting contractual 
cash flows and selling the financial 
assets; and

•	 Contractual terms of the asset give rise 
on specified dates to cash flows that 
are Solely Payments of Principal and 
Interest (SPPI) on the principal amount 
outstanding.

	 Financial Assets included within the FVOCI 
category are measured at each reporting 
date at fair value with such changes being 
recognised in other comprehensive income 
(OCI). The interest income on these assets 
is recognised in profit or loss. 

	 On derecognition of the asset, cumulative 
gain or loss previously recognised in OCI is 
reclassified to profit or loss.

(c) Financial Assets at FVTPL
	 The Group classifies financial assets which are 

held for trading under FVTPL category. Held 
for trading assets are recorded and measured 
in the Balance Sheet at fair value. Interest 
and dividend incomes are recorded in interest 
income and dividend income, respectively 
according to the terms of the contract, or 
when the right to receive the same has been 
established. Gain and losses on changes in 
fair value of financial assets are recognised on 
net basis through profit or loss.

	 Term / fixed deposits held by the Group have 
been classified under this category
(ii)	 Classification and Measurement of 

Equity instruments
	 All equity investments other than 

in subsidiaries and associates 
are measured at fair value. Equity 
instruments which are held for trading 
are classified as at FVTPL. For all other 
equity instruments, the Company at 
initial recognition makes an irrevocable 
election to classify it as either FVTOCI 
or FVTPL. The Group makes such 
election on an instrument by instrument 
basis. An equity investment classified as 
FVTOCI is initially measured at fair value 
plus transaction costs. Subsequently, it 

is measured at fair value and, all fair 
value changes are recognised in Other 
Comprehensive Income (OCI) and 
accumulated in Reserve. There is no 
recycling of the amounts from OCI to 
Statement of Profit and Loss, even on 
sale of investment. However, the Group  
transfers the same within equity. As at 
the reporting date, there are no such 
equity instruments held by the Group.

(iii) 	Derecognition of Financial Assets
	 The Group derecognises a financial 

asset (or, where applicable, a part of a 
financial asset) when:

•	 The right to receive cash flows from the 
asset have expired; or

•	 The Group has transferred its right 
to receive cash flows from the asset 
or has assumed an obligation to pay 
the received cash flows in full without 
material delay to a third party under an 
assignment arrangement and the Group 
has transferred substantially all the risks 
and rewards of the asset. Once the 
asset is derecognised, the Group does 
not have any continuing involvement in 
the same.

The Group transfers its financial assets 
through the partial assignment route and 
accordingly derecognises the transferred 
portion as it neither has any continuing 
involvement in the same nor does it retain 
any control. If the Group retains the right 
to service the financial asset for a fee, it 
recognises either a servicing asset or a 
servicing liability for that servicing contract. 
A service liability in respect of a service 
is recognised at fair value if the fee to be 
received is not expected to compensate the 
Group adequately for performing the service. 
If the fees to be received is expected to be 
more than adequate compensation for the 
servicing, a service asset is recognised for 
the servicing right at an amount determined 
on the basis of an allocation of the carrying 
amount of the larger financial asset.
On derecognition of a financial asset in its 
entirety, the difference between:

•	 the carrying amount (measured at the date 
of derecognition) and

•	 the consideration received (including any 
new asset obtained less any new liability 
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assumed) is recognised in profit or loss.
(iv) Impairment of financial assets
	 Expected Credit Loss (ECL) are 

recognised for financial assets held 
under amortised cost, measured at 
FVOCI, and certain loan commitments.

	 Financial assets where no significant 
increase in credit risk has been observed 
are considered to be in ‘stage 1’ and for 
which a 12-month ECL is recognised. 
Financial assets that are considered to 
have significant increase in credit risk are 
considered to be in ‘stage 2’ and those 
which are in default or for which there is 
an objective evidence of impairment are 
considered to be in ‘stage 3’. Lifetime 
ECL is recognised for stage 2 and stage 
3 financial assets.

	 At initial recognition, allowance 
(or provision in the case of loan 
commitments) is required for ECL 
towards default events that are possible 
in the next 12 months, or less, where the 
remaining life is less than 12 months.

	 In the event of a significant increase in 
credit risk, allowance (or provision) is 
required for ECL towards all possible 
default events over the expected life of 
the financial instrument (‘lifetime ECL’).

	 Financial assets (and the related 
impairment loss allowances) are written 
off in full, when there is no realistic 
prospect of recovery.

	 Treatment of the different stages of 
financial assets and the methodology 
of determination of ECL

(a) Credit impaired (stage 3)
	 The Group recognises a financial asset 

to be credit impaired and in stage 3 by 
considering relevant objective evidence, 
primarily whether:

•	 Contractual payments of either principal 
or interest are past due for more than 
180 days;

•	 The loan is otherwise considered to be 
in default.

	 Restructured loans, where repayment 
terms are renegotiated as compared 
to the original contracted terms due to 
significant credit distress of the borrower, 

are classified as credit impaired. Such 
loans continue to be in stage 3 until they 
exhibit regular payment of renegotiated 
principal and interest over a minimum 
observation period, typically 12 months 
– post renegotiation, and there are no 
other indicators of impairment. Having 
satisfied the conditions of timely payment 
over the observation period these loans 
could be transferred to stage 1 or 2 and 
a fresh assessment of the risk of default 
be done for such loans. 

	 Interest income is recognised by 
applying the EIR to the net amortised 
cost amount i.e. gross carrying amount 
less ECL allowance.

 (b) Significant increase in credit risk (stage 2)
	 An assessment of whether credit 

risk has increased significantly since 
initial recognition is performed at each 
reporting period by considering the 
change in the risk of default of the loan 
exposure. However, unless identified 
at an earlier stage, 90 days past due is 
considered as an indication of financial 
assets to have suffered a significant 
increase in credit risk. 

	 The measurement of risk of defaults under 
stage 2 is computed on homogenous 
portfolios, generally by nature of 
loans, tenors, underlying collateral, 
geographies and borrower profiles. 
The default risk is assessed using PD 
(probability of default) derived from past 
behavioural trends of default across the 
identified homogenous portfolios. These 
past trends factor in the past customer 
behavioural trends, credit transition 
probabilities and macroeconomic 
conditions. The assessed PDs are then 
aligned considering future economic 
conditions that are determined to have a 
bearing on ECL.

(c) Without significant increase in credit risk 
since initial recognition (stage 1)	

	 ECL resulting from default events that 
are possible in the next 12 months are 
recognised for financial instruments 
in stage 1. The Holding Company has 
ascertained default possibilities on past 
behavioural trends witnessed for each 
homogenous portfolio using application/
behavioural score cards and other 



CAPITAL LIMITED
intec

Sapne Aapke, Bharosa Apno Ka

ANNUAL REPORT 2023-24 129

Notes to consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March, 2024
(All amounts in Indian Rupees (Rs.) in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

performance indicators, determined 
statistically.

(d) Measurement of ECL
	 The assessment of credit risk and 

estimation of ECL are unbiased and 
probability weighted. It incorporates all 
information that is relevant including 
information about past events, current 
conditions and reasonable forecasts of 
future events and economic conditions 
at the reporting date. In addition, the 
estimation of ECL takes into account the 
time value of money. Forward looking 
economic scenarios determined with 
reference to external forecasts of economic 
parameters that have demonstrated 
a linkage to the performance of our 
portfolios over a period of time have been 
applied to determine impact of macro-
economic factors.

	 The Holding Company has calculated 
ECL using three main components: a 
probability of default (PD), a loss given 
default (LGD) and the exposure at default 
(EAD). ECL is calculated by multiplying 
the PD, LGD and EAD and adjusted for 
time value of money using a rate which 
is a reasonable approximation of EIR.

•	 Determination of PD is covered above 
for each stage of ECL.

•	 EAD represents the expected balance 
at default, taking into account the 
repayment of principal and interest 
from the Balance Sheet date to the date 
of default together with any expected 
drawdowns of committed facilities.

•	 LGD represents expected losses on the 
EAD given the event of default, taking 
into account, among other attributes, the 
mitigating effect of collateral value at the 
time it is expected to be realised and the 
time value of money.

	 A more detailed description of the 
methodology used for ECL is covered in 
the ‘credit risk’ section of note no. 32.16.

(ii) Financial liabilities
	 Financial liabilities include liabilities that 

represent a contractual obligation to deliver 
cash or another financial assets to another 
entity, or a contract that may or will be settled 
in the entities own equity instruments. Few 
examples of financial liabilities are trade 

payables, borrowings etc.
	 Initial measurement
	 All financial liabilities are recognised 

initially at fair value and, in the case of 
borrowings and payables, net of directly 
attributable transaction costs. The 
Company’s financial liabilities include 
trade payables, borrowings and other 
payables. 

	 Subsequent measurement
	 After initial recognition, all financial 

liabilities are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the EIR [Refer note 
no. 4.1(i)]. Any gains or losses arising on 
derecognition of liabilities are recognised 
in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

	 Derecognition
	 The Group derecognises a financial 

liability when the obligation under the 
liability is discharged, cancelled or 
expired.

(iii) Offsetting of financial instruments
	 Financial assets and financial liabilities 

are offset and the net amount is reported 
in the Balance Sheet only if there is 
an enforceable legal right to offset the 
recognised amounts with an intention 
to settle on a net basis or to realise 
the assets and settle the liabilities 
simultaneously.

4.4	Property plant and equipment 
(i)	 Property, plant and equipment are stated 

at cost, net of accumulated depreciation 
and accumulated impairment losses, if any, 
consistent with the criteria specified in Ind AS 
16 ‘Property, Plant and Equipment’. The cost 
comprises purchase price, borrowing costs 
if capitalization criteria are met and directly 
attributable cost of bringing the asset to its 
working condition for the intended use. Any 
trade discounts and rebates are deducted in 
arriving at the purchase price.

(ii)	 Subsequent expenditure related to an 
item of property, plant and equipment is 
added to its book value only if it increases 
the future benefits from the existing asset 
beyond its previously assessed standard 
of performance. All other expenses on 
existing property, plant and equipment, 
including day-to-day repair and maintenance 
expenditure and cost of replacing parts, are 
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charged to the Statement of Profit and Loss 
for the period during which such expenses 
are incurred.

(iii)	 An item of PPE and any significantly part 
initially recognized is derecognized upon 
disposal or when no future economic benefits 
are expected from its use or disposal. Any 
Gains or losses arising from de-recognition of 
fixed assets are measured as the difference 
between the net disposal proceeds and 
the carrying amount of the asset and are 
recognized in the statement of profit and loss 
when the asset is derecognized.

(iv)	Depreciation on property, plant and 
equipment is provided on straight-line method 
over the useful life of the assets estimated by 
the management, in the manner prescribed 
in Schedule II of the Companies Act, 2013. 
Immovable assets at the leased premises 
including civil works, fixtures and electrical 
items etc. are capitalized as leasehold 
improvements and are amortized over the 
primary period of lease subject to maximum 
of two years. The useful lives in the following 
case is different from those prescribed in 
Schedule II of the Companies Act, 2013.  

Asset

Useful life as 
per Schedule 

II of the 
Companies Act, 

2013 (No. of 
Years)

Useful life as 
assessed / 

estimated by 
the Company 
(No. of Years)

Electrical 
installations 10 8

Based on usage pattern and internal 
assessment, the management believes 
that the useful lives as given above best 
represent the period over which the 
management expects to use these assets. 
Hence the useful lives of these assets is 
different from the lives as prescribed in 
Schedule II of the Companies Act, 2013

(v)	 Depreciation on addition or on sale / discard 
of an asset is calculated pro-rata from / up 
to the date of such addition or sale/discard.

(vi)	 The residual values, useful lives and 
methods of depreciation of Plant, 
property and equipment are reviewed 
at each financial year end and adjusted 
prospectively, if appropriate.

4.5	 Intangible Assets and amortization thereof
(i)	 Intangible assets are recognized only if it is 

probable that the future economic benefits 
that are attributable to assets will flow to 
the Group and the costs of the assets can 
be measured reliably. Intangible assets 
comprising computer software are carried 
at cost less amortization and accumulated 
impairment, if any. Computer software 
including improvements are amortised over 
the management’s estimate of the useful life 
of such intangibles. Management estimates 
for useful life of intangibles is 6 years.

(ii)	 An intangible asset is derecognized on 
disposal, or when no future economic benefits 
are expected from use or disposal. Gains 
or losses arising from de-recognition of an 
intangible asset, measured as the difference 
between the net disposal proceeds and the 
carrying amount of the asset are recognised 
in the Statement of Profit and Loss when the 
asset is derecognized.

4.6	Employee Benefits:

(i)	 Short term employee benefits:
	 All employee benefits payable / available 

within twelve months of rendering the service 
are classified as short-term employee 
benefits. Benefits such as salaries, wages 
and bonus etc., are recognized in the same 
period in which the employee renders the 
related service.

(ii)	  Defined contribution plan:
	 Contributions towards Employees’ Provident 

Fund and State Insurance Scheme, are 
considered as defined contribution plans 
and the contributions are charged to the 
Statement of Profit and Loss for the year 
when the expense is actually incurred.

(ii)  Other long-term employee benefits:
	 Entitlements to annual leave are recognized 

when they accrue to employees. Leave 
entitlements can be availed while in service 
of employment subject to restriction on the 
maximum number of accumulations. The 
Holding Company determines the liability for 
such accumulated leave entitlements on the 
basis of actuarial valuation carried out by an 
independent actuary at the year end.

(iii)	 Defined benefit plan:

	 The Holding Company’s gratuity scheme is a 
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defined benefit plan. The plan provides for a 
lump sum payment to vested employees on 
retirement, death while in employment or on 
termination of employment. Vesting occurs 
upon completion of five years of service. The 
present value of the obligation under such 
defined benefit plans is determined based on 
the actuarial valuation on projected unit credit 
method as at the balance sheet date. Re-
measurement, comprising of actuarial gains 
and losses, are recognized immediately 
in the balance sheet with a corresponding 
debit or credit to retained earnings through 
OCI in the period in which they occur. Re-
measurements are not reclassified to 
Statement of Profit and Loss in subsequent 
periods. Liability towards Gratuity is funded 
/ managed by Life Insurance Corporation 
of India (‘LIC’). The short / excess of the 
Gratuity liability as compared to the net 
fund held by LIC is accounted for as liability/ 
assets as at the year end.

4.7	  Taxation
	 Tax expense for the year comprises of 

Current Tax and Deferred Tax.
a.	 Current Tax
	 Current income tax, assets and liabilities 

are measured at the amount expected to 
be paid to or recovered from the taxation 
authorities in accordance with the tax regime 
inserted by the Taxation Laws (Amendment) 
Act, 2019 in the Income Tax Act, 1961 and 
the Income Computation and Disclosure 
Standards (ICDS) enacted in India by using 
tax rates and the tax laws that are enacted at 
the reporting date.

	 Current tax relating to items recognized 
outside profit or loss is recognized in 
correlation to the underlying transactions 
either in OCI or directly in other equity. 
Management periodically evaluates 
positions taken in the tax returns with 
respect to situations in which the applicable 
tax regulations are subject to interpretation 
and establishes provisions where applicable. 

b.	 Deferred Tax
	 Deferred tax is provided using the liability 

method on temporary differences between 
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and 
their carrying amounts for financial reporting 
purposes at the reporting date. Deferred 

tax assets and liabilities are recognised for 
all deductible temporary differences, the 
carry forward of unused tax credits and any 
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are 
recognised to the extent that it is probable 
that taxable profit will be available against 
which the deductible temporary differences, 
and the carry forward of unused tax credits 
and unused tax losses can be utilised. The 
carrying amount of deferred tax assets is 
reviewed at each reporting date and reduced 
to the extent that it is no longer probable 
that sufficient taxable profit will be available 
to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset 
to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax 
assets are re-assessed at each reporting 
date and are recognised to the extent that 
it has become probable that future taxable 
profits will allow the deferred tax asset to 
be recovered. Deferred tax assets and 
liabilities are measured at the tax rates that 
are expected to apply in the year when the 
asset is realized or the liability is settled, 
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have 
been enacted or substantively enacted at the 
reporting date.

4.8	Provision, contingent liabilities and 
contingent assets
a)	 Provisions
	 Provisions are recognized when the Group 

has a present obligation (legal or constructive) 
as a result of a past event, and it is probable 
that an outflow of resources embodying 
economic benefits will be required to settle 
the obligation and a reliable estimate can be 
made of the amount of obligation. Provisions 
are measured at the best estimate of the 
expenditure required to settle the present 
obligation, at the balances sheet date.  

	 If the effect of the time value of money is 
material, provisions are discounted to reflect 
its present value using a current pre-tax rate 
that reflects the current market assessments 
of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the obligation. When discounting 
is used, the increase in the provision due 
to the passage of time is recognised as a 
finance cost.

b)	 Contingent Liabilities
	 A disclosure for a contingent liability is made 

when there is a possible obligation arising 
from past events, the existence of which 
will be confirmed only by the occurrence 
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or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain 
future events not wholly within the control of the 
Company or a present obligation arising as a 
result of past event that probably will not require 
an outflow of resources or where a reliable 
estimate of the obligation cannot be made.

c)	 Contingent Assets
	 Contingent assets are not recognized in the 

financial statements. However, contingent 
assets are assessed continually and if it is 
virtually certain that an inflow of economic 
benefits will arise, the asset and related 
income are recognized in the period in which 
the change occurs.

4.9	 Earnings per share
	 Basic earnings per equity share is computed by 

dividing net profit/ loss attributable to the equity 
shareholders of the Group by the weighted 
average number of equity shares outstanding 
during the financial year.

	 For the purpose of calculating diluted 
earnings per share, the net profit or loss for 
the year attributable to equity shareholders 
and the weighted average number of shares 
outstanding during the year are adjusted for the 
effects of all dilutive potential equity shares.

4.10	 Leases
	 The determination of whether an arrangement 

is, or contains, a lease is based on the 
substance of the arrangement at the inception 
of the lease. The arrangement is, or contains, 
a lease if fulfilment of the arrangement is 
dependent on the use of a specific asset or 
assets and the arrangement conveys a right to 
use the asset or assets, even if that right is not 
explicitly specified in an arrangement.

	 The Group has taken certain assets on 
Operating Lease. Operating Lease is a 
contract, which conveys the right to Lessee, 
to control the use of an identified asset for a 
period of time, the lease term, in exchange for 
consideration. The Group assesses whether a 
contract is, or contains, a lease on inception.

	 The lease term is either the non-cancellable period 
of the lease and any additional periods when there 
is an enforceable option to extend the lease and 
it is reasonably certain that the Group will extend 
the term, or a lease period in which it is reasonably 
certain that the Group will not exercise a right to 
terminate. The lease term is reassessed if there is 
a significant change in circumstances.

	 At commencement, or on the modification, of 
a contract that contains a lease component, 
the Group allocates the consideration in the 
contract to each lease component on the basis 
of its relative stand-alone prices.

	 The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a 
lease liability at the lease commencement date. 
The right-of-use asset is initially measured at 
cost, which comprises the initial amount of the 
lease liability adjusted for any lease payments 
made at or before the commencement date, 
plus any initial direct costs incurred and an 
estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the 
underlying asset or to restore the underlying 
asset or the site on which it is located, less any 
lease incentives received.

	 The right-of-use asset is amortised / 
depreciated using straight-line method from the 
commencement date to the end of the lease 
term. If the lessor transfers ownership of the 
underlying asset to the Group by the end of 
the lease term or if the Company expects to 
exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use 
asset will be depreciated over the useful life of 
the underlying asset, which is determined on 
the same basis as the Group’s other property, 
plant and equipment. Right-of-use assets are 
reduced by impairment losses, if any, and 
adjusted for certain re-measurements of the 
lease liability.

	 The lease liability is initially measured at the 
present value of the total lease payments due 
on the commencement date, discounted using 
either the interest rate implicit in the lease, 
if readily determinable, or more usually, an 
estimate of the Group’s incremental borrowing 
rate on the inception date for a loan with similar 
terms to the lease. The incremental borrowing 
rate is estimated by obtaining interest rates 
from various external financing sources.

	 The lease liability is measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method. It is 
remeasured when there is a change in future 
lease payments arising from a change in an 
index or rate, if there is a change in the Group’s 
estimate of the amount expected to be payable 
under a residual value guarantee, if the Group 
changes its assessment of whether it will exercise 
a purchase, extension or termination option or 
if there is a revised in-substance fixed lease 
payment. When the lease liability is remeasured 
in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made 
to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, 
or is recorded in the statement of profit or loss if 
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the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has 
been reduced to zero.

	 In accordance with Ind AS 116, the Group 
does not recognise right-of-use assets and 
lease liabilities for leases of low-value assets 
and short-term leases i.e. leases with a lease 
term of 12 months or less and containing no 
purchase options. Payments associated with 
these leases are recognised as an expense on 
a straight-line basis over the lease term.

4.11	 Statement of Cash flows:
	 For the purpose of Consolidated Statement 

of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents 
comprise cash on hand, cash at banks, 
short-term deposits with an original maturity 
of three months or less and other short term 
investments, that are readily convertible to 
known amounts of cash and which are subject 
to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

4.12	 Impairment of Non-Financial Assets
	 The Group assesses, at each reporting date, 

using external and internal sources, whether there 
is an indication that a non-financial asset may be 
impaired and also whether there is an indication 
of reversal of impairment loss recognised in the 
previous period/s. If any indication exists, or 
when annual impairment testing for an asset is 
required, the Group determines the recoverable 
amount and impairment loss is recognised 
when the carrying value of an asset exceeds its 
recoverable amount. 

	 The recoverable amount is determined:
	 - in the case of an individual asset, at the higher 

of the asset’s fair value less cost of sell and 
value in use; and

	 - in the case of cash generating unit (a group of 
assets that generates identified, independent 
cash flows) at the higher of the cash generating 
unit’s fair value less cost to sell and value in 
use.

	 In assessing value in use, estimated future 
cash flows are discounted to their present 
value using a pre-tax discount rate that effects 
current market assessments of the time 
value of money and the risks specific to that 
asset. In determining fair value less costs of 
disposal, recent market transactions are taken 
into account. If no such transactions can be 
identified, an appropriate valuation model is 
used. These calculations are corroborated by 
valuation multiples, quoted share prices for 
publicly traded companies or other available 

fair value indicators.
	 An impairment loss for an asset is reversed, 

if and only if, the reversal can be related 
objectively to an event occurring after the 
impairment loss was recognized, the carrying 
amount of an asset is increased to its revised 
recoverable amount, provided that this amount 
does not exceed the carrying amount that 
would have been determined (net of any 
accumulated amortization or depreciation) had 
no impairment loss being recognized for the 
asset in prior year/s. 

4.13	 Fair value measurement 
	 The Group measures its qualifying financial 

instruments at fair value on each Balance 
Sheet date.

	 Fair value is the price that would be received 
against sale of an asset or paid to transfer 
a liability in an orderly transaction between 
market participants at the measurement date. 
The fair value measurement is based on the 
presumption that the transaction to sell the 
asset or transfer the liability takes place in 
the accessible principal market or the most 
advantageous accessible market as applicable.

	 The Group uses valuation techniques that are 
appropriate in the circumstances and for which 
sufficient data is available to measure fair value, 
maximising the use of relevant observable 
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable 
inputs.

	 All assets and liabilities for which fair value 
is measured or disclosed in the financial 
statements are categorised within the fair value 
hierarchy into Level I, Level II and Level III 
based on the lowest level input that is significant 
to the fair value measurement as a whole. For a 
detailed information on the fair value hierarchy, 
refer note no. 32.14.

	 For assets and liabilities that are fair valued in 
the financial statements on a recurring basis, 
the Group determines whether transfers have 
occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-
assessing categorisation (based on the lowest 
level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement as a whole) at the end of each 
reporting period.

	 For the purpose of fair value disclosures, 
the Group has determined classes of assets 
and liabilities on the basis of the nature, 
characteristics and risks of the asset or liability 
and the level of the fair value hierarchy.
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5 Cash and cash equivalents As at  
31 March, 2024

As at  
31 March, 2023

Cash on hand  46.78  8.61 
Balances with banks - in current accounts (Refer note 5.1)  400.25  115.29 
Drafts on Hand  80.13  -   
In term deposits having maturity of 3 months or less  0.42  -   
Total  527.58  123.90 

5.1 Includes Rs. 75.30 lakhs (Previous year: Rs. 75.30 lakhs) lien marked by a Bank. (Refer note 17.6).

6 Bank balances other than Cash and cash equivalents As at  
31 March, 2024

As at  
31 March, 2023

Balances with banks
- in term deposits having original maturity more than 3 months but less 
than 12 months

0.35

- in unpaid dividend account  -    0.48 
Total  -    0.83 

7 Loans As at  
31 March, 2024

As at  
31 March, 2023

At amortised cost
a. Secured term loans  12,138.70  12,298.95 
b. Unsecured term loans  1,444.82  1,621.75 

Total - Gross  13,583.52  13,920.70 
Less: Impairment loss allowance  8,738.66  8,340.78 
Total - Net  4,844.86  5,579.92 

7.1 Break-up of Secured/Unsecured loans
a. Secured by Tangible assets  12,138.70  12,298.95 

Less: Impairment loss allowance  7,496.58  7,193.47 
Secured - net  4,642.12  5,105.48 

b. Unsecured  1,444.82  1,621.75 
Less: Impairment loss allowance  1,242.08  1,147.31 
Unsecured - net  202.74  474.44 

Total (a+b)  4,844.86  5,579.92 

7.2 Break-up of Loans In India/Outside India
a. Loans in India

i. Public Sector  -    -   
ii. Others  13,583.52  13,920.70 

Less: Impairment loss allowance  8,738.66  8,340.78 
 4,844.86  5,579.92 

b. Loans outside India  -    -   

Total(a+b)  4,844.86  5,579.92 
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Notes forming part of the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March, 2024
(All amounts in Indian Rupees (Rs.) in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

8 Investments As at  
31 March, 2024

As at  
31 March, 2023

Investment in Equity Instruments
(At amortised cost)
- Pantec Devices Private Limited  1.16  1.16 
- Pantec Consultants Private Limited  1.01  1.01 
- Intec Worldwide Private Limited  0.86  0.86 
- Spherical Collection Agency (P) Ltd.  1.11  1.11 
- Intec Share & Stock Brokers Limited  2.26  2.26 
- Spectacle Advisory Solutions Pvt. Ltd.  0.44  0.44 
Total Investments  6.84  6.84 
Out of above

In India  6.84  6.84 
Outside India  -    -   

9 Other financial assets As at  
31 March, 2024

As at  
31 March, 2023

  Security deposits  9.63  18.75 
  Interest accured and due on loans  316.57  442.80 
  Less: Impairment loss allowance  (53.26)  -   

Interest accured but not due on loans  -    0.09 
  Advances to employees  24.20  2.11 
  Balance with government authorities  172.61  155.99 
  Other advances  0.83  1.01 
  Total  470.58  620.75 
       

10 Current tax assets (net) As at  
31 March, 2024

As at  
31 March, 2023

Tax deducted at source  4.61  3.66 
Total  4.61  3.66 

11 Deferred tax assets (net) As at  
31 March, 2024

As at  
31 March, 2023

i. Reconciliation of tax expenses and profit/loss before tax multiplied 
by corporate tax rate 
Loss before tax  887.89  1,951.97 
At corporate tax rate of 25.168%  -    -   
Tax (credit) / impact on timinig differences (322.57)  863.52 
Tax (credit) / expense (322.57)  863.52 

ii. Deferred tax assets recorded in Balance Sheet As at  
31 March, 2024

As at  
31 March, 2023

Deferred tax assets:
- Impairment on financial instruments  2,416.87  2,099.21 
- Lease liabilities  17.81  18.11 
- Depreciation and amortisation  7.56  8.52 
- Provision for employee benefits  4.38  -   
Gross deferred tax assets  2,446.62  2,125.84 
Deferred tax liabilities:
- Right-of-use assets  14.18  14.42 
- Financial instruments measured at EIR  187.60  187.68 
- Provision for employee benefits  -    0.76 
Gross deferred tax liabilities  201.78  202.86 
Deferred tax assets (net)  2,244.84  1,922.98 

iii. Changes in deferred tax assets recorded in profit or loss 
(Refer note 32.22 & 32.23)

As at  
31 March, 2024

As at  
31 March, 2023

Deferred tax relates to the following:
- Impairment on financial instruments  (317.66)  866.06 
- Financial instruments measured at EIR  (0.08) (2.48)
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Notes forming part of the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March, 2024
(All amounts in Indian Rupees (Rs.) in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

- Depreciation and amortisation  0.96 0.83 
- Right-of-use assets  (0.24) (9.56)
- Lease liabilities  0.30  9.85 
- Provision for employee benefits  (5.85) (1.18)

 (322.57)  863.52 
iv. Changes in deferred tax assets recorded in other comprehensive 

income
As at  

31 March, 2024
As at  

31 March, 2023
Deferred tax relates to the following:
- Re-measurement gain on defined benefit plan (net of Tax)  0.71  0.73 

 0.71  0.73 
Total  (321.86)  864.25 

12 Property, Plant and Equipment and Capital work-in-progress (As at 31 March, 2024)
Gross block Accumulated depreciation  Net Block 

 Particulars  As at  
01 April, 

2023 

 Additions  Deductions 
/ 

adjustments

 As at  
31 

March, 
2024 

 As at  
01 

April, 
2023 

 
Depreciation/ 

 Deductions 
/ 

adjustments

 As at  
31 

March, 
2024 

 As at  
31 

March, 
2024 

 As at  
31 

March, 
2023 

 amortisation 

a. Property, Plant 
and Equipment 
Vehicles  46.94  -    3.21  43.73  38.63  1.47  -    40.10  3.63  8.31 
Building  377.28  377.28  61.70  12.34  -    74.04  303.24  315.58 
Office equipment  10.64  -    0.02  10.62  8.51  0.87  -    9.38  1.24  2.13 
Data processing 
equipments 

 39.51  0.40  3.19  36.72  23.64  4.82  3.19  25.27  11.45  15.88 

Furniture and 
fixtures 

 10.52  -    -    10.52  0.85  0.96  -    1.81  8.71  9.67 

Leasehold 
improvements 

 1.09  -    -    1.09  1.09  -    -    1.09  -    -   

Electric 
installations 

 0.65  -    -    0.65  0.24  0.08  -    0.32  0.33  0.41 

Air conditioners  4.65  -    -    4.65  2.88  0.24  -    3.12  1.53  1.77 
Land  888.81  888.81  -    -    -    -    888.81  888.81 
Total - Current 
Year 

1,380.09  0.40  6.42 1,374.07  137.54  20.78  3.19  155.13 1,218.95 1,242.56 

b. Capital Work 
in Progress  

-  -   -  -    -    -    -    -    -   -

Grand Total - 
Previous Year 

1,380.09  0.40  6.42 1,374.07  137.54  20.78  3.19  155.13 1,218.95 1,242.56 

Property, Plant and Equipment and Capital work-in-progress (As at 31 March, 2023) 
 Particulars Gross block Accumulated depreciation  Net Block 

 As at  
01 April, 

2022 

 Additions  Deductions 
/ 

adjustments

 As at  
31 

March, 
2023 

 As at  
01 

April, 
2022 

 Depreciation  Deductions 
/ 

adjustments

 As at  
31 

March, 
2023 

 As at  
31 

March, 
2023 

 As at  
31 

March, 
2022 

a. Property, Plant 
and Equipment 
Vehicles  46.94  -    -    46.94  36.39  2.24  -    38.63  8.31  10.55 
Buidling  377.28  -    -    377.28  49.36  12.34  -    61.70  315.58  327.92 
Office equipment  9.64  0.99  -    10.63  7.30  1.21  -    8.51  2.12  2.34 
Data processing 
equipments 

 32.59  8.12  1.19  39.52  16.06  8.72  1.14  23.64  15.88  16.53 

Furniture and 
fixtures 

 2.45  8.07  -    10.52  0.46  0.39  -    0.85  9.67  1.99 

Leasehold 
improvements 

 1.09  -    -    1.09  0.98  0.11  -    1.09  -    0.11 

Electric 
installations 

 0.77  -    0.12  0.65  0.17  0.07  -    0.24  0.41  0.60 

Air conditioners  4.65  -    -    4.65  2.53  0.35  -    2.88  1.77  2.12 

Changes in deferred tax assets recorded in profit or loss 
(Refer note 32.22 & 32.23)

As at  
31 March, 2024

As at  
31 March, 2023
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(All amounts in Indian Rupees (Rs.) in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

 Land  888.81  -    -    888.81  -    -    -    -    888.81  888.81 
 Total - (A)  1,364.22  17.18  1.31 1,380.09  113.25  25.43  1.14  137.54 1,242.55 1,250.97 
b. Capital Work 
in Progress 

 0.35  -    0.35  -    -    -    -    -    -    0.35 

Grand Total - 
Previous Year 

1,364.57  17.18  1.66 1,380.09  113.25  25.43  1.14  137.54 1,242.55 1,251.32 

  Note 12.1 : Refer para 4.4 of Material Accounting Policies for depreciation on property, plant and equipment. 

13. Intangible Assets (As at 31 March, 2024)
Particulars Gross block Accumulated amortization  Net Block 

As at
01 April, 

2023 

Additions  Deductions 
/ 

adjustments

As at
31 

March, 
2024 

As at
01 April, 

2023 

Amortisation eductions / 
adjustments

As at
31 

March, 
2024 

As at
31 

March, 
2024 

As at
31 

March, 
2023 

Computer 
software 

 71.86  -    -    71.86  55.71  4.22  -    59.93  11.93  16.15 

Total  71.86  -    -    71.86  55.71  4.22  -    59.93  11.93  16.15 
Intangible Assets (As at 31 March, 2023) 
Particulars Gross block Accumulated amortisation Net Block 

As at
01 April, 

2022 

Additions Deductions / 
adjustments

As at
31 

March, 
2023 

As at
01 April, 

2022 

 Amortisation Deductions 
/ 

adjustments

As at
31 

March, 
2023 

As at
31 

March, 
2023 

As at
31 

March, 
2022 

Computer 
software

 71.86  -    -    71.86  50.51  5.20  -    55.71  16.15  21.35 

Total  71.86  -    -    71.86  50.51  5.20  -    55.71  16.15  21.35 

 13.1 : Refer para 4.5 of Material Accounting Policies for amortisation on intangible assets. 
14. Right-of-use Assets (As at 31 March, 2024) 
Particulars Gross block Accumulated amortization  Net Block 

As at
 01 

April, 
2023

Additions Deductions / 
adjustments

As at
31 

March, 
2024 

As at
 01 

April, 
2023 

Amortisation Deductions 
/ 

adjustments

As at
31 

March, 
2024 

As at
31 

March, 
2024 

As at
31 

March, 
2023 

Premises  140.04  32.77  58.34  114.47  82.73  24.11  48.71  58.13  56.34  57.31 
Total  140.04  32.77  58.34  114.47  82.73  24.11  48.71  58.13  56.34  57.31 

Right-of-use Assets (As at 31 March, 2023) 
Particulars Gross block Accumulated amortization  Net Block 

As at
01 April, 

2022 

Additions Deductions / 
adjustments

As at
31 

March, 
2023 

As at
01 April, 

2022 

Amortisation Deductions 
/ 

adjustments

As at
31 

March, 
2023 

As at
31 

March, 
2023 

As at
31 

March, 
2022 

Premises  153.21  -    13.17  140.04  57.92  25.23  0.42  82.73  57.31  95.29 
Total  153.21  -    13.17  140.04  57.92  25.23  0.42  82.73  57.31  95.29 

14.1 : Refer para 4.11 of Material Accounting Policies for amortization of Right-of-use-Assets. 

15 Other non-financial assets Note As at  
31 March, 2024

As at  
31 March, 2023

Prepaid expenses  7.99  11.13 
Plan Assets of employee benefits (Net of provision) - Gratuity 32.3  -    6.37 

 Particulars Gross block Accumulated depreciation  Net Block 
 As at  

01 April, 
2022 

 Additions  Deductions 
/ 

adjustments

 As at  
31 

March, 
2023 

 As at  
01 

April, 
2022 

 Depreciation  Deductions 
/ 

adjustments

 As at  
31 

March, 
2023 

 As at  
31 

March, 
2023 

 As at  
31 

March, 
2022 
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Total  7.99  17.50 

16 Non-current assets held for sale As at  
31 March, 2024

As at  
31 March, 2023

Assets held for sale  122.93  122.93 

Total  122.93  122.93 

16.1 Company has acquired certain properties on settlement of loan dues from its borrowers which has been classified as 
held for sale and is being measured at the lower of carrying value or fair value less cost to sell. Fair market value of 
these properties is estimated at Rs. 269.42 lakhs based on valuation conducted by a registered valuer. 

17 Borrowings 
(At amortised cost)

Note As at  
31 March, 2024

As at  
31 March, 2023

Secured
i. Term Loans from Banks 17.1 & 

17.3
 837.04  851.27 

ii. Working Capital Loans from Banks 17.2 & 
17.3

 4,453.22  4,477.54 

Unsecured
i. Inter-corporate Deposits from a related party 17.5  202.04  -   

Total  5,492.30  5,328.81 
Borrowings in India  5,492.30  5,328.81 
Borrowings outside India  -    -   
Total  5,492.30  5,328.81 

17.1 Terms of security and repayment are given below:
As at 31 March, 2024

Particulars Maturity pattern
0-1 years 1-2 years 2-3 years Total

Term Loans

 Refer note 17.3 below 

(i) Secured by hypothecation of loan receivables  
(also refer note- 17.1.1)
- for loans taken from banks 
(Interest rates range between 10.50%- 15.00% per 
annum)
Total 

As at 31 March, 2023
Particulars Maturity pattern

0-1 years 1-2 years 2-3 years Total
Term Loans

 Refer note 17.3 below
			 

(i) Secured by hypothecation of loan receivables  
(also refer note- 17.1.1)
- for loans taken from banks 

   (Interest rates range between 10.50%- 15.00% per 
annum)

17.1.1 Loans also guaranteed by Managing Director
- loans of Rs. 837.04 lakhs (31.03.2023: Rs. 851.27 lakhs) also secured by personal guarantee of Managing 
Director.					  

Notes forming part of the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March, 2024
(All amounts in Indian Rupees (Rs.) in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)
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17.2 Terms of Security and Interest Rates for Working Capital Loans:
(i) Working Capital loans from banks are secured by :

(a)	 Primary Security- first pari passu charge on present and future receivables of the Company.
(b)	 Collateral Security - Immovable properties belonging to promoter & others.
(c)	 Personal guarantees of Managing Director and relative of Managing Director.
(d)	 Corporate guarantee of Bubble Infosolution Private Limited (Company in which Managing Director of the 

Company is a director) and Amulet Technologies Limited, Subsidary of the Company)
(ii) Interest rates on above loans range between 11.65 % - 15.00 % per annum (31.03.2023: 11.65% - 15.00%).

17.3 Details of Default in repayment of Borrowings as at 31 March, 2024 is given below:
(i) Term loans:

(Amount in Rs.)
Name of Bank NPA Date Total 

Outstanding 
as at 31 

March, 2023

Amount of  
Interest 

accrued and 
debited by 
the banks

Amount of  
Interest 

accrued but 
not debited 

by the banks

Total Default 
(Installments 

& interest)

Punjab National Bank (Ex- United Bank 
of India)

31.03.2022 559.15 304.75 49.95  913.85 

  Bank of India 30.09.2020 277.89 32.73 187.95 498.57
Total  8,37.04  3,37.48 237.90  1,412.42 

(ii) Cash Credit Loans from Banks:
 (Amount in Rs.) 

Name of Bank NPA Date  Total 
Outstanding 

as at 31 
March, 2023 

 Amount of  
Interest 

accrued and 
debited by 
the banks 

 Amount of  
Interest 

accrued but 
not debited 

by the banks 

 Total 
Default 

(Installments 
& interest) 

Punjab National Bank 16.06.2019 1,069.45 1,437.28  -   2,506.73
Punjab National Bank (Ex- Oriental 
Bank of Commerce)

02.08.2019 485.06 308.66  -   793.72

Indian Overseas Bank 30.09.2019 1,534.85 208.88 1,141.24 2,884.97
Central Bank of India 30.11.2019 907.19  -   737.64 1,644.83
Bank of India 30.06.2019 606.37  -   609.68 1,216.05
Total 4,602.92 1,954.82 2,488.56 9,046.30
Less: Held with Banks under no lien account (Refer 
note 17.6)

149.70  -    -   149.70

Total Cash Credit Loans 4,453.22 1,954.82 2,488.56 8,896.60

17.4 The Company has availed term loans and working capital facilities from various banks, however, slow down of 
its lending business and increased level of non-performing / impaired loan portfolio, has impacted its cash flow / 
liquidity, and the Company is un-able to service term loans and working capital facilities including interest thereon 
to certain banks as detailed in para 17.3 above. As the proposals for restructuring / settlement submitted by the 
Company was not accepted by the banks, and as in view of the Company the same was not justifiable considering 
the present financial and business compulsions of the Company, it is in talks with the banks for reconsideration of 
their decision and has also approached the Hon’ble Delhi High Court for necessary relief in the regard. The matter is 
sub-judice. As the Company is reasonably hopeful that its proposals for restructuring / settlement which include the 
waiver / reduction of interest will be finally approved / accepted, interest of Rs. 5,018.76 lakhs i.e. Rs. 1,459.32 lakhs 
for the current year and Rs. 3,559.44 lakhs for the period upto 31 March, 2023, though accrued on these loans, has 
not been provided in these financial statements.

Notes forming part of the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March, 2024
(All amounts in Indian Rupees (Rs.) in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)
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17.5 Unsecured credit facilities (including interest accrued but not due of Rs. 6.50 lakhs, TDS of Rs. 0.65 is deducted) 
obtained from a related party and carries interest rate of 15.00% per annum for a tenor of maximum 36 months with 
maturity due in September, 2026, balance of loan as on 31st March 2024 is Rs. 202.04 lakhs. These facilities have 
been obtained for utilizing for day-to-day business operational payments as Bank accounts of the Company are 
freezed by the Borrower Banks since July, 2023. 			 

17.6  Amount of Rs. 225.00 lakhs held under lien with Banks i.e. Rs. 149.70 lakhs held under no lien account and Rs. 
75.30 lakhs has been lien marked by a Bank (Refer note 5.1). 					   

18 Other financial liabilities Note As at  
31 March, 2024

As at  
31 March, 2023

Interest accrued on outstanding dues of micro enterprises and 
small enterprises 

18.1  1.58  -   

Unclaimed dividends  -    0.48 
Payable to customers (borrowers)  24.75  27.83 
Payable to employees  238.71  130.91 
Accrued expenses and payables 18.1  202.35  140.33 
Total  467.39  299.55 

18.1 Disclosure for dues for micro enterprises and small enterprises refer para 32.2.

19 Provisions Note As at  
31 March, 2024

As at  
31 March, 2023

For employee benefits: 32.3
  - Leave encashment  2.72  3.33 
  - Gratuity (net of plan assets)  14.67  -   

Total  17.39  3.33 

20 Other non-financial liabilities As at  
31 March, 2024

As at  
31 March, 2023

Statutory dues payable  39.15  18.01 

Total  39.15  18.01 

21 Equity Share Capital
Particulars As at  

31 March, 2024
As at  

31 March, 2023
Authorised share capital
Equity Shares:
3,50,00,000 equity shares of Rs. 10 each  3,500.00  3,500.00 
Preference Shares:
15,00,000 preference shares of Rs. 100 each  1,500.00  1,500.00 
   5,000.00  5,000.00 
Issued, subscribed and fully paid-up
Equity Shares:
1,83,66,250 equity shares of Rs. 10 each fully paid up  1,836.63  1,836.63 
Total                 1,836.63              1,836.63 
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Notes:
21.1 Reconciliation of number of shares outstanding at the beginning and at the end of the year

Particulars
 

As at
31 March, 2024

As at
31 March, 2023

No. of Shares Amount No. of Shares Amount
Equity shares

Balance at the beginning of the year  1,83,66,250  1,836.63  1,83,66,250  1,836.63 

Balance as at end of the year  1,83,66,250  1,836.63  1,83,66,250  1,836.63 

21.2 Rights, preferences and restrictions attached to each class of shares
The Company has only one class of Equity Share having par value of Rs. 10 per share. Each shareholder is 
eligble for one vote per share held. All Equity Shareholders are entitled to receive dividend as declared from time 
to time. The voting rights cannot be exercised in respect of shares on which any call or other sums presently 
payable have not been paid. In the event of liquidation, the equity shareholders are eligible to receive the 
remaining assets of the Company in proportion of their shareholding.				  

21.3 Detail of shareholders holding more than 5% of the aggregate shares in the Holding Company:
Particulars As at 31 March, 2024 As at 31 March, 2023
Shareholders No. of Shares % age of  

share 
holding

No. of Shares % age of  
share holding 

Equity Shares

Pantec Devices Private Limited  44,97,264 24.49%  44,97,264 24.49%

India Business Excellence Fund-IIA  35,20,062 19.17%  36,35,958 19.80%

India Business Excellence Fund-II  22,06,208 12.01%  22,77,972 12.40%

Pantec Consultant Private Limited  14,53,771 7.92%  14,53,771 7.92%

Sanjeev Goel (Including shares held in 
IBEF - II Escrow account)

 12,44,464 6.77%  12,44,464 6.77%

21.4 Details of Shareholding of Promoter/s:
Shares held by promoter/s at the end of the year % age change during 
S.No.     Promoter name No. of Shares % age of  

total shares
31 March, 2024 31 March, 2023

1.	 Pantec Devices Private Limited  44,97,264 24.49% No change No change

2.	 India Business Excellence Fund-IIA  35,20,062 19.17% (-) 3.19% (-) 0.05%
3.	 India Business Excellence Fund-II  22,06,208 12.01% (-) 3.15% (-) 0.04%
4.	 Pantec Consultant Private Limited  14,53,771 7.92% No change No change
5.	 Intec Worldwide Private Limited  5,19,267 2.82% No change No change
6.	 Sanjeev Goel (Including held in IBEF 
- II Escrow account)

 12,44,464 6.77% No change No change

7.	 Pranav Goel  32,900 0.18% No change No change
8.	 Dhruv Goel  32,900 0.18% No change No change
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22 Other Equity
Particulars   As at  

31 March, 2024
As at  

31 March, 2023
Securities premium
As per last account 8,843.84 8,843.84 
Statutory Reserve as per Section 45-IC of RBI Act.
As per last account 1,868.50 1,868.50 

Impairment Reserve
As per last account  2,546.93  2,326.44 
(Reduction) / Addition during the year (Refer Note 32.16)  -    220.49 
Closing Balance  2,546.93  2,546.93 

Retained earnings
As per last account (11,102.46) (8,066.48)
(Loss) for the year (565.33) (2,815.49)
Reversal / (Appropriation) to Impairment Reserve  -    (220.49)
Closing Balance (11,667.79) (11,102.46)

Other Comprehensive Income / (loss) - Re-measurement gains on 
defined benefit plan

   

As per last account 0.23 (1.96)
Addition during the year (net of tax) 2.10 2.19 
Closing Balance 2.33 0.23 

Total    1,593.82  2,157.04 

22.1 Nature and purpose of other equity:
i Security Premium

Securities premium is used to record the premium on issue of shares. It can be utilised only for limited purposes in 
accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013				  

ii Statutory Reserve as per Section 45-IC(1) of RBI Act, 1934
Reserve fund is created as per the terms of section 45-IC(1) of the Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934 as a statutory 
reserve.

iii Impairment Reserve
Reserve Bank of India (RBI) issued Notification No. DOR (NBFC).CC.PD.No.109/22.10.106/2019-20 dated 13 
March, 2020 in respect of ‘Implementation of Indian Accounting Standards’ by NBFCs. In terms of the said circular, 
in case where the impairment allowance under Ind AS 109 is lower than the provisioning required under Income 
Recognition, Asset Classification and Provisioning (IRACP) Norms (including standard asset provisioning) issued 
by RBI, the Company is required to appropriate the difference from their net profit after tax to “Impairment Reserve”. 
No withdrawals are permitted from this reserve without prior permission from the Department of Supervision, 
RBI. Refer Note. 32.17 in respect of the disclosure in respect of comparison between impairment allowance and 
provisioning under IRACP Norms.  				      

iv Retained Earnings
The profit/loss earned till date, less any transfers/appropriations to any other reserve, dividends or other distribution 
paid to shareholders. 

v Other Comprehensive Income / (Loss)
The other comprehensive income / (loss) till date, which is available for set off or adjustable only against such 
income/loss in future.
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23 Interest income For the year ended  
31 March, 2024

For the year ended  
31 March, 2023

Interest income on:
- loans  265.28  181.14 
- financial instruments  1.02  146.55 

Total  266.30  327.69 

24 Fees and commission 
income

For the year ended  
31 March, 2024

For the year ended  
31 March, 2023

Income on preclosure of loans  -    1.10 
Other service fees  0.18  0.71 

Total  0.18  1.81 

25 Recoveries of financial assets written off For the year ended  
31 March, 2024

For the year ended  
31 March, 2023

Recoveries of financial assets written off  107.16  359.84 

Total  107.16  359.84 

26 Other income For the year ended  
31 March, 2024

For the year ended  
31 March, 2023

Liabilities no longer required written back  1.62  158.48 
Gain on cessation of lease liability  2.31 
Profit on disposal of property, plant & equipment (net)  0.25  0.12 
Miscellaneous Income  11.54  2.43 

Total  15.72  161.03 

27 Finance costs Note For the year ended  
31 March, 2024

For the year ended  
31 March, 2023

On financial liabilities measured at amortised cost:
- on borrowings - inter-corporate deposits 17.5  6.50  -   
- on borrowings - CC from banks 17.4  -    3.58 
- on borrowings - car loan from bank  -    0.02 
- on outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small  

   enterprises 
32.2  1.58  -   

- on lease liabilities 32.6  11.18  10.75 
Other borrowing costs  3.24  0.80 
Total  22.50  15.15 
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28 Impairment on financial instruments For the year ended  
31 March, 2024

For the year ended  
31 March, 2023

(Measured at amortised cost)
Loans written off (including interest) 32.21  -    

5,080.47 
Less: Impairment loss allowance  -    (4,026.86)
Impairment loss allowance on:
- loans (including interest accrued)  451.14  585.72 

Total  451.14 1,639.33 

29 Employee benefits expenses For the year ended  
31 March, 2024

For the year ended  
31 March, 2023

Salaries and wages  350.65  493.27 
Contribution to provident and other funds  8.70  10.39 
Staff welfare expenses  12.21  14.16 

Total  371.56  517.82 

30 Depreciation and 
amortization 

Note For the year ended  
31 March, 2024

For the year ended  
31 March, 2023

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 12  20.78  25.43 
Amortization of intangible assets 13  4.22  5.20 
Amortization of right-of-use assets 14  24.11  25.23 

Total  49.11  55.86 

31 Other expenses For the year ended  
31 March, 2024

For the year ended  
31 March, 2023

Rent  10.05  4.25 
Insurance  10.71  9.22 
Legal & professional  226.07  339.95 
Payment to Auditors:
- Statutory Audit  5.74  5.74 
- Tax Audit  1.00  1.00 
- Limited Reviews  3.00  3.00 
- Other services  0.47  0.46 
- Reimbursement of expenses  0.66  0.17 
Rates & taxes  1.02  0.12 
Electricity & water  15.95  15.99 
Directors' sitting fees  2.75  2.38 
Repairs & maintenance  16.37  36.28 
Communication and internet  11.41  11.54 
Travelling & conveyance  33.37  58.91 
Business promotion  13.97  47.90 
Capital Work in Progress written off  -    0.35 
Other expenditure  30.40  36.92 
Total  382.94  574.18 



CAPITAL LIMITED
intec

Sapne Aapke, Bharosa Apno Ka

ANNUAL REPORT 2023-24 147

Notes forming part of the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March, 2024
(All amounts in Indian Rupees (Rs.) in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

NOTE 32: OTHER NOTES FORMING PART OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIALSTATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR 
ENDED 31 MARCH,2024
32.1	 Contingent Liabilities andCommitments:

Sr.
No.

Particulars As at
31 March, 2024

As at
31 March, 2023

A. Contingent Liabilities
i. Claims against the Holding Company not 

acknowledged as debts.
Few customers / borrowers of the Holding Company 
have filed legal cases for various claims against 
the Holding Company. The Holding Company has 
reviewed these pending litigations and proceedings 
and does not expect any material out flow / 
reimbursement in respect of the same.

B. Commitments
i. Loan approved but pending disbursements. Nil Nil
C. Corporate Guarantee
i. By Subsidiary Company on behalf of Holding Company 

for Credit Facilities
40,000.00 40,000.00

32.2	 Disclosure required under Section 22 of Micro, Small and Medium Enterprise DevelopmentAct, 2006:

As at
31March, 2024

As at 
31March, 2023

i.	 Principal amount and interest due thereon remaining unpaid to any supplier 
covered under MSMED Act.

-	 Principal 19.49 3.11
-	 Interest 1.58 -
ii.	 Amount of interest paid by the Company in terms of Section 16 of the MSMED 

Act, 2006, along with the amount of the payment made to the supplier beyond 
the appointed day during each accounting year.

- -

iii.	 The amount of interest due and payable for the period of delay in making 
payment (which have been paid but beyond the appointed day during the 
year) but without adding the interestspecified under MSMED Act.

- -

iv.	 The amount of interest accrued and remaining unpaid. - -
v.	 The amount of further interest remaining due and payable even in the 

succeeding years, until such date when the interest dues as above are 
actually paid to the small enterprise for the purpose of disallowance as a 
deductible expenditure under Section 23 of MSMED Act, 2006

- -

Total 21.07 3.11
	 The above information regarding dues to Micro and Small Enterprises has been determined to the extent such parties 

have been identified on the basis of information collected with the Group.

32.3	 Employee Benefits (IndAS-19)
(a)	 Defined Benefit plans:
	 Gratuity : Payable on separation as per the Payment of Gratuity Act, 1972, as amended @ 15 days pay, for each 

completed year of service to eligible employees who render continuous service of 5 years or more. The Holding 
Company’s liability towards Gratuity is funded / managed by Life Insurance Corporation of India (LIC).

(b)	 Other Long-Term Benefit:
	 Compensated Absences :Employees of the Holding Company are entitled to accumulate their earned/privilege 

leave up to a maximum of 30 days which can be availed / utilized in coming year/s, while in service. During the 
current year the amount of Rs. 0.61 lakhs has been credited (previous year the amount of Rs. 0.49 lakhs has 
been debited) in the Statement of Profit and Loss towards reversal of the excess provision based on actuarial 
valuation.
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(c)	 Defined Contribution plans:
	 Holding Company’s employees are covered by Provident Fund and Employees State Insurance Scheme, to 

which the Holding Company makes a defined contribution measured as a fixed percentage of salary. During the 
year, amount of Rs. 8.39 lakhs (Previous Year: Rs. 10.03 lakhs) has been charged to the Statement of Profit and 
Loss towards employer’s contribution to these schemes/funds as under:

Particulars Year ended 31 
March, 2024

Year ended 31 
March, 2023

Employer’s contribution towards Provident Fund (PF) 7.53 8.93
Employer’s contribution towards Employees State Insurance (ESI) 0.86 1.10

(d)	 Other disclosures of Defined Benefit plan (Gratuity) are as under:
i)	 Reconciliation of Defined Benefit Obligations:

Particulars Year ended 31 
March, 2024

Year ended 31 
March, 2023

Present Value of Defined Benefit Obligation at the beginning of year 28.29 27.26
Interest cost 2.09             1.86
Current Service Cost 4.49 4.90
Benefit Paid - (2.43)
Actuarial (Gain)/Loss arising from Change in Financial Assumptions 0.59 (1.24)
Actuarial (Gain) arising from Change in Demographic Assumptions - -
Actuarial (Gain)/Loss arising from Changes in Experience 
Adjustments

(4.97) (2.06)

Present value of the Defined Benefit Obligation at the end of 
year

30.49 28.29

ii)	 Net Defined Benefit recognized in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

Particulars Year ended 31 
March, 2024

Year ended 31 
March, 2023

Current Service Cost 4.49 4.90
Interest cost (net of return)    (0.68)    (0.70)
Net Defined Benefit recognized in Statement of Profit and Loss 3.81 4.20

iii)	 Recognized in Other Comprehensive Income/(loss)

Particulars Year ended 31 
March, 2024

Year ended 31 
March, 2023

Actuarial Gain/(Loss) on arising from Change in Financial 
Assumption

(0.59) 1.24

Actuarial Gain/(Loss) on arising from Change in Demographic 
Assumption

- -

Actuarial Gain/(Loss) on arising from Changes in Experience 
Adjustments

4.97 2.06

Actuarial Gain/(Loss) on Plan Assets (1.57) (0.38)
Net actuarial (Loss)/Gain 2.81 2.92

iv)	 Reconciliation of the opening and closing balances of fair value of Plan Assets

Particulars Year ended 31 
March, 2024

Year ended 31 
March, 2023

Fair value of Plan Assets at the beginning of year 34.66 34.91
Expected return on plan Assets 2.76 2.56
Employer’s Contribution - -
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Particulars Year ended 31 
March, 2024

Year ended 31 
March, 2023

Return on Plan Assets excluding interest income  (1.57)  (0.38)
Benefits paid - (2.43)
Transfer in/(out) plan assets (20.03) -
Fair value of Plan Assets at the end of year 15.82 34.66

v)	 Net Defined Benefit Assets / (Liability) recognized in the Balance Sheet

Particulars Year ended 31 
March, 2024

Year ended 31 
March, 2023

Present value of the Defined Benefit Obligation at the end of year (30.49) (28.29)
Fair value of Plan Assets at the end of year 15.82 34.66
Net Defined Benefit Assets/(Liability) recognized in the Balance Sheet (14.67) 6.37

vi)	 Broad categories of Plan Assets as percentage of total assets

Particulars Year ended 31 
March, 2024

Year ended 31 
March, 2023

Insurer Managed Funds 100% 100%
vii)	 Sensitivity Analysis*
a)	 Impact of the change in the discount rate

Particulars Year ended 31 
March, 2024

Year ended 31 
March, 2023

Present value of the Defined Benefit Obligation at the end of year 30.49 28.29
a) Impact due to increase of 0.50% (Previous year: 0.50%) (1.16) (1.17)
b) Impact due to decrease of 0.50% (Previous Year: 0.50%) 1.22 1.24

b)	 Impact of the change in the salary increase

Particulars Year ended 31 
March, 2024

Year ended 31 
March, 2023

Present value of the Defined Benefit Obligation at the end of year 30.49 28.29
a) Impact due to increase of 0.50% (Previous year: 0.50%) 0.92 0.95
b) Impact due to decrease of 0.50% (Previous year: 0.50%) (0.89) (0.89)

	 * Sensitivities due to mortality & withdrawals are not material & hence impact of change not calculated.
	 * Sensitivities as to rate of inflation, rate of increase of pension in payment, rate of increase of pensions before 

retirement & life expectancy are not applicable being a lump sum benefit on retirement.

viii.	 Maturity Profile.

Year Year ended 31 
March, 2024

Year ended 31 
March, 2023

0 to 1 year 1.3% 1.4%
1 to 2 Year 2.3% 1.4%
2 to 3 Year 6.0% 2.0%
3 to 4 Year 2.5% 5.7%
4 to 5 Year 10.9% 2.4%
5 Year onwards 22.1% 25.1%

ix.	 Expected contribution for the next Annual reporting period

Particulars Year ended 31 
March, 2024

Year ended 31 
March, 2023

Expected contribution for the next Annual reporting period 3.82 5.56
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x.	 Actuarial Assumptions:
	 The principal assumptions are the discount rate and salary increase. The discount rate is based upon the 

market yields available on Government bonds at the accounting date with a term that matches that of the 
Liabilities and the salary increase takes account of inflation, seniority, promotion and other relevant factors on 
long term basis. Principal assumptions used for actuarial valuation are:

Particulars Gratuity Compensated Absences
Year ended 31 
March, 2024

Year ended 31 
March, 2023

Year ended 31 
March, 2024

Year ended 31 
March, 2023

Method used Projected unit credit method
Discount rate 7.20% 7.45% 7.20% 7.45%
Salary Escalation 6.00% 6.00% 6.00% 6.00%
Mortality Rate IALM (2012-14)
Rate of return on plan Assets 7.20% 7.45% NA NA

	 Withdrawal Rates Per Annum
Age Band Year ended 31 

March, 2024
Year ended 31 
March, 2023

25 & below 1.00% 1.00%
25 to 35 24.00% 24.00%
35 to 45 8.00% 8.00%
45 to 55 2.00% 2.00%
55 & above 1.00% 1.00%

32.4	 Operating Segments (Ind AS –108):
	 The Holding Company is primarily engaged only in the business of providing loans to Small and Medium Enterprises 

(‘SME’) customers and has no overseas operations/units and as such, no segment reporting is required under Ind 
AS- 108 dealing with the Segment Reporting.

32.5	 Related Party Disclosures (IndAS-24):
A.	 List of Related Parties and relationships, having transactions during the year:

a)	 Key Management Personnel’s (KMPs) 
Mr. Sanjeev Goel, Managing Director 
Vinod Kumar, Chief Finance Officer (w.e.f. 13 February, 2024) 
Rajesh Sharma, Chief Finance Officer (w.e.f. 08 February, 2023 and upto 15 November, 2023) 
Neeti Kakkar, Chief Finance Officer (w.e.f. 05 August, 2022 and upto 13 January, 2023) 
Radhika Rautela, Chief Finance Officer (upto 26 May, 2022) 
Radhika Garg, Company Secretary (w.e.f. 12 November, 2022) 
Vandana Das, Company Secretary (upto 22 September, 2022)

b)	 Relatives of Key Management Personnel
	 Pranav Goel, Son of Managing Director
	 Dhruv Goel, Son of Managing Director

c)	 Enterprise over which Key Management Personnel exercises significant influence

	 Bubble Info Solutions Private Limited
	 Modern Credit Private Limited

d)	 Investing party in respect of which the Holding Company is an associate

	 Pantec Devices Private Limited
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A.	 Transactions with Related Parties

Nature of Transaction Investing party in respect 
of which the Company is an 

associate

Key Management 
Personnel and 

Relatives
Year ended 31 March

2024 2023 2024 2023
Remuneration Paid
a)	 Key Management personnel’s
b)	 Relatives of key Management personnel

-
-

-
-

13.25
39.32

145.42
26.32

Inter-corporate deposit pavable
Modern Credit Private Limited (including Interest 
and net of TDS)

202.04 - - -

Sitting Fees paid
Sanjeev Goel (excluding GST) - - - 0.50
Interest Income on loans
Pantec Devices Private Limited 2.25 2.25 - -
Finance Cost
Modern Credit Private Limited 6.31 - - -

B.	 Year end balances with related parties:
As at

31 March, 2024
As at

31 March, 2023

Loans and Advances given
Pantec Devices Private Limited, (Investing party in respect of 
which the Holding Company is an associate)

52.47 50.22

Inter-corporate deposit pavable
Modern Credit Private Limited (including Interest and net of TDS) 202.04 -

Guarantee given on behalf of Company (Refer note 17.1.1 & 17.2)
The Managing Director, Bubble Infosolution Private Limited 
(Company in which Managing Director of theCompany is a Director)

Term Loans: 837.04
 WCDL: 4,453.22

Term Loans: 851.27
WCDL: 4,477.54

Notes:
•	 Transaction values are excluding taxes and duties.
•	 Related parties as defined under Ind AS 24 ‘Related Party Disclosures’ have been identified based on 

representations made by key managerial personnel and information available with the Group. All above 
transactions are in the ordinary course of business and on arm’s length basis.

•	 Provisions for gratuity, compensated absences and other long-term service benefits are made for the Group as a 
whole and the amounts pertaining to the Key Managerial Personnel are not specifically identified and hence are 
not included above.

32.6	 Leases.
	 Group’s significant leasing arrangements are in respect of the premises (commercial premises, offices etc.) which 

contain extension option after the initial contract period, the amounts recognized on account of leases are as under:

	 (i)	 Amount recognized in Statement of Profit and Loss.
Particulars For the year ended

31 March, 2024
For the year ended

31 March, 2023
Interest Expense on Lease Liabilities 11.18 10.75
Amortization of Right-of-Use Assets 24.11 25.23
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	 (ii)	 Amount recognized in Balance Sheet.
Particulars As at

31March, 2023
Addition / 

(Deduction) 
during the year

As at
31March, 2024

Lease liabilities 71.95 (1.18) 70.77
Right-of-use assets (Gross) (Refer Note 14) 140.04 (25.57) 114.47

	 (iii)	Maturity Profile
Particulars Amount
Maturity analysis – contractual undiscounted cash flows
Maturity analysis – contractual undiscounted cash flows
Within 1 year 20.33
Within 2 years 17.32
Within 3 years 18.21
Within 4 years 19.18
5 years or more 16.25
Total undiscounted lease liabilities 91.29
Impact of discounting and other adjustments 20.52
Lease liabilities included in the Balance Sheet 70.77

32.7	 Earnings Per Share(EPS)
	 The following reflects the income and share data used in the basic and diluted EPS computations:

Particulars Year ended
31 March, 2024

Year ended
31 March, 2023

Loss for the year (Rs. in lakhs) 565.32 2,815.49
Basic/Diluted weighted average number of equity shares outstanding 
during the year

1,83,66,250 1,83,66,250

Nominal value of Equity Share (Rs.) 10.00 10.00
Basic/Diluted Earnings per Share (Rs.) (3.08) (15.33)

32.8	 Corporate Social Responsibility(CSR):
	 The Holding Company has constituted a CSR committee as required under Section 135 of the Companies Act, 2013, 

together with relevant rules as prescribed in Companies (Corporate Social Responsibility Policy) Rules, 2014 (‘CSR 
rules’). The CSR Committee had approved the CSR Policy and also identified the broad areas of CSR activities which 
it propose to carry out viz. Child Education and Women Empowerment. The Holding Company has made serious 
deliberations and chosen the CSR programs which would be undertaken on a long term and continuous basis. Such 
programs will benefit communities where the Holding Company operates or likely to operate and create goodwill for 
the Holding Company. As the Company has incurred average net losses during the last three years, no amount is 
required to be spent on account of CSR during the year ended 31st March 2024/31st March 2023.

32.9	 Going Concern:
	 Accumulated losses of the earlier years and the substantial losses during the current year which are mainly due to 

non carrying out the lending activities and substantial reduction in the recoveries from the borrowers / customers, 
have resulted in erosion of substantial net worth and significant financial crunch being faced by the Company, and 
there are defaults in the repayments of its borrowings, delays in payments of other liabilities/commitments including 
employees and statutory dues etc. Also, Company’s Net Owned Fund and Leverage Ratio are not in compliance of 
the Master Direction – Reserve Bank of India (Non-Banking Financial Company – Scale Based Regulation) Directions, 
2023 as amended from time to time issued vide notification no. RBI/DoR/2023-24/106 DoR.FIN.REC.No.45/03.10.119 
/ 2023-24 dated October 19, 2023, as updated / amended from time to time (“RBI Master Directions”). These events / 
conditions indicate the existence of uncertainty on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

	 However, the financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis on the strength of continued support 
from the promoters and considering the ongoing discussions / efforts for One Time Settlements (OTS) of borrowings 
and Company’s ability to generate adequate resources for the foreseeable future.
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32.10	Disclosures as required under Master Direction-Reserve Bank of India (Non-Banking Financial Company - Scale 
Based Regulation) Directions, 2023 as amended from time to time and other applicable directions/circulars are 
enclosed vide  Annexure – I.

32.11	Capital
	 The Holding Company maintains an actively managed capital base to cover risks inherent in the business which 

includes issued equity capital and other reserves attributable to equity holders of the Holding Company. As an NBFC, 
the RBI requires the Holding Company to maintain a minimum capital to risk weighted assets ratio (“CRAR”) consisting 
of Tier 1 and Tier 2 capital of 15% of the aggregate risk weighted assets. Further, the total of the Tier 2 capital cannot 
exceed 100% of the Tier 1 capital at any point of time. The capital management process of the Holding Company 
ensures to maintain a healthy CRAR at all the times.

	 Capital Management
	 The primary objectives of the Holding Company’s capital management policy is to maintain appropriate levels of 

capital to support its business strategy taking into account the regulatory, economic and commercial environment. 
The Holding Company aims to maintain a strong capital base to support the risks inherent to its business and growth 
strategies. The Holding Company endeavors to maintain a higher capital base than the mandated regulatory capital 
at all times.

	 Planning
	 The Holding Company’s assessment of capital requirement is aligned to its planned growth which forms part of an 

annual operating plan which is approved by the ALCO and also a long-range strategy. These growth plans are aligned 
to assessment of risks– which include credit, liquidity and interest rate.

	 The Holding Company monitors its capital to risk-weighted assets ratio (CRAR) on a yearly basis through its Assets 
Liability Management Committee (ALCO).

	 The Holding Company endeavors to maintain its CRAR higher than the mandated regulatory norm. Accordingly, 
increase in capital is planned well in advance to ensure adequate funding for its growth.

	 The Holding Company is also the provider of equity capital to its wholly owned subsidiary and associates and also 
provides them with non-equity capital where necessary. These investments are funded by the Holding Company 
through its equity share capital and other equity which inter alia includes securities premium and retained earnings.

	 Regulatory capital

Particulars As at
31 March, 2024

As at
31 March, 2023

Tier I Capital (1428.75) (594.88)
Tier II Capital -- --
Total Capital Funds (1428.75) (594.88)
Risk Weighted Assets 6,672.15 7590.48
CET1 capital ratio (21.68%) (7.84%)
CET2 capital ratio 0.00% 0.00%
Total capital ratio (21.68%) (7.84%)

	 Regulatory capital consists of Tier 1 capital, which comprises share capital, securities premium and retained 
earnings. Certain adjustments are made to Ind AS based results and reserves, as prescribed by the Reserve Bank 
of India. The other component of regulatory capital is Tier 2 Capital, which includes subordinated debt. The Holding 
Company is trying to meet the capital adequacy requirements of Reserve Bank of India (RBI).

32.12 Events after Reporting Date
	 There have been no events after the reporting date that require disclosure in these financial statements.
32.13 Fair Values
	 Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction in 

the principal (or most advantageous) market at the measurement date under current market conditions (i.e., an exit 
price), regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using a valuation technique.

	 In order to show how fair values have been derived, financial instruments are classified based on a hierarchy of 
valuation techniques.

	 This note describes the fair value measurement of both financial and non-financial instruments.
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	 Valuation framework
	 The Group has an internal fair value assessment team which assesses the fair values for assets qualifying for fair 

valuation.
	 The Group’s valuation framework includes:

•	 Benchmarking prices against observable market prices or other independent sources;
•	 Development and validation of fair valuation models using model logic, inputs, outputs and adjustments.
	 These valuation models are subject to a process of due diligence and validation before they become operational 

and are continuously calibrated. These models are subject to approvals by various functions of the Group. 
Finance function is responsible for establishing procedures, governing valuation and ensuring fair values are in 
compliance with Indian accounting standards.

	 Valuation methodologies adopted
	 The fair value of the financial assets and liabilities is included at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged 

in a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The following methods and 
assumptions were used to estimate the fair values:
a.	 Fair values of strategic investments in equity instruments designated under FVOCI have been measured under 

level3.
b.	 Fair value of loans held under a business model that is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and 

partially selling the loans through partial assignment to willing buyers and which contain contractual terms that 
give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest are measured at 
FVOCI. The fair value of these loans has been determined under level 3.

c.	 The Group has disclosed financial instruments such as cash and cash equivalents, other bank balances, other 
financial assets and liabilities at carrying value because their carrying amounts are a reasonable approximation 
of the fair values due to their short-termnature.

32.14 Fair Values Hierarchy
	 The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments by 

valuation technique:
	 Level 1: Valuation based on quoted market price: financial instruments with quoted prices for identical instruments in 

active markets that the Group can access at the measurement date.
	 Level 2: Valuation based on using observable inputs: financial instruments with quoted prices for similar instruments in 

active markets or quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in inactive markets and financial instruments valued 
using models where all significant inputs are observable.

	 Level 3: Valuation technique with significant unobservable inputs: – financial instruments valued using valuation 
techniques where one or more significant inputs are unobservable. 

	 Disclosures of fair value measurement hierarchy for financial instruments are given below:
Particulars Carrying amount/Fair value

As at
31 March, 2024

As at
31 March, 2023

Financial assets L-1 L-2 L-3 L-1 L-2 L-3
Carrying amounts/fair value:
a)	 Measured at fair value though profit and loss
	 Financial Guarantee Contracts - - - - - -
b)	 Measured at fair value though other comprehensive 
income

- - - - - -

c)	 Measured at amortised cost
-	 Cash and cash equivalents
-	 Bank Balance other than cash and cash equivalents
-	 Loans
-	 Investments
-	 Other financial assets

-
-
-
-
-

-
-
-
-
-

527.58
--

4,844.86
6.84

470.58

-
-
-
-
-

-
-
-
-
-

123.90
0.83

5,579.92
6.84

620.75
Total - - 5,849.86 - - 6,332.24
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Financial liabilities L-1 L-2 L-3 L-1 L-2 L-3
Carrying amounts/fair value:
a)	 Measured at fair value though profit and loss
Financial Guarantee Contracts - - - - - -
b)  Measured at fair value though other comprehensive 
income

- - - - - -

c)	 Measured at amortised cost
-	 Borrowings
-	 Lease liabilities
-	 Other financial liabilities

-
-
-

-
-
-

5,492.30
70.77

467.39

-
-
-

-
-
-

5,328.81
71.95

299.55
Total - - 6,030.46 - - 5,700.31

32.15 Risk management objectives and policies
	 Risk Management Framework
	 A summary of the major risks faced by the Group, its measurement monitoring and management are described as 

under:

Nature of
risk

Arising from Executive 
governance 
structure

Measurement, monitoring and management of risk

Liquidity 
and 
funding risk

Liquidity risk arises 
from mismatches in the 
timing of cash flows.
Funding risk arises:
•	 when long term 

assets cannot 
be funded at the 
expected term 
resulting in cash flow 
mismatches;

•	 amidst volatile 
market conditions 
impacting sourcing 
of funds from banks 
and money markets

Board 
appointed 
Asset Liability 
Committee 
(ALCO)

Liquidity and funding risk is:
•	 measured by identifying gaps in the structural and 

dynamic liquidity statements.
•	 monitored by

–	 assessment of the gap between visibility of funds and 
the near term liabilities given current liquidity conditions 
and evolving regulatory directions for NBFCs.

–	 a constant calibration of sources of funds in line with 
emerging market conditions in banking and money 
markets.

–	 periodic reviews by ALCO relating to the liquidity 
position and stress tests assuming varied ‘what if’ 
scenarios and comparing probable gaps with the 
liquidity buffers maintained by the Company.

•	 managed by the Company’s treasury team under the 
guidance of ALCO.

Interest 
rate risk

Interest rate risk stems 
from movements in 
market factors, such 
as interest rates, 
credit spreads which 
impacts investments, 
income and the value of 
portfolios.

Board 
appointed 
Asset Liability 
Committee

Interest rate risk is:
•	 measured using Valuation at Risk (‘VaR’), and modified 

duration analysis and other measures, including the 
sensitivity of net interest income.

•	 monitored by assessment of probable impacts of 
interest rate sensitivities under simulated stress 
test scenarios given range of probable interest rate 
movement so on both fixed and floating assets and 
liabilities.

•	 managed by the Company’s treasury team under the 
guidance of ALCO.
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Nature of
risk

Arising from Executive 
governance 
structure

Measurement, monitoring and management of risk

Credit risk Credit risk is the risk 
of financial loss arising 
out of a customer or 
counter party failing to 
meet their repayment 
obligations to the 
Company

Board 
appointed 
Risk 
Management 
Committee

Credit risk is:
•	 measured as the amount at risk due to repayment default 

to a customer or counter party to the Company. Various 
matrices such as EMI default rate, overdue position, 
collection efficiency, customers non-performing loans etc. 
are used as leading indicators to assess credit risk.

•	 monitored by Risk Management Committee using level 
of credit exposures, portfolio monitoring, repurchase 
rate, bureau data of portfolio performance and industry, 
geographic, customer and portfolio concentration risks.

•	 managed by a robust control framework by therisk 
department which continuously align credit policies, 
obtaining external data from credit bureaus and reviews 
of portfolios and delinquencies by senior and middle 
Management team comprising of risk, analytics, collection 
and fraud containment along with business. The same 
is periodically reviewed by the Board appointed Risk 
Management Committee.

	 Liquidity and funding risk
	 The Holding Company monitors asset liability mismatches to ensure that there are no imbalances or excessive 

concentrations on either side of the Balance Sheet.

	 The Holding Company continuously monitors liquidity in the market; and as a part of its strategy, the Holding Company 
maintains a liquidity buffer managed by an active investment desk to reduce this risk.

	 The Holding Company is managing its fund requirements mainly from banks and financial institutions. The Holding 
Company emphasis on long term borrowings, however, presently its short term borrowing are more than the long 
term borrowing, which has helped the Holding Company to manage and meet its fund requirements, considering that 
presently the Holding Company is not disbursing new / further loans to its customers and its focus is on recovery and to 
improve its assets quality. The table below summaries the maturity profile of the undiscounted cash flow of the Holding 
Company’s financial liabilities:

Particulars As at 31 March, 2024 As at 31 March, 2023
Within 12 

months
After 12 
months

Total Within 12 
months

After12 
months

Total

Borrowings 5,293.91 198.39 5,492.30 5,328.81 -- 5,328.81
Lease liabilities 12.52 58.25 70.77 22.04 49.91 71.95
Other financial liabilities 467.39 -- 467.39 299.55 -- 299.55

5,773.82 256.64 6,030.46 5,650.40 49.91 5,700.31

ASSETS
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 527.58 -- 527.58 123.90 -- 123.90
Bank balances other than cash and 
cash equivalents

-- -- -- 0.83 -- 0.83

Loans 4,844.86 -- 4,844.86 5,579.92 --   5,579.92
Investments -- 6.84 6.84 -- 6.84 6.84
Other financial assets 287.50 183.09 470.58 602.00 18.75 620.75
Non-financial assets
Current tax assets (net) 4.61 -- 4.61 3.66 -- 3.66



CAPITAL LIMITED
intec

Sapne Aapke, Bharosa Apno Ka

ANNUAL REPORT 2023-24 157

Notes forming part of the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March, 2024
(All amounts in Indian Rupees (Rs.) in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

Deferred tax assets (net) -- 2,244.84 2,244.84 -- 1,922.98 1,922.98
Property, plant and 
equipment

-- 1,218.98 1,218.95 -- 1,242.54 1,242.54

Capital work-in-progress -- - - -   -- --
Intangible assets -- 11.93 11.93 -- 16.15 16.15
Right-of-use assets -- 56.34 56.34 -- 57.31 57.31
Other non-financial assets 7.99 -- 7.99 17.50 -- 17.50
Non-current assets held for sale 122.93 -- 122.93 122.93 -- 122.93
Total 9,517.45 9,715.32

LIABILITIES
Financial liabilities
Borrowings	  5,293.91 198.39 5,492.30 5,328.81 -- 5,328.81
Lease liabilities	 12.52     58.25 70.77 22.04 49.91 71.95
Other financial liabilities 467.39 -- 467.39 299.55 -- 299.55
Non-financial liabilities
Provisions 4.27 13.12 17.39 0.53 2.80 3.33
Other non-financial liabilities 39.15 -- 39.15 18.01 -- 18.01
Total 6,087.00   5,721.65

	 Market risk
	 Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flow of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in 

the market variables such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates and equity prices. The Group do not have any 
exposure to foreign exchange rate and equity price risk.

	 Interest rate risk 
	 On investments
	 The interest rate risk on the investment portfolio and corresponding fair value change impact is monitored using 

Valuation at Risk (‘VaR’) and modified duration analysis and other measures, including the sensitivity of net interest 
income.  The Group do not have any investment which is exposed to interest risk.

	 On assets and liabilities
	 Interest rate sensitivity on fixed and floating rate assets and liabilities with differing maturity profiles is measured 

by using the duration gap analysis. The same is computed periodically and sensitivity of the market value of equity 
assuming varied changes in interest rates are presented and monitored.

Sensitivity analysis as at 31 March, 2024
Particulars Carrying 

value
Fair value Sensitivity to closing 

fairvalue
1% increase 1% decrease

Loans - Financial Assets 4,844.86 4,844.86 48.45 (48.45)
Borrowings - Financial Liabilities 5,492.30 5,492.30 54.92 (54.92)

Sensitivity analysis as at 31 March, 2023
Particulars Carrying 

value
Fair value Sensitivity to closing 

fairvalue
1% increase 1% decrease

Loans – Financial Assets 5,579.92 5,579.92 55.80 (55.80)
Borrowings – Financial Liabilities 5,328.81 5,328.81 53.29 (53.29)

	 Credit risk
	 Credit risk is the risk of financial loss arising out of a customer or counterparty failing to meet their repayment obligations to 

the Group. It has a diversified lending model and focuses on broad categories viz: business, mortgages, and commercial 
lending. The Group assesses the credit quality of all financial instruments that are subject to credit risk.
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	 Classification of financial assets under various stages
	 The Holding Company classifies its financial assets in three stages having the following characteristics:
	 Stage1: unimpaired and without significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition on which a 12-month allowance 

for ECL isrecognised;
	 Stage 2: a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition on which a lifetime ECL is recognised;
	 Stage3: objective evidence of impairment, and are therefore considered to be in default or otherwise credit impaired 

on which a lifetime ECL is recognised.
	 Unless identified at an earlier stage, all financial assets are deemed to have suffered a significant increase in credit 

risk when they are 90 days past due (DPD) and are accordingly transferred from stage 1 to stage 2. For stage 1 an 
ECL allowance is calculated based on a 12-month Point in Time (PIT) probability weighted probability of default (PD). 
For stage 2 and 3 assets a life time ECL is calculated based on a lifetime PD.

	 The Holding Company has calculated ECL using three main components: a probability of default (PD), a loss given 
default (LGD) and the exposure at default (EAD) along with an adjustment considering forward macro-economic 
conditions [for a detailed note for methodology of computation of ECL please refer to significant accounting policies 
note no 4.3(i) to the financial statements].

	 Financial instruments other than loans were subjected to simplified ECL approach under Ind AS 109 ‘Financial 
Instruments’ and accordingly were not subject to sensitivity of future economic conditions.

	 The table below summarises the approach adopted by the Holding Company for various components of ECL viz. PD, 
EAD and LGD across product lines using empirical data where relevant.

Lending
Category

Nature of
Businesses

Probability of Default (PD) Exposure at
Default (EAD)

Loss Given
Default (LGD)Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

Business 
Loan

Unsecured loans to
SMEs, corporate 
and others etc.

Use of past trend and 
data and statistical 
analysis there of, 
external / internal 
ratings and internal 
evaluation with a 
managemen to verlay.

100%

EAD is computed 
based on 
assessment of time 
to default considering 
customer sprofile and 
time for liquidation of 
securities

Basedon past trend of 
recoveries, associated 
risk of underlying 
security and estimated 
cash flows.

Mortgage 
Loan

Loans against 
collateral security of 
plant & machinery

Commercial 
Loan

Loans against 
property

	 The table below summaries the gross carrying values and the associated allowances for expected credit loss (ECL) 
stage wise for loan portfolio:

	 As at 31 March,2024

Particulars Secured Unsecured
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

Gross Carrying Value - - 12,138.70 197.57 - 1,247.25
Allowance for ECL - -   7,496.58         -              -      1,242.08
ECL Coverage ratio            - -       61.76% - -      99.59%

	 As at 31 March,2023

Particulars Secured Unsecured
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

Gross Carrying Value 7.86 - 12,291.09 188.62 167.96 1,265.17
Allowance for ECL - -   7,193.47         -              -      1,147.31
ECL Coverage ratio - -       58.53% - - -

	 Collateral Valuation
	 The nature of products across these broad categories are either unsecured or secured by collateral. Although 

collateral is an important risk mitigant of credit risk, the Holding Company’s practice is to lend on the basis of 
assessment of the customer’s ability to repay rather than placing primary reliance on collateral. Based on the 
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nature of product and the Holding Company’s assessment of the customer’s credit risk, a loan may be offered with 
suitable collateral. Depending on its form, collateral can have a significant financial effect in mitigating the Holding 
Company’s credit risk.

	 The main types of collateral across various products obtained are as follows:

Product group Nature of securities
Mortgage Loan Hypothecation of underlying plant & machinery
Commercial Loan Equitable mortgage of residential and commercial properties.

	 The Holding Company periodically monitors the market value of collateral and evaluates its exposure and loan to 
value matrix for high risk customers. The Holding Company exercises its right of repossession across all secured 
products, and also resorts to judicial remedies available against its mortgages and commercial lending business. 
The repossessed assets are either sold or released to delinquent customers in case they come forward to settle their 
dues, but are not recorded in the accounts. The assets possessed / received in settlement of the loan are recorded as 
non–current assets held for sale (refer note16).

	 Analysis of Concentration Risk
	 Credit concentration risk is the risk associated with any single exposure or group of exposures with the potential to 

produce large enough losses to threaten Holding Company’s core operation. The Holding Company’s exposure to 
various borrowers is constantly monitored to mitigate the credit concentration risk. The detail of advances to the top 
20 largest borrowers and its percentage to the total advances is as under:

Particulars As at
31 March, 2024

As at
31 March, 2023

Total Loans to twenty largest borrowers       4,783.03      5406.48
Percentage of Advances to twenty largest borrowers to Total Loans of the 
Holding Company

       35.21%        38.84%

	 The Holding Company’s loans exposure are within the geographic area of National Capital Region, New Delhi.
	 Measurement uncertainty and sensitivity analysis of ECL estimates
	 Expected credit loss impairment loss allowances recognised in the financial statements reflect the effect of a range 

of possible economic outcomes, calculated on a probability-weighted basis, based on the economic scenarios. Key 
assumptions used in measurement of ECL.
-	 The Holding Company considers the date of initial recognition as the base date from which significant increase 

in credit risk is determined.
-	 Since the Holding Company has a right to cancel any sanctioned but undrawn limits to any of its borrowers, 

EAD is assumed to be outstanding balance as on the reportingdate.
32.16Disclosures pursuant to RBI Notification-RBI/2019-20/170 DOR (NBFC).CC.PD.NO.109/22.10.106/2019-

20 Dated 13 March 2020- A comparison between provisions required under Income recognition, asset 
classification and provisioning (IRACP) and impairment allowances as per Ind AS 109 ‘Financial instruments’

Asset classification 
as per RBI Norms

Asset 
classification 

as per 
Ind AS 109

Gross 
carrying 

amount as 
per Ind AS

Loss allowance 
(Provisions) as 
required under 

Ind AS 109 

Net 
Carrying 
amount 

Provision 
required as 
per IRACP 

norms 

Difference 
between 

Ind AS 109 
provision and 
IRACP norms 

(1) (2) (3) (4) (5)=(3)-(4) (6) (7)=(4)-(6)
(a)	 Performing 
Assets
Standard Stage 1 197.57 -- 197.57 3.90 (3.90)

Stage 2 -- -- -- -- --
Subtotal (a) 197.57 -- 197.56 3.90 (3.90)
(b)	 Non-Performing 
Assets (NPA)
(i)	 Substandard Stage 2 - - - - -
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Asset classification 
as per RBI Norms

Asset 
classification 

as per 
Ind AS 109

Gross 
carrying 

amount as 
per Ind AS

Loss allowance 
(Provisions) as 
required under 

Ind AS 109 

Net 
Carrying 
amount 

Provision 
required as 
per IRACP 

norms 

Difference 
between 

Ind AS 109 
provision and 
IRACP norms 

(1) (2) (3) (4) (5)=(3)-(4) (6) (7)=(4)-(6)
(ii)	 Doubtful up to
     1 year Stage3 168.32 164.83 3.49 168.32 (3.49)
     1 to 3 years Stage 3 1256.49 479.80 776.69 712.89 (233.09)
More than 3 years Stage 3 11,961.14 8,094.03 3,867.11 10,028.81 (1,934.78)
Subtotal (ii) 13,385.95 8,738.66 4,647.29 10,910.02 (2,171.36)
(iii) Loss Stage 3 - - - - -
Subtotal (b) 13,385.95 8,738.66 4,647.29 10,910.02 (2,171.36)

Stage 1 197.57 -- 197.57 3.90 (3.90)
Total (a+b) Stage 2 -- -- -- -- --

Stage 3 13,385.95 8,738.66 4,647.29 10,910.02 (2,171.36)
Total 13,583.52 8,738.66 4,844.86 10,913.92 (2,175.26)

32.17 Salient Feature of financials of Subsidiary Company as per the Companies Act, 2013.

Sl.
No.

Particulars Subsidiary
(Amulet Technologies Limited)

(Refer Note Below)
1. Reporting period of the subsidiary concerned if different from the Holding 

Company’s reporting period
N.A.

2. Share Capital 25.00
3. Reserve & Surplus (185.42)
4. Total Assets 1,337.10
5. Total Liabilities 1,497.53
6. Investment Nil
7. Turnover/Total Income 9.68
8. (Loss) before Tax (7.24)
9. Provision for Tax Nil
10. (Loss) after Tax (7.24)
11. Proposed Dividend Nil
12. % of Shareholding 99.998%

	 Note: The Subsidiary has yet to start its commercial operations.
32.18	 Additional information pursuant to schedule III of companies Act, 2013.

Name of Entity Net Assets
i.e. Total Assets minus Total liabilities

Share in (Loss)

As % of Consolidated 
net assets

Amount
(Rs. in Lakhs)

As % of 
Consolidated Profit

Amount
(Rs. in Lakhs)

Holding:
Intec Capital Limited 61.04 2,093.79 (98.72) (556.00)
Subsidiary:
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Amulet Technologies 
Limited

38.96 1,336.66 (1.28) (7.22)

32.19	 Title deeds of Immovable Properties not held in name of the Holding Company

Relevant 
line item in 
the Balance 
Sheet

Description 
of item 
property

Gross 
Carrying 
Value

Title Deeds 
held in the 
name of

Whether title 
deed holder is 
promoter, director 
or relative of 
promoter/director 
or employee of 
promoter/director

Property 
held since 
which date

Reason for not being 
held in the name of the 
Holding Company

Property, 
plant & 
equipment

Land 4.82

Unitel Credit 
Private Limited 
(merged with 
Intec Capital 
Limited)

No 02/08/2006

Land was transferred to 
the Holding Company 
after merger of Unitel 
Credit Private Limited into 
the Holding Company. 
Holding Company istaking 
necessary steps to transfer 
the same in the name of 
the Holding Company.  

32.20 Details of Loan & Advances in the nature of loan granted to Promoters, Directors, Key Management Personnal 
& the related parties.

Type of Borrower As at 31 March 2024 As at 31 March 2023
Amount outstanding % of Total Amount outstanding % of Total

Promoters -- -- -- --
Director -- -- -- --
KMPs -- -- -- --
Related Parties 
Pantec devices Pvt. Ltd                              52.47                                                  0.39% 50.22                                                  0.36%

32.21 The Ministry of Corporate Affairs (MCA) has issued a notification Companies (Accounts) Amendment Rules, 2021, 
which is effective from 1st April, 2023, states that every Company which uses accounting software for maintaining its 
books of account shall use only the accounting software where there is a feature of recording audit trail of each and 
every transaction, and further creating an edit log of each change made to books of account along with the date when 
such changes were made and ensuring that the audit trail cannot be disabled. The Company has used accounting 
software for maintaining its books of account which has feature of recording audit trail (edit log) facility and the same 
has operated throughout the year for all relevant transactions recorded in the software, except in certain components 
where the audit trail were not recorded / operating due to system limitations. Further, it was not tempered at any time 
during the year.

32.22 During the previous year ended 31 March, 2023, Company had written off loans having gross amount (including 
interest accrued thereon) of Rs. 5,080.47 lakhs and also reversed impairment loss allowance of Rs. 4,026.86 lakhs 
held on these loans, as in view of the management, there was very low probability of recovery of these loans, however, 
the litigation / recovery process are continued in the normal course. The reversal of impairment loss allowance on 
these loans after their write off had also resulted in reversal of deferred tax assets of Rs. 1,013.48 lakhs during the 
previous year. Further, during the year, an impairment loss allowance of Rs. 811.01 lakhs had been booked on the 
investment and loan given to the Subsidiary Company, based on the latest assessment of its recoverability.

32.23 In absence of virtual uncertainty regarding availability of the sufficient taxable income in future, the deferred tax 
assets has not been recognised on accumulated brought forwarded and current tax losses, however, has created 
Deferred tax assets (net) of Rs. 322.57 lakhs during the current year mainly on impairment on loan and investment 
in Subsidiary (as detailed in note 32.22 above) and had reversed the Deferred tax assets (net) of Rs. 863.52 lakhs 
during the previous year, i.e. net of reversal of deferred tax assets of Rs. 1,013.48 lakhs on impairment loss on the 
loans (as detailed in note 32.22 above) and creation of deferred tax liabilities of Rs. 149.96 lakhs on other temporary 
differences.

32.24 Wilful Defaulter:
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	 The Holding Company has not been declared wilful defaulter by any bank or financial institution or other lender 
Company, as such the declaration as wilful defaulter is not applicable.

32.25 Relationship with Struck off Companies
	 The Company has the transactions with the Company struck off under Section 248 of CompaniesAct, 2013 or Section 

560 of CompaniesAct, 1956, as under:

Name of Struck off Holding 
Company

Nature of transactions 
with struck-off Company

Balance outstanding 
as at 31 March, 2024

Relationship with the struck 
off Company, if any, to be 
disclosed

Runit Fabrics Private Limited Loan Outstanding 9.65 No relation

32.26 The Holding Company did not have any transaction which had not been recorded in the books of accounts, which had 
been surrendered or disclosed as income during the year in the tax assessments under the Income Tax Act, 1961.

32.27 The Holding Company has not traded or invested in crupto currency or virtual currency during the year.
32.28 The Holding Company has not advanced or loaned or invested any funds (either from borrowed funds or share premium 

or any other sources or kind of funds) to or in any other person or entity, including foreign entity (“Intermediaries”), with 
the understanding, whether recorded in writing or otherwise, that the Intermediary shall, whether, directly or indirectly 
lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the Company 
(“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or provided any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries.

32.29 The Holding Company has not received any funds from any person or entity, including foreign entity (“Funding 
Parties”), with the understanding, whether recorded in writing or otherwise, that the Holding Company shall, directly 
or indirectly, lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the 
Funding Party (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or provided any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate 
Beneficiaries.

32.30 Previous year’s figures have been reclassified / regrouped wherever necessary to conform to current year classification.

As per our report of even date For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of
For S. P. Chopra & Co. Intec Capital Limited
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration No. 000346N

(Gautam Bhutani) (Sanjeev Goel) (S. K. Goel)
Partner Managing Director Director
Membership No: 524485 DIN: 00028702 DIN: 00963735

 (Vinod Kumar) (Radhika Garg) 
Place: New Delhi Chief Financial Officer Company Secretary
Date: 21 June, 2024 M. No. ACS 36587
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ANNEXURE – I, AS REFERRED IN NOTE 32.10
A.	 Schedule to the Balance Sheet, as required in terms of paragraph 18 of ‘Master Direction - Non-Banking Financial Company – 

Non-Systemically Important Non-Deposit taking Company (Reserve Bank) Directions, 2016, as amended.

Particulars As at
31 March, 2024

As at
31 March, 2023Liabilities side:

1 Loans and advances availed by the NBFC inclusive ofinterest accrued 
thereon but not paid:

Amount Amount Amount Amount
Outstanding Overdue Outstanding Overdue

(a) Debentures:
Secured - - - -
Unsecured - - - -
(Other than falling within the meaning of public deposits)

(b) Deferred credits - - - -
(c) Term loan 837.04 837.04 851.27 851.27
(d) Inter corporate loans and borrowings 202.04 - - -
(e)
(f)

Commercial paper (net of un-amortized discount on issue)
Public Deposits

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

(g) Other loans:
Working capital demand loans from banks - - - -
Cash credit/overdraft from banks 4,453.22 4,453.22 4,477.54 4,477.54

Total 5,492.30 5,290.26 5,328.81 5,328.81

2 Amount outstanding Amount out standing
Break-up of (1)(f) above (Outstanding public 
depositsinclusive of interest accrued thereon but not paid):

As at 31 March, 2024 As at 31 March, 2023

a) In the form of Unsecured Debentures - -
b)

c)

In the form of partly secured debentures i.e.debentures 
where there is a shortfall in the value ofsecurity
Other Publicdeposits

-
-

-
-

Total - -

3 Assets side: Amount outstanding Amount outstanding
Break-up of loans and advances including bills receivables 
{other than those included in (4) below}:

As at 31 March, 2024 As at 31 March, 2023

(a) Secured # 4,642.12 5,105.48
(b) Unsecured # 202.74 474.44

Total 4,844.86 5,579.92
	 # Comprises of loans which are disclosed net of provision for non-performing assets.

4 Break up of Leased Assets and stock on hire and other 
assets counting towards AFC activities

As at 31 March, 2024 As at 31 March, 2023

(i) Lease assets including lease rentals under sundry debtors:
(a) Financial lease - -
(b) Operating lease - -

(ii) Stock on hire including hire charges, under sundry debtors:
(a) Assets on hire - -
(b) Repossessed stock - -

(iii) Other Loans counting towards AFC activities:
(a) Loans where assets have been repossessed - -
(b) Loans other than (a) above - -

Total - -



CAPITAL LIMITED
intec

Sapne Aapke, Bharosa Apno Ka

FINANCIAL SECTION

ANNUAL REPORT 2023-24164

Notes forming part of the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March, 2024
(All amounts in Indian Rupees (Rs.) in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

5 Break-up of investments Amount outstanding 
as at

31 March, 2024

Amount outstanding 
as at

31 March, 2023
Current investments:

1 Quoted:
(i) Shares:

(a) Equity - -
(b) Preference - -

(ii) Debentures and bonds - -
(iii) Units of mutual funds - -
(iv) Government securities - -
(v) Others - -

2 Unquoted:
(i) Shares:

(a) Equity - -
(b) Preference - -

(ii) Debentures and bonds - -
(iii) Units of mutual funds - -
(iv) Government securities - -
(v) Others - -
Long term investments:

1 Quoted:
(i) Shares:

(a) Equity  - -
(b) Preference - -

(ii) Debentures and bonds - -
(iii) Units of mutual funds - -
(iv) Government securities - -
(v) Others - -

2 Unquoted:
(i) Shares:

(a) Equity 6.84 6.84
(b) Preference - -

(ii) Debentures and bonds - -
(iii) Units of mutual funds - -
(iv) Government securities - -
(v) Others - -

Total 6.84 6.84

6 Borrower group wise classification of all assets financed as in (2) and (3) above:
Category Amount net of provisions Amount net of provisions

As at 31 March, 2024 As at 31 March, 2023
Secured Unsecured Total Secured Unsecured Total

1. Related Parties:
(a) Subsidiaries - - - - - -
(b) Companies in the same group - - - - - -
(c) Other related Parties - 52.47 52.47 - 50.22 50.22

2 Other than related Parties 4,642.12 150.27 4,792.39 5,105.48 424.22 5,529.70
Total 4,642.12 202.74 4,844.86 5,105.48 474.44 5,579.92
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7 Investor group wise classification of all investments (current and long term) in shares and securities 
(both quoted and unquoted):
Category As at 31 March, 2024 As at 31 March, 2023

Market value/ Break-
up or Fair value or 

NAV #

Book value 
(net of 

Provisions)

Market Value/ Break-
up or Fair Value or

NAV #

Book value 
(net of 

Provisions)
1 Related Parties:
(a) Subsidiaries - - - -
(b) Companies in thesame 

group
- - - -

(c) Other related parties 3.03 3.03 3.03 3.03
2 Other than related parties 3.81 3.81 3.81 3.81

Total 6.84  6.84 6.84 6.84

8 Other information As at 
31 March, 2024

As at 
31 March, 2023

(i) Gross Non-PerformingAssets#
(a) Related parties - -
(b) Other than related parties     13,385.95                

13,556.26 
(ii) Net Non-Performing Assets #

(a) Related parties - -
(b) Other than related parties      4,647.29 5,215.48 

(iii) Assets acquired in satisfaction of debts (net of provisions)  - -
	 # These are unquoted shares and the fair value/NAV thereof is not less than their book value.
	 B.	 Details of assignment transactions undertaken

Particulars As at 
31 March, 2024

As at 
31 March, 2023

(i)	 No. of accounts - -
(ii)	 Aggregate value of accounts sold, gross exposure - -
(iii)	Aggregate consideration for assigned portion - -
(iv)	Additional consideration realised in respect of accounts transferred 

in earlier years
- -

(v)	 Aggregate gain/(loss) over net book value - -

	 C.	 Disclosure of restructured accounts as required by the NBFC Master Directions issued by RBI
Type of restructuring – Others Asset Classification

Standard Sub-standard Doubtful Loss Total
i)	 Restructured accounts as on 1 April, 2022
	 No. of borrowers 1 - - - 1
	 Amount outstanding 167.96 - - - 167.96
	 Provision thereon 16.80 - - - 16.80
ii)	 Fresh restructuring during the year-
	 No. of borrowers - - - - -
	 Amount outstanding - - - - -
	 Provision thereon - - - - -
iii)	 Upgradations to restructured standard 

category during the FY-
	 No. of borrowers - - - - -
	 Amount outstanding - - - - -
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Type of restructuring – Others Asset Classification
Standard Sub-standard Doubtful Loss Total

	 Provision thereon - - - - -
iv)	Restructured standard advances which cease 

to attract higher provisioning and/or additional 
risk weight at the end of the FY and hence 
need not be shown as restructured standard 
advances at the beginning of the next FY-

	 No. of borrowers - - - - -
	 Amount outstanding - - - - -
	 Provision thereon - - - - -
V)	 Downgradations of restructured accounts 

during the FY-
	 No. of borrowers (1) - 1 - -
	 Amount outstanding (167.96) - 167.96 - -
	 Provision thereon (16.80) - 16.80 - -
vi)	Write-offs/Settlements/Recoveries of 

restructured accounts during the year
	 No. of borrowers - - - - -
	 Amount outstanding - - - - -
	 Provision thereon - - 151.16 - 151.16
vii)	Restructured accounts as on 31 March, 2023
	 No. of borrowers - - 1 - 1
	 Amount outstanding - - 167.96 - 167.96
	 Provision thereon - - 167.96 - 167.96

	 D.	 Disclosure pursuant to Reserve Bank of India Circular DOR.NBFC (PD) CC. No.102/03.10.001/2019-20 
dated November 4, 2019 pertaining to Liquidity Risk Management Framework for Non-Banking Financial 
Companies:

(I)	 Funding Concentration based on significant counterparty (borrowings)
Particulars As at 

31 March, 2024
As at 

31 March, 2023
Number of significant counter parties* - -
Amount - -
Percentage of funding concentration to total liabilities - -

	 *Significant counterparty is as defined in RBI Circular RBI/2019-20/88 DOR.NBFC (PD) CC.No.102/03.10.001/2019-20 
dated 4 November 2019 on Liquidity Risk Management Framework for Non-Banking Financial Companies.

(II)	 Top 10 borrowings
Particulars As at 31 March, 2024 As at 31 March, 2023

Amount                                               % of Total 
Borrowings

Amount                                               % of Total 
Borrowings

Top 10 Borrower* 5,492.30              100 % 5,328.81              100 %

	 *Based on size of bond issuance/term loans from bank

(III)	 Funding Concentration based on significant instrument/product
Significant instrument /
product

As at 31 March, 2024 As at 31 March, 2023
Amount % of Total Liabilities Amount % of Total 

Liabilities
Borrowings 5,492.30              100 % 5,328.81              100 %
Total 5,492.30              100 % 5,328.81              100 %
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(IV)	 Stock Ratios 
Particulars % to total public funds % to total liabilities % to total assets
As at 31.03.2024
Other short-term liabilities - 8.54 % 5.39 %
As at 31.03.2023
Other short-term liabilities - 5.94 % 3.50 %

	 E.	 Additional disclosures in financial statements - notes to accounts of NBFCs pursuant to the RBI Circular 
RBI/2022-23/26 DOR.ACC.REC.No.20/21.04.018/2022-23 dated April 19, 2022:

A)	 Exposure
1)	 Exposure to real estate sector-Nil
2)	 Exposure to capital market-Nil
3)	 Sectoral Exposure

Sectors Current Year Previous Year
Total Exposure 

(includes on 
balance sheet 

and off-balance
sheet 

exposure) 

Gross 
NPAs

Percentage of 
Gross NPAs to 
total exposure 
in that sector

Total Exposure 
(includes 

on balance 
sheet and off-
balance sheet 

exposure)

Gross 
NPAs

Percentage 
of Gross 

NPAs 
to total 

exposure in 
that sector

1.  Agriculture and 
Allied Activities
2. Industry
2.1 Micro and Small 6,392.05 4,849.76 75.87% 6,555.56 4,840.31 76.37%
2.2 Medium 1,368.04 1,368.04 100% 1,402.52 1,402.52 100%
2.3 Large 141.45 141.45 100% 141.45 141.45 100%
Total of Industry (1 + 2) 7,901.54 6,359.25 80.48% 8,099.53 6,384.28 80.87%
3. Services
3.1 Transport Operators 165.00 165.00 100% 165.00 165.00 100%
3.2 Computer Software 282.51 282.51 100% 282.51 282.51 100%
3.3 Tourism, Hotel and 
Restaurants

36.34 36.34 100% 40.40 40.40 100%

3.4 Professional 
Services

1,518.05 1,518.05 100% 1,519.55 1,519.55 100%

3.5 Trade
3.5.1 Wholesale Trade 
(other than Food 
Procurement)

595.75 595.75 100% 642.19 638.63 99.45%

3.5.2 Retail Trade etc. 1,979.92 1,979.92 100% 2,043.16 2,043.16 100%
3.6 Others 2,449.13 2,449.13 100% 2,487.02 2,482.73 99.83%
Total of Services 
(3.1 to 3.6)

7,026.70 7,026.70 100% 7,179.83 7,171.98 99.89%

Total 14,928.24 13,385.95 89.67% 15,279.36 13,556.26 89.81%
4)	 Intra-group exposures

Particulars As at 
31 March, 2024

As at 
31 March, 2023

(i)	 Total amount of intra-group exposures 52.47 50.22
(ii)	 Total amount of top 20 intra-group exposures 52.47 50.22
(iii)	Percentage of intra-group exposures to total exposure of the NBFC on 

borrowers/customers
0.35% 0.36%
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B)	 Related Party Disclosure
Items/ Related Party Key Management

Personnel
Relatives of Key 

Management 
Personnel@

Other related 
party

Total

Current 
year

Previous 
year

Current 
year

Previous 
year

Current 
year

Previous 
year

Current year Previous 
year

Advances outstanding 
as at year end

- - - - 52.47 50.22 52.47 50.22

Borrowings 
outstanding at year 
end

- - - - 202.04 - 202.04 -

Remuneration paid 13.25 145.42 39.32 26.32 - - 52.57 171.74
Sitting Fees paid - 0.50 - - - - - 0.50
Finance Cost - - - - 6.31 - 6.31 -
Interest income on 
loans (net of Ind AS 
impact)

- - - - 2.25 2.25 2.25 2.25

Investments held - - - - 3.03 3.03 3.03 3.03
Guarantees given on 
behalf of the Holding 
Company

(1) (2) - - (1) (2) 5,290.26
(1)

5,328.81
(2)

C)	 Disclosure of complaints
1)	 Summary information on complaints received by the NBFCs from customers and fromthe Offices of 

Ombudsman

Particulars As at  
March 31, 2024

As at 
March 31, 2023

i) No. of complaints pending at the beginning of the year 1 6
ii) No. of complaints received during the year 129 139
iii) No. of complaints redressed during the year 130 144
iv) No. of complaints pending at the end of the year - 1

2)	 Top five grounds of complaints received by the NBFCs from customers. (Refer Note below)
Grounds of 
Complaints, 
(i.e. complaints
relating to)

Number of complaints 
pending at the 

beginning of the year

Number of 
complaints 

received during 
the year

% increase/ decrease 
in the number of 

complaints received 
over the previous year

Number of 
complaints 

pending at the 
end of the year

Of 5, number 
of complaints 

pending beyond 
30 days

Current Year
CIBIL - 28 (47) % - -
Refund - - (100) % - -
CHG-4 - 18 (42) % - -
Settlement 1 53 179 % - -
Withdraw legal - 1 (97) % - -
Others - 29 100% - -
Total 1 129 - - -

Previous Year
CIBIL 1 53 61% - -
Refund 5 4 84% - -
CHG-4 - 31 82% - -
Settlement - 19 6% - -
Withdraw legal - 9 80% - -
Others - 23 15% 1 -
Total 6 139 - 1 -
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	 Note:
	 The complaints, if any from the shareholders, borrowers or any other party/stakeholder are thoroughly addressed/

investigated/enquired as and when received and necessary action and impact thereof, if any is taken accordingly as 
considered appropriate by the Management. As at the yearend, no such impact is required in the financial statements 
and the same if any required will be taken in the period such complaints are suitably/appropriately addressed.
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NOTICE OF 30TH ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
Notice is hereby given that the Thirtieth Annual General Meeting (AGM / 30th AGM) of the members of INTEC 
CAPITAL LIMITED (“the Company”) will be held on Thursday 26th September, 2024 at 12:00 p.m. (IST) through 
Video Conferencing (‘VC’)/Other Audio-Visual Means (‘OAVM’) facility, to transact the following business:
ORDINARY BUSINESS:
Item No. 1: To consider and adopt the Audited Standalone and Consolidated Financial Statement of the 
Company for the Financial Year ended March 31, 2024 together with the Directors’ and Auditors’ Reports 
thereon. 
To receive, consider and adopt the Audited Financial Statements of the Company which include Standalone and 
Consolidated Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2024, Standalone and Consolidated Statement of Profit & Loss for 
the Financial year ended on that date together with schedule(s), annexure(s) and note(s) thereon and the cash 
flow statement of the Company (“Financial Statement”) and the report of the Board of Director(s) (“Board”) and the 
Statutory Auditor(s) thereon.
Item No. 2: Appointment of Mr. Sanjeev Goel (DIN: 00028702) Managing Director who retires by rotation and 
being eligible, offers himself for re-appointment.
To appoint a director in place of Mr. Sanjeev Goel, Managing Director (DIN: 00028702), who retires by rotation and 
being eligible, offers himself for re-appointment.
SPECIAL BUSINESS:
Item No. 3: To appoint Mr. Arjunn Kumar Tyagi (DIN: 02967667) as an Independent Director of the Company
To consider and, if thought fit, to pass with or without modification(s), the following Resolution as a Special 
Resolution:
“RESOLVED THAT pursuant to the provisions of Sections 149, 150, 152 and all other applicable provisions of the 
Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”) and the Rules framed thereunder and Regulation 25 of SEBI (Listing Obligations and 
Disclosure Requirements,2015 (including any statutory modification(s) or amendment(s) or re-enactment(s) thereof 
for the time being in force) and pursuant to the recommendation and approval of the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee and the Board of Directors of the Company, Mr. Arjunn Kumar Tyagi (DIN: 02967667), who was appointed 
by the Board of Directors as an Additional Director (Non-Executive and Independent) of the Company with effect from 
06th August, 2024 pursuant to the provisions of Section 161 of the Act and the Articles of Association of the Company, 
and who holds office as an Additional Director up to the date of this Annual General Meeting of the Company, and in 
respect of whom the Company has received a notice in writing from a Member under Section 160 of the Act, proposing 
his candidature for the office of Director of the Company, being so eligible, be and is hereby appointed as a Director 
(Non- Executive Independent) of the Company to hold office for five consecutive years with effect from the date of 
appointment i.e. 06th August, 2024 to 05th August, 2029 and whose office shall not be liable to retire by rotation.
RESOLVED FURTHER THAT any Director and/or the Company Secretary of the Company be and is hereby 
authorised to do all acts, deeds and things including filings and take steps as may be deemed necessary, proper or 
expedient to give effect to this Resolution and matters incidental thereto.
Item No. 4: To appoint Mrs. Ursala Joshi (DIN: 08810331) as a Director (Non-Executive and Non-Independent) 
of the Company
To consider and, if thought fit, to pass with or without modification(s), the following Resolution as a Special 
Resolution:
“RESOLVED THAT pursuant to the provisions of Sections 152, 161 and all other applicable provisions of the Companies 
Act, 2013 (“the Act”) and the Rules framed thereunder (including any statutory modification(s) or amendment(s) or re-
enactment(s) thereof for the time being in force) and pursuant to the recommendation and approval of the Nomination 
and Remuneration Committee and Board of Directors, Mrs. Ursala Joshi (DIN: 08810331), who was appointed by the 
Board of Directors as an Additional Director (Non-Executive Non-Independent) of the Company with effect from 14th 
August, 2024 pursuant to the provisions of Section 161 of the Act and the Articles of Association of the Company, 
and who holds office as an Additional Director up to the date of ensuing Annual General Meeting of the Company, 
and in respect of whom the Company has received a notice in writing from a Member under Section 160 of the Act, 
proposing his candidature for the office of Director of the Company, being so eligible, be and is hereby appointed as 
a Director (Non- Executive Non-Independent) of the Company, liable to retire by rotation. 
RESOLVED FURTHER THAT any Director and/or the Company Secretary of the Company be and is hereby 
authorised to do all acts, deeds and things including filings and take steps as may be deemed necessary, proper or 
expedient to give effect to this Resolution and matters incidental thereto.
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Item No. 5:  To Re-appoint Mr. Sanjeev Goel (DIN: 00028702), as Managing Director of the Company for a 
further period of five (5) Years staring from 1st April 2025 till 31st March 2030: 
To consider and, if thought fit, to pass with or without modification(s), the following Resolution as a Special 
Resolution:
“RESOLVED THAT Pursuant to the provisions of Sections 196, 197, and 203 read with Schedule–V and all other 
applicable provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and the Companies (Appointment and Remuneration of Managerial 
Personnel) Rules, 2014 (including any statutory modification(s) or re-enactment thereof for the time being in force) 
consent of the shareholders be and is hereby accorded to re-appoint Mr. Sanjeev Goel, (DIN 00028702) as Managing 
Director of the Company for a further period of 5 years with effect from 1st April 2025 and ending 31st March 2030 
and his terms of appointment is liable to retire by rotation and being eligible offer themselves for re-appointment 
and his tenure as Managing Director shall be subject to him getting re-appointed and such re-appointment shall not 
tantamount to break in the tenure of his re-appointment as Managing Director and all other terms and conditions of 
the re-appointment shall remain unchanged.
RESOLVED FURTHER THAT pursuant to the provisions of Section 196, 197 & 198 of the Companies Act,2013 
read with Schedule–V and other applicable provisions, if any of the Companies Act, 2013 (“Act”) and the Companies 
(Appointment and Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014 (including any statutory modification(s) or 
re-enactment thereof for the time being in force) and subject to such permissions, consents and approvals from 
various authorities as may be required and subject to compliances of the conditions as specified in Schedule V 
of the Companies Act, 2013 and also such conditions, if any, that may be imposed by any authority while granting 
their permissions, on recommendation of Nomination and Remuneration Committee (NRC) and Board of Directors, 
consent of the shareholders be and is hereby accorded for the payment of Remuneration to Mr. Sanjeev Goel, 
Managing Director for the three (3) Financial Years i.e. for Financial Year 2025–2026, 2026–2027 and 2027–2028, 
to the extent of 5% of Net Profit subject to maximum of Rs.150 Lakhs per annum including salary, all allowances and 
perquisites but does not include the sitting fees and other reimbursements and in case the Company has no profits 
or its profits are inadequate, the remuneration payable to Mr. Sanjeev Goel, (DIN 00028702) Managing Director by 
way of salary, perquisites and allowances shall not exceed the maximum remuneration payable in accordance with 
Section II of Part II of Schedule V of the Companies Act, 2013 with liberty to the Board / Committee to decide the 
breakup of the remuneration from time to time in consultation with the Managing Director and in compliances of the 
condition specified in Schedule V of the Companies Act, 2013.
RESOLVED FURTHER THAT Mr. Sanjeev Goel shall carry out all his duties subject to supervision, control and 
direction of the Board of Directors of the Company and his reappointment will not tantamount to break in his services 
and accordingly he will continue to be one of the Key Managerial Person of the Company subject to approval of 
shareholders. 
RESOLVED FURTHER THAT any Director of the Company or Company Secretary of the company be and is hereby 
authorized to do all such acts and take necessary action for the purpose of giving effect to the above said resolution.
Item No. 6: To approve the availing of credit facility from Modern Credit Private Limited as a Material Related 
Party Transaction: 
To consider and, if thought fit, to pass with or without modification(s), the following Resolution as an Ordinary 
Resolution:
RESOLVED THAT pursuant to the provisions of Section 179, 180 of the Companies Act, 2013 (“Act”) and other applicable 
provisions read with the applicable rules issued under the Act (including any statutory modification(s) or re-enactment 
thereof, for the time being in force), Regulation 23 and other applicable provisions of the Securities and Exchange Board 
of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015, the Company’s Policy on “Materiality 
of Related Party Transactions and also on dealing with Related Party Transactions” and all other applicable laws and 
regulations, as amended, supplemented or re-enacted from time to time, and pursuant to the consent of the Audit 
Committee and Board of Directors of the Company, the approval of the members of the Company be and is hereby 
accorded to the Board of Directors to avail additional unsecured loan for meeting the working capital requirements of the 
Company, for an amount not exceeding Rs. 2,50,00,000 (Rupees Two Crore Fifty Lakhs), in one or more tranches from 
time to time as and when the need arises, aggregating to total loan amount of Rs. 7,82,00,000 (Rupees Seven Crore 
Eighty Two Lakhs) from M/s Modern Credit Private Limited, a related party within the meaning of Section 2(76) of the Act 
and Regulation 2(1)(zb) of the Listing Regulations, at a rate of interest of 15% per annum, for a maximum tenor of 36 
months and on such other terms and conditions as may be mutually agreed upon provided that the said transactions are 
entered into/ carried out on arm’s length basis and on such terms and conditions as may be considered appropriate by 
the Board of Directors (including any authorised Committee thereof) and such money borrowed, together with the money 
already borrowed by the company shall be within limits as prescribed in section 180(1)(c) of the Companies Act, 2013 
vide shareholders resolution passed by the Members in AGM held 25.09.2018 or any modification thereto .
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RESOLVED FURTHER THAT pursuant to the provisions of Regulation 23 of SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure 
Requirements) Regulations, 2015 (“SEBI LODR”), consent of the members be and is hereby accorded to the following 
transaction:

S. No. Particulars Details

a. 

Name of the related party and its 
relationship with the listed entity or 
its subsidiary, including nature of 
its concern or interest (financial or 
otherwise);

M/s Modern Credit Private Limited, Mr. Pranav Goel is a 
Director in Modern Credit Private Limited and he is also a 
Relative of Mr. Sanjeev Goel, Managing Director of the 
Company, holding place of profit in the Company as Chief 
Manager (IT & Infra).

b.
Name of the director or key managerial 
personnel who is related, if any and 
nature of relationship

Mr. Sanjeev Goel, Managing Director of the Company

c.
Nature, material terms, monetary 
value and particulars of contracts or 
arrangement

Short term unsecured loan for an amount not exceeding Rs. 
7,82,00,000/- at 15% per annum for a maximum tenor of 36 
months.

d. Tenure of the transaction Maximum period of 36 months

e. Value of the proposed Transaction Additional limit of Rs. 2,50,00,000 (Rupees Two Crore Fifty 
Lakhs)

f.
Percentage of annual consolidated 
turnover considering FY23 as the 
immediately preceding financial year

93.88%

2. Justification for the transaction For the working capital requirements of the Company for its 
operations.

3. Details of transaction relating to any loans, inter-corporate deposits, advances or investments made or given by 
the listed entity or its subsidiary: 

(i)
details of the source of funds in 
connection with the proposed 
transaction

      

      Not Applicable

(ii)

where any financial indebtedness is 
incurred to make or give loans, inter-
corporate deposits, advances or 
investments - nature of indebtedness; 
- cost of funds; and – tenure

(iii)

applicable terms, including covenants, 
tenure, interest rate and repayment 
schedule, whether secured or 
unsecured; if secured, the nature of 
security

(iv)
the purpose for which the funds will be 
utilized by the ultimate beneficiary of 
such funds pursuant to the RPT

4. Any valuation or other external report relied 
upon by the listed entity in relation to the 
transactions

-

5. Percentage of the counter-party’s annual 
consolidated turnover that is represented by the 
value of the proposed RPT, on a voluntary basis

-



ANNUAL REPORT 2023-24 173

CAPITAL LIMITED
intec

Sapne Aapke, Bharosa Apno Ka

6. Any other information that may be relevant: 

The Board of directors in its meeting held on 25th September, 
2023, had approved the borrowing of fund from M/s Modern 
Credit Private Limited amounting to Rs. 32,00,000/- and 
in the meeting held on 11th October, 2023, had approved 
the borrowing of fund amounting to Rs. 5,00,00,000/-. Now 
considering the requirements of funds it is proposed to seek 
the approval of additional borrowing up to Rs. 2,50,00,000 
from M/s Modern Credit Private Limited. All other important 
information forms part of the statement setting out material 
facts of the proposed RPTs.

7. any advance paid or received for the contract 
or arrangement, if any: Not Applicable

8. The manner of determining the pricing and 
other commercial terms both included as part of 
contract and not considered as part of the contract

The loan is proposed to be availed at the rate of interest not 
being lower than the prevailing yield of Government Security 
closest to the tenor of the loan and in view of the current 
situation of the Company. All terms have been considered in 
the transaction proposed.

9. Whether all factors relevant to the contract have 
been considered, if not, the details of factors not 
considered with the rationale for not considering 
those factors

All relevant factors have been considered.

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT Mr. Sanjeev Goel, Managing Director of the Company be and is hereby authorized 
to execute any agreements, deeds, documents and writings and do all acts, deeds, matters and things as may be 
required by the lender including without limitation admitting execution of documents with the offices of registrar of 
companies or with any other regulatory authority as required under the applicable law and to do all such acts, deeds 
and things necessary for giving effect to this resolution.
RESOLVED FURTHER THAT Mr. Sanjeev Goel, Managing Director of the Company shall be the authorized signatory 
of the Company, for all other purposes in relation to availing of the aforesaid Facility.

Registered Office: 	  By Order of the Board of Directors 
708, Manjusha, 57 Nehru Place,                     	 For Intec Capital Limited 
New Delhi – 110019	  
CIN: L74899DL1994PLC057410  	  
Email: complianceofficer@inteccapital.com 	

Sd/-
(Radhika Garg)

Company Secretary & Compliance officer 

Place: New Delhi
Date: August 14, 2024 
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EXPLANATORY STATEMENT CONTAINING MATERIAL FACTS PURSUANT TO SECTION 102 
OF THE COMPANIES ACT, 2013 READ WITH PARA 1.2.5 OF SECRETARIAL STANDARD ON 
GENERAL MEETINGS
Item No. 3:
On the recommendation of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee (‘NRC’), the Board had passed and 
approved the appointment of Mr. Arjunn Kumar Tyagi (DIN: 02967667) as an Additional Director (Non-Executive 
- Independent) on the Board of the Company w.e.f 06.08.2024 to hold office till the conclusion of the next Annual 
General Meeting and subject to the approval of the members in the ensuing General Meeting, for appointment as 
an Independent Director to hold office for a term upto five consecutive years from the date of appointment i.e. 06th 
August, 2024 to 05th August, 2029.
NRC, inter alia, have identified experience in Financial Services, Leadership capabilities, Expertise in Governance, 
Risk Management, Strategic Investments, and Business Transformation & Strategy as the skills and capabilities 
required for the role. 
Considering the profile and experience of Mr. Arjunn Kumar Tyagi, the NRC and the Board is of the view that he meets 
the above skills and capabilities. Mr. Arjunn Kumar Tyagi is not disqualified from being appointed as a director in terms 
of section 164 of the Companies Act, 2013 (the ‘Act’). 
He has confirmed that he is not debarred from holding the office of director by virtue of any order from SEBI or any 
such authority and has given his consent to act as Director of the Company. 
The Company has also received declaration from him that he meets the criteria of independence as prescribed, both, 
under section 149(6) of the Act and under the SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 
2015 (‘Listing Regulations’). In the opinion of the Board, Mr. Arjunn Kumar Tyagi fulfills the conditions for appointment 
as an Independent Director as specified in the Act and the Listing Regulations and is independent of the Management. 
In connection with the aforementioned, a notice in writing in prescribed manner as required by section 160 of the Act 
and Rules made thereunder has been received by the Company, regarding candidature of Mr. Arjunn Kumar Tyagi 
for the office of the director. The copy of letter of appointment issued to Mr. Arjunn Kumar Tyagi setting out the terms 
and conditions of his appointment is available electronically for inspection by the members.
In terms of regulation 25(2A) of the Listing Regulations, a Special Resolution is required for appointment of an 
Independent Director. Further, as per regulation 17(1C) of the Listing Regulations, appointment of a person on the 
Board has to be approved by shareholders within a period of three months, and accordingly, approval of members is 
being sought.
Relevant details relating to appointment of Mr. Arjunn Kumar Tyagi as required by the Companies Act 2013, SEBI 
(Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements), Regulations, 2015 and Secretarial Standard-2 on General 
Meetings are provided as an “Annexure - I” to this Notice.
The Board recommends the Special Resolution for approval by the shareholders. 
None of the Directors or Key Managerial Personnel of the Company and/or their relatives is concerned or interested, 
financially or otherwise, in the resolution set out at Item No. 3 of the Notice.
Item No. 4:
On the recommendation of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee (‘NRC’), the Board have passed and 
approved the appointment of Mrs. Ursala Joshi (DIN: 08810331) as an Additional Director (Non-Executive Non 
Independent) on the Board of the Company w.e.f 14.08.2024 to hold office till the conclusion of the next Annual 
General Meeting.
NRC, inter alia, have identified experience in Corporate Law, Expertise in Governance & Strategy as the skills and 
capabilities required for the role. 
Considering the profile and experience of Mrs. Ursala Joshi (DIN: 08810331), the NRC and the Board is of the view 
that she meets the above skills and capabilities. Mrs. Ursala Joshi (DIN: 08810331) is not disqualified from being 
appointed as a director in terms of section 164 of the Companies Act, 2013 (the ‘Act’). 
She has confirmed that she is not debarred from holding the office of director by virtue of any order from SEBI or any 
such authority and has given her consent to act as Director of the Company. 
In connection with the aforementioned, a notice in writing in prescribed manner as required by section 160 of the Act 
and Rules made thereunder has been received by the Company, regarding candidature of Mrs. Ursala Joshi (DIN: 
08810331) for the office of the director. The copy of letter of appointment issued to Mrs. Ursala Joshi (DIN: 08810331) 
setting out the terms and conditions of her appointment is available electronically for inspection by the members.
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Relevant details relating to appointment of Mrs. Ursala Joshi (DIN: 08810331) as required by the Companies Act 
2013, SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements), Regulations, 2015 and Secretarial Standard-2 on 
General Meetings are provided as an “Annexure - I” to this Notice.
The Board recommends the Ordinary Resolution for approval by the shareholders. 
None of the Directors or Key Managerial Personnel of the Company and/or their relatives is concerned or interested, 
financially or otherwise, in the resolution set out at Item No. 4 of the Notice.
Item No. 5:
Mr. Sanjeev Goel was re-appointed as Managing Director of the Company by shareholders on 27th September 2019 
for a period of 5 years starting from 1st April, 2020 and ending on 31st March, 2025. 

The present appointment of Mr. Sanjeev Goel as Managing Director expires on 31st March, 2025. 

The performance of the Company under Mr. Sanjeev Goel’s leadership reflects a cohesive strategy, innovative 
thinking, and effective execution. His vision and guidance have undoubtedly played a crucial role in steering the 
Company amidst ever-changing market dynamics. 

Your director is desirous that his valuable services may be continued to be utilized for the benefit of the Company. Mr. 
Goel is a Chartered Accountant and holds a Master’s Degree in International Finance from the University of IOWA. 
The profile of Mr. Goel is available at company website viz. www.inteccapital.com

Basis this the Nomination and Remuneration Committee and the Board of Directors in its meeting held on 14th August 
2024 had recommended the re-appointed Mr. Sanjeev Goel as Managing Director of the Company for a further period 
of 5 years starting from 1st April 2025 and ending on 31st March, 2030. 

In light of the factors discussed, it becomes imperative to prioritize the continuity and stability of our current leadership. 
By doing so, the best interests of the Company and its stakeholders are effectively safeguarded. Maintaining a 
steady hand at the helm ensures consistency in strategic direction and operational execution, which in turn fosters 
confidence and trust among stakeholders of the Company. 

Now, the Board hereby propose this resolution as special resolution for re-appointment of Mr. Sanjeev Goel as 
Managing Director, liable to retire by rotation, of the Company for a period commencing from 1st April 2025 and ending 
on 31st March, 2030 and such re-appointment shall not tantamount to break in the tenure of his re-appointment as 
Managing Director and all other terms and conditions of the re-appointment shall remain unchanged. 

For details pertaining to brief resume of Mr. Sanjeev Goel, age, qualification and nature of his expertise in specific 
functional areas, disclosure of relationships between directors inter-se, names of listed entities and other companies 
in which he holds directorships and memberships of Board Committees, shareholding in the Company, the number of 
Meetings of the Board attended during the year, along with disclosure pertaining to his resignation from listed entities 
in the past three years, as stipulated under the Listing Regulations and Secretarial Standard on General Meetings 
issued by the Institute of Company Secretaries of India, please refer to Additional Information provided as “Annexure 
- I” of this Notice and the Corporate Governance Report forming part of the Annual Report.

The Board has also proposed to the shareholders the remuneration to be payable to Mr. Sanjeev Goel, Managing 
Director for three financial year i.e. for Financial Year 2025–2026, 2026–2027 and 2027–2028, to the extent of 5% 
of Net Profit subject to maximum of Rs.150 Lakhs per annum including salary, all allowances and perquisites but 
does not include the sitting fees and other reimbursements and in case the Company has no profits or its profits are 
inadequate, the remuneration payable to Mr. Sanjeev Goel, (DIN 00028702) Managing Director by way of salary, 
perquisites and allowances shall not exceed the maximum remuneration payable in accordance with Section II of 
Part II of Schedule V of the Companies Act, 2013 with liberty to the Board / Committee to decide the breakup of 
the remuneration from time to time in consultation with the Managing Director and in compliances of the condition 
specified in Schedule V of the Companies Act, 2013 
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I.	 General Information: 
	 Nature of Industry: Providing Financial Services. 

	 Date of commencement of commercial operation: The Company was incorporated on 15th February, 1994 as 
Intec Securities Private Limited. 

	 In case of new companies, expected date of commencement of activities as per project approved by 
financial institutions appearing in the prospectus: not Applicable 

	 Financial Performance: 

Particulars 2023-24 2022-23 2021-22
Total Income 379.68 Lakhs 985.28 Lakhs 1094.67 Lakhs
Computation of Net Profit in 
accordance with Section 198 of the 
Companies Act, 2013

(1369.10) Lakhs (2,663.69) Lakhs 359.10 Lakhs

Net Worth 3550.23 Lakhs 4917.22 Lakhs 7578.72 Lakhs

II.	 Information about the Appointee: 
(1) Background Details: Mr. Sanjeev Goel, aged 60 years, is a Fellow member of Institute of Chartered 

Accountants of India and has done MBA from university of IOWA (USA). He has total work experience of 27 
years in the financial sector. 

(2) Past remuneration: On the recommendation of the Nomination Committee and Board of Directors, the 
shareholders in its 27th Annual General Meeting held on 15th September 2021 had approved the remuneration 
payable to Mr. Sanjeev Goel, Managing Director for the three (3) financial year’s viz. Financial Year 2022–
2023, 2023–2024 and 2024– 2025 for the maximum amount of Rs. 150 Lakhs per annum (One Hundred and 
Fifty Lakhs). 

(3) Job profile and his suitability, recognition or awards: Mr. Sanjeev Goel is Chartered Accountant by 
qualification and is contributing and advising on the corporate, legal and financial affairs of the Company. 
He plays a vital role in the management and administration of the affairs of the Company. under his superior 
efforts and pragmatic leadership the Company has progressed steadily. 

(4) Remuneration Proposed: The proposed remuneration is Rs. 150 Lacs (Rupees One Hundred Lacs Only) 
per annum (same is set out in the Special Resolution in the Notice of this ensuing Annual General Meeting). 

(5) Comparative remuneration profile with respect to industry, size of the company, profile of the position 
and person (in case of expatriates the relevant details would be w.r.t. the country of his origin): 
Taking into consideration the size of the Company, the profile of Mr. Sanjeev Goel and the responsibilities 
shouldered by him, the aforesaid remuneration package is commensurate with the remuneration packages 
paid to managerial position in other Companies. 

(6) Pecuniary relationship directly or indirectly with the company, or relationship with managerial 
personnel, if any: Besides, the remuneration proposed, Mr. Sanjeev Goel does not have any other pecuniary 
relationship either with the Company or with its Managerial Personnel. 

III.	 Other Information: 
(1) Reasons of loss or inadequate profits: Due to current business environment & challenges incurred by the 

business in its operations

(2) Steps taken or proposed to be taken for improvement: The Company takes various steps on a regular 
basis for improving efficiency in the recoveries. Further, the management has adopted focused business 
strategies and planning how to resolve the NPA pool. 

(3) Expected increase in productivity and profits in measurable terms: The Company’s productivity is 
expected to increase with improvement in key process like disbursements, operations etc., automation of 
processes with higher usage of information technology, improvement in collection efficiency. However, it is 
difficult at this stage to quantify the benefits of the measures taken / to be taken by the Company to improve 
the overall performance.
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IV.	 Disclosures 
(1) 	The disclosure on remuneration package payable to the Managing Director contained in the above notice. 

(2) 	The Additional information is given in Corporate Governance report. 

On the recommendation of the Nomination Committee, the Board of Directors in its meeting held on 14th August 
2024 had approved the remuneration payable to Mr. Sanjeev Goel, Managing Director for the three (3) financial 
year’s viz. Financial Year 2025–2026, 2026–2027 and 2027–2028 for the maximum amount of Rs. 150 Lakhs per 
annum (One Hundred and Fifty Lakhs) as set out in the special resolution of this ensuing 30th Annual General 
Meeting for the approval of shareholders. This statement may also be regarded as a disclosure under SEBI 
(LODR), 2015 of the Listing Agreement with the Stock Exchanges. 

The Shareholding details of Mr. Sanjeev Goel, Managing Director as on 31st March 2024:

Name of shareholder No. of shares held % age of shares held

Sanjeev Goel 644464 3.51

(Escrow account)- India Business 
Excellence Fund-II 600000 3.27

The Board of Directors is of the opinion that re-appointment and remuneration to Mr. Sanjeev Goel, Managing 
Director Aged 60 years is properly justified, considering his contributions in the growth of the Company as explained 
above, and in terms of the Provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 a Special Resolution for Remuneration is 
proposed. In his capacity as Managing Director, Mr. Goel is managing the day to day business and financial 
operations of the Company with the purpose of increasing shareholder value; manage the efficient operations 
of the Company and coordinate effective interaction between the Company’s various structural divisions and 
departments, ensuring the proper development and improvement of their performance; work to improve the 
Company’s performance; growth of sales and profit, quality and competitiveness of the Company’s product, 
product compliance with world standards, growth of domestic (and world) market share; and satisfying customer 
demands; or such other roles and responsibilities as may be assigned to him by the Board from time to time. Mr. 
Sanjeev Goel is not disqualified from being appointed as Director in terms of Section 164 of the Act. 

The Board of Directors recommends the passing of the Special Resolutions contained in Item no. 5 of the 
accompanying notice for the approval by Shareholders. 

None of the Directors / KMP’s of the Company / their relatives are, in any way, concerned or interested, financially 
or otherwise, in this resolution except Mr. Sanjeev Goel Managing Director. Mr. Sanjeev Goel being interested 
director cannot chair the meeting for this business transaction. 

The above explanatory statement (together with Annexure thereto) shall be construed to be memorandum setting 
out the terms of the appointment/re-appointment as specified under Section 190 of the Companies Act, 2013

Item no. 6

The following Statement sets out all material facts relating to Item No. 6 mentioned in the accompanying Notice.

Regulation 23(4) of SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015, as amended (“SEBI 
Listing Regulations”) provides that all material related party transactions and subsequent material modifications 
as defined by the audit committee under sub-regulation (2) of Regulation 23 shall require prior approval of the 
shareholders through resolution and no related party shall vote to approve such resolutions whether the entity is a 
related party to the particular transaction or not. A transaction with a related party shall be considered material, if 
the transaction(s) to be entered into individually or taken together with previous transactions during a financial year, 
exceeds Rs. 1,000 crores or 10% of the annual consolidated turnover of the listed entity as per the last audited 
financial statements of the listed entity, whichever is lower.

Regulation 2(1)(zc) of SEBI Listing Regulations defines “related party transaction” to mean a transaction involving a 
transfer of resources, services or obligations between

(i)	 a listed entity or any of its subsidiaries on one hand and a related party of the listed entity or any of its subsidiaries 
on the other hand or
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(ii)	 a listed entity or any of its subsidiaries on one hand, and any other person or entity on the other hand, the purpose 
and effect of which is to benefit a related party of the listed entity or any of its subsidiaries, with effect from April 
1, 2023, regardless of whether a price is charged and a “transaction” with a related party shall be construed to 
include a single transaction or a group of transactions in a contract.

It is further informed that on the recommendation of the Audit Committee and approval of the Board of Directors in 
their meeting held on September 25, 2023, the Company had availed the unsecured loan for meeting the working 
capital requirements of the Company from M/s Modern Credit Private Limited (hereinafter referred to as “Lender”) 
for an amount not exceeding to Rs. 32,00,000/- (Rupees Thirty Two Lakh) and pursuant to the approval of the 
Board of Directors in the meeting held on 11th October,2023, had approved the borrowing of fund amounting to Rs. 
5,00,00,000/- subject to approval of members. The members of the company had approved this transaction through 
postal ballot on 16th November, 2023. 

It is further informed that considering the requirement of raising additional funds in order to meet working capital 
requirements of the Company for its operations and principal business activities, it is proposed to approach and 
request M/s Modern Credit Private Limited to extend a further credit facility, in addition to the previously sanctioned 
facility amounting to Rs. 5,32,00,000/-, in the form of unsecured loan for an amount not exceeding Rs. 2,50,00,000 
(Rupees Two Crore Fifty Lakhs) at a rate of interest of 15% per annum and upon such terms and conditions as may 
be mutually agreed upon, for a maximum tenor of 36 months, in one or more tranches as and when the need arises 
and such money borrowed, together with the money already borrowed by the company shall be within limits as 
prescribed in section 180(1)(c) of the companies vide shareholders resolution passed by the Members in AGM held 
25.09.2018.

The Audit Committee of the Company consisting of Independent Directors, and the Board of Directors, have, based 
on relevant details provided by the management, at their respective meetings held on August 14, 2024, reviewed and 
approved the said transaction, while noting that such transactions shall be on arms’ length basis and in the ordinary 
course of business and are in accordance with Related Party Transactions Policy of the Company.

The Board accordingly recommends and proposes this resolution to the members of the Company for their approval 
in the best interest of the Company.

As per Regulation 23 of the SEBI Listing Regulations, related parties of the Company are not permitted to vote to 
approve the resolution set out in Item No. 6 of this Notice whether the related party is a related party to the proposed 
transaction or not.

Except Mr. Sanjeev Goel and his relatives, none of the Directors or Key Managerial Personnel of the Company or 
their relatives are concerned or interested, financially or otherwise, entirely in this agenda item no. 6.

The documents relating to this business will be available for inspection from 11:00 A.M. to 05:00 P.M. on all working 
days at the registered office.

The details as required under Regulation 23(4) of the SEBI Listing Regulations read with SEBI Circular bearing 
reference no. SEBI/HO/CFD/CMD1/CIR/P/2021/662 dated November 22, 2021 (“SEBI Circular”) is set forth in 
“Annexure II”.
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ANNEXURE -I
DETAILS OF DIRECTORS SEEKING APPOINTMENT/RE-APPOINTMENT AT THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
[Pursuant to Regulation 36(3) of SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 and 
Clause 1.2.5 of Secretarial Standard-2 on General Meetings]

Name of the Director Mr. Arjunn Kumar Tyagi Mrs. Ursala Joshi Mr. Sanjeev Goel
DIN 02967667 08810331 00028702
Date of Birth 02/10/1987 22/03/1957 07/09/1963
Age 36 Years 67 Years 60 Years
Nationality Indian Indian Indian
Date of first appointment 
on the Board 06/08/2024 14/08/2024 15/02/1994

Qualifications CS and LL.B B.A

Fellow member of 
Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of India 
and has done MBA from 
University of IOWA (USA)

Expertise in specific 
functional areas

He is having more than 
10 years of experience in 
the field of corporate law.

She is having more than 35 
years of experience in the 
field of administrative and 
corporate matters.

He has total work 
experience of more than 
25 years in the financial 
sector.

No. of Board Meetings 
attended during the 
financial year 2023-24

0 0 Six

Directorships of other 
Board* None

1. 21st Century 
Constructions Limited 
2. Arth Udyog Limited

1.	 Intec Share and Stock 
Brokers Limited

2.	 Amulet Technologies 
Limited

Names of listed entities 
in which the person also 
holds the directorship 
and the membership of 
Committees of the board 
along with listed entities 
from which the person 
has resigned in the past 
three years

None None None

Number of Shares held 
in the Company Nil Nil 644464

Inter-se relationship with 
other Directors, Manager 
and Key Managerial 
Personnel

None None None

Terms and Conditions 
of appointment or 
reappointment

As per the appointment 
letter

As per the appointment 
letter

As per the appointment 
letter

Membership/ 
Chairmanship of 
Committees of other 
Boards

NA NA NA
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Remuneration last drawn NA NA NIL

Remuneration proposed 
to be paid

He will be eligible for 
payment of sitting fees 
as payable to other non-
executive directors of 
the Company as per the 
Remuneration Policy of 
the Company.

She will be eligible for 
payment of sitting fees 
as payable to other non-
executive directors of 
the Company as per the 
Remuneration Policy of the 
Company 

NA

*a) The Directorships/Committee Memberships excludes private companies, foreign companies and companies 
incorporated under Section 8 of the Companies Act, 2013. 
b) Only two committees viz. Audit Committee and Stakeholder Relationship Committee have been considered for 
determining Chairmanship/Membership which is pursuant to the provisions of SEBI (Listing Obligation & Disclosure 
Requirement) Regulations, 2015. 
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ANNEXURE -II
DETAILS OF MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS ENTERED / TO BE ENTERED IN TERMS OF THE 
SEBI CIRCULAR DATED NOVEMBER 22, 2021.

S. 
No. Particulars Resolution at Item No. 6
1. A summary of information provided by the management to the Audit Committee:

a.

Name of the related party and its relationship 
with the listed entity or its subsidiary, including 
nature of its concern or interest (financial or 
otherwise);

M/s Modern Credit Private Limited, Mr. Pranav Goel is 
a Director in Modern Credit Private Limited and he is 
also a Relative of Mr. Sanjeev Goel, Managing Director 
of the Company, holding place of profit in the Company 
as Chief Manager (IT & Infra)

b.
Name of the director or key managerial 
personnel who is related, if any and nature of 
relationship

Mr. Sanjeev Goel, Managing Director of the Company

c. Nature,	 material	 terms,	 monetary	 value 
and particulars of contracts or arrangement

Short term unsecured loan for an amount not exceeding 
Rs. 7,82,00,000/- at 15% per annum for a maximum 
tenor of 36 months in one or more tranches.

d. Tenure of the transaction Maximum period of 36 months

e. Value of the proposed Transaction Additional limit of Rs. 2,50,00,000 (Rupees Two Crore 
Fifty Lakhs)

f.
Percentage	 of	 annual	 consolidated 
turnover considering FY 2023-24 as the 
immediately preceding financial year

93.88%

2. Justification for the transaction For the working capital requirements of the Company 
for its operations.

3. Details of transaction relating to any loans, inter-corporate deposits, advances or investments made or 
given by the listed entity or its subsidiary:

(i) details of the source of funds in connection 
with the proposed transaction

Not Applicable

(ii)

where any financial indebtedness is incurred 
to make or give loans, inter-corporate 
deposits, advances or investments - nature 
of indebtedness; - cost of funds;
and – tenure

(iii)

applicable terms, including covenants, tenure, 
interest
rate and repayment schedule, whether 
secured or unsecured; if secured, the nature 
of security

(iv)
the purpose for which the funds will be utilized 
by the ultimate beneficiary of such funds 
pursuant to the RPT

4. Any valuation or other external report 
relied upon by the listed entity in relation to the 
transactions

-

5. Percentage of the counter-party’s annual 
consolidated turnover that is represented by the 
value of the proposed RPT, on a voluntary basis

-

6. Any other information that may be relevant: All important information forms part of the statement 
setting out material facts of the proposed RPTs.
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NOTES:
1.	 The Explanatory Statement pursuant to Section 102(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”) with respect to 

Item nos. 3, 4, 5 and 6 of the Notice is annexed hereto and forms part of this Notice. The Board of Directors 
has considered and decided to include Item Nos. 3, 4, 5 and 6 as given above as Special Business in the 
forthcoming AGM as they are unavoidable in nature. The relevant details as set out under Item Nos. 2, 3, 4 and 
5 of the Notice pursuant to Regulation 36(3) of the SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) 
Regulations, 2015 (“Listing Regulations”) and Secretarial Standard - 2 on General Meetings issued by the 
Institute of Company Secretaries of India (“ICSI”) in respect of the Director seeking re-appointment and 
appointment at this AGM are also annexed to this Notice.

2.	 Pursuant to General Circular No. 20/2020 dated 5th May, 2020 issued by the Ministry of Corporate Affairs 
(“MCA”) read together with MCA General Circular Nos. 14 & 17/2020 dated 8th April, 2020 and 13th April, 
2020 respectively and MCA General Circular No. 09/2023 dated 25th September, 2023 (“MCA Circulars”), the 
Company will be conducting this Annual General Meeting (“AGM” or “Meeting”) through Video Conferencing/
Other Audio Visual Means (“VC”/“OAVM”). 

3.	 Pursuant to the above-mentioned MCA Circulars, physical attendance of the Members is not required at the 
AGM, and attendance of the Members through VC/OAVM will be counted for the purpose of reckoning the 
quorum under section 103 of the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”).

4.	 Pursuant to the provisions of the Act, a Member entitled to attend and vote at the AGM is entitled to appoint 
a Proxy to attend and vote on his/her behalf and the Proxy need not be a Member of the Company. Since 
this AGM is being held through VC/OAVM, pursuant to the applicable MCA Circulars read with Securities and 
Exchange Board of India (“SEBI”) Circular No. SEBI/HO/CFD/CFD-PoD-2/P/CIR/2023/167 dated 7th October, 
2023 physical attendance of Members has been dispensed with. Accordingly, the facility for appointment of 
Proxies by the Members will not be available for the AGM and hence the Proxy Form and Attendance Slip are 
not annexed to this Notice.

5.	 In accordance with the Secretarial Standard - 2 on General Meetings issued by the Institute of Company 
Secretaries of India (“ICSI”) read with Clarification/Guidance on applicability of Secretarial Standards - 1 and 
2 dated 15th April, 2020 issued by the ICSI, the proceedings of the AGM shall be deemed to be conducted at 
the Registered Office of the Company which shall be the deemed venue of the AGM. Since the AGM will be 
held through VC/OAVM, the Route Map is not annexed to this Notice

6.	 Members are informed that in case of joint holders attending the Meeting, only such joint holder who is higher 
in the order of the names will be entitled to vote at the meeting. 

7.	 In compliance with the aforementioned provisions of the Act and Listing Regulations, electronic copy of the 
Annual Report for the Financial Year 2023-2024 is being sent to all the Members whose e-mail addresses are 
registered with the Company / Depository Participant(s) for communication purposes.

	 In case any Member is desirous of obtaining hard copy of the Annual Report for the Financial Year 2023-
2024 and Notice of the 30th AGM of the Company, may send request to the Company’s e-mail address at 
complianceofficer@inteccapital.com mentioning Folio No./DP ID and Client ID.

	 Members who would like to express their views/ ask questions as a speaker at the Meeting may pre-register 
themselves by sending a request from their registered e-mail address mentioning their names, DP ID and Client 
ID/ folio number, PAN and mobile number at complianceofficer@inteccapital.com on or before Wednesday, 
September 18, 2024. Only those Members who have pre-registered themselves as a speaker will be allowed 
to express their views/ask questions during the AGM. The Company reserves the right to restrict the number 
of speakers depending on the availability of time for the AGM.

8.	 Pursuant to Section 113 of the Act, institutional / corporate members are requested to send a duly certified 
copy of the Board Resolution authorizing their representative to attend and vote at the AGM, before e-voting / 
attending AGM, to complianceofficer@inteccapital.com.

9.	 Pursuant to the provisions of Section 108 of the Act read with Rule 20 of the Companies (Management and 
Administration) Rules, 2014 (as amended), Secretarial Standard on General Meetings (SS-2) issued by the 
Institute of the Company Secretaries of India (“ICSI”), Regulation 44 of Listing Regulations 2015, and the 
Circulars issued by the MCA dated April 8, 2020, April 13, 2020 and May 5, 2020 the Company is providing 
facility of remote e-voting to its Members in respect of the business to be transacted at the 30th AGM to those 
Members participating in the 30th AGM to cast vote through e-voting system during the AGM. For this purpose, 
the Company has entered into an agreement with Central Depository Services (India) Limited (“CDSL”) for 
facilitating voting through electronic means, as the authorised agency. The facility of casting votes by a member 
using remote e-voting system as well as e-voting on the date of the AGM will be provided by CDSL.
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10.	 The Board of Directors of the Company has appointed Mr. Priyank Kukreja, (M. No. A40585 and Certificate 
of Practice No. 19465), Practicing Company Secretaries as Scrutinizer for conducting the voting process 
of remote e-voting and e-voting during AGM in a fair and transparent manner. The Scrutinizer shall submit 
his / her report, to the Chairman or any person authorized by him, on the voting in favour or against, if any, 
within two working days from the conclusion of the Meeting. The results declared along with the consolidated 
Scrutinizer’s Report of the meeting shall be placed on the website of the Company at https://www.inteccapital.
com/investors/shareholders-notices-and-voting-results/agmegm-notices-and-results/. The results shall 
simultaneously be communicated to the Stock Exchange and on CDSL’s website www.evotingindia.com, 
immediately after the result is declared by the Chairman.

11.	 The Register of Directors and Key Managerial Personnel (KMP) and their shareholding maintained under 
Section 170 of the Act, the Register of Contracts or Arrangements in which the Directors are interested under 
Section 189 of the Act and all other documents referred to in the Notice can be inspected in electronic mode 
by sending a request on email to complianceofficer@inteccapital.com.

12.	 Pursuant to the provisions of Section 91 of the Act the register of members and share transfer books of the 
Company will remain closed from Friday, September 20, 2024 to Thursday, September 26, 2024 (both days 
inclusive) for the purpose of the AGM.

13.	 Members holding shares in electronic form are advised to keep the bank details updated with the respective 
Depositories, viz., NSDL and CDSL. Member holding shares in physical form are requested to update bank 
details with the Company’s Registrar and Share Transfer Agents viz., M/s Beetal Financial & Computer 
Services Pvt. Ltd. 99 Madangir, Behind LSC New Delhi -110062.

14.	 Members who have not yet registered their e-mail addresses and mobile numbers are requested to update 
the said details in the records of the relevant depositories (National Securities Depository Limited / Central 
Depository Services (India) Limited) through their depository participants (Or) may contact the Registrar 
and Share Transfer Agent, M/s Beetal Financial & Computer Services Pvt. Ltd. 99 Madangir, Behind LSC 
New Delhi -110062, Telephone: 011-29961281-283 , 26051061, 26051064, E-mail: beetalrta@gmail.com for 
receiving any documents / communication from the Company.

15.	 SEBI has mandated that securities of listed companies can be transferred only in dematerialised form. In view 
of the above and to avail various benefits of dematerialisation, Members are advised to dematerialise shares 
held by them in physical form, for ease in portfolio management.

16.	 Members may note that the Notice of AGM and the Annual Report for the financial year 2023-2024 will also be 
available on the Company’s website www.inteccapital.com, websites of the Stock Exchanges i.e. BSE Limited 
at www.bseindia.com and on the website of CDSL www.evotingindia.com. For any communication in this 
regard, including the requirement of physical copy of Annual Report, members may send their request letters 
to complianceofficer@inteccapital.com / beetalrta@gmail.com. 

17.	 Members may join the 30th AGM through VC Facility by following the procedure as mentioned below in the 
notice, which shall be kept open for the Members from 11:45 A.M. IST i.e. 15 minutes before the time scheduled 
to start the 30th AGM and the Company may close the window for joining the VC Facility, 15 minutes after 
the scheduled time to start the 30th AGM. Attendance of members will be counted as the members who have 
successfully logged in through VC or OAVM and shall be counted for the purpose of reckoning of the quorum 
under section 103 of the Act. 

18.	 Relevant documents referred to in the notice will also be available for electronic inspection without any fees 
by the members from the date of this notice upto the date of the meeting. 

19.	 The Remote e-voting starts at 09.00 A.M. on Monday, 23rd September 2024 and ends at 05.00 P.M. on 
Wednesday, 25th September, 2024.The remote e-voting module will be disabled by CDSL for voting thereafter. 
During this period shareholders of the Company, holding shares either in physical form or in dematerialized 
form, as on the cut-off date i.e. Thursday, 19th September, 2024 (cut-off date) may cast their vote electronically. 

20.	 The voting rights of shareholders shall be in proportion to their equity shares in the paid up equity share capital 
of the Company as on Thursday, 19th September, 2024 (cut-off date). 

THE INTRUCTIONS OF SHAREHOLDERS FOR E-VOTING AND JOINING VIRTUAL MEETINGS ARE AS UNDER:
Step 1	 : Access through Depositories CDSL/NSDL e-Voting system in case of individual shareholders holding 
shares in demat mode. 
Step 2	 : Access through CDSL e-Voting system in case of shareholders holding shares in physical mode and non-
individual shareholders in demat mode. 
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1)	 The voting period begins at 09.00 A.M. on Monday, 23rd September 2024 and ends at 05.00 P.M. on Wednesday, 
25th September, 2024. During this period shareholders’ of the Company, holding shares either in physical form 
or in dematerialized form, as on the cut-off date (record date) of Thursday, 19th September, 2024 may cast their 
vote electronically. The e-voting module shall be disabled by CDSL for voting thereafter.

2)	 Shareholders who have already voted prior to the meeting date would not be entitled to vote at the meeting 
venue.

3)	 Pursuant to SEBI Circular No. SEBI/HO/CFD/CMD/CIR/P/2020/242 dated 09.12.2020, under Regulation 44 of 
Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015, 
listed entities are required to provide remote e-voting facility to its shareholders, in respect of all shareholders’ 
resolutions. However, it has been observed that the participation by the public non-institutional shareholders/
retail shareholders is at a negligible level. 

Currently, there are multiple e-voting service providers (ESPs) providing e-voting facility to listed entities in India. This 
necessitates registration on various ESPs and maintenance of multiple user IDs and passwords by the shareholders. 
In order to increase the efficiency of the voting process, pursuant to a public consultation, it has been decided to 
enable e-voting to all the demat account holders, by way of a single login credential, through their demat accounts/ 
websites of Depositories/ Depository Participants. Demat account holders would be able to cast their vote without 
having to register again with the ESPs, thereby, not only facilitating seamless authentication but also enhancing ease 
and convenience of participating in e-voting process. 
Step 1: Access through Depositories CDSL/NSDL e-Voting system in case of individual  shareholders holding 
shares in demat mode. 
In terms of SEBI circular no. SEBI/HO/CFD/CMD/CIR/P/2020/242 dated December 9, 2020 on e-Voting facility 
provided by Listed Companies, Individual shareholders holding securities in demat mode are allowed to vote through 
their demat account maintained with Depositories and Depository Participants. Shareholders are advised to update 
their mobile number and email Id in their demat accounts in order to access e-Voting facility.
Pursuant to abovesaid SEBI Circular, Login method for e-Voting and joining virtual meetings for Individual 
shareholders holding securities in Demat mode CDSL/NSDL is given below:

Type of shareholders  Login Method
Individual Shareholders 
holding securities in 
Demat mode with CDSL 
Depository

1)	 Users who have opted for CDSL Easi / Easiest facility, can login through their 
existing user id and password. Option will be made available to reach e-Voting 
page without any further authentication. The URL for users to login to Easi / 
Easiest are https://web.cdslindia.com/myeasi/home/login or visit www.cdslindia.
com and click on Login icon and select New System Myeasi.

2)	 After successful login the Easi / Easiest user will be able to see the e-Voting 
option for eligible companies where the evoting is in progress as per the 
information provided by company. On clicking the evoting option, the user will 
be able to see e-Voting page of the e-Voting service provider for casting your 
vote during the remote e-Voting period or joining virtual meeting & voting during 
the meeting. Additionally, there is also links provided to access the system of all 
e-Voting Service Providers i.e. CDSL/NSDL/KARVY/LINKINTIME, so that the 
user can visit the e-Voting service providers’ website directly.

3)	 If the user is not registered for Easi/Easiest, option to register is available at 
https://web.cdslindia.com/myeasi/Registration/EasiRegistration

4)	 Alternatively, the user can directly access e-Voting page by providing Demat 
Account Number and PAN No. from a e-Voting link available on www.cdslindia.
com home page or click on https://evoting.cdslindia.com/Evoting/EvotingLogin 
The system will authenticate the user by sending OTP on registered Mobile & 
Email as recorded in the Demat Account. After successful authentication, user 
will be able to see the e-Voting option where the evoting is in progress and also 
able to directly access the system of all e-Voting Service Providers.
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Type of shareholders  Login Method
Individual Shareholders 
holding securities in 
demat mode with NSDL 
Depository

1)	 If you are already registered for NSDL IDeAS facility, please visit the e-Services 
website of NSDL. Open web browser by typing the following URL: https://
eservices.nsdl.com either on a Personal Computer or on a mobile. Once the 
home page of e-Services is launched, click on the “Beneficial Owner” icon under 
“Login” which is available under ‘IDeAS’ section. A new screen will open. You 
will have to enter your User ID and Password. After successful authentication, 
you will be able to see e-Voting services. Click on “Access to e-Voting” under 
e-Voting services and you will be able to see e-Voting page. Click on company 
name or e-Voting service provider name and you will be re-directed to e-Voting 
service provider website for casting your vote during the remote e-Voting period 
or joining virtual meeting & voting during the meeting.

2)	 If the user is not registered for IDeAS e-Services, option to register is available 
at https://eservices.nsdl.com. Select “Register Online for IDeAS “Portal or click  
at https://eservices.nsdl.com/SecureWeb/IdeasDirectReg.jsp 

3)	 Visit the e-Voting website of NSDL. Open web browser by typing the following 
URL: https://www.evoting.nsdl.com/ either on a Personal Computer or on a 
mobile. Once the home page of e-Voting system is launched, click on the icon 
“Login” which is available under ‘Shareholder/Member’ section. A new screen 
will open. You will have to enter your User ID (i.e. your sixteen digit demat 
account number hold with NSDL), Password/OTP and a Verification Code as 
shown on the screen. After successful authentication, you will be redirected to 
NSDL Depository site wherein you can see e-Voting page. Click on company 
name or e-Voting service provider name and you will be redirected to e-Voting 
service provider website for casting your vote during the remote e-Voting period 
or joining virtual meeting & voting during the meeting

Individual Shareholders 
(holding securities 
in demat mode) login 
through their Depository 
Participants (DP)

	 You can also login using the login credentials of your demat account through 
your Depository Participant registered with NSDL/CDSL for e-Voting facility. 
After Successful login, you will be able to see e-Voting option. Once you click 
on e-Voting option, you will be redirected to NSDL/CDSL Depository site after 
successful authentication, wherein you can see e-Voting feature. Click on 
company name or e-Voting service provider name and you will be redirected 
to e-Voting service provider website for casting your vote during the remote 
e-Voting period or joining virtual meeting & voting during the meeting.

Important note: Members who are unable to retrieve User ID/ Password are advised to use Forget User ID and 
Forget Password option available at abovementioned website.
Helpdesk for Individual Shareholders holding securities in demat mode for any technical issues related to login 
through Depository i.e. CDSL and NSDL.

Login type Helpdesk details
Individual Shareholders holding securities in Demat 
mode with CDSL

Members facing any technical issue in login can contact 
CDSL helpdesk by sending a request at helpdesk.evoting@
cdslindia.com or contact at toll free no. 1800 22 55 33

Individual Shareholders holding securities in Demat 
mode with NSDL

Members facing any technical issue in login can contact 
NSDL helpdesk by sending a request at evoting@nsdl.
co.in or call at toll free no.: 1800 1020 990 and 1800 22 
44 30 

Step 2:    Access through CDSL e-Voting system in case of shareholders holding shares in physical mode and 
non-individual shareholders in demat mode.
i.	 Login method for e-Voting and joining virtual meetings for Physical shareholders and shareholders other than 

individual holding in Demat form.
1)	 The shareholders should log on to the e-voting website www.evotingindia.com.
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2)	 Click on “Shareholders” module.
3)	 Now enter your User ID 

a.	 For CDSL: 16 digits beneficiary ID, 
b.	 For NSDL: 8 Character DP ID followed by 8 Digits Client ID, 
c.	 Shareholders holding shares in Physical Form should enter Folio Number registered with the Company.

4)	 Next enter the Image Verification as displayed and Click on Login.
5)	 If you are holding shares in demat form and had logged on to www.evotingindia.com and voted on an earlier 

e-voting of any company, then your existing password is to be used. 
6)	 If you are a first-time user follow the steps given below:

For Physical shareholders and other than individual shareholders holding shares in 
Demat.

PAN Enter your 10 digit alpha-numeric *PAN issued by Income Tax Department (Applicable for 
both demat shareholders as well as physical shareholders)
•	 Shareholders who have not updated their PAN with the Company/Depository 

Participant are requested to use the sequence number sent by Company/RTA or 
contact Company/RTA.

Dividend Bank 
Details OR Date of 
Birth (DOB)

Enter the Dividend Bank Details or Date of Birth (in dd/mm/yyyy format) as recorded in 
your demat account or in the company records in order to login.
•	 If both the details are not recorded with the depository or company, please enter the 

member id / folio number in the Dividend Bank details field.

ii.	 After entering these details appropriately, click on “SUBMIT” tab.
iii.	 Shareholders holding shares in physical form will then directly reach the Company selection screen. However, 

shareholders holding shares in demat form will now reach ‘Password Creation’ menu wherein they are required 
to mandatorily enter their login password in the new password field. Kindly note that this password is to be also 
used by the demat holders for voting for resolutions of any other company on which they are eligible to vote, 
provided that company opts for e-voting through CDSL platform. It is strongly recommended not to share your 
password with any other person and take utmost care to keep your password confidential.

iv.	 For shareholders holding shares in physical form, the details can be used only for e-voting on the resolutions 
contained in this Notice.

v.	 Click on the EVSN for the relevant <Company Name> on which you choose to vote.
vi.	 On the voting page, you will see “RESOLUTION DESCRIPTION” and against the same the option “YES/NO” for 

voting. Select the option YES or NO as desired. The option YES implies that you assent to the Resolution and 
option NO implies that you dissent to the Resolution.

vii.	 Click on the “RESOLUTIONS FILE LINK” if you wish to view the entire Resolution details.
viii.	 After selecting the resolution, you have decided to vote on, click on “SUBMIT”. A confirmation box will be displayed. 

If you wish to confirm your vote, click on “OK”, else to change your vote, click on “CANCEL” and accordingly 
modify your vote.

ix.	 Once you “CONFIRM” your vote on the resolution, you will not be allowed to modify your vote.
x.	 You can also take a print of the votes cast by clicking on “Click here to print” option on the Voting page.
xi.	 If a demat account holder has forgotten the login password then Enter the User ID and the image verification 

code and click on Forgot Password & enter the details as prompted by the system.
xii.	 There is also an optional provision to upload BR/POA if any uploaded, which will be made available to scrutinizer 

for verification.
xiii.	Additional Facility for Non – Individual Shareholders and Custodians –For Remote Voting only.

•	 Non-Individual shareholders (i.e. other than Individuals, HUF, NRI etc.) and Custodians are required to log 
on to www.evotingindia.com and register themselves in the “Corporates” module.

•	 A scanned copy of the Registration Form bearing the stamp and sign of the entity should be emailed to 
helpdesk.evoting@cdslindia.com.
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•	 After receiving the login details a Compliance User should be created using the admin login and password. 
The Compliance User would be able to link the account(s) for which they wish to vote on.

•	 The list of accounts linked in the login will be mapped automatically & can be delink in case of any wrong 
mapping.

•	 It is Mandatory that, a scanned copy of the Board Resolution and Power of Attorney (POA) which they have 
issued in favour of the Custodian, if any, should be uploaded in PDF format in the system for the scrutinizer 
to verify the same.

•	 Alternatively Non Individual shareholders are required mandatory to send the relevant Board Resolution/ 
Authority letter etc. together with attested specimen signature of the duly authorized signatory who are 
authorized to vote, to the Scrutinizer and to the Company at the email address viz; complianceofficer@
inteccapital.com   , if they have voted from individual tab & not uploaded same in the CDSL e-voting system 
for the scrutinizer to verify the same.

INSTRUCTIONS FOR SHAREHOLDERS ATTENDING THE AGM/EGM THROUGH VC/OAVM & E-VOTING 
DURING MEETING ARE AS UNDER:
1.	 The procedure for attending meeting & e-Voting on the day of the AGM/ EGM is same as the instructions 

mentioned above for e-voting.
2.	 The link for VC/OAVM to attend meeting will be available where the EVSN of Company will be displayed after 

successful login as per the instructions mentioned above for e-voting.
3.	 Shareholders who have voted through Remote e-Voting will be eligible to attend the meeting. However, they will 

not be eligible to vote at the AGM/EGM.
4.	 Shareholders are encouraged to join the Meeting through Laptops / IPads for better experience.
5.	 Further shareholders will be required to allow Camera and use Internet with a good speed to avoid any disturbance 

during the meeting.
6.	 Please note that Participants Connecting from Mobile Devices or Tablets or through Laptop connecting via 

Mobile Hotspot may experience Audio/Video loss due to Fluctuation in their respective network. It is therefore 
recommended to use Stable Wi-Fi or LAN Connection to mitigate any kind of aforesaid glitches.

7.	 Shareholders who would like to express their views/ask questions during the meeting may register themselves 
as a speaker by sending their request in advance mentioning their name, demat account number/folio number, 
email id, mobile number at complianceofficer@inteccapital.com on or before Wednesday, September 18, 
2024. The shareholders who do not wish to speak during the AGM but have queries may send their queries in 
advance prior to meeting mentioning their name, demat account number/folio number, email id, mobile number at 
complianceofficer@inteccapital.com on or before Wednesday, September 18, 2024. These queries will be replied 
to by the company suitably by email. 

8.	 Those shareholders who have registered themselves as a speaker will only be allowed to express their views/ask 
questions during the meeting.

9.	 Only those shareholders, who are present in the AGM/EGM through VC/OAVM facility and have not casted their 
vote on the Resolutions through remote e-Voting and are otherwise not barred from doing so, shall be eligible to 
vote through e-Voting system available during the EGM/AGM.

10.	 If any Votes are cast by the shareholders through the e-voting available during the EGM/AGM and if the same 
shareholders have not participated in the meeting through VC/OAVM facility, then the votes cast by such 
shareholders may be considered invalid as the facility of e-voting during the meeting is available only to the 
shareholders attending the meeting.

PROCESS FOR THOSE SHAREHOLDERS WHOSE EMAIL/MOBILE NO. ARE NOT REGISTERED WITH THE 
COMPANY/DEPOSITORIES.
1.	 For Physical shareholders- please provide necessary details like Folio No., Name of shareholder, scanned copy 

of the share certificate (front and back), PAN (self attested scanned copy of PAN card), AADHAR (self attested 
scanned copy of Aadhar Card) by email to Company/RTA email id.

2.	 For Demat shareholders -, Please update your email id & mobile no. with your respective Depository Participant (DP) 
3.	 For Individual Demat shareholders – Please update your email id & mobile no. with your respective Depository 

Participant (DP) which is mandatory while e-Voting & joining virtual meetings through Depository.
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4.	 If you have any queries or issues regarding attending AGM & e-Voting from the CDSL e-Voting System, you can 
write an email to helpdesk.evoting@cdslindia.com or contact at toll free no. 1800 22 55 33

All grievances connected with the facility for voting by electronic means may be addressed to Mr. Rakesh Dalvi, Sr. 
Manager, (CDSL, ) Central Depository Services (India) Limited, A Wing, 25th Floor, Marathon Futurex, Mafatlal Mill 
Compounds, N M Joshi Marg, Lower Parel (East), Mumbai - 400013 or send an email to helpdesk.evoting@cdslindia.
com or call toll free no. 1800 22 55 33.
Any person who acquires shares of the Company and becomes member of the Company after dispatch of the notice 
of AGM and holding shares as on the cut-off date i.e. 08th September, 2023, may obtain the login ID and password by 
sending a request at helpdesk.evoting@cdslindia.com. However if you are already registered with CDSL for remote 
e-voting then you can use your existing user ID and password for casting your vote. 
Members who have received the Notice by email and who wish to receive the Notice in physical form are requested 
to e-mail such request to the Company at complianceofficer@inteccapital.com. 

Registered Office: 	 By Order of the Board of Directors 
708, Manjusha, 57 Nehru Place,	 For Intec Capital Limited 
New Delhi – 110019	  
CIN: L74899DL1994PLC057410  	  
Email:complianceofficer@inteccapital.com            	

Sd/-
(Radhika Garg)

Company Secretary & Compliance officer 

Place: New Delhi
Date: August 14, 2024  
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